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Foreword

It gives me immense joy to write a few words for this much awaited
book Glimpses of Guruprasad by Dr. Hoshang Bharucha. The book
that should have seen the light of the day more than two decades ago is
now finally published after his passing away by his dear daughter
Dilmeher. I am sure Hoshang, now in Baba's love, would be extremely
happy to know that his vision of spreading Beloved Meher Baba's
name, love and divinity to all has become a reality.

I have known Hoshang, a medical doctor from Navsari, Gujarat,
ever since I came into the divine fold of Avatar Meher Baba. He was a
devout Baba lover ever ready to please his master Beloved Meher Baba
and made it his mission to bring all the people in his contact to Meher
Baba.

Beloved Meher Baba showered His boundless love on all those who
visited Him in Guruprasad with His darshan and intimate company.
This book is a collection of different recordings of Baba lovers all over
the world who shared precious, unforgettable and treasured moments
with Meher Baba. The book will refresh memories of people who were
fortunate to be in Beloved Baba's company in Guruprasad. It will also
be a valuable guide for people new to the Baba fold to learn of Meher
Baba.

Shridhar Kelkar
Chairman

Avatar Meher Baba Perpetual Public Charitable Trust
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About the Author — Biography

DR. HOSHANG PHEROZE BHARUCHA (DECEMBER, 1927 -
OCTOBER, 1995)

Dr. Hoshang P Bharucha's life centred mainly on two tenets - Meher
Baba and his dispensary work. As far back as I can remember, my
father lived, breathed, worked and talked mainly about Meher Baba. It
often seemed that he was bewildered and lost if he spent time away
from Baba work or his patients. However, if he were engaged in these
two passions of his, he would be animated, enthusiastic and filled with
fervour. He was constantly on the move; travelling all over India or
overseas at his own expense spreading Meher Baba's name to known
and unknown people. In Navsari, Gujarat where he lived since 1953 till
he passed on in 1995, he was constantly engaged with the sick and
needy or writing and compiling works about Meher Baba. It was
normal for him to be working for sixteen to eighteen hours a day and
also for patients to ring the doorbell for medicines even at night.

Hoshang or Bharucha or Doctorsahib as he was often called, was
merely Hosi in his childhood and one of five siblings brought up in
Mhow, near Indore, Madhya Pradesh in a Parsee Zoroastrian family.
He was born on 4 December to Shirin Gilder and Pheroze Bharucha.
The seeds of seeking spiritual knowledge and leading a life of service
to others were imbibed from childhood from his father and paternal
uncle. Pheroze was a devout Zoroastrian, who then became an ardent
devotee of Shri Gondavlekar Maharaj, a Hindu saint and his brother
Nusserwan was a devout follower of Upasni Maharaj of Sakori, one of
the five spiritual masters of Meher Baba. Pheroze was instrumental in
constructing a Ram temple at Mandleshwar near Mhow and how he
accumulated money for its construction is a story in itself. At this
juncture it will suffice to say that Pheroze and his children repeated the
name of Shree Ram regularly.
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At the age of seven, Hoshang had decided to become a doctor and at
the age of nine he became a vegetarian; although years after, in a
meeting with Meher Baba he realised that being a vegetarian only fed
his ego and was of no importance to spiritual advancement. Meher
Baba's exact words to Hoshang were, "What goes into your mouth is
not as important as what comes out of your mouth".

Along with Hoshang's father, his uncle Nusserwan also had a great
influence on young Hoshang as he would travel with him in his free
time and imbibe spiritual education. As a young man, Hoshang visited
many saints, tombs and shrines all over India in search of truth and was
drawn to Godavari Mai, who headed Upasni Maharaj's ashram in
Sakori after him. He heard the name Meher Baba for the first time in
1949 when he overheard a conversation between two men at the Sakori
ashram.

In 1952 in Bombay, a disciple of Godavari Mai requested Hoshang
to accompany her to meet Meher Baba residing at Ashiana building.
Hoshang had heard that Meher Baba had long hair and his thoughts
were drawn to the impending darshan and seeing any person on the
streets with long hair would remind him of Baba. As luck would have
it, on the appointed day of darshan, they reached Ashiana late and were
not permitted to go in. While the lady was pleading with Baba's
mandali member at the gate, Hoshang glimpsed Baba crossing from
one room to another. On stating that they were from Sakori, they were
granted permission to meet Baba for a few minutes.

The first meeting with Meher Baba did not create a dramatic impact
on Hoshang of His divinity, but slowly with time and many interesting
incidents, Hoshang was drawn to Baba, became His follower
completely surrendering to Baba and worked tirelessly for Him. The
initial conflict of obeying and following Godavari Mai and Meher
Baba also mentioned in this book was resolved by Meher Baba with
His infinite humour, patience and grace.

Hoshang was given many orders by Meher Baba from simple to
complex and he carried them out to the best of his ability. Baba had
told him not to drink tea his entire life and once sent a telegram to
Hoshang not to leave Navsari for a particular period of time that had
deep consequences on his personal life. Once Hoshang accepted Meher
Baba, there was no power on earth that could diminish his love and
zeal for Him. He was a true and dedicated Baba lover who encouraged
and inspired all whom he met to follow and accept Meher Baba as the
Avatar.
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Hoshang visited Meher Baba at Ahmadnagar and Guruprasad, Pune
at every opportunity he got. He would sit next to Baba and during
bhajan programs, Baba would often speak on a topic that Hoshang had
been thinking about the night before. Hoshang has been quoted as
saying, "Often when I do not understand some passage from Baba's
books, He comes in my dreams and explains the matter to me. Often
during meditation, He clears my doubts by silently talking in my
heart."

Hoshang always carried a diary and took copious notes at all Baba
programs. He was extremely particular about dates and accuracy and
never shared a story or discourse without verifying its authenticity.
Hoshang had two major penchants; the breaking of Baba's silence and
finding the yet unpublished book Baba had written in various
languages. He would correspond with the mandali residing at
Meherazad after Baba dropped His body, and they would listen
patiently to his queries and theories.

Returning to Hoshang's life, after completing his medical studies
and obtaining his MBBS degree in 1952, Hoshang worked for a year at
The B.D. Petit Parsee General Hospital and later served as medical
officer at The Navsari Cotton and Silk Mills in Navsari from 1953 to
1985. One of the numerous orders of Meher Baba to Hoshang was not
to leave this employment unless he was asked to and he faithfully
complied with this order. Once the company opted for the
government's ESIS - Employees State Insurance Scheme (for health)
the post was discontinued. At the Mills, along with treatment, he
developed various prevention programs for the workers' wives and
children and made home visits and endeared himself with them. He
was the chief distributor for food commodities that were received from
the US for children and streamlined the process of distribution, wrote
directly to the US authorities and eliminated the cut backs much to the
dismay of the middle men.

Hoshang or Doctorsahib worked with leprosy patients and
spearheaded the leprosy eradication drive and travelled to villages all
over the district in his spare time. He was an active member of the
local Indian Medical Association, served as secretary for 3 years and
wrote articles in medical journals. He also was a lecturer in medicine
for LMP (Licensed Medical Practitioners) students. He would conduct
routine medical health checkups in schools and college for students on
a voluntary basis at a time when this concept of preventive medicine
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was relatively new. Another feather to his cap was his donation of
'O negative blood' for over three decades to patients in need of this rare
blood type. Hoshang refused to accept awards all through the years, but
was finally given a State Award and citation by the District Collector,
Gujarat government in 1995 for donation of blood, few months before
he passed away.

In 1966, Hoshang surprised many of his friends and family by
marrying Maimoona Katrak, a beautiful Parsee girl many years his
junior from Secunderabad, A.P. (now Telangana). Meher Baba blessed
this marriage and in 1967 despite Baba's seclusion, a personal
interview with the wedded couple was held at Meherazad. This solo
meeting with Meher Baba erased all the doubts and suspicions about
Meher Baba that Maimoona had. She understood and accepted
Hoshang's passion for Baba work and played a pivotal role in
balancing and tempering his enthusiasm with a healthy dose of
practicality. She was an excellent hostess to innumerable Baba lovers
who regularly visited Navsari and looked after their needs and many
remember her gentle manner and affection towards them. Maimoona
would worry about his physical health and request him to temper his
work according to his age.

Hoshang's energy and pace was unparalleled. His day started at 4
A.M. with meditation and correspondence work related to Meher Baba
or his medical journals. His dispensary opened ar 7.30 A.M. and his
day would often end after 8.30 P.M. During the entire day, he would
come home to rest for about two hours or so. At the dispensary, there
were always queues of people and since Hoshang could not tolerate
any noise, he would call the mothers with crying children up front.
Every sick child brought to the dispensary would get Baba's Prasad of
khadi sakhar - small granules of white sugar - that sent them smiling
back home. Doctorsahib would often comment on the holy threads
around children's necks and wrists and tell mothers - don't believe in
this outward show of religion, teach your children to say God's name.

Hoshang's intolerance of noise was dealt by Meher Baba in an
amusing incident with Dr. Harry Kenmore an American Baba lover
who recited the Master's prayer in his loud booming voice. One day
after Hoshang requested him to recite the prayers softly, Harry
complied reluctantly. Meher Baba was most displeased and stopped the
prayer and enquired and Harry replied, "I do not wish to disturb the
auditory apparatus of our new visitors." At that moment Hoshang
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felt it would have been better if the earth had opened and swallowed
him up. Baba then remarked, "Prayers should be from the heart. It does
not matter if they are said loudly or softly. They should be natural."

The time Hoshang spent away from the dispensary was devoted to
Baba work. Hoshang travelled extensively in India and overseas giving
talks and sharing Meher Baba's messages and stories. He was called by
Baba lovers from various centres in India and he kept up his
indefatigable pace there too. The hosts would often want to call it a day
whereas Hoshang would catch his forty winks and be ready to discuss
more about Meher Baba. Hoshang had simple needs, was not fussy,
would eat whatever was offered to him and sleep without complaining
in the accommodation available.

Along with his wife Maimoona, another major support for Hoshang
to go ahead with Meher Baba work was the Navsari Meher Baba
Centre. The Navsari Baba lovers comprised of a few devout families
who had met Baba and firmly believed in Him and had also dedicated
their lives to the service of Meher Baba. Hoshang had published a
small booklet "The Last Sahavas' that recounts the dropping of Meher
Baba's physical body. He also had compiled many stories of Baba
lovers in a book called, "The Compassionate Father' and authored many
articles and booklets on Baba's life story. He also brought out films and
CDs on Meher Baba's artis and Baba's magnum opus, 'God Speaks' and
gave many talks on it.

In the 1990s, Hoshang decided to compile a book on Meher Baba's
visits to Guruprasad, Pune. Meher Baba visited Guruprasad for many
years, met many Baba lovers and had public darshans where many
lives were touched and reformed with Baba's radiant smile and grace.
Hoshang decided to compile all incidents and Baba discourses that
occurred in Guruprasad and call the book Glimpses of Guruprasad. He
wrote to many Baba lovers and the mandali and began the process of
compilation.

However, in September 1994, Hoshang, diagnosed with brain
tumour, underwent surgery and oncology treatment. Hoshang took this
in his stride and continued his work on the book. His health
deteriorated and he passed away a year later in 1995 and his dream of
publishing the book of Guruprasad was kept on hold. After many years,
Hoshang's wife Maimoona restarted the effort to publish the book but
she also succumbed to cancer in 2012. With the help of
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few people who strongly believe that the book needs to be published
and with the encouragement of many Baba lovers, I finally took up the
project and the book is now in your hands.

The book Glimpses of Guruprasad is written in Hoshang's personal,
inimitable style that perhaps may feel out of sync with today's writing.
Many stories of Meher Baba may have appeared in various other
publications and may seem familiar, but this book is a tribute to my
father Dr. Hoshang Bharucha, a man whose whole life was lived with
the conviction of Meher Baba's divinity and revolved around spreading
His word to whoever he came into contact with. I believe the book will
recreate loving memories for Baba lovers and be a source of inspiration
for people entering into Meher Baba's fold.

To conclude I bring to you words from Hoshang's notes - "Though I
would not obey Baba's orders and even quarreled with Him on this
point, His love for me has changed me completely. My life is now one
of complete surrenderance to Baba. I live for Baba and will die for
Baba, the Avatar of the age."

Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai

Dilmeher Bharucha Bhola
June, 2018
Pune



A Note to the Readers

If one visited Pune in the 1960s and 1970s and passed through Bund
Garden Road, you would certainly have had a glimpse of the imposing
and impressive palace called Guruprasad. The palace belonged to
Maharani Shantadevi of Baroda, which was selected by Beloved
Meher Baba to use as His summer resting place. Meher Baba gave
darshan to thousands thirsting for His warm smile and embrace at this
beautiful palace. How the palace came to be selected and used by Baba
1s an interesting story, covered in the first chapter.

Meher Baba, born of Zoroastrian parents on 25 February 1894,
named Merwan Sheriar Irani, came to be known as the Silent Master
for He observed silence for over 44 years from 10 July 1925 until He
dropped His body on 31 January 1969. He had five spiritual Masters
who were Hazrat Babajan of Pune, Upasani Maharaj of Sakori, Sai
Baba of Shirdi, Narayan Maharaj of Kedgaon and Tajuddin Baba of
Nagpur.

Due to Merwan's compassionate nature, one of the disciples named
Him Meher Baba meaning compassionate father. Meher Baba began
His spiritual work in 1921 and travelled all over India and the world to
give the message of love and truth and propagated that God alone is
real and the rest is all an illusion. He did an unparalleled amount of
spiritual work, the results of which the present humanity is reaping and
the future humanity would continue to reap. He is also known as love
incarnate for He gave and received only love. His work had many
phases, one of them being His stay at Guruprasad palace.

Meher Baba came to the palace for the first time in 1951 and
subsequently spent about three months during the summer every year
since 1956 until 1965. Meher Baba would come from Meherazad along
with His men and women mandali around April and return to
Meherazad by June-July every year.
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Guruprasad has been witness to many divine love stories between
the Master and His disciples. Some distinguished visitors to Guru-
prasad who had the good fortune to have Meher Baba's darshan include
the celebrated ghazal singer Begum Akhtar, Congress Party leader
Neelam Sanjeeva Reddy, who later became the President of India,
Member of Parliament Amar Singh Saigal, many other politicians,
professionals, foreigners, commoners, cricketers, cinema actors, people
of all religions and many mahatmas and saints. Meher Baba met all
irrespective of their social status or educational qualification. During
one darshan programme in Guruprasad, Meher Baba said, "To Me,
maharani (Queen) and mehetrani (sweeper) are the same".

A memorable event that took place in November 1962 at Guru-
prasad is the East-West Gathering that signified His mission, "I intend
bringing together all religions and cults like beads on one string to
revitalize them for individual and collective needs. This 1s My mission
to the West. The peace and harmony that I shall talk of and that will
settle on the face of this worried world is not far off."

Meher Baba said that a Master always chooses a place for His work
based on its past connections. He also confirmed that once the work
was complete, He disbands it by giving the simile of scaffolding. Once
the construction work of a building is complete, its scaffolding is
removed. Similarly, the Guruprasad palace, so majestically used by
Baba was sold in 1972. The palace was razed to the ground and a
residential property with the same name Guruprasad was constructed.
The builder graciously used the same material to build a small replica
of Guruprasad. This replica stands strong with a caretaker and every
morning and evening Baba prayers and arti are performed. There is a
Baba bhajan program in the evening on the first Sunday of every
month. The Guruprasad replica is open for visitors daily from 9.30 am
to 6.00 pm and is closed on Wednesdays.

Dr. Hoshang Bharucha was an avid diarist and made copious notes
often verbatim of all events that occurred around Baba. He realised that
Baba's treasures at Guruprasad were described by various authors in
different Baba books and journals. He decided to bring together all the
events and occurrences at the historic Guruprasad and compile them
together. He painstakingly collected experiences of various Baba
lovers who were more than willing to share their stories for this book.
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The book is thus a collection of love-joy-inspiration tales that
transpired between Avatar Meher Baba and His followers in the palace
named Guruprasad. These stories and events have been noted
personally by Dr. Hoshang Bharucha in his diaries as they occurred
and range from 1957 until 1965. To ensure readability, the recorded
tales have been divided year-wise into various chapters. Despite a
thorough search, no diary or notes by Dr. Bharucha were found
pertaining to the year 1964. Hence, no events of 1964 are included in
this book. Dr. Bharucha's article 'What Meher Baba's teachings mean
to me' was deemed the best choice to sum up his reverence to Meher
Baba and is added as the last chapter of the book. Readers may note
that the headings that have been highlighted in the book indicate that
those portions have been written by Dr. H.P. Bharucha.

Dr. Hoshang Bharucha's demise in 1995 stalled the publication of
this book and it is now finally being published in Dr. Bharucha's
memory by his daughter Dilmeher. With the passage of time, many
books have been published about the events of Guruprasad. However,
few Baba followers close to Dr. Bharucha were keen that this book be
published. So after a long wait, Glimpses of Guruprasad is in your
hands dear reader. Enjoy the essence, savour its unique manner that is
a combination of various writing styles and is a blend of warm humane
stories as well as relevant spiritual explanations in Meher Baba's own
words.

Avatar Meher Baba Ki Jai






How Meher Baba Came to Guruprasad

Ages before Christ walked this earth, spirituality flowered in India
through the Avataric manifestations of Ram and Krishna, whose
advents left imprints that are clearly traceable to this day in the places
of their birth. Poona (now Pune), the city where Meher Baba, the
Avatar of our age, was born shall be remembered for ages, just like the
Ayodhya of Ram and the Brindaban of Krishna.

At one time in that city, there stood a palatial building called
Guruprasad, which literally means "gift from the Master." Whether
there is a heaven existing high above the clouds or concealed within as
a mental state of infinite joy, the thousands who flocked to Guruprasad
don't care, as for them, heaven on earth was this palace where Meher
Baba came to dispense the nectar of His love. Toddlers and children,
the young and old - all who came to Guruprasad imbibed the love and
bliss that emanated from their Beloved. In this place made holy by His
presence, tears flowed profusely, and hearts bled with a deep-felt
longing that can never be described. Though Meher Baba kept silent
for forty-four years of His life, none felt the need for His speech, for
His eyes and face silenced the mind and opened the heart to drink from
His bountiful love.

The story of Meher Baba's stay in Guruprasad begins in 1951. He
was in very strict seclusion in Mahabaleshwar for a hundred days from
13 February 1951. During such seclusion periods, when Baba
intensified His universal work, He would not take care of His body.
Often He would not eat, subsisting on fluids or nothing at all. During
one such seclusion in the early years at Meherabad in 1927, Baba lived
on only two cups of coffee a day. And often, He did not even have that,
as the boy, Lahu, who was to bring the coffee drank half of it on the
way before giving it to Baba.
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On 23" May 1951 Baba emerged from His one hundred days'
seclusion looking very worn out; His health shattered to the extent that
the mandali (an intimate group of men and women who dedicated their
all and lived with Meher Baba) thought that Baba would drop His body.
At their request, He agreed to go to Poona for a short change of scene
immediately after He emerged from seclusion and before He left for
Hyderabad for His Manonash work during His New Life period. Eruch
Jessawala, who lived with Baba from 1* August 1938 and who used to
read the alphabet board on which Baba would dictate messages by
rapidly pointing at letters, had written to his brother, Meherwan in
Poona to find a suitable bungalow where Baba could rest for some time.

Meherwan got the letter a few days before Baba's seclusion was due
to be over. He was preoccupied at that time studying for his B.Sc.
examination, which was to be held within a few days. He immediately
informed Adi K. Irani, Baba's secretary at Ahmednagar, who promptly
came to Poona to help Meherwan find a bungalow.

Adi and Meherwan went to meet a man named Jamshed, the owner
of an ice factory on Sacchapir Street in Poona, whom Adi knew
personally. While they were asking Jamshed where they could find a
bungalow for Meher Baba, an Irani real estate agent who was sitting
near them overheard their conversation and offered a bungalow for
Baba's use. His only condition was that it should be vacated within a
month, as the owner was due to come and stay in it. When he was
asked about the rent he would charge, he replied that he would give it
for free in the service of Meher Baba. Adi and Meherwan were
overjoyed, but in the back of their minds, they wondered why Baba's
work, which usually is full of hurdles and tries one's patience to the
limit, seemed as easy as eating chocolate cake in this case.

Adi, Meherwan, and the Irani promptly went to inspect the site,
which was situated in a posh locality of Poona in Salisbury Park. A
beautiful bungalow, well furnished and ready for use met their eyes.
Off they went to a telegraph office to send a telegram to Baba:
"Excellent bungalow found. Inform arrival date." Two days later, when
Adi and Meherwan went to the Irani gentleman's home to get the key,
they received a very rude shock as at that time the Irani's father was
engaged in a heated argument with his son. The fact was that the Irani's
father for some reason had a grudge against Meher Baba. The son tried
to pacify him, but that only seemed to add fuel to the fire. The result
was that the father threatened to
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leave the house if the key was given to Adi. Ultimately, the Irani
gentleman was forced to apologise for his inability to make the house
available as promised, and so, both Adi and Meherwan departed with
heavy hearts.

Another telegram was sent informing Baba that the bungalow was
not available after all. Baba replied promptly that He had definitely
fixed His visit and stay in Poona, and that it was Meherwan's job to
find a bungalow. Meherwan, who was already tense about his
approaching examination, was now under greater pressure to find
Baba's bungalow in time. From morn to dusk, he searched the length
and breadth of Poona to find a suitable place. To his surprise, he
discovered a magnificent bungalow with a beautiful garden near the
Bund Garden. His heart thumped against his chest at this discovery.
But the gate was locked, and he could see no watchman or gardener.

At the top of his voice he called out, but in vain, as the bungalow
was at a considerable distance from the gates. The only recourse for
Meherwan was to jump over the wall and walk across the garden to
reach the palatial estate. The caretaker now emerged onto the verandah
and angrily accused Meherwan of trespassing on property belonging to
the Maharani of Baroda. If Meherwan did not leave at once, he was
threatened that the police would remove him. Meherwan never got a
chance to plead his case, as the caretaker just pushed him out.

With the deadline of Baba's arrival approaching fast, a telegram was
sent to Sarosh Irani in Ahmednagar to come and help. He arrived
promptly and contacted a friend who had a bungalow in Wanowri, a
suburb of Poona. The house was inspected and found to be in
ramshackle condition, and so, quick repairs were carried out by Sarosh.
However, the snag about this house was that it was near a tannery, and
the stench that wafted all around was nauseating.

In the meantime, Ramchandra Gadekar, a Baba lover from Poona,
had also been searching for a bungalow. He too found Guruprasad. In
his quest for a bungalow for Baba, Gadekar approached the caretaker
of Guruprasad and was very politely told that it belonged to Maharani
Shantadevi of Baroda. He next approached Sardar Raste in Poona.
Gadekar had introduced Meher Baba to Sardar Raste and his wife,
Maisaheb Raste, and had drawn them into Baba's fold. Sardar Rasre
later donated a piece of land from his property, and on this land now
stands the Avatar Meher Baba Poona Centre.
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Sardar Raste knew Maharani Shantadevi of Baroda, the owner of
Guruprasad. She had, in turn, bought this palace from the Maharani of
Jamkeda in 1951, who had bought it from a Muslim owner. Gadekar
told Sardar Raste that Meher Baba wished to come and rest in Poona
for some time and that he had found Guruprasad vacant. Gadekar,
Sardar Rasre, and Meherwan went to see Guruprasad. Meherwan
feared that the caretaker, on seeing him again, would again shout, but
since Sardar Rasre was with them, the caretaker courteously bowed
and welcomed them. After inspecting the fully furnished palace, they
sent a telegram to the Maharani in Baroda:

Shreeman Saubhagyavati Shantadevi Ranee Saheb Baroda.
Kindly grant permission to use Guruprasad from 22" May 1951
for Meher Baba. Hoping you will avail of this divine opportunity
of service to Avatar Meher Baba.

The Maharani's reply came on the day Baba was to arrive from
Mahabaleshwar on the 22" of May. She gave her permission though
she had never heard of Meher Baba. There had been no time to inform
Baba about Guruprasad, and so, when He arrived on the 22", He was
taken to Wanowri. After the Maharani's telegram was shown to Baba,
He went to see Guruprasad and agreed to shift His luggage there. Thus,
began Meher Baba's first stay at Guruprasad, lasting almost a month.

During this time, He called Ramchandra Gadekar, Meherjee
Karkaria, Meherwan Jessawala, and a few others for darshan one day.
This was the first darshan programme in Guruprasad for very few
lovers. Baba then left for Hyderabad on 21% June 1951 for His
Manonash work.

Since Gadekar was instrumental in procuring Guruprasad for Baba's
stay, it would not be out of place to say a few words about this great
lover and worker of Baba.



Ramchandra Gadekar's Story

Ramchandra Gadekar was born on 16" May 1904 into a destitute
family in Ahmednagar. Being very brilliant, he joined the Fergusson
College in Poona after his school education. In 1924, he was suffering
from pain in his abdomen, and when he came to Ahmednagar during
his vacation, someone suggested that he go meet a saint called Meher
Baba in Arangaon. When he arrived, Baba was singing in a very
melodious voice, and the charm of His personality made Gadekar
forget his illness. Baba asked him, "What do you want?" He replied,
"Self-Realisation.”" Baba said with a smile, "Do you know the meaning
of Self-Realisation?" Baba then gave a discourse on Self-Realisation.
The result was that Gadekar left college and became a teacher in
Baba's school at Meherabad. He graduated in 1928 and became a social
worker, working for the upliftment of the Harijans.

Once, a social worker named Gunatai came with Gadekar for Meher
Baba's darshan. Baba remarked, "She would be a good wife for you."
The couple got married in Ahmednagar, and the wedding was attended
by Baba and the mandali. For further studies, Gadekar went to
Edinburgh, and to his surprise, Baba was in the same ship going to
Europe. After returning to India, Gadekar held several posts, one of
which was of the Deputy Director of Welfare. His whole life was
devoted to social work. He loved Baba so much that he could talk
tirelessly about Him to everyone he met. He disseminated Meher
Baba's name to the poor and the rich alike, and to all who came in
contact with him. He worked in Poona, Sholapur, Ahmednagar, Nasik,
and many other places. In 1958, he began suffering from Hodgkin's
disease, and Baba kept him at Meherabad for a few months. Baba did
not allow anyone to tell Gadekar about his illness.



XX1V

On 7™ March 1959, Mahashivratri (the great night of worship of
Lord Shiva), Baba and His mandali visited Gadekar at his home in
Poona. Baba said that it was an auspicious day, as Shankar (an epithet
of Shiva) Himself had come to meet Gadekar. Baba asked Gadekar to
continuously repeat His name. On 12" March, Gadekar breathed his
last, very peacefully repeating Baba's name. When Baba was informed
about the demise, Baba said, "Gadekar has come to Me forever."

For years, Baba wore the sandals made by Gadekar's father,
Khandoba. These hand-stitched sandals were the link through which
Baba kept Gadekar and his family close to Himself. These sandals are
now preserved in the museum at upper Meherabad, and they are a
testimony of Gadekar's love, sacrifice, and selfless service for the poor.
He gave to such an extent that there was not a copper penny left for his
funeral; Baba paid the expenses. Gadekar's ashes were brought to
Meherabad by his wife, Gunatai, on 6 April 1959. Meher Baba came
to Meherabad and put the box of ashes in a pit alongside the tombs of
His mandali. Baba placed flowers on the box while the mandali
repeated Baba's prayers.



1957

A MEETING IS CALLED

After His second automobile accident on 2™ December 1956, Baba
stayed in Satara for a week and then left for Poona. On 12" February
1957, He left for Meherazad. He had to come back to Poona for a
checkup in April. He stayed with Eruch's cousin, Dadi Kerawala at the
Botanical Gardens, Ganeshkind, Poona. In a letter dated 30" April
1957 to "Elinorkit" (Elizabeth Patterson, Norina Matchabelli, and Kitty
Davy - the three Western women), Mani (Baba's sister) writes:

Eruch's cousin has offered us his cottage for as long as Baba
wishes to stay in Poona. It's a nice cosy cottage (even if we're
somewhat cramped for space) and the grounds are really lovely,
with enormous mango and mimosa trees (in pink bloom, also the
yellow cassis) where Baba walked along the shady paths every
morning, using two sticks, and once getting into the momentum
of it, would lift the sticks and walk unaided a few steps. The utter
joy of this is marred only by the increased pain it brings on, but
we're hoping that it will soon pass as He gets used to this unusual
exerting and exercise as Baba keeps walking every now and then.
He seems restless and wanted a short change again.

Baba asked K.K. Ramakrishnan - an indefatigable and dedicated Baba
worker and also the secretary of the Avatar Meher Baba Poona Centre
- to find a bungalow for His stay. Maharani Shantadevi was again
informed about Baba's wish to stay in Guruprasad, and she willingly
consented. Baba shifted to Guruprasad on the 18" of April 1957. Mani,
in her letter to Kitty, continues: "... so we've come to Guruprasad (the
Rani of Baroda's palatial house near the Bund Gardens that she's
offered with love) for a week."
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Guruprasad was a palatial ornamental building situated on the Bund
Garden Road. From the big iron gates at the roadside to the bungalow
was a big driveway surrounding a central garden which had many
marble statues and a fountain. A huge portico in front of the bungalow
provided space for Baba's car. As one climbed the marble steps, one
came onto a verandah that went around the front and south side of the
bungalow. A huge doorway, centrally situated opposite the portico, led
to a spacious hall with a sofa for Baba at its far end. The hall divided
the women mandali's quarters from the men's quarters. Baba's room
was alongside the verandah on the women's side. To the south of the
hall were three rooms, one of them a big room in which Baba would sit
with His men mandali and others whom He would call before the
darshan programme.

In the afternoons, Baba would use this room for playing cards with
the mandali and invited lovers. Correspondence from all over the world
would be read to Baba in this room. Flanking it was a room with a
phone that served as an office and a room where the men mandali
stayed. Eruch had improvised an office for himself on the floor at the
tail end of the verandah on the south side. He seemed quite
comfortable sitting there, replying to letters and telegrams from all
over the world. Just next to where Eruch sat was the pantry room
where Pendu would store food that came from Edward Hotel for the
mandali. This room also served for making tea for the men mandali.
The south verandah was flanked by several chattis (earthenware pots)
for storing drinking water.

All rooms had high ceilings in white and gold, and the central hall
looked gorgeous with chandeliers hanging from the ceiling. Behind the
bungalow was another verandah, on which Baba sat during the darshan
programmes of 1962 (the East-West Gathering) and 1965 (the Eastern
Sahavas). A vast compound extended from the bungalow to the
boundary wall at the back, where five thousand or more lovers sat
drinking the nectar of Baba's love during those two epoch-creating
functions.

In her letter of 30" April, Mani continues:

The first night here, all night, there were loud chantings, singing
and drum beating in a temple nearby, and it is surprising that
Baba rested in spite of it. Last night was definitely cooler here.
This place has a spacious verandah where Baba walks, and
yesterday there was a lovely new
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variation in Baba's walking - the mandali got a sort of child's
pram-chair, and Baba walked along pushing it (this is a wonderful
change from the sticks and gives him more confidence in
walking). He looked delighted pushing it along, and the part that
tickles Baba and us was Jal (Baba's brother) who was sitting in
the pram-chair! (For weight purpose). Baba walked straight and
easily, looking for like a daddy wheeling a rather overgrown child
along the boulevard.

Instead of a week, Baba's stay was extended at Guruprasad. Accord-ing
to His instruction, a group of Baba lovers and mandali members from
Bombay and Poona - about forty-seven in all - assembled in
Guruprasad by 8:00 A.M. on 19" May 1957. Baba, with His radiant
smile and with a little help from two persons on both sides, walked
slowly to the meeting hall. By this time, He was using neither crutches
nor sticks.

Baba enquired whether all had slept well the previous night. Those
who had not were instructed not to doze during the session. He said,
"As for Me, I had no sleep, for I had to do some important spiritual
work. From the time of the accident, I have been suffering severe
physical pains. Tell Me, from My face, how you find Me now?" Most
of the members replied that Beloved Baba's face appeared as smiling
and cheerful as ever.

After a pause, Baba continued, "You have been called here, but now
it is a question for Me as to why have I called you and what should I
convey to you!" There was a ripple of laughter at this remark.

In the first meeting, Baba asked all the Poona workers to stand up
and asked about those absent who were not called for the meeting.
Then, He instructed that those who were not called should be taken
over to Guruprasad at two o'clock in the afternoon of the same day.
Immediately after an embrace from Baba, they were to leave.

About His injuries, Baba said, "The fractured bone is getting set. In
the opinion of the surgeon - who happens to be a Colonel - My
progress is unexpectedly rapid. He told me that even a strong young
soldier would have required at least six months to recover to this
extent!" One of the lovers requested Baba to take care of His body.
Baba replied, "I have to come again and again in flesh and blood to
bear the sufferings of humanity."



A WARNING TO HIS LOVERS

After this preliminary talk, the work started for which the meeting had
been convened. Baba began His talk entitled "Warning from Meher
Baba to His Lovers":

I want to tell you one important thing, which each of you must
remember well. It is a fact that I am the Lord of the universe. I am
omnipresent. Now the time is fast approaching, and I clearly see
the "dark cloud" hovering. I see its picture. By this, I am not
referring to the recent motor accident that has already come to
pass. The "humiliation" that I was referring to for a long time is
within sight. During that phase of My life, there is every
possibility that I may slip out of your hands.

Now let Me first explain what I mean by "humiliation." Suppose you
are loved by someone very dearly for several years and, one day when
you happen to meet him, he suddenly begins to abuse you, kick you,
and spit in your face; in the context of your previous relations with him
your plight becomes an example of humiliation. In the same way, if
some persons who have previously adored Me and raised Me up to the
skies in adoration for years suddenly turn against Me and express
extreme disdain for Me by throwing Me in filth, it will be another
example of humiliation.

I will also give you an example of circumstances under which this
kind of thing can happen. You have been worshipping Me for so many
years. Suppose you suddenly find Me eating rubbish and roaming
about naked in the streets, behaving like a mad person; what will your
reaction be to this behaviour of Mine? I do not want any one of you to
think or say that Baba is going to become mad! On the contrary, I have
come to make the whole world mad about God and Truth!

Only the Avatar, whenever He lives amidst mankind, has to undergo
humiliation. When there are five Perfect Masters who are God person-
ified and who control and look after the affairs of the universe, what
need is there for them to precipitate the Incarnation of God on earth?
They bring Him down to shoulder the sufferings of humanity. The five
Perfect Masters are not vilified or humiliated as much as the Avatar. I
have been made to take this human form by the five Perfect Masters of
this age to bear the cross and to undergo humiliation.
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You have read in the Gospels wherein Christ said to His Apostles,
"You will deny me." This did happen when Peter, the chief apostle,
denied Jesus. The thing is that during the phase of humiliation the
circumstances will so array themselves that you won't be aware when
My daaman has slipped out of your hands. At that time, you may even
feel justified in leaving Me.

But if you feel that this should not happen, there is one remedy. You
should grasp well all that I say, and act upon it with understanding.
You should also tell all that you hear today to those who are not
present. In short, I clearly see the "dark cloud." I do not wish to make a
mere mention of the "dark cloud" without any reason, but this is My
loving warning to you so that My daaman may not slip from your
hands!

Today, I also wish to tell you about some other important points. I
will start with the topic of saints. These days, this point is often
brought to My notice from the letters I receive from My lovers. Some
write, "Baba, You often enter into seclusion for long periods. Very
rarely do we get an opportunity to have your sahavas. We are not even
permitted to have your darshan for months together! This often makes
us feel inclined to visit saints and be in their company." They also ask
Me whether they should follow certain instructions given by the saints.

A few days back a wife of one of My devotees wrote to me that a
certain person who called himself a saint told her that he was ordered
by Me to guard their house and that he loved Me very much. Apart
from the truth of his statement, the point which struck Me is that if
such things were to continue, anybody could approach My devotees
and may even demand hundreds of rupees in My name, and thus may
easily deceive them. To say whether a saint is real or an imitation is
My right alone and not yours.

I have been saying all the time, age after age, that when I, the
Ancient One, assume this human form, many false prophets claim to be
the Avatars instead. For instance, a week ago I received a letter from
U.P. [Uttar Pradesh] from a devotee who writes that there are two
persons in his town, and each proclaims himself as the Avatar of the
age. This created a great deal of confusion in his mind. Also, in one of
the towns in northern India, there is one social worker who claims and
has a genuine feeling for his claim, that he is the Avatar.

I am telling you all these things in detail, for it is My right alone to
say so, as all of them are My children. As far as you are concerned,
you should neither criticise
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nor indulge in backbiting. If you speak ill of a real saint, it will be
harmful to you. You will create dreadful [sanskaric] blunders. You
should avoid vilifying even the so-called mahatmas who call
themselves saints because it is not possible for you to be certain
whether they are real or not. The presumptuous saints outwardly act
like real saints. You will not be able to differentiate between them, just
in the same way as you would not be able to differentiate between the
masts and mad persons. Yet what a world of difference lies in their
inner states!

Coming back to the point of real saints, I would like you to know
that to become a saint is not child's play. The very word saint, when
commonly used or made applicable to anyone, creates a lot of
misunderstanding. I will tell you something that will clarify the mis-
conceptions regarding saints.

There are two types of saints: (1) real saints and (2) imitation saints.
Just as an ordinary person cannot distinguish between a real and an
imitation pearl, you cannot distinguish between a real saint and an
imitation saint. I alone, like a jeweler, can make out the difference.

Particularly in India, we find a lot of imitation saints; and this is due
to the superficial study of the Vedanta. By studying Vedanta one can
say, "I am God." Sadgurus also say, "I am God." Imitation saints also
say the same thing, but with the help of Vedanta. Real saints need no
such help; they say what they experience. There are also some who,
after reading Vedanta, realise that they have no such experience, but
they still say, "I am God." This is hypocrisy. Also, there are some
imitation saints who, after reading Vedanta, have a genuine feeling and
say, "l am God," though in reality, they do not have any conscious
experience.

If anyone confers greatness on you and begins to worship you and
garlands you, you know yourself that you do not deserve it. At the
outset, you are tempted to accept this greatness, which makes you feel
happy. But your conscience will constantly be pricking you, and you
will always be in a state of anxiety about future developments. You
will frequently be in a fix whether to accept or reject the greatness
which is thrust upon you.

Once you accept this conferred greatness, it becomes very difficult
for you to get out of the situation. After a time, even the pricks of
conscience cease to trouble you, for you get used to them. Then it
becomes an addiction, and you cannot do without it. You then pose as
a real saint. This posing will cause you to take innumerable additional
births; so why pose as a saint without inner experience?
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As for Myself, I say, "I am the Highest of the High." Had I not been
the Ancient One, I would have encouraged you to visit the so-called
saints. I would have even praised them, and they would have praised
Me in return. Thus, a clique would be formed that would promote
mutual praise to dupe the public.

If any one of you meets an imitation saint or an imitation Avatar,
what would he say to you? He would say the same thing as I do. If
you tell him that Baba is the Avatar, he may even say, "l am the real
one, and that Baba 1s a fraud!" When anyone approaches an imitation
saint and 1s attracted by the outward atmosphere which he creates
around him, and if, owing to his faith in the imitation saint, he gets
some experience, he is likely to attribute them to that imitation saint.
This creates confusion.

Now I will tell you about an incident. During My recent visit to
America, a gentleman who has been staying in America for a long time
remained by My side during some of My programs and particularly
when the films and photographs were taken. This gentleman has
studied and intellectually grasped what I have said but misused it.
From one of the letters from the USA, I hear that this gentleman has
started telling people that he is Baba's representative. Those who know
Me for so many years are not affected, but the new lovers, though
educated, are very impressed and flock to him. Just see how even the
Westerners are misled!

What is the remedy for this? I will tell you now. It will be very
useful only if you grasp it thoroughly. If all of you are convinced that
Baba is the Avatar, God Incarnate, the question of confusion does not
arise at all. In this case, just hold fast to My daaman and close all doors
of confusion and conflict to enter your minds. If you are not convinced,
leave Me. Seek someone else. But if you try to stick with Me with a
wavering mind, without being convinced of My divinity, you will be
just like a nut caught in the crusher.

I will also tell you a few instances of those who pay too much
attention to masts, though they have been connected with Me for so
many years. One of them went to the extent of drinking wine whenever
offered by a mast! The other used to carry a certain mast on his
shoulders to his home and serve him daily. Had I not warned them in
time, they would have got themselves involved seriously. When God
Himself has descended on earth, and you have the fortune to come in
personal contact with Him, why run after His children, the masts, and
the saints?
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In U.P. and Punjab, there are saints of both types, real and imitation.
There, men put up a big show of spirituality by performing homa-
havan, bhajan-kirtan. yagna-yaga, arti-puja, etc. From external
appearances, one cannot make out who is a real saint and who is an
imitation. Anyone is easily impressed by the so-called outward
spiritual atmosphere. You do not find such things here with Me. On the
other hand, you find Me sitting among you, sometimes telling jokes
and letting you laugh. The real Path is totally different from the
conventional bhajan-kirtan. etc. On the contrary, when one gets
entangled in these rituals and ceremonies, one gets off the real Path.

When I tell you these things and ask you not to visit other saints,
perhaps some of you may think, "Is Baba feeling jealous of others?"
But I, being one without a second, have no rival; I am matchless. Being
the One Reality, the question of rivalry does not arise for Me at all. If
I am to be jealous at all, I will have to be jealous of My own self.

When a man sees an ant moving on the ground, will he ever feel
jealous of it? Both the ant and the man move on a level on the ground,
but there is a world of difference in their consciousness. The ant can
never understand the intricacies of this machine age. The ant, the
ordinary man, and Myself move on the same land, but there is as much
difference between the consciousness of an ordinary man and Mine as
there is between the consciousness of an ant and that of an ordinary
man. Even in the animal kingdom, there is a vast difference between
the consciousness of an ant and an elephant. Has the elephant ever
purposely walked over the ant, feeling jealous of it?

One of My devotees expressed an ardent desire to see a particular
mast of Bombay, while a few others appear much concerned about the
claim made by one who asserts that he is the Avatar of the age. This
makes Me wonder why you, of all the persons who regard Me as the
Highest of the High, should run after other personalities?

In this connection, Baba referred to and had read out an excerpt from
a letter wherein He had said: "No one is to be blamed. It is no one's
fault. It was the Original Whim and the Original Urge of God that has
started this Divine Game, which He also can enjoy at His own cost."

Baba continued:
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I do not mean that there are no real saints in India. [Here Baba
mentioned a few well-known saints of India.] There are also some
real saints unknown to the masses. Compared with the known
saints, these hidden saints are far more advanced. In this respect,
however, I want to tell you with authority that both the hidden
and the known saints have not realised the Self. Do not be misled
by the use of certain words and phrases. If anyone addresses you
as "dear Self," do not be under the impression that he has
achieved the goal of Realisation.

The sum and substance of this long talk is that you either hold fast
to My daaman only or leave Me altogether. Do not make any
compromise. However, you are free to visit and pay homage to
the shrines of My five Perfect Masters - Sai Baba, Upasni
Maharaj, Babajan, Tajuddin Baba and Narayan Maharaj. Of My
five Perfect Masters, four do not have any representatives. Only
Upasni Maharaj has a representative. She is Godavari Mai. She
has a very pure heart, and there is no equal to her in this respect.
You can go to Sakori and pay your respects to her. She is very
dear to Me. She loves Me very much. She is My beloved
Yashoda.! This does not mean that My five Perfect Masters do not
each have a Chargeman and a Circle. Invariably, without any
exception, every Perfect Master must necessarily hand over his
charge to one whom he makes as perfect as himself. Such a one is
called the Chargeman of the Perfect Master.

Do not visit other places or saints, as you cannot distinguish
between a real saint and an imitation. I also want you not to
criticise or vilify anyone. If you happen to meet saints, real or
imitation, by chance, you may pay respect to them, but do not run
after them. If you have full faith in Me, stick with Me; otherwise
leave Me now altogether.

After this, Baba posed a question: "Who will hold on to My daaman
wholeheartedly till the end?" All those present raised their hands to
express their wholehearted willingness.

At this juncture, one of the lovers said, "Baba, I tell others that you
are the Avatar, but to be honest, I have no such conviction, though I
crave it very much."
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Beloved Baba asked him, "Have you come across anyone greater than

Myself?" "No," replied the lover.

"Then why worry?" responded Baba. "Try to love Me more and
more, but remember one thing: Never tell others what you do not feel
yourself. Tell others only what you honestly take Me to be. I am
anything and everything that one can honestly believe."

The lover further said, "Somehow or other my heart cannot accept
the idea of Paramatma becoming and living as man on earth. I believe
in Krishna, but only as an aunsh [part] of Paramatma. However, if, like
Arjuna, T am blessed with vishwarup darshan,’> 1 feel T will get the
necessary conviction."

Hearing this, Baba smiled and said, "It was nothing short of
weakness on My part as Krishna to have convinced Arjuna by
exposing My identity as Paramatma through vishwarup."

"By itself," Baba continued, "any experience, small or great,
ultimately amounts to zero when compared with God-Realisation.
Some lovers in the West who regard Me as God incarnate write to Me
about their rare experiences, but those too have no real importance.
Although it is heartening to have experiences, it is very dangerous to
attach too much importance to them and to indulge in them."

Before the members dispersed for tea, Baba remarked, "Have I not
said in clear words what I have to say? I am sure that the points in
question have been made sufficiently clear to you."

A devotee from Bombay expressed a wish to offer one thousand
rupees at Baba's feet. He lovingly placed the amount before Baba.
Baba decided to use this money for His work with the poor.

There were also some who spontaneously offered what little they
could give. Baba directed that this amount be sent to a newly opened
Centre and remarked, "I do not like to give money and expect work for
Me in return. This is ridiculous. However, I am giving this money as
prasad. Do not expect any more from Me for My work."

In the course of the discussion, He humorously remarked, "It is a
fact that it is easier for My lovers to give their heads than to give
money!" About attendance at Centres, Baba said, "If five hundred
attend the meeting, it is well and good. If
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you try your utmost and people do not come, do not lose heart. Even if
there are five persons present at the meeting, take it that I will be
there."

Baba further said, "Recently, I heard that among some of My
workers, there has developed a considerable difference of opinion.
Better you do not work for Me than develop such an attitude. 1 will
appreciate your competitive spirit only in your surrender to Me and
love for Me. To get yourself divided while doing My work shakes the
very foundation of that work. That will defeat its very end. It is the
height of hypocrisy to say, ' alone can do Baba's work.""

Those concerned were given the opportunity to vent their feelings
and express their thoughts freely. Baba explained:

When you get divided, I and My work are set aside. You open a
Centre to spread brotherhood, but first, see for yourselves how
you behave among the group! If you cannot work together with
concord, why open new Centres for me? If you want to further
My cause, there is no escape but to become like dust in My work.
There cannot be any compromise. Each of My lovers must
become like dust. Then people of their own accord will flock
around him, and his own life will radiate My message of love to
others.

I do not object to having Centres. There, lovers of Baba can meet
and exchange their ideas and feeling of love for Me. But there
should be concord. There must be a spirit of giving in. Today, we
must fix something - whether to have Centres or to dissolve them.
The only solution is to become like dust in My work.

But what do you understand by becoming like dust? How will
you become like dust? If you could do what I ask you to do, what
else could you be but like dust? It is extremely difficult for you to
do what I ask you to do. It is only possible when your heart is
kindled with love for Me. If you cannot love Me as I ought to be
loved, at least try to hold fast to My daaman. I will help you. Dust
never complains even though we walk over it, trample upon it, or
use it in any way we like. If a number of calamities befall you and
still you keep a smiling face, this may lead you to become like
dust. You can become like dust only if you possess the highest

type
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of love for Me. Becoming dust-like is the only link that would
bring you together.

Referring to the older members of the group, Baba said:

As one grows old, one is possessed by a peculiar spirit of
expectation. He feels that youngsters are purposely ignoring him
or even hating him. My great expectation about you all, the young
and old, is that you should not entertain any expectation at all. Let
the Centres newly created by you all be your school. Remember
that everyone has his own particular way of expressing his love
for Me so try to behave like brothers. Let there be concord among
yourselves. Try to accommodate one another. For the present,
continue My work at the Centres as best as you can till the
forthcoming sahavas congregation to be held in January-February
1958.

In the congregation, I will sec definite principles. Those who
want to follow Me will have to abide by these principles. For the
coming sahavas programme, lovers will be coming from various
parts of the world. It will be the most important phase of My
incarnation. During the period of the sahavas, I shall work with
full force. Ac that time, I will lay down certain definite principles,
and they will be of real and lasting value. I intend to destroy the
bindings of all superfluous ceremonies. The times when Jesus and
Krishna lived were different; the present time is altogether
different. I have to tell the people according to the needs of the
time.

In the present atomic age, material progress has nearly reached its
zenith, and this is but the shadow of the internal progress in the
realm of spirituality.

In the congregation, I will tell you something very original. After
this, there will be no more programmes of that kind. Do you
know why I assumed this human form? During the sahavas
congregation, the purpose of this incarnation will take shape.
Even if you are indisposed or have some very important work, do
not fail to attend the congregation of January-February 1958.
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Baba further stated that He had decided to cancel His forthcoming darshan
tour in U.P, Andhra Pradesh, and other places, as published previously. He
said, "I do not wish that a mere picnic atmosphere should prevail in the
congregation. To make all arrangements to My satisfaction, I need time. The
mandali who stay near Me require sufficient time to make the necessary
arrangement for all those attending the congregation, including the
Westerners. That is not an easy job, so I have to cancel the proposed darshan
tour."

In the end, Baba lovingly stressed again the points He had covered
earlier. "It is a fact that I am God. I am the Highest of the High. I wish that
those who raised their hands should hold fast to My daaman for good.
There 1s no need for My lovers to visit other saints. Stick with Me even
during the phase of 'humiliation." Spread My message of love to all, and
become like dust in Baba's work."

"WHY NOT LOVE ME DIRECTLY?"

On 2™ June 1957, another group of lovers from Surat, Navsari, and Bajwa
was invited to be with Baba. He had specified in His letter that they should
be Baba lovers who loved Baba and would obey Him. They were invited
not to Guruprasad, though Baba was staying there, but to the Botanical
Gardens at Ganeshkind, Poona. I wrote to Baba that I would not come to
the above meeting, as I had accepted Godavari Mai as my Guru and took
orders from her only. In reply, Eruch wrote me the following letter on 25%
May 1957:

Your letter of the 23™ was read out to Beloved Baba. Baba felt
proud of your determination to adhere to your Guru, who is also
Baba's Beloved "Yashoda." Baba says that if by this time you are
still ignorant of Baba's love for Godavari Mai, then know well
now that Baba's love for Mai is too great for any expression and
He loves her dearly. Baba has never told you, or anyone for that
matter, to leave Godavari Mai and come to Baba.

Baba does not have any pity for your plight but feels amused to
watch the workings of your mind and the consequent conflict of
feelings in your heart. You must necessarily pass through all this
until you become fully aware that Baba is no "Guru" or a "saint,"
but that He is the Avatar - the Ancient One - God incarnate in
human form!
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Baba further wants me to add here that had you been fortunate
enough to have that unwavering conviction that Baba is really the
Avatar and that Godavari Mai is really your Guru, then there
could have never been any chance of conflict to make you suffer
so much.

It would then be obvious to you that Baba, being God incarnate,
could never be just a "Guru" and, as such, all who believed in
Him could not be termed, disciples. At the most, these could be
termed His "lovers" or "followers." The Messiah - Saviour of
mankind - never has any disciple in the conventional sense,
though others may call themselves disciples.

My dear, Baba has so often affirmed that He is the Father of all
Creation, that He is the Source of all things in existence, and that
His Infinite Love sustains the very existence of all beings and
things in the domain of illusion. And Baba wants me to add here:
All worship Him daily and pray to Him often without any conflict
in head or heart, as long as they take Him for granted as God -
Nirguna [God in the Beyond state] and Nirakar [Formless] - but
no sooner does this same God affirm in His Saguna and Sakar
Swarup [God in human form] that He is the Ancient One then
there is a conflict and consequent suffering for those who believe
in Him and also for those who are the non-believers.

Conflict and suffering of the non-believer are to be overlooked
because they know not, but the conflict and suffering of a believer
are ridiculous.

Baba says that this creation and its affairs are one big joke and
that Baba is the Matchless Joker. Baba wants you not to worry in
the least if you cannot come to Baba on 2™ June because He is
always with you.

If you happen to come to Baba on 2" June, then Baba will clear
your difficulties, and you will get some relief from your
conflicting thoughts and feelings for the Avatar of the Age and
for your Guru, Godavari Mai.

If, however, it is impossible for you to be near Baba on 2" June,
then do not brood over it and do not get trapped more and more
by the self-created conflict within your mind. Just remember this
much, Baba says, "Give to God that which is God's, and give to
your Guru that which
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is Guru's." Baba also wants you to remember well that Baba is
Krishna and Godavari Mai is His beloved Yashoda and that
Godavari Mai is matchlessly pure of heart. Baba would feel very
happy and proud of you if you can obey Godavari Mai in all
respects. How could your obedience to her ever displease Baba?
If you could but obey your Guru implicitly in all respects
willingly and cheerfully, only then would it be possible for you to
know Baba as He really is.

Baba sends His Love to you.

Eruch

P.S. Baba wants you to send a true copy of this letter to Godavari
Mai.

On receipt of Eruch's letter, I wrote to him on the 28" that I had
decided to go to Matheran, where Godavari Mai was staying at that
time, and take her permission for me to meet Baba. Eruch immediately
replied on the 29™ but before I present his letter, I would like to
recount something so that Eruch's letter of the 29" will be better
understood.

During the 1955 sahavas at Meherabad, Baba had selected a few
lovers, of which I was one, to do the following: fast for seven days on a
cup of milk per day; repeat Baba's name for twenty-four hours; not to
sleep at all for seven days and nights (if sleep should overpower one,
one was to sit in the corner of the room, lean against the wall, and doze
but not allow the head to touch the floor); not leave the room for seven
days; and take a mild purgative each night. I did this fast in Umreth,
where Godavari Mai was performing a yagna (Hindu sacrificial
ceremony). Baba sent word to Navsari that I should leave the fast after
five days but continue to stay in the room for seven days. The telegram
was redirected to me at Umreth but, as per Godavari Mai's order, I
stepped out of the room after the five days' fast and seclusion.

Eruch's letter, dated 29" May 1957:

Yours of the 28" was received today and read out to Beloved
Baba. I trust that this reaches you in time before you leave for
Matheran. When you see Mai, convey my salutation and
adoration.
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My dear, who am I to satisfy your difficulty and convince you
about what and how I feel? Nevertheless, I may mention here that
there 1s a world of difference between God and Guru. And this
difference comes into play when we human beings start to play
with the differences in the personalities of the Guru and God
(Sakaar). Had there not been any difference, Kabir would never
have given out the following couplet:

Guru Govind dono khaday, kakay lagu pau.
Balihari Guru apne, jin Govind deo batai.

In one breath, Kabir sings all praise for the Guru, who can show
the "Govind";® and in the same breath Kabir, very subtly, points
out that all praise is due to that Guru who personally leads his
disciple into the very presence of Govind. So, my dear, it now
rests with you to draw out any meaning you choose according to
your feelings. Personally, I think there is a difference between a
Guru and God incarnate in the domain of duality, as long as we
are ignorant of the Truth.

On the other hand, Baba has said in one of His messages:
"Oneness of Reality is so uncompromisingly unlimited and all-
pervading that not only 'we are one,' but even this collective term
'we' has no place in the Infinite, Indivisible Oneness."

We have learned that Sadgurus are the personifications of God.
Then what need is there for God to descend unto our level in
human form and mingle with us, calling Himself the Avatar of the
Age? Does the Omnipotent One not have the power and capacity
to handle the affairs of His creation while remaining Nirakar
(formless). Undoubtedly, He has. That is what we have gathered
in all these years at His feet. But who are we to question Him on
this point? This is part of His Divine Game, and He has the
absolute right to indulge in the Game of His own creation. Even
while we, ignorant human beings, refute the authority of the
Avatar, God, as the Avatar, indulges in this game of "hide and
seek."

To cut the story short, my dear, please check your mind from
creating more misunderstandings. It is because of your own
misunderstandings and consequent folly that you put dear Mai in
this position.
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So far no one has checked you from following Mai. On the
contrary, Beloved Baba wants all her lovers and followers to hold
fast to her through thick and thin. But who has the courage to
follow the hints frequently given by Baba? Why did you stand up
in Meherabad wanting to fast as desired by Baba without first
asking Mai's permission? Who forced you to go and ask Mai once
you volunteered to undertake the fast? First of all, you ought not
to have volunteered to do so, and secondly, when you took upon
your shoulders the responsibility of following Baba's instructions,
who told you to go to Mai for confirmation or change in the
definite instructions given by Baba Himself?

So, my dear, under such circumstances, we become the originator
of such conflicts and our own misunderstandings. However, all of
this is of the past, and let us not brood over decisions taken on a
spur-of-the-moment enthusiasm. Now, what Baba wants you to
note is that you should stop worrying about anything. He loves
you very much, and He does not want you to feel miserable any
longer.

Baba also wants you to know well that He loves Mai very much
and that she is close to His heart of infinite Love. Baba would feel
very happy if you love Mai and obey her wholeheartedly with
undivided zeal and adoration. If you could do but this much, you
will spiritually come to realise who Baba is. If you do not feel
like coming to Baba on 2™ June, you could have frankly written
to Baba; and He says He would have appreciated that very much
and have even felt proud of your devotion to Mai, who is His
beloved Yashoda. There was no need for you to go to Matheran to
seek her permission expressly to come to Baba.

Now Baba says, even if you come to Baba directly, which you
could have easily done, and had you shown your inability to
follow Baba's instructions, if He were to give any to you, and had
you conveyed the same directly to Baba, He would have greatly
appreciated all this rather than all your childish fuss about things
which you yourself do not understand. When you see Mai, Baba
wants you to tell her that she is most dear to Baba and that Baba
wants her lovers to hold fast to her under any circumstance. Also,
convey Baba's love to Mai.



18

With affectionate regards to you,

Eruch

There may be Baba lovers today who are experiencing the same mental
conflict I had at that time. Should one obey one's Guru or Baba, the
Avatar of this age? One is in a dilemma about what to do when the
order of the Guru contradicts Baba's order. In my case, my Guru asked
me to come our of seclusion room though Baba's telegram had said to
break the fast but remain in seclusion for seven days. One day, Baba
solved my mental conflict. Baba, Eruch, and I were together, and Baba
told me, "Imagine Eruch to be Godavari Mai. Now, your love goes to
her but ultimately comes to me via Godavari Mai, as I, God, am seated
in her also." Baba continued, "So, instead of your love coming to me
via Godavari Mai, why not love Me directly?" Immediately, like a
flash of lightning, it became crystal-clear that I should love Baba
directly instead of Godavari Mai as a medium.

THE PROGRAMME OF SPRING, 1957

As brought out earlier, Baba had invited lovers from Navsari, Surat,
and Bajwa to Poona on 2" June 1957, and the meeting took place at
the former residence of Dadi Kerawala at the Botanical Gardens. The
warning from Baba that had been explained on the 19" of May to
lovers from Bombay and Poona was again read out to them. In the end,
Baba asked if all present accepted Baba as God in human form. All
affirmed this except one elderly Baba lover from Navsari, who said he
could not accept the concept that the infinite God could be bottled up
in the form of Meher Baba. He said that he accepted Baba as a part of
that infinite God. Baba was happy to hear what the old lover said
honestly. Baba then asked him whether he accepted anyone greater
than Baba. The old lover firmly said that he accepted Baba as the
highest among the spiritually advanced persons. Baba was very happy
to hear this.

I returned from Matheran after seeing Godavari Mai and went to
Poona to meet Baba on the 9" of June 1957. One of the lovers from the
Bombay group had offered Baba one thousand rupees when he visited
Baba at Guruprasad on the 19" of May, and Baba had decided to use
this money for work with the poor. Accordingly, on the 9" of June, two
hundred children below fifteen years of age from poor families were
brought to Baba. Baba bowed down to each one of them
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and gave each a packet of sweets and a piece of cloth as prasad. Mani,
in her Family Letter 9 of 18" June 1957, writes about this programme:

The poor children's programme on the 9" went off very well, and
as always on such occasions, Baba looked wonderfully radiant.
Though as usual we girls were not present at the actual
programme, we could see from early morning the stream of
Baba's devotees going by our cottage towards the mandali's
quarters, while the line of vehicles outside the driveway kept
multiplying. Then came the buses full of children - bright eyes
and happy smiles barely showing above the bus windows and
their united cries of "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai" was music. Baba
returned at noon, leaning on the arms of Eruch and Meherjee and
followed by a large number of the others, who had come for the
occasion from Poona and other parts of India. Visible from a
distance was the single flower garland around His neck, and not
so visible was the dust of 200 pairs of little feet on His dear
forehead. (Baba bowed down to each child).

The Poona Bhajan Mandali (devotional songs singing group) sang for
Baba after the children's programme. I sat on the floor next to Baba on
His left. For a long time, Baba talked to me about the difference
between a Guru and the Avatar while the singing programme was
going on. At first, He explained the difference between a Guru and a
Sadguru. Anyone from whom you imbibe knowledge is a Guru - a
teacher, but a Sadguru is a Perfect Master. He or she is a God-Realised
person, unlike a Guru. The five Perfect Masters bring about the Advent
of the Avatar at the end of seven hundred or fourteen hundred years.
When the five Perfect Masters give their charge to the Avatar, they
become nonfunctioning. After a Perfect Master drops his body, his
spiritual powers remain around his tomb for about fifty years. Anyone
who approaches the tomb of a Perfect Master with love and faith can
derive material benefit but not spiritual benefit. Of the five Perfect
Masters, one is the head, and he is called the Qutub-e-Irshad. His
power to help devotees remains for seventy years after his demise and
then gradually lessens. Anyone who approaches the tomb of the Avatar
with love and faith derives not only material but spiritual benefit also.

Baba then asked me, "What is the state of mind of a Perfect
Master?"
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I replied, "A blank mind."

Baba retorted, "A blank mind is an idiot's mind." He went on to
explain:

Suppose I keep a radio near Me and tune it to New York, I will
hear the programme from New York. The sound waves from New
York are here now, but your ears cannot receive them. Now, if
you speak into the radio, your voice will not be heard in New
York unless the radio is a radio cum transmitter. The radio can
receive from only one station at a time. The Avatar has a
Universal mind. While I am talking to you, I know what is going
on in the mind of everyone seated here. I also know the minds of
the people standing outside this room. I am conscious of
everything going on in the minds of everyone in the universe. My
Universal Mind receives from every being in the world and can
transmit a thought to anyone in the world. That is the state of the
mind of the Avatar.

OUR TRUE COMPANION: PRATAP AHIR'S STORY

Madhusudan Pund, whom every Baba lover in India knows, was
singing. Pratap Ahir would always accompany Madhusudan on the
harmonium. But, unfortunately, Pratap was not called for this
programme. In his own words, Pratap relates this incident:

Once Baba held a meeting at the Botanical Gardens in Poona.
Unfortunately, I was not called. The person who had made a list
of invitees, though being a very close friend of mine and
schooling with me in the same class, forgot to include my name. I
really do not know how he did it, but he forgot to mention my
name. When I saw the others going to the meeting, I felt it deeply
hurt. I felt so upset that I went near the banks of a river and I had
peculiar thoughts in my mind. I felt so sad that I had not been
called for that meeting even after such close association with
Baba for so many years.

As soon as the meeting began, it seems Baba asked, "Where is
Pratap?" Everyone looked around, and they could not find me.
They said that I had not come. The list of invitees was checked.
My name was not found in it. Baba immediately sent a man to my
house to call me. But, being
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dismayed, I had left my home and gone to the river, wandering
aimlessly. When the man came to my home, I was not to be found.
After some time, I came back to my home and heard the news
that Baba had called me. I rushed to the Botanical Gardens. Baba
asked, "Why did you not come for the meeting?" I replied, "Baba,
I was not invited." Baba enquired how this had happened. No one
replied. Baba asked, "Who prepared the list of invitees?" Some-
body said, "Digambar Gadekar, Baba."

Baba remarked, "Digambar is your best friend. You both studied
together. How could he forget your name?" I kept quiet but was
on the verge of crying. Baba then said, "Now forget about this.
Remember that all your companions in this world will be there for
some years only. But, I will be your companion till the end. I am
your real companion."

Years have passed since this incident, and I have literally
experienced in life that these words of Beloved Baba are very true.

Pratap met Baba for the first time on his birthday at Mahabaleshwar on
the 16" of October 1950. Baba had invited the Poona Bhajan Mandali
to Mahabaleshwar on the 24" of December 1950. Baba had asked for
the photo and details of each one coming for the programme. They
sang on the 24™ and also on the 25" when Mehera's birthday was
celebrated. Baba again called Pratap to Mahabaleshwar a few days
later but this time alone. He was just a boy of thirteen then. Baba
kissed and embraced Pratap many, many times and showered His love
on him. This love has sustained Pratap through the rest of his life, and
now he lives and sings for Baba.

Baba's stay in Guruprasad from the 18" of April 1957 came to a
close as he returned to Meherazad on the 10" of June. Baba started
early in the morning to avoid the mid-day heat and got to Meherazad in
good time after a fairly comfortable journey.

SAHAVAS AND DARSHAN OF DECEMBER, 1957

Meher Baba decided to give darshan on 8" December, and so Sardar
Raste sent a telegram to Maharani Shantadevi as follows: "Kindly
grant permission to use Guruprasad from 9% to 11" December for
Avatar Meher Baba. Hoping you will
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avail of this divine opportunity of service to Meher Baba." The
Maharani gave her permission, but since Sardar Raste had made a
mistake in the dates, another telegram was sent asking for the
bungalow from 7% to 9" of December. Permission was again granted.

Baba then asked Sardar Raste to inform Maharani Shantadevi that
during His stay in Guruprasad, her family or guests should not be
permitted to come and stay in Guruprasad. The Maharani very loving
consented to this request. Even the Maharani herself was not permitted
to come for darshan. Only after Baba had stayed in Guruprasad several
times was the Maharani permitted to take His darshan. She obeyed
Baba's order literally, and even when she was passing through Poona
on her way to some other place, she would not come to see Baba. Once
she was found standing outside the gates of her own bungalow, waiting
for permission from Baba to enter. When Baba was informed about
this, He was very pleased with her obedience and then permitted her to
come for His darshan whenever she was passing through Poona.

K.K. Ramakrishnan was asked to arrange for the programme on the
8t of December. As requested by Baba in the morning, from eight to
twelve noon there would be a sahavas (intimate companionship)
between Baba and intimate families. Bhajans would form a part of the
programme. From 4:00 to 6:00 P.M. selected persons would be
allowed to meet Baba. Baba informed Ramakrishnan that He had no
objection if families who had had sahavas in the morning came again
in the evening. It was up to the managers to see that these families did
not come in the way of the newcomers who were not permitted to
come in the morning.

Songs composed by Madhusudan were sent to Baba and were read
out to Him. Baba asked Ramakrishnan to inform Madhusudan that he
should sing these songs at Guruprasad. Ramakrishnan informed Baba
that he had a list of fifty-eight families for the morning programme,
which would mean about two hundred and sixty persons including
children. For the evening darshan programme, Ramakrishnan said he
had a list of one hundred names, and the number of persons would be
about six hundred to one thousand. Ramakrishnan was instructed that
there should be no publicity for the darshan programme.

The first public programme to be held at Guruprasad was on the 8
of December 1957. The programme was from 8:00 A.M. to 12:00 P.M.,
but people



23

began gathering outside the big gates early in the morning. When the
gates were opened, Baba lovers rushed into the garden and then up the
steps near the portico into the large hall. All wanted to sit near their
Beloved.

When all had sat down on the floor and were anxiously waiting for
Baba, He entered among loud cheers of "Avatar Meher Baba Ki Jai!"
A queue was formed, and each lover would go up to Baba and bow at
His feet and then receive an embrace from Him. Madhusudan and his
party sat to the left of Baba, and to the accompaniment of harmonium
and tabla, they began to regale Baba with heart-touching songs. As
each lover met the Beloved of his or her heart, He gave His love in
abundance and selflessly. Baba dispensed to each lover His love-filled
smile and presence, which they drank in with their tears. When the
faucet of His love was turned on full, and He lifted the divine curtain
just a wee bit, precious tears began to overflow from His lovers' hearts.

Among the four hundred or more lovers was a blind Bengali girl
who came with her parents. Baba gave her special instructions to fast
for forty days on milk, tea, coffee, and bananas, and during that period
to repeat His name 1,001 times daily. She was told to participate in the
February sahavas and to break the fast the day the sahavas started. He
made clear to the girl and her parents that He did not perform miracles
and they must not get the impression that by carrying out His
instructions her sight would be restored. He said, "The eyes of man see
things that are not worth seeing, and that which is Real is not seen by
physical eyes. My instructions will help her to see inwardly what alone
1s worth seeing."

AN ACCOUNT OF THE DAY'S SAHAVAS, BY BAL NATU

Avatar Meher Baba graciously consented to give a day's sahavas to the
families of Baba lovers in Poona and darshan to those who had
recently heard of Him and were keenly interested in His work. The
sahavas was arranged on 8" December 1957 from 8:00 A.M. to 12
noon and darshan was given from 4:00 P.M. to 6:00 P.M. on the same
day. The entire programme was arranged at Guruprasad.

Baba lovers assembled in the palatial Guruprasad by 7:30 A M. A
homely atmosphere was the outstanding feature of this gathering. All
were happy and cheerful, as the long-awaited moment of Beloved
Baba's arrival approached. At the stroke of eight, Baba's car rolled up
to the porch of Guruprasad. With a cheerful smile, Baba got down
from the car. He wore His favourite pink coat over
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a white sadra and yellow silken trousers. The eyes of all were focused
on Baba as He flashed a radiant smile. With two sticks in His hands to
support Him, Baba ascended the steps and slowly walked over the
specially prepared carpet decorated with flowers and petals of roses.

About four hundred persons, young and old, men and women, boys
and girls, stood up silently in the big hall of Guruprasad to welcome
Baba. Beloved Baba asked all to sit at ease and not to make any haste
in placing their offerings before Him. He had previously instructed that
the family atmosphere should be maintained throughout the morning
programme, and one did indeed feel that the different families formed
one big Baba family.

At the beginning of a programme, Baba is always ready with His
sparkling wit or humour that makes all smile and forget their worries
about the world. On this day, when everyone was seated, Beloved
Baba remarked, "I know everyone and everything, but I do not know
about those who are now near Me! So let each member of every family
be introduced to Me." Thus, Baba indirectly offered the opportunity of
personal contact to each one in the gathering, including the babes in
arms. One by one all were introduced to Baba, and He spontaneously
responded with love to one and all. Baba patted some, embraced a few,
and bathed all with His loving glance. All felt blessed.

When one lover was introduced to Him, someone said, "Baba,
nowadays, he is suffering from eye trouble. It is hoped that he will be
cured of this defect before the ensuing sahavas in February 1958."
Baba replied, "All those in this hall have defective sight! For with your
eyes you see things that are not worth seeing. With the real sight, you
see Me everywhere."

Baba contacted each and every member, the first to the last, with the
same warmth of love. Indeed, He is the unbounded and unconditioned
Love Divine. At the end, Baba remarked, "Today I am happy, for all of
you are introduced to Me." And with a loving smile, He enquired, "But
am I introduced to anyone as I should be? Why? I am Infinitely
Infinite."

All took their seats and were asked to maintain silence during the
recitation of the Parvardigar Prayer. The Marathi version of the prayer,
which was originally dictated by Baba in English at Dehra Dun in
August 1953, was recited aloud.

When the recitation was over, Beloved Baba with his eloquent
gestures, which Eruch interpreted, was pleased to convey the following:
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Eternally God is the only One never changing. Everything else
changes. It 1s all a passing show. Yesterday has passed by; today
will pass off, but God was, is, and ever will be. Today you are a
grown up person; but once you were a child. Some years hence
you will become old, drop the body; then you will be born again
and will have another body. Many a birth and many a death pass
by; God alone remains forever and ever.

The mind persists through birth and through death, in spite of and
in and through its changing vicissitudes. If the mind goes away,
God reveals Himself; and as long as one is not conscious of God
as God, mind persists. When the mind goes, God comes. It can
also melt away through My Grace; but in order to be worthy of
this Grace, you must have obedience, which consists in acting
implicitly according to my wishes.

There are four types of obedience.

1. Obedience of a soldier, or patriotic obedience;
2. Obedience of a servant, or paid obedience;

3. Obedience of a slave, or compulsory obedience;
4. Obedience of a lover, or willing obedience:

In patriotic obedience, the soldier carries out the order of the
commander instantaneously. In paid obedience, there is the
expectation of monetary return. The more the salary, the quicker
and louder is the "Yes, sir." Compulsory obedience is against
one's own will. Willing obedience is inspired by wholehearted
love and it is expressed in four stages.

Suppose a mother is asked by the Master to cut her son. The first
stage of willing obedience is characterised by trial. She tries to
obey; she gets up rather reluctantly but collapses on the ground
before she performs the will of the Beloved. She again makes an
effort and uses her discrimination, giving only a slight and
superficial cut on his person. Her discrimination has here
modified the original order in her own interest.

The second stage is characterised by literal obedience. Here the
mother cuts her son but is unhappy about it. It is like taking a
bitter medicine such as castor oil, without relishing it.
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In the third stage, the lover seeks the pleasure of the Master. Here
the mother cuts her son in order to please the Master and is
pleased in doing so.

The fourth, which in a sense is not a stage, consists of absolute
obedience. Suppose the Master tells the mother that her son, who
18 visible to others, is absent; her absolute obedience will convert
the presence of the son into the actually experienced absence of
the son. She will not see him at all, though he is there in front of
her. Very, very few can thus obey the Master with absolute faith.

Beloved Baba concluded this discourse with a smile, saying, "Don't be
afraid. Baba is not going to ask anyone to cut anybody! That was just a
simile. "To cut' is to remain detached. Now it is time for refreshments,
and there is good news: you will have ladoos [sweet confections] too.
But remember, to obey Me is not as easy as eating ladoos." There was
a ripple of laughter as the members dispersed from the hall.

While most of the Baba lovers were engaged in doing full justice to
the refreshments, Baba called one of his lovers from North India who
was permitted to come for Baba's darshan at Poona. He was Professor
A. K. Hazra.*

By this time most of the Baba lovers had returned to the hall, and
Baba asked the Poona Bhajan Mandali to begin their singing
programme. This small group entertained Baba with sweet bhajans and
meaningful ghazals. Most of the songs were composed on Beloved
Baba's Divinity. At the end of a Hindi song referring to the state of a
Sadguru, Baba conveyed the following: "Now all of you are happy to
hear the sweet notes of the musical instruments and the melodious
voice of the singers. As for Me, I am Myself everything - the drum and
the harmonium, the notes and the tunes, the singers and the listeners
too. I am everything and in everything."

Then, Baba asked one of His lovers sitting beside Him whether he
had understood what Baba had explained about His experience. The
prompt and frank reply was that he just heard the words and nothing
more. At this Baba smiled and continued, "Such i1s the state of
consciousness of One in the Sadguru state.' It is all sahaj [effortless,
spontaneous]. There is no scope for thought since the Sadguru becomes
knowledge itself. However, though I am everything and in everything,
the expression of this partial awareness is occasional."
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To make it clearer, Baba added, "You know that you exist in all
parts of your body, but you are not aware all the time of being in each
part of the body. Only sometimes do you say, "This is my nose; this is
my eye.' You are your little finger and are in it. Yet ordinarily you do
not become aware of it as yours. But, if the little finger is cut off, you
become aware of it as 'mine.' The Sadguru also constantly experiences
himself in everything and as everything, and this experience is
immediate and spontaneous for him; it is not a product of thought, just
in the same way as your experience of being in the little finger. It is
sahaj."”

The bhajan programme continued. Beloved Baba appeared pleased
and appreciated the performance of the singers. At about ten minutes to
twelve there was Arti, at the end of which, for some moments, there
was complete silence in the hall. Such silent moments with the Silent
One awaken the heart through wordless communion with the Master.
Beloved Baba then left Guruprasad for lunch.

He returned to Guruprasad at about 3:00 P.M. and held a small
group meeting of Baba workers in Poona. He expressed His happiness
about the work they were doing through the Centre. At the same time,
He remarked that the heart is the real Centre. To this group, Baba said,
"I love all; but I do not necessarily need the rich, the respectable, and
the intelligent for My work. 1 need the simple, common people
irrespective of their weaknesses. Simple-hearted fishermen gathered
around Jesus; Krishna was happy in the company of lighthearted
gopals - the cowherd companions. Was not Pendya, a lame gopal, very
dear to Krishna? I am happy in your company, for it is only love that
matters and not position."

About His lovers in the West, Baba remarked, "They too are equally
dear to Me. Their spirit of obedience is admirable. Though prepared to
come all the way to India by a chartered plane even for a brief sahavas,
they have now willingly agreed to cancel their coming in order to meet
My wishes. However, in spite of the pain in My hip joint, the sahavas
programme for My lovers in India will definitely take place in
February 1958. Pain or no pain, sahavas is definite. Pain has fallen in
love with Me. It has become a Baba lover. So Baba cannot ask the pain
to leave."

Baba resumed the former discourses. He said, "What do you
understand when I say that your heart should become a Baba Centre?
In your bhajans, you sing of Me as being the Ancient One. I am the
Ancient One. But you have not
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finished your part of the bargain merely by singing about Me. You
have to live up to what you say or sing; this is the true meaning of your
being My Centre. You must be very careful in your everyday life,
about your thoughts, words, and deeds. Negligence in this respect will
be dishonoring Me."

With a smile on His face, Baba continued, "One good thing that is
common to you all is that you love Me, and the second is that you
quarrel among yourselves." At this; there was a wave of laughter
among those present. One of the workers said, "Baba, now there is an
end to our quarrels. We work as a team." Baba appeared pleased to
hear this but asked whether others had to say anything in this matter.
At this one of the workers stood up and said, "To be frank, Baba, I
wish to bring to your notice that there are still some honest differences
of opinion, as regards the nature of work that we are doing at the
Centre."

"Yes, go on," encouraged Baba.

The worker continued, "Some from our group are of the opinion that
You being the Avatar, You alone can do the Avataric work. So they
think that there is no need for them to work, in the way it is being done
through the Centre."

"But what do you personally think about this?" asked Baba.

The worker replied, "I like to run the Centre and thus spread Your
name and message of Love and Truth to the people."

Hearing this, Baba said, "I am pleased with this frank discussion. Be
what you are, and do what you feel best in My love. If some of you
believe in Me as the Avatar, it is as it should be. But you should
honestly feel it with all your heart. Now, if you take Me to be the
Avatar, I pervade and become all beings, including you all. Then it
naturally follows that those who believe Me to be the Ancient One
must work, since I Myself work. For one who really has the
irrevocable conviction that I am the Highest of the High, work is no
work. It all becomes sahaj."”

Baba further explained:

Work means to love Baba wholeheartedly; you should get lost in
it, so much so that you forget yourself completely. But such a
love is a gift rarely received.

If you do not have such love, obey me implicitly. Carry out my
orders regardless of any comments from others. And you know
what pleases Me.
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If this also is not possible, then try, try your very best to
remember Me, and thus love Baba. Run Meher Centres, sing
bhajans and tell others about Me and My messages. And I repeat,
be sincere and honest to act according to what you preach.

I know I am the Highest of the High. So I say unto you: "Love
Me, love Me." This is the only thing that matters. The Law says,
"Live for others." I, being the One without a second, pervade all,
including the others. So it is quite in conformity with the Law
when I say, "Love Me." You all are blessed to have come into My
personal contact, but make the most of it.

Much can be said and will be left unsaid about "work"; however,
for the present, you must be very particular up to 315 March 1958
about observing the following orders mentioned in the recent Life
Circular:

1. Be determined to obey Baba.

2. Abstain from lustful actions.

3. Be honest. Do not deceive or give false hopes to anyone.
4; Don't hurt the feelings of others.

It was about 4:00 P.M., and one of the mandali told Baba that the
people were waiting outside for His darshan. Baba left the room and
occupied the decorated seat in front of the hall of Guruprasad. On His
right side, the local bhajan party was singing bhajans. Devotees and
interested people, both men and women, were alternately led into
Beloved Baba's presence. Each one had an opportunity to have a close
darshan of Baba. The satisfaction and joy of this contact were clearly
visible on the faces of all.

Every precaution was taken to prevent anybody from touching
Baba's person. But Baba Himself, in His unbounded mercy and
compassion, allowed the devotees to touch His feet. While meeting
those love-hungry souls, Baba was lovingly sensitive to the spiritual
needs of some and asked them to follow certain instructions.

Avatar Meher Baba's vibrant presence transmitted silent messages of
love with the aspiring and deserving souls gathered in Guruprasad. At
about 6:00 P.M., Baba lovers of Poona devotionally performed Baba's
Arti. Beloved Baba was lifted in a chair and brought near the car. After
a few handshakes and the flash of
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Baba's loving smile, the car drove off for Pimpalgaon (Meherazad),
amidst the loud cheers of "Avatar Meher Baba Ki Jai!"

REMINISCENCES, BY K.K. RAMAKRISHNAN

In 1957, I travelled to five different houses of Baba lovers in Poona
with Baba. In those days an epidemic of flu was rampant in Poona.
While I was in the car with Baba, He asked me to take two APC
[aspirin-phenacetin-caffeine] tablets daily for a month to prevent me
from getting flu. I was shocked. I was not suffering from flu at the time,
but in obedience to His order, I began taking the tablets. After a few
days, I felt some sort of uneasiness in my chest, and I was wondering
whether it was right for me to take such a pill daily for such a length of
time. But I knew it was an order of the God-Man and that I should
obey His instructions. So I continued to take the tablets for the period
indicated by Baba. I am sure it did me good. We should always be sure
to obey whatever instructions we may receive from Baba. We must
implicitly carry it out whether the order appeals to us or not.

In Guruprasad when Baba gave darshan, all kinds of people came to
Him, rich and poor, high and low, people from various communities,
they all came and sat with Baba, and He gave them darshan. At times,
some prominent personalities also came to see Baba. If they were in a
hurry to return, we as the workers would give them preference, take
them early to Baba, and allow them to go instead of standing in the
long queue. At times, some people may have come late, and they might
not have had a chance to sit near Baba, and so we would have to take
them to Baba. This attitude on the part of the workers might have
created in the minds of some that Baba gives preferential treatment to
prominent people and the rich people.

On one occasion when Baba was sitting on the front porch of
Guruprasad bungalow, most of His lovers were sitting around Him and
Baba was giving darshan. At that time Baba made a remark: "To Me,
maharani and mehetrani are the same." Maharani means a queen, and
mehetrani means sweeper woman. It is surprising that the day that
Baba made this remark, in the afternoon when Baba was giving
darshan, I saw that on one side of Baba was seated Maharani
Shantadevi and on the other side was a mehetrani. This was not
intentionally done. Guruprasad belongs to Maharani Shantadevi, and
she used to sit very close
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to Baba. She loves Baba very much, and Baba loved her too. But the
mehetrani seated on the other side of Baba was accidental.

The scene struck me very much because only in the morning Baba
had remarked that Maharani and mehetrani were both same to Him.
Probably this remark must have been made in response to some stray
thought in the mind of someone in the morning. So in the afternoon, it
was demonstrated by Baba sitting in between the Maharani on one side
and a mehetrani on the other. It was a very wonderful scene which I
very often remember and very often explain to people in our Centre of
how Baba loved all equally irrespective of their position in the world.

I remember another incident that happened during Baba's darshan
programme at Guruprasad. A prominent personality from Delhi - I
think he was a Member of Parliament and even the Governor of a state
for some time - loved Baba, and he used to come to Poona and
Ahmednagar whenever Baba allowed people to meet Him. Whenever
he came to Poona, he used to be accompanied by one of his distant
relations, a beautiful woman. He was married and had two children. I
knew the family and was a little attracted towards the woman. One day
when she was before Baba, He passed a peculiar remark while looking
at me. He said, "All that glitters is not gold. All that shines is not
silver." Then with a wink in His eye and a peculiar smile, He said,
"Rotten tomato."

At that time, I felt that this remark was meant for me and that I must
not even mentally be drawn or be attracted towards anyone or anything
when I loved Baba. To love God-Baba is to cease loving everything
else and everyone else. One has to love God above everything else.
This does not mean that we have to hate everyone and everything. It
only means that when one loves God, one has to see His presence in
everyone and should not allow oneself to be influenced by infatuation
and drawn to others by the compulsions of our low desires. We should
love everyone and serve each other, seeing His presence in everyone.

One day, a young man from South India came to see Baba. He
wished to recite a Sanskrit poem before Baba. He said that he had
composed it to express his love and glory for Beloved Baba. Baba
allowed him to recite it, as He used to do when somebody wanted to
sing a song before Him or to express something before Him. Baba used
to permit such things. So this man recited a Sanskrit verse, and
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Baba liked it very much. And then, looking at me, Baba asked, "How
did you like ir?" Probably Baba wanted me to simply admire ir, but I
knew that the particular verse he had recited was from a book. I had
learned that verse, and it was one of the verses I used to sing in praise
of God. So when Baba asked me how I liked it, I said, "Baba it is a
verse from such and such a book."

At that time Baba made such a gesture as if telling me that I was a
fool. Baba then made that symbolic circle with His fingers and highly
appreciated the verse the man had recited. That man was a little
annoyed and hurt when I said that the verse was not written by him. He
even repudiated the statement that I had made. He asserted that he had
written it himself. After some time, all the Baba lovers left the place,
and I think we were sitting with Baba in the mandali's room. At that
time Baba asked me, "What are you thinking?" I told Baba that there
was a conflict in my mind between the truth and love. "When You
asked me, I said the truth: that the verse was not written by that man
but was from a book that I know." Baba replied, "Don't worry now.
Forget it."

This incident had a great significance in the sense that we learned
how Baba behaved with various kinds of people. I think Baba literally
called me a fool at that time. I feel that Baba considered only love and
through various ways tried to draw people towards Him. As the Perfect
Master, as the all-knowing God-Man, He knew well that that man had
not composed that verse, and it was not necessary for me to point out
to Baba that he was telling a lie. What Baba probably wanted was that I
should simply admire the recitation along with Him and thereby that
man would feel very happy and would continue to love Him more and
more. At the same time, he would have realised that he had told a lie. I
learned from this incident the knack of the God-Man and His way of
dealing with various kinds of people. Even when a person tells a lie,
He takes it as truth and admires the person and gradually awakens him
to the true approach he should have made to God.

One day, some learned scholars from Poona visited Baba to pay
their homage to Him. One of them was an M.A. Ph.D. from London.
They asked Baba various questions. Beloved Baba in the course of the
conversation explained to them many concepts, answering their
questions. But the remark Baba made was very fascinating - He said,
"Intellectual giants are pygmies before the lovers of
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God." People were coming to Baba who thought that they were very
wise and knowledgeable and wanted to show off their greatness in His
presence instead of silently receiving His love and grace and being
benefited when they had the fortune of being with Him physically. But
Beloved Baba, through His compassion and love, changed their
attitude. He would listen to their questions and very seriously answer
them, but at the same time, He would make remarks that went deep in
to their hearts.

All our intellectual attainments in this world and all the wisdom of
the world we may possess have no place in the path of love. In love,
we have to unlearn what we have learned. Self-lost is God found. So
long as we are dominated by the importance of our self, we can never
have entry into the lane of love.

During Baba's summer stay in Poona, sometimes He used to allow
us to be with Him on holidays and Sundays for some time. On some
occasions, Beloved Baba used to give a list of the persons to be called.
Sometimes He used to tell me to call the workers of the Poona Baba
Centre or sometimes Poona Baba lover families. He was very specific
about whom He wanted to call. I was allowed to suggest to Him
someone I felt was left out. Once Baba gave me a list of persons to be
called on a Sunday and be with Him for a few hours in the morning. I
informed them accordingly.

All of them came and enjoyed Baba's company and went back home.
Then I reminded Baba that if some of the intimate persons who were
not called would come to know that others were called, would feel hurt.
I, as a Baba worker got into a lot of trouble when some Baba lovers felt
that some had been given preference and some not. So when I told
Baba that a few people had been left out and that they might feel hurt,
Baba said, "All right, call them at two-thirty in the afternoon. I will just
see them. I will embrace them and send them back." Accordingly, 1
informed all of them to be in Guruprasad at two o'clock so that they
could be with Baba exactly at two-thirty.

At about one o'clock Baba was feeling not too well, and He told me,
"You have called them. They will come. I'm not in a mood to see them.
Why not try and cancel the programme? Somehow ask them to go
back." I told Baba that that was very difficult to do when they came to
Guruprasad. Baba suggested an alternative. He asked me to get some
money from Pendu and take the Baba lovers
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to the railway station and offer them ice cream and then ask them to
return home. I agreed with Baba's suggestion.

Pendu gave me some money, but as I was going out of Guruprasad,
most of the invited people were at the gate. Naturally, Baba was
compelled to give them darshan. He embraced them. Then I told Baba
that I am now going to give them ice cream. Thus they had both,
Beloved Baba's embrace and the ice cream. I remember this occasion,
how Baba sometimes tried to play hide and seek with His lovers and
how the lovers got more of His love in this way.
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ERUCH'S LETTER TO GADEKAR

On 5% April 1958, Eruch wrote from Mahabaleshwar the following
letter to Gadekar:

Beloved Baba directs me to let you know His wish to spend some
days in Poona on and from 30" April prior to His leaving India
for the USA sahavas. Baba will be in Mahabaleshwar until 29"
April. On 30" April, He will leave Mahabaleshwar in the morning
to reach Poona, stay there for a fortnight, then go to Bombay on
13" May to fly for the USA on the 15" night. Baba likes to spend
His days in Poona Guruprasad bungalow if you can manage to get
it easily, conveniently, and without undue pressure on anyone.
Try if Sardar Raste Saheb can get Guruprasad for Baba's stay with
His group from 30" April to 13" May 1958, both days inclusive.
Obviously, Baba would want none to disturb Him during His stay
in Guruprasad if the bungalow is made available for His stay by
Maharani Saheb.

Baba wants you to do the needful in this respect and do not worry
if the bungalow is NOT made available. In which case, Baba and
party will stay at Ganeshkind or elsewhere in Poona. But, if
Maharani Saheb permits the use of Guruprasad, then it should be
on condition, that none else should be permitted to stay in the
bungalow except Baba and His group of followers. If Maharani
Saheb agrees to this wish of Baba's, then He would feel happy
and stay in Guruprasad from 30" April to 13" May 1958
undisturbed.
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The permission was granted, and so Baba stayed in Guruprasad from
the 30" of April and left on the 13" of May for Bombay (Mumbai). His
stay in Guruprasad was undisturbed.

Baba returned from the West to arrive in Bombay on the 8" of June.
He stayed for a day at Arnavaz and Nariman Dadachanji's home and
then came to Poona for a short stay in Guruprasad. On the first day of
His stay, the brother of Maharani Shantadevi came to Guruprasad and
wanted a room for his stay. Baba immediately vacated the bungalow
and stayed at Ganeshkind cottage in Poona, to return to Meherazad on
the 14" of June 1958.

Baba remained in strict seclusion except on the 10" of July, when
He called a meeting of some Baba lovers at Meherabad and distributed
His Universal Message to the world. Invariably, after a particular
period of work or seclusion, Baba would move from the scene of the
work, even for just a few days, usually saying it was a change and for
rest. And so, after this severe period of seclusion, Baba left for a stay at
Guruprasad on or about the 71 of December 1958.

FAMILY LETTER 25 (11t JANUARY 1959), BY MANI S. IRANI !

We're once again at Guruprasad, the place often graced with the
Beloved's presence, and once again offered with love by the Rani for
His stay in Poona. It seems odd that we should feel so at home in this
palatial house with its spacious rooms, high ceilings in white and gold,
its marble statues and fountain - but perhaps that is because of the
singularly light and bright atmosphere of this house where we continue
to live our simple ashram life with astonishing ease. Once again there
was gawwali singing and arti in the big drawing room where a
restricted number of Baba lovers gathered at the feet of their Master.
Many more who were not allowed to seek His darshan till after 15"
January will be able to do so, on the 17" - the day fixed by Baba to give
His Poona lovers the longed for opportunity of seeing Him before our
leaving for Pimpalgaon on the 19,

Soon our stay of one month in Poona, for the intended change and
rest after His long seclusion, will be over. Though undoubtedly there
was the "change," there has been little evidence of the "rest" darling
Baba talked of having, with some matter or another constantly
cropping up and needing His attention and guidance. As He said the
other day, with a tired sigh but not quite without twinkle in His eye,
"The poor Avatar can never have a holiday."
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The 24" and 25™ were celebrated en famille in happy occasion of
Mehera's birthday and one of our Beloved's ancient birthdays. All the
love that poured in from His Western family through Christmas greet-
ings in the beautiful cards and cables, as well as that which was sent in
silence, was received - and Baba sends His eternal love to you each.

A happy BABA-Year to us all, and may we have His grace to love
Him more. I remember Baba saying once that it is not so difficult to
receive His grace as to recognise it in the form in which it comes
disguised. This is a little prayer we read in a book.

"My soul is like a rusty lock,
Oil it with Thy grace.

And rub it, rub it, rub it, Lord
Until T see Thy Face."

May His love teach us to accept the "rub" with the oil.
With much love—
[Signed] Mani

BAL MEETS THE MAHARANI, BY BAL NATU

One day, Baba called me during His 1958 stay at Guruprasad. |
thought the purpose of Baba calling me must be about some book or
publication. Instead, I was quite surprised when Baba said, "Will you
do some work for Me?" I replied, "Of course, Baba." Baba then said, "I
want you to go to Baroda and meet Maharani Shantadevi and ask her if
she would permit only Me to stay in Guruprasad and not allow any of
her relatives to come and stay in Guruprasad while I am here."

This stunned me completely. By nature, I am a very shy person and
hardly travel alone. Now, to travel to Baroda alone and to meet the
queen was something much beyond my capacity. Yet the words "Yes,
Baba" tumbled out of my mouth, but very slowly. I left Poona and
reached Bombay railway station. Not knowing when the first train
would leave for Baroda, I looked up the timetable at the Central station.
To my surprise, I found that there was no such station. I knew Baroda
is a huge city wondered why it was not in the railway timetable. On
inquiry, I was told that Baroda city is now called Vadodara and that a
train was about to leave for Vadodara. I hurried to the train, but it was
packed like sardines.
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There was no choice left for me but to entrain and sit on the floor on
a mat. After some hours, the train steamed into Vadodara station.

After freshening up, picking up courage, I hired a three-wheeler
autorickshaw and boldly asked the driver to take me to the Lakshmi
Vilas Palace. On reaching the Palace, I was told that Maharani Shanta-
devi had gone to Bombay. I heaved a sigh of relief, as I was very
nervous about meeting her and what I would talk to her about. Lest I
forget what Baba had asked me to tell her, I had written it out and had
decided to give the paper to her instead of talking to her. I returned to
the station and caught the first available train to Bombay. Now I was in
a dilemma as to whether I should return to Poona without meeting the
Mabharani or meet her in Bombay and give her Baba's message.

I got off at Dadar station and, not knowing the Bombay roads, with
great difficulty reached Nariman Dadachanji's home. I related the
whole episode to Nariman. He suggested that he would phone Eruch at
Guruprasad and ask him what should be my line of action now. Eruch's
reply was, "Baba says to finish the work given to Bal Natu and then
return to Guruprasad."

With difficulty, I found Jai Mahal palace where Maharani
Shantadevi was staying. Feeling very nervous, I met her secretary. He
directed me to another secretary. I spoke boldly to him, saying I had a
message from Avatar Meher Baba for the Maharani and that I would
like to meet her. Though I was shivering in my shoes, I managed to
talk boldly to the secretary. I was asked to wait while a message was
sent to the Maharani, who promptly called me. I was given a red-carpet
treatment when I got the Maharani's reply to come and meet her. When
I stood before her, she asked me, "What is Meher Baba's message?" 1
shyly took out the paper on which I had written Baba's message and
read it out to her. She agreed to Baba's request and conveyed her love
to Baba. I returned to Guruprasad in the evening feeling very happy
about my actions.

When I reached Guruprasad, Baba had retired to his room, and so I
met Him the next morning. I was very proud of what I had done and
told Baba about the whole episode. I expected all praises from Baba for
the bravery I had performed in meeting the Maharani and conveying
Baba's message to her. But, on the contrary, Baba turned such a cold
shoulder to what I had said and did not even comment on my
successful mission. Retrospectively, I feel that the reason Baba did not
respond to my daring courage in travelling alone and meeting the
Maharani was
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that I had been very proud of myself. My ego had definitely inflated. If
Baba had appreciated what I had done, I am sure it would have added a
big feather in my ego cap.

MRS. KHANNA TELLS HER STORY

I came to know about Meher Baba from Prakashvati and Kishen Singh
of Dehra Dun. They used to have weekly kirtan (bhajans) at their place,
and they invited us, as we were their neighbours. These kirtans inspired
me very much, and I developed a love for Baba even though I had not
met Him. In 1958, both Kishen Singh and Prakashvati were going to
Poona to meet Baba at Guruprasad, and they invited me to go with
them. I was not married then, and my father knew that I was in safe
hands and so permitted me to go along.

We reached Guruprasad, and when it was my turn to bow down at
the feet of Baba, there was the tremendous impact of His love, and
momentarily I forgot where I was. As I rose up after bowing down to
Him, I felt I had never touched such lovely feet in my life. Since I am
fond of tea, I had brought a packet of tea to give to Baba as a token of
my love for Him. He accepted the packet and was very pleased with it.
The expression of love and gratitude on His face brought tears to my
eyes. | had never seen any man from whom love simply flowed like a
river in spate, irrespective of the person who received it. That day I
could feel the difference between the love of my parents and Baba's
love for me. His love was unselfish, pure and divine.

BABA FORGIVES MULOG

Meher Baba's father, Sheriarji, had a toddy shop in Kasba Peth, a
neighbourhood of Poona. Toddy is the sap of the palm tree fruit, a
cheap drink not of strong alcoholic content. Merwan, when He was
returning to normal worldly consciousness from His super-conscious
state between 1914 and 1921, worked in His father's toddy shop
washing the toddy bottles, sweeping the floor, and serving customers.
Merwan used to urge His customers, who were largely the poor of the
city, to drink moderately and often urged them to abstain.

Sheriarji, when he was becoming old, could not go to the forest for
the auction of the palm trees. To assist him, he kept with him a young
Irani boy named Mulog Irani. Mulog would go for the auctions and
would help Sheriarji with
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his business. After working for some time, he thought he would cheat
Sheriarji and take over the flourishing business for himself. He planned
out a strategy. He invited Sheriarji to his house for dinner. When
Sheriarji was about to leave, Mulog asked Sheriarji to sign a paper over
which he had put a blotting paper so that Sheriarji could not read what
was written on it. Sheriarji, trusting Mulog, signed the paper without
reading its contents. He thought it was an authority given to Mulog to
go for the auction of the palm trees on his behalf. On the next day,
Sheriarji was surprised to learn that Mulog was now the sole owner of
the toddy shop and everything that was in it.

Sheriarji, who constantly repeated "Yezdan," one of the names of
God, went home and told his wife, Shireen, about what Mulog had
done. Shireen was very angry and told Sheriarji that they should go to
court. A lawyer was engaged by them. In court, Sheriarji talked so very
highly of Mulog and his sincerity that it shocked the others. Sheriarji
later said that Mulog would have to suffer a lot in the future and that is
why he treated him lovingly.

One day when Mani came back from school, she found the house
unusually silent. Shireen told her that they had lost the case. Hearing
this, Sheriarji said, "We have won long ago and not lost anything." A
few days later, Sheriarji wrote a letter to Mulog: "I am old, while you
are young. I forgive you, but now you ask God to forgive you." He did
not get a reply. Mulog flourished in his business, and not only bought
another horse carriage but even added an extra floor to his house.

In 1958, long after Sheriarji and Shireen had passed away, Baba was
giving darshan on the verandah of Guruprasad. The women mandali
were not on the verandah with Baba, but they would peep through the
clear part of huge glass windows, which were embossed with beautiful
patterns. Mani says that she saw an Irani woman come up the steps but
could not recognise her. The woman came and stood in front of Baba
but with no expression on her face. She stared at Baba for a few
moments and then fell on His knees, sobbing. Baba very lovingly
pressed her head on His lap. After she got up and was herself again,
she said to Baba, "You will have to forgive him. He says he cannot
leave his body before God forgives him."

Baba looked far away for a while. He then raised His hand to
forgive. She now stood up, looked at Baba, and left without bowing to
Baba. The mandali later heard that her husband, Mulog, died a few
hours after Baba had forgiven
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him, Mulog had remembered Sheriarji's words, "I forgive you, but now
you ask God to forgive you." On his deathbed, he intuitively felt Meher
Baba was God and so had sent his wife to Baba to ask for forgiveness.
Like an enormous wave of the ocean that strikes the shore and, when it
recedes, leaves no trace in the sand, for it carries away everything in its
vastness, Baba, in His unbounded mercy, forgave Mulog and left him a
clean slate.

DUST AT HIS FEET, BY K. K. RAMAKRISHNAN

Beloved Baba used to often quote Hafiz to impress on us the clear
picture of the life of surrender of a lover of God. "Become dust at the
feet of the Perfect Master." What does this mean? It means humility in
its naked form. One who surrenders to the God-Man obeys the Master
implicitly without questioning. He never thinks. His mind never
functions in his love for God. His thought has ceased to operate. Dust
does not question when we stamp over it, when we spit on it or do
whatever we may with it. In a life of obedience to a Perfect Master or
the Avatar, one has to live such a life of self-effacing humility that
one's thoughts, words, and deeds are at all times in tune to His will and
wish and thus unconscious of one's own self.

We were sitting in a sort of a semicircle in front of Baba. All of a
sudden He asked me, "Have you surrendered to Me?" "Yes, Baba" was
the spontaneous answer that came from my mouth. Beloved Baba
made a gesture of utmost surprise, making that symbolical circle with
His thumb and forefinger as if it were the strangest news He'd ever
heard. Then, in a thoughtful mood, He began asking the mandali the
same question one after another. "No, Baba!" was the invariable
answer from each one.

I was stupefied. Strange, I thought. These people who have been
with Him for many years, who live in obedience to His orders all the
time and serve Him ceaselessly, those who have left everything and
followed Him - if they have not surrendered to Him, who else could? I
wondered whether they were making fun of me. Fun in the presence of
God? Such thoughts began moving fast within my mind. When all had
said no to His question, Baba turned to us and said, "I am happy, at
least one has surrendered to Me." I did not say anything. But what I
had said in answer to His question seemed to me to be true then. It
might have been a desire within, and I was unconscious of its
implications. In any case, for the
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mandali to say that they had not surrendered to Him appeared to be
unbelievable, and it has remained an enigma to me since then.

PLAYING DEAD FOR BABA, BY DR. G.S.N. MOORTY

Meher Baba rightly called Dr. G.S.N. Moorty "the talkative disciple of
the Silent Master." Having travelled to every nook and corner of India,
Dr. Moorty talked both to individuals and to the masses, and his
speeches left his listeners spellbound, not because of the speaker's
intellectual glibness on spiritual subjects or familiarity with the great
scriptures, but because Baba's love poured out through his talks. The
narrative now continues in G.S.N. Moorty's words.

On 11" December 1958, in the morning at about 8:00 A.M., Baba
called a small group of lovers who were readily available at
Guruprasad and said: "I am too tired. The burden of the whole universe
weighs heavily upon My shoulders. I want to feel refreshed and
relaxed. I wish those of you who are present here now to make Me
laugh and lighten My burden by performing a short, humorous drama
in the afternoon." Pukar, Baboo Ram Prasad, Heera, Yadav, Dr.
Bharucha, Gajwani, Kishan Singh, and Dhake Phalkar, who were
present on occasion, immediately went into the next room and started
preparing for the drama. The entire drama script was required to be
written on the spot, rehearsed, and then enacted before Baba in the
afternoon, in the Central Hall of Guruprasad.

Invitations were also sent to lovers who were putting up in different
lodges, as well as lovers from the Poona Centre, to gather at 2:00 P.M.
the same day to witness the drama.

The theme of the drama was promptly selected and the script made
ready within half an hour. I was offered the role of hero, which I
rejected because I could not memorise long dialogues within such a
short time. However, I suggested that the role of a "dead body" be
specially created for my sake, as it required no memorising at all. It
was the easiest role to play, as I had only to lie down like a corpse. My
proposal was agreed to. So Pukar was now made the hero, and Baboo
Ram Prasad the heroine. Heera was asked to entertain by dancing.
Gajwani, Bharucha, Kishan Singh, and Dhake Phalkar were allotted
the roles of carrying the "corpse."

The gist of the story was as follows: A Baba lover from West
Bengal dies out of utter frustration because Baba did not visit his place
in spite of repeated
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prayers. The dead body of this Baba lover is placed on a funeral pyre
made of bamboo sticks. Then the corpse is covered with a coffin and
properly tied on all sides with a strong rope. Even the face is wrapped
up. Then starts the dialogue between the hero and the heroine who
stand at either end of the funeral pyre. Finally, they implore the mercy
of Meher Baba to touch the dead body with His hand and grant the
poor departing soul its last desire - that Baba should visit places which
were not previously visited by Him and thereby give public darshan to
one and all.

Precisely at 2:00 P.M., several hundred lovers gathered at Guru-
prasad in the main hall to witness the drama. They did not even know
the name of the drama. The hall was fully packed with Baba lovers.
Baba came and sat on His usual sofa, and Eruch gave a signal to begin
the drama. The corpse was carried and placed before Baba, at a little
distance from His chair. The hero and heroine commenced their
dialogues. While the drama was thus going on in utter suspense, the
voice of Eruch was heard saying, "Baba wants that the funeral pyre
should be brought nearer to Him and the same be placed close to His
feet."

As I could clearly hear the above words of Eruch from underneath
the coffin (since I was not truly dead), I felt fortunate that my "body"
was placed almost touching the sacred feet of the Avatar. The four who
brought the "corpse" before Baba sat around the body, as is the usual
custom. When Pukar, the hero, requested Baba several times to touch
the "corpse" according to the last wish of the dead Baba lover, Baba
laughed but did not touch the body with His hand. Baba was touching
my body with His toe on my waist and tickling me. As a result, my
body was shaking with silent laughter. Pukar was clever and under-
stood the situation. The hero frantically cried aloud, requesting Baba to
touch the body soon with His hand, for if He delayed, the corpse would
get decomposed.

Just at this very moment, I felt Baba tickling my body with His toe
so forcefully that I could no longer lie down dead, but got up with a
jerk, breaking the ropes around me, and stood straight in front of Baba
with folded hands. The whole drama came to a sudden halt. Baba
Himself burst into silent laughter which was so contagious that the
entire crowd of Baba lovers resounded with the waves of loud laughter.
We were happy, as the original purpose of the drama was successful in
making Baba laugh.
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When the drama was over, Baba called me close to Him and said,
"What made you select such a funny role of a corpse?" I replied that it
was the easiest role since it required no memorisation of the dialogue.
Ultimately, embracing me, Baba quickly gestured, saying, "See how
impossible it is even to act as a dead body in a drama, whereas you
have to become truly dead to the world in My love." Thereafter, on the
same occasion, Baba confirmed the name given to me previously,
"Murdal Moorty," which means "Dead Moorty." With this new name
given to me as Murdal Moorty, I began issuing "Death Circulars."

My death was silently inaugurated and personally announced by
Beloved Baba, the Ancient One. This strange inauguration had set fire
to the entire system of my thinking on Life and Love, but most luckily,
from out of the dust my "dead body" was lifted up by the living Avatar
of the Age, who embraced me thrice. Baba's three embraces given to
me in December 1958 have created a "new life" in my "dead body,"
followed by a great psychic stir in all the three states of my being -
physical, mental, and subtle, simultaneously causing a triple movement
in my consciousness. Perhaps this was my spiritual "rebirth." ... :

DARSHAN IN SECLUSION

Mani, talking once about the unpredictability of Baba's actions, told us
a story about a time when Baba was in strict seclusion in Satara. Some
Baba lovers came to Satara for their own work and, knowing that Baba
was there, wrote asking Him to kindly grant them darshan. He replied
that He was in strict seclusion and so their request could not be granted.
During this strict seclusion, on one day, Baba went for a walk outside
His bungalow. A sweeper woman was sweeping the road. She
suddenly saw Baba and, immediately dropping her broom, came up
and took darshan by putting her head on His feet. Baba did not object
to it; on the contrary, He raised the hem of His sadra so that she might
take darshan to her heart's content. He then moved on and did not seem
disturbed in His seclusion. i

A similar incident occurred when Baba was in very strict seclusion
in Guruprasad. He was sitting on the verandah on a chair lovingly
offered to him by Kary and Joseph Harb. (This chair is now in the
Study Hall at Meherabad.) Suddenly a middle-aged Parsi lady who was
a social worker from Bombay came up the central stairs of the
bungalow and headed straight for Baba without even glancing at the
women mandali sitting around. She got on her knees and held
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Baba's hand with such adoration, then bowed and left with a heart full
of love and joy. Mani was surprised that not a word was spoken and
Baba did not object to her coming, though He was in strict seclusion.

Once when Baba was sitting in His room at Guruprasad in strict
seclusion, immersed in His universal work, a man wearing the ochre
garb of a sadhu entered the gate. Fearing the man would disturb Baba
and the pin-drop silence in Guruprasad, Eruch ran up to him and asked
him the reason for his coming. "I want Meher Baba's darshan," was his
reply. Eruch tried to explain to him that Baba was in strict seclusion
and was not meeting anyone from the public or His lovers. The man
argued that he had come from a long distance and was insistent upon
taking Baba's darshan. Eruch in his masterly way somehow convinced
the man that Baba would not give darshan. As a last resort, he
requested Eruch to allow him to sit in the garden and meditate for some
time. Eruch agreed, provided that it would be only for a short while.

The man agreed and sat down, closed his eyes, and soon seemed lost
to the world. Eruch was getting jittery as time passed by. If Baba were
to come onto the verandah from His room and see this intruder in the
garden, Baba would not be too pleased with Eruch. After some time,
Eruch, finding that the man had no intentions of getting up, called
others from the mandali, and they picked up the man bodily, took him
through the gate and placed him on the sidewalk. The man arose from
his trance and went away, not too happy with Eruch's behaviour.

HOW CAN | SWIM?

One day there was a large gathering of children at Guruprasad, and
they were enjoying Baba's darshan and company. Baba asked them if
they knew swimming. Some replied that they did know swimming,
while others replied in the negative. I was sitting there and
remembered an incident when Eruch had once saved Baba from
drowning when they were crossing a very muddy stretch of water on a
sort of raft at Vengurla in 1949. Baba was telling the children that
swimming was a very good exercise for the body. I asked Baba
whether He knew how to swim. Turning to me, Baba immediately
replied, "I am the Ocean - how can I swim?"
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Meher Baba had come for a stay at Guruprasad early in December of
1958. He was to give darshan on the 17" of January 1959. Murshida
Ivy O. Duce, who had been an intimate disciple of Avatar Meher Baba
since 1948, came to meet Baba on the 18" of January. Meher Baba had
appointed her Murshida (teacher) of an authentic Sufi Order in
America, which He later renamed Sufism Reoriented. Coincidentally,
she was born on 25" February 1895, precisely a year after the birth of
Meher Baba. In the early 1940's she had been accepted by Rabia
Martin, the Murshida of the Sufi Order established in the West in 1910
by a great Sufi master from India, Hazrat Inayat Khan. Sufism, as
reoriented by Meher Baba, stresses love, longing for God and selfless
service.

REMINISCENCES, BY MURSHIDA IVY O. DUCE

When I discovered that, Terry [Duce] and I were leaving for Arabia
and other Middle East countries on 19" December 1958, I wrote to Adi
that it would mean so much if only I might have a glimpse of Baba.
Arriving in Dhahran, Saudi Arabia, on 5" January, a letter from Eruch
Jessawala awaited me, to the effect that Baba wished to remain in
Poona undisturbed until 15" January and that He was returning to
Pimpalgaon on the 19" after meeting Poona devotees on the 17'%; that
might have the glimpse if 1 could reach there before the 19,

The letter continued: "Baba wants you to know that although you
asked only for a glimpse, He will grant you five minutes to be with
Him and five more minutes to be with the girls. Then you should leave
Poona and go directly to your destination, i.e., leave India by the first
available plane or ship. Therefore, you should arrange your itinerary
accordingly ... Baba wants you to bear in mind that the five minutes are
meant to be taken literally by you and that the purpose



48

of your coming to India is just to be with Baba for five minutes. This
means that if you decide to make the trip to India, then you are NOT to
plan any other program of sightseeing or other visits to places in
India."

Bearing in mind my training that "one moment in the presence of a
Master is worth crores of lifetimes," but more than that, being very
anxious about our Beloved, I set up the complex machinery of pass-
ports, exit and re-entry visas, plane schedules, etc. ... Luck was with
me for TWA had a passage at just the correct time, and Baba said I got
there at a most auspicious time because He rewarded my eagerness to
visit for only five minutes by permitting me to sit for four hours with
Him during the Poona darshan, although it wasn't really a "darshan"
per se.

... Arrived in Bombay at two in the afternoon on Thursday the 15%
of January 1959... Early Friday morning Nariman Dadachanji and his
brother-in-law escorted me on the train to Poona. On arrival, Meherjee
Karkaria drove us over to the mansion of the Maharani of Baroda,
which she had turned over for Baba's one month of rest. Mehera,
Manija, Goher, Rano, and Khorshed greeted me, Meheru being in
Bombay for medical care where I had seen her. Five minutes rushed by
and I was taken to Baba.

He was sitting with a large group of men mandali - men who had
been close to Him for many, many years, all of whom were introduced;
and it was a great pleasure to see in person people like Pendu, Vishnu,
and Baidul (who used to arrange all the mast trips) etc., about whom all
of us have heard. Baba looked radiant, eyes sparkling, and I felt
relieved that He was so much improved after His month in Poona,
although I was not sure but what He had, as He can so easily do, turned
on His special incandescence for the occasion. Mani later said she
thought He had because He really has suffered so much during the
seclusion ... >

... I inwardly grudged the time taken for the introductions. I was
rather eager to tell Him of the progress I had just witnessed in Saudi
Arabia, thinking that He would be happy to hear of the advancements
in education, even to girls, made by the king through his oil royalties.
It seems to me that this would bring satisfaction to Him harking back
to His days there as Muhammad. Instead, He commented, "Why all of
this talk about kings - you are now here with the real thing." Then
Baba asked, "When are you going home?" I replied, "When I get back
to Arabia we have to make a trip over to Egypt, and then we will be
going to Beirut, and
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from there ...." Baba interrupted, "You are telling me the story of your
life. I asked when you are going home!"

It was quite obvious that I did not know the exact date, and 1 felt
very rebuffed.

It puzzled me that my hard-won five minutes should be used in this
way, but I later surmised that He was at his usual tricks, i.e., He was
needling my ego, and He was probably showing His mandali that He
handled His Western lovers with the same uncompromising authority
that He handled them.

The five minutes fled by but He consoled me by stating that I could
watch Him for four hours the next morning while He gave darshan to
local people.®

Shortly after 8 AM. Saturday morning the 17%, Meherjee drove me
over to where Baba stays. Baba gave me some instructions for about
three or four minutes, I had a quick chat with the girls, and was taken
out into the marble piazza to sit near to the Master while He received
Poona devotees. He had instructed that about 100 people be advised He
would see them before He left for Pimpalgaon, but I guess they all
called up or went to see everyone they knew, for hordes of people
arrived and stood in long patient lines in the sunny driveways. A
comfortable chair was placed for Baba right in front of the doors which
lead off the piazza into the house. The only other chair was mine
because my feet injuries prevent my getting onto the floor for any
length of time.

The piazzas rapidly filled with bhajan singers, women of all walks
of life, mandali, etc. A white snowy carpet, about the width of our stair
carpets, was spread from the side of the house where Baba meets with
His mandali, around the corner to the front and up to His chair. It was
lovingly sprinkled with rose petals and the petals of tuberoses and
freesias. Overhead long strands of patiently braided flowers waved.
Two cushions covered with flower petals were placed for Baba's feet.

An air of suppressed excitement filled the grounds. I was told some
eight Maharanis arrived from different states, people from Calcutta,
and one Dutch lady married to an Indian editor came from South
Africa. Sandals were cast off, and people pattered around the cold
floors in their bare feet unmindful of anything except that they were to
see Baba. Most of the women seemed to be bearing a tiny baby and
had one or two youngsters hanging onto their skirts. They behaved like
little angels - uttering nothing, no crying, tiny hands clasped in the
namaskar waiting for their turn.
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Baba in His pink coat and white sadra walked the length of the
petalled patio supported by Eruch's arm and sat down in His low chair.
Although there seemed to be no organisation or system people filed by
Him. It was a never-ending source of wonder to me how quickly they
could get down on their knees in one movement or prostrate them-
selves with their heads on His feet. Most of them brought an offering -
a bunch of bananas, one banana, a single posy, five or six sugar balls
wrapped carefully in a paper clutched in a hot hand, a coconut. They
managed most deftly, despite their awed excitement to hand over the
offering and put their heads on His feet in what seemed a split second,
and Baba as deftly managed to accept their offerings, caressing the
children's faces, patting this one, smiling at that one. The babies
seemed not in the least disturbed to be pulled off mother's hip and in
one gliding motion find their small faces pushed against the Master's
feet. Some mothers in their haste literally threw their babies onto
Baba's feet so that I was afraid He would be even more crippled.

Eruch was busy removing the garlands from Baba's neck when they
piled up to his chin, and occasionally getting a chance to mop Baba's
brow with a handkerchief. Adi pointed out a few people to me, such as
Dr. Ghani's widow and son. The pressing crowds made the air
suffocating, and Baba finally had to go inside for a moment and
exchange his drenched sadra for a fresh, dry one. I also was called in to
have a chappati and a cup of tea with the girls, but before it was half
consumed Baba summoned me to come out again. Bhajans filled the
air, and finally, the arti was performed. This time I noticed, there were
seven wicks, and a lovely girl in white circled it just in front of Baba
while everyone sang this hymn of worship.

At five minutes before noon Baba announced that He could only be
with them five more minutes, and as suddenly, all sense of order or
propriety ceased. The only simile I can think of is bargain day at
Macy's basement - the crowd swarmed, jostling and perspiring in a
mad effort to gain their most coveted possession - a chance to kneel at
the Master's feet and adore Him. There was no prasad, they did not
want anything; a warm current of love poured out of them; they
expected nothing - no healings, or solving of problems. One thing and
one thing only was uppermost in their minds: to adore the Master - to
look upon His beloved face.
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Baba had one short conversation with the Dutch lady. He knew that
she had been travelling all around and asked her, "Which place do you
like best?"

"The Himalayas," she replied. "I love the Himalayas."

"And what about that other place, the one in your heart, where God
dwells? Don't you love that?" asked Baba. "You should go within you
and focus on that place. All that you see in the Himalayas - other parts
of India - right here in front of you (waving his hand at the grounds and
crowds), they are all Maya - look inside of you for what is real and
lasting."

Nariman had told me another Baba gem: someone asked Baba about
renunciation and Baba's reply as nearly as I can remember it was: "It is
silly to give up the world. As long as you live in it with love, honesty,
and service (He especially stressed honesty), that is all that matters.
These three things are internal - the world is outside of you, so why try
to give up what is already external! Live where God puts you, rich or
poor, and do your best."

Humbled by what I had seen of the very pure love we all aspire to
and filled with its contagious quality, I was drawn indoors with Baba.
The crowd was barely restrained from rushing in, and a young boy of
perhaps twelve or so made such a racket that Baba allowed him to run
in and present his garland which probably cost more than the family
could afford and which he was determined to see arrive at its
destination - the neck of the Beloved. Beaming, he exited, and I could
see Baba was very fatigued. "Baba, I thought they would smother you
or maim you!" "Oh, this is nothing," Baba smiled and gestured. "You
should see a real darshan such as the Andhra one you have witnessed
on film. The mandali are always afraid for my life, the thousands of
people press so hard to get near me." In the afternoon Baba was to
receive some more close disciples from Poona (how close, I thought,
from Madras (Chennai) or Ceylon (Sri Lanka) this time?), but it was
time to take my tearful leave, and amidst a round of embraces and
admonitions from Baba to give all His devotees in America His dearest
love, I rushed off to get my things at the hotel. ...”

Like myself, Philippe Dupuis of Paris had requested a sight of Baba
and had been granted leave for a visit, but he arrived a day late on
February 9 and Adi had to drive him straight to Meherabad as Baba
was leaving for there that morning. Without having asked permission,
he brought Vilayat Khan, eldest son of Hazrat Inayat Khan, with him.
Baba embraced them, and in reply to Baba's inquiry,
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Vilayat said he was en route to Ajmer to visit Moinuddin Chisti's tomb,
but his Murshid had prompted him to meditate on Baba in his physical
presence. This struck the mandali as hilarious - why meditate when in
the actual presence of God himself? However, they were their usual
polite, gracious and restrained selves .... Baba gave Vilayat superb
spiritual advice, including "Don't become a master of disciples till you
have mastered your own self."®

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE DARSHAN:

Life Circular No. 42 (1s'February 1959)
To those who love Me and obey Me and to those who would do so:

1. In the Meherabad Gathering of 10" July 1958, I had expressed
My wish that henceforth none should expect or seek from Me
any discourse, interview, darshan or sahavas unless I wish to
give, personally, the same to any individual, family or group.

2. In spite of this, almost all letters from some of My lovers
addressed to Me after 15" January 1959 have expressed an
ardent desire to have My darshan.

3. Some of My lovers, overpowered by their devotion, still continue
to expect and seek My darshan.

4. To save them the struggle between their devotion and obedience,
I want all My lovers and others concerned to know that
henceforth anyone who wishes to come to see Me and contact
Me may do so any day between 9:00 A.M. and 12:00 noon. The
person concerned must make his or her own arrangements as
regards conveyance, stay, food and other personal comforts.
These arrangements must be seen to by the person concerned
without seeking the least aid from the resident Mandali, Adi or
his office.

5. This freedom to see Me between 9:00 A.M. and 12:00 noon will
not necessarily mean that the visitor will be granted permission
to remain in My presence or in the vicinity of My room for the
entire duration of the visiting hours.

6. The freedom to see Me will not permit anyone to be with Me for
more than a couple of minutes, which is all that is necessary to
meet and greet Me with love and receive my embrace of all-
embracing love. Nor will it permit anyone to linger on, even on
the premises, more than is absolutely necessary.
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. This freedom to see Me will not permit anyone to seek the least

opportunity to ask Me for spiritual or material guidance, gain or
aid.

. This freedom to see Me does not entitle anyone to ask Me

travelling fares or journey expenses, even if I do not see or meet
the person concerned.

. This freedom to see Me is not an invitation to anyone to see Me.

As such, none should expect My preferential treatment.
This freedom to see Me is granted by Me; as such, I remain
equally free not to see anyone on any particular day, even during
the fixed visiting hours of the morning or, if I do wish, I may not
see anyone at all for a number of days together.
This freedom to see Me permits anyone to meet Me, if I am
available, in any city or town, wherever I may be, during the
visiting hours between 9:00 A.M and 12:00 noon (local time of
the place).
This freedom to see Me will not bind Me to remain in one place,
merely to be available to visitors during the visiting hours. I
might frequently be changing My place of residence to and fro
between Bombay, Poona, and Ahmednagar, particularly during
the next six months.
Therefore, whoever may want to take advantage of the freedom to
see Me, should venture to come to Me fully prepared to face and
risk consequent inconveniences and the possibility of not seeing
Me at all for a number of days at any particular place.
The resident Mandali, Adi or his office will not be responsible,
nor bound to inform anyone about My movements from place to
place.
As I do not accept gifts of any kind or of cash, no one visiting Me
should bring any kind of offerings other than the real offering of
love.
When, for My work, I specially invite any of My lovers to see Me
at any place, the aforementioned points, other than the point in
Paragraph 15, do not apply to the invitee.
Besides telegrams, all other communications addressed to Me
will not necessarily be attended to by Me. Therefore, no one
should expect to receive replies from Me.
Meher Baba
[Signed] Adi K. Irani, disciple and
Secretary to Avatar Meher Baba
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Note carefully:
1. Baba is expected to be in Ahmednagar from 1% February to 6™
March, in Bombay from 7" March to 14" March, in Poona from
15" March to 15™ June.

2. Necessary telegraphic communications addressed to Baba, the
resident Mandali or to me, must be accompanied by a reply-paid
telegraphic form, adequately paid for in advance, if a reply is
expected by the sender. In the absence of the above-mentioned
pre-paid arrangement, no reply should be expected.

3. Please also note that the telegraphic address is just "Meher Baba
Ahmednagar." When the telegram is addressed to any of the
resident Mandali, it is sufficient to give the name plus "care
Meher Baba Ahmednagar."

In effect for the two months of April and May 1959.

In continuations of Life Circular No. 42 issued on 1.2.1959, which
should be re-read and if not received an additional copy called for,
Avatar Meher Baba wants me to inform you that during the above two
months, it will only be possible for anyone to see him at Guruprasad
bungalow, 24 Bund Garden Road, Poona, between 9:00 A.M and 12:00
mid-day on every Sunday instead of every day.

Barring this change, the rest of the points and conditions as
enumerated in Life Circular No. 42 stand good.

[Signed] Adi K. Irani

ERUCH'S LETTER TO K.K. RAMAKRISHNAN

Eruch wrote on 12" March 1959 the following letter from Ashiana,
Bombay, to K.K. Ramakrishnan, secretary of the Avatar Meher Baba
Centre Poona:

Beloved Baba wants me to inform His intimate lovers of Poona
through you that He will leave Bombay on 15" March instead of
14" and that He will reach Guruprasad on 15" evening, late
evening. Baba, therefore, does not want to be disturbed by His
own lovers in Poona on the 15" evening or on 16" (whole day).
Baba wants complete rest on the 16", WHOLE DAY for REST.
On and from 17" between 9:00 AM. and 11:30 A.M. anyone
who loves to see Baba is free to do so. This does
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NOT mean that Baba will give public darshan, because, since
10%" July 1958, Baba has stopped giving darshan. These daily
meetings will be in the form of Baba giving physical love to those
who love to meet Baba. Baba sends His love to you and to all His
dear ones.

[Signed] Eruch

Baba returned to Guruprasad from Bombay on the 15" of March. Mani,
in her Family Letter of 9™ April, wrote:

... Again Guruprasad has been rejuvenated with the life-giving
waters of Beloved's presence which the fortunate ones come to
drink of at this given opportunity for the East. Our Poona stay
began with the same daily rush of darshan seekers - including not
only the Baba lovers and the many "new" ones of Poona, but
groups of up to 70 from different parts of India and often from
distances of 3 to 4 days' journey by train. The Calcutta party was
headed by a High Court Judge and his family who had not met
Baba before and who are forming a Baba Centre there. Their
parting message said, "Though we are going away from Poona,
we are leaving the best part of ourselves at Your feet."

Sundays are more of a Sahavas, gathered around Beloved
listening to the haunting rendering by His devoted young bhajan
group - Baba looking like the Sun in His pink coat, with no trace
of tiredness that we know He must feel after the unbroken
program of the morning which sometimes stretches into the
afternoons as well .... But so it is, and so it shall always be.
Playing the part of "human" with the perfection He personifies,
this very human aspect is an eternal revelation of the One He is,
of His unbounded love for mankind, of His Mastery in Servi-
tude ....

In accordance with the new Circular, since 1% April (for 2 months)
Baba's darshan is available on Sundays only. However, a unique
and delightful exception was made on the 2™, when Baba
received the Team of Indian Cricketers who were leaving to tour
England for the coming Test Match. Since school days, cricket
has been Baba's outstandingly favourite sport, and during an
exceptionally hard and busy morning we have heard Baba
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remark, "The poor Avatar has all this to do when He would much
rather be watching a game of good cricket."

Baba embraced each player, and Eruch read out his special
message for them - this was reproduced in the sports column by a
number of newspapers, English and vernacular, local and national
(some also giving pictures of Baba with the team and of Baba
alone), with headings of "A Silver Lining," "Team Blessed by
Meher Baba," etc .... At parting, Baba embraced each one again,
gave a copy of His message and said, "Take My love with you,
and you will shine well." It was an unusual morning, and
heartening to see the hopeful confidence and loving reverence
that shone on the cricketers' faces as they left Guruprasad.

The Cricketers' Visit: From a letter by Mehera J. Irani

Beloved was very happy the day the cricketers came (April 2, 1959).
He told them of His love for this game and that He was particularly
very good behind the wickets. He was a member of the junior cricket
team of the St. Vincent's High School, but He was selected as a
wicketkeeper even in the senior team. Baba said that from His
childhood days, He was always chosen as a leader by schoolmates and
whenever there was a quarrel or fight among the students, Baba
invariably was chosen to arbitrate between the quarrelling parties.
Baba said, "When I was a child, children got attracted to Me; and when
I grew up, God was attracted to Me; and when I became One with God,
people all over the world became attracted to Me."

Baba said He loves children. When He meets children, He becomes
like a child. He loves to play marbles with them, fly kites, and play
cricket. Often when He is driving in a car, and if time permits and He
finds small children playing cricket with a plank as a bat and a rubber
ball, Baba would ask the car to be stopped and watch the game with
interest. Baba has many a time explained that His visits to witness
cricket matches and sitting among crowds intently watching the game
has a great spiritual purpose behind it.

While describing His childhood days and love of the games, Baba
told the pressmen, "I am one with God; and when you give reports of
this meeting to your
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papers, you should also include that, as One with everything and
everybody on all levels of consciousness, I live the respective roles at
the same time."

One of the cricketers asked Baba to bless the team so they could put
up a good show in England. Baba then told one of the Mandali to give
the players a tip - that they should embrace Him with all their hearts
and love, and they would be sure to take His love with them to England.
Baba blessed them all and said, "Do not be nervous because of your
show with the West Indies lately. If you play with one heart, My love
will help you win at least one test, and on the whole, you will put up a
better show than you did with the West Indies. But all will depend on
your love for Me."

Baba's message to the All-India Cricket Team - Guruprasad, Poona,
April 2, 1959

"In going to England to represent India in the field of sport, you also
have the unique opportunity of yourselves practising, and of conveying
to the people there the great spiritual lessons of concentration and love.
When you take the field, if you play as eleven men with one heart -
each enjoying the excellence of performance in another player as he
would in himself, whether that player is on your side or on the side of
the opposing team, and so eliminating feelings of jealousy, anger and
pride which so often mar sport - you will not only be entertaining the
spectators but also demonstrating the real spirit of sportsmanship. True
sportsmanship is concentrated ability enlivened with the appreciation
of the performance of others. And when this is manifested, everyone,
both players, and spectators receives spiritual upliftment as well as
good entertainment.

Some of you are "all-rounders." 1 am the greatest spiritual "all-
rounder"” of all times because I feel equally at home with saints, yogis,
philosophers, and cricketers, as well as with so-called sinners and
scoundrels. I give you My blessing that in all your actions you show
forth the spirit of love."

KESHAV NIGAM IS CALLED TO GURUPRASAD

In the early 1940's, Keshav Narayan Nigam of Hamirpur, practised law,
and also was a popular political leader. He worshipped Lord Krishna as
the only Beloved of his soul. In January 1943, he was jailed as security
prisoner under the Defence of India Rules. In prison, he met Shripati
Sahai Rawat, another political leader, who
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had been eluding capture. Shripati had taken Meher Baba's darshan in
Meherabad and then surrendered to the authorities on Baba's
instructions. Shripati would speak to Keshav of his firm belief in
Meher Baba as God incarnate, but Keshav was unable to recognise that
Meher Baba and his Lord Krishna were one and the same Divinity.
Keshav's name was sent to Baba's Ahmednagar office by one Babadas,
and so he would receive circulars from Adi K. Irani. Baba sent him
Jean Adriel's book, Avatar. Keshav found that reading Avatar
punctured his hard ego, and he began to see Meher Baba as the be-all
and end-all of his life. He translated the book into Hindi after getting
Baba's permission.

He met Baba for the first time in Meherabad on 30% August 1949.
Using His alphabet board, Baba said, "People call Me the Lord of the
Universe, but I am the servant of the Universe ... you are all very
fortunate to be here at this moment when I am about to enter My New
Life." This first darshan kindled within Keshav's heart the flame of
Baba's love. Keshav met Baba for the second time on 16" October
1950 at Mahabaleshwar, where Baba had invited His OId Life
companions also.

From 13™ to 27" November 1952, Baba visited many villages in
Hamirpur district, lighting the flame of His love in the hearts of these
poor, simple villagers. At Meherastana, Keshav read to Baba for the
first time the lines of Meher Chalisa - forty verses in praise of Baba
that he had composed himself. Baba told him, "I feel touched by them;
they have touched My heart deeply." Keshav would be asked by Baba
to recite the verses of Meher Chalisa at many functions, and those who
heard them felt Baba's love deeply. Keshav's heart overflowed with
love for Baba, and he devoted his whole life to Meher Baba's service,
with the sole aim of living for Baba.

Baba visited the Hamirpur district for the second time on 3™
February 1954. On 9™ February, Baba reached Keshav's birthplace, the
village of Mehewa, where Baba lovers had built the hut Meherasthana
on His last visit in 1952. From 9:00 P.M. to 4:30 A.M. Baba held an
all-night gathering in which His mandali and all Baba lovers from the
district took part. Bhajans and gawwalis were sung for Baba the whole
night.

After midnight, on the 10" of February 1954, Baba called Keshav
and told him, "You do not know what luck is being granted to you at
this moment." Keshav says that Baba was in an extremely happy mood.
Baba then spelled out
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on His board, "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai," and simultaneously raised
His right hand. In this extremely happy mood, Baba told those gathered
that it was the first time in this incarnation He had declared Himself to
be the Avatar. Baba said that after dropping this body of His, He would
come back after seven hundred years. According to the Parsi calendar,
this night was also Baba's sixtieth birthday. All the lovers sang songs
in praise of Meher Baba's birth and danced before Him with great joy.
Baba embraced each one before the end of the programme.

Keshav had started a Baba magazine, Meher Pukar, which gave
news about Baba and also beautiful articles about Baba's messages and
work done in His cause in Hamirpur district. Yet Keshav's life for
Baba was not a constant round of chocolates, and flowers. True love
such as his can best be recognised by the fact that it thrives under
arduous circumstances and his life was saturated with difficulties both
worldly and physical. In his later years, he suffered from Parkinson's
disease, but this did not deter him from doing Baba's work.

In 1959 Keshav experienced an invaluable lesson with far-reaching
importance for him. In March of that year, he was invited by a
"Yogiraj,"” Dharma Dhruva Gaur. Keshav met this man for the first
time in 1950 and had been quite impressed with him. He had an
attractive personality and presented himself as the president of the
World Spiritual Peace Mission. He remained in contact with Keshav
until 1952, staying at his home for several days and then sending his
blessings and good wishes in letters. This created a deep place for
Dharma Dhruva in Keshav's heart.

On his unexpected arrival after seven years, Keshav greeted him
warmly and took him into his home for about a week. But now the man
made quite a show of himself, which he had not done before - for
example, he murmured as if he were in communion with unknown
realms. Remembering that Baba teaches us to eliminate all show from
our lives, Keshav doubted the spiritual state of this Yogiraj. Dharma
Druva proposed to have money collected for a havan yagna'® to be
held there. The Yogiraj would have Meher Baba's messages printed in
large numbers for distribution among the huge gathering he anticipated.
He said he wanted to perform the yagna only to spread Meher Baba's
message. He told Keshav that out of the amount available after the
yvagna, he would give a substantial sum for the maintenance of
Keshav's family. Keshav thought perhaps this was offered as bait to
win him to the plan, but it did not attract him since his finances were
totally in the hands of Baba, the Lord of the Universe. He was,
however, attracted to doing
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Baba's work on a large scale, but he could not decide if the proposed
havan yagna was the proper means for the intended divine work.

The Yogiraj had Keshav call selected Baba lovers to speak with
them privately and propose the havan yagna to them as well. The
Hamirpur Baba lovers looked to Keshav for a final decision, and all
agreed with him when he told Dharma Druva that he could proceed
further only after obtaining Baba's approval. He heard later that the
Yogiraj did not like this idea of referring the matter to Baba, but he
told Keshav as he left Hamirpur that he would be visiting other places
and Keshav should notify him of Baba's reply and that if Baba did not
approve, Dharma Druva would try to organise the yagna elsewhere.

Keshav wrote Meher Baba in full detail about the proposal. Baba at
this time was staying with His mandali at Guruprasad. Before Baba's
reply reached Keshav, he received a wire asking him to immediately
present himself at Guruprasad. Keshav did not know why Baba had
called him specially, but on his arrival, Baba met him very lovingly
and asked after his family's welfare. During the conversation, Baba
referred to Yogiraj Dharma Druva, asking Keshav's opinion of the man.
Keshav replied that he could find nothing against him, but that his
making a great show of himself appeared very ugly. Baba smiled and
told Keshav he had been duped.

Baba had asked Keshav to stay with Him for two days but later
extended this to about ten days. During this time, Baba gave Keshav
material for the journal, Meher Pukar, asking him to correct it and set
it beautifully, apparently so that Keshav would assume that this was
the reason he had been called to Guruprasad.

Meanwhile, Baba had a telegram sent to Hamirpur, inquiring about
the Yogiraj, and Baba had learned that the man had returned to the
district in Keshav's absence and was again duping the Baba lovers
there. A reply cable was sent by Baba in Keshav's name, asking that
they should read the letter of 18" March 1959 sent by Eruch to Keshav.
Also, all concerned should be cautioned to totally stop associating with
yogis and yagnas. Keshav had to read this letter from Eruch's files
since he had arrived at Guruprasad before the letter reached his home.

Eruch wrote that Keshav's letter to Baba concerning Yogiraj
Dharma Druva Gaur was forwarded to Baba at Gumprasad and read to
Him there. About Druva, Baba remarked, "I know all about him. He is
dear to Me; he has a corner in My heart."
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Baba then had Eruch re-read part of Keshav's letter where he
mentioned: "The main thing that strikes me 1s the performance of the
havan yagna which is sought to be the means of work by Yogiraj, and
if this means is not thought to be objectionable or improper from the
spiritual point of view." To that Baba remarked, "What have havan
yagna and other yagnas to do with spirituality? How can such yagnas
help to establish Meher Baba's Avatarhood? If such yagnas had any
potential to establish Avatarhood, there would have been a crop of
Avatars fully established and enthroned - verified as Avatars by the
Seal of Yagnas."

Baba added, "The Ancient One has once again repeated His advent
this time to put His seal to end all yagnas, rites, rituals, and ceremonies.
His very being in human form surpasses all the existing rites, rituals,
and ceremonies; His very presence on the earth is the seal, sealing
everything that is of the external, and at the same time unlocking the
gate leading to the very core of one's being."

Eruch continued:

Baba then deliberated on His very dear Keshav's deep and great
love for his Beloved; and this gave rise to an occasion where
Baba reminded all of us here about Keshav's love song - Meher
Chalisa. Baba also touched our hearts bringing home to us your
sacrifice, your very life dedicated to the sacred cause and your
efficiency in discharging the duty as the Group Head in Hamirpur
district. Baba then made us feel the love of all His Hamirpur
district lovers. Within a very short amount of time, Baba surveyed
the field work done in the district and neighbouring districts by
His very dear Hamirpur-walas. Baba touched the spirit of
sacrifice, the Labour of Love, the faith and trust in Baba - all that
prevailed in the district of Hamirpur.

In much less time than the time taken to pen these words, Beloved
Baba brought home to us the fact that His dear ones in Hamirpur
district need no tutoring to make them feel established in their
love and faith for their Beloved Baba. And, even if the proposed
yagna were to be permitted by Baba, which Baba would never
want to do so, such a yagna would be tantamount to tampering
with innocent hearts of Baba lovers, the hearts wherein Beloved
Baba has been firmly established and enthroned. The
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Yogiraj's yagna might, in some cases, even cause the sacrifice of
Baba Himself from the precincts of the lovers' hearts. Your friend
Yogiraj genuinely wants to serve the cause of Truth, and Baba is
very happy about all that he has been doing in his own way to
help mankind to see the Truth; but Baba does NOT want His dear
ones of Hamirpur to see this Truth at the risk and cost of their
very sight; the sight that still cherishes all that was witnessed of
the physical presence of Beloved Baba.

Baba wants me to state here that Baba had and still has a high
degree of confidence in your intellectual capabilities and in your
love for and faith in Baba. Nevertheless, your friend Yogiraj. who
stayed as your guest for six long days, seems to have apparently
fogged your ability as the Group Head of Baba lovers, and led
you into temptation to utilise this means of yagna as a tool, which
Baba has always taught us to discard, for it is an obsolete weapon
to propagate His message of Love and to establish His
Avatarhood. Except for love, all things and means become
obsolete when the Avatar of the Age lives as God-Man amidst
His own creation. In fact, when all things and means begin to
become obsolete, the Advent of the Avatar brings a fresh
dispensation.

Baba says that, as you had the companionship of your friend
Yogiraj for six days, you could have easily brought home to him
the Truth, that instead of performing the sacrificial rites in the
shape of yagna and depriving some very hungry creatures of their
right to eat and drink things, which get burned unnecessarily in
the sacrificial fire, Yogiraj should have seriously thought of
sacrificing himself in the far more superior fire of love. Such an
offering would have been surely acceptable and would most
certainly be in complete harmony with the atmosphere of
Hamirpur district, which is surcharged with Baba-love and which
is radiating this love to the neighbouring districts.

Baba feels much amused with this episode, which seems to have
apparently tempted you. Instead of curing the diseased, Baba's
stalwart, Keshav, is infected and enfeebled by his very friend,
who is also very dear to Baba.
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Baba therefore sends His curative dose for His very dear Keshav
through these pages in the shape of a letter, so that His brave and
stalwart soldier can not only overcome the temporary infection
but can also become potent enough to instill in others, with
greater confidence the Truth which Baba wants to be brought
home to everyone who is still in the rut of things obsolete.

Baba wants me to add here that you should NOT misconstrue the
theme of this letter and feel that Baba denounces outright the
yogis and yogic practices. Baba wants that the yogis should not
tamper with the hearts filled with Baba's Love. These yogis can
do what they wish and want at their respective places, but NOT in
the House of Baba ....

Baba sends His love to His very dear Keshav and Baba wants His
Keshav to be happy in the knowledge that Keshav's Beloved will
NOT let down His dearly loved Keshav in the eyes of those who
profess to do Baba's work and through it want to achieve their
selfish ends.

Yours lovingly,
Eruch

Keshav tells us that after a refreshing ten days' stay, Baba permitted
him to return home to resume work in the light of His instructions and
advice. He reached Hamirpur to find that Yogiraj had left town the
previous day. In Keshav's absence, the Yogiraj had tried to undermine
the unity and good sense of Baba's lovers and their unflinching faith in
Baba. But Baba's dear lovers were watchful and united to drive away
the man from Hamirpur. By now, this man, whom Keshav had once
held so dear, was expelled entirely from his heart. Keshav realised that
Baba, in saving him from a serious situation, had totally emptied his
heart of others so that Baba alone might reside there.

P.K. Sarkar Meets Baba by Justice P.K. Sarkar of Calcutta

At the beginning of February 1957, a friend of mine telephoned one
morning, enquiring whether I would be able to preside over a meeting
to be held on the 25" of February, to celebrate the birthday of Meher
Baba. He said that the devotees
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of Meher Baba wanted a High Court Judge to preside over the function.
I agreed, but as I did not know anything about Meher Baba at the time,
I wanted some literature about Him. After the talk with that friend, I
remembered that I had, some years ago, seen a picture of Meher Baba
in the Times of India and Illustrated Weekly and had been struck by the
loving face. Some devotees of Baba then came to me and presented a
copy of Purdom's book The Perfect Master.

As I went through the book to prepare my address, I was thrilled and
fascinated by the life story of Meher Baba as well as by His loving and
comforting messages to the people who came to interview Him in
England. After I had delivered the address, the typewritten notes were
taken from me to be sent to Baba for His perusal, and a few days later a
beautiful letter came from brother Adi K. Irani informing me that my
address had been read over to Baba, who had liked it immensely and
had directed His love and blessings to be conveyed to me.

This unusual letter surprised me and affected me deeply. I could feel
that it was not a mere expression of courtesy but a manifestation of
genuine love and blessings of a great Master. After that, the local
devotees of Baba supplied me with more books and literature about
Him, and as I studied them, I became more and more interested in
Baba.

In February 1958, Baba held a sahavas programme, but I politely
declined the offer to attend it. On the 22" of March, Baba's birthday
celebrations were held in Calcutta, and I was again invited to preside
over the same. My written address was again read over to Baba, and I,
afterward, received a very striking letter from brother Eruch conveying
not only Baba's love and blessings but something more which I take
the liberty of quoting here:

"He (Baba) also said that you ought not to have missed the last
sahavas at Meherabad, Ahmednagar. Baba would have been very
happy to see you and you would have been fortunate to come in
His contact physically. Baba added - As it is, you are in His
contact, and where there is love, there Baba is undoubtedly."

In February 1959, I retired from the High Court, and a contingent of
Baba lovers left Calcutta in March to have His darshan at Poona. I
joined them. The diffidence and misgivings I had felt before in being a
stranger were all dispelled by
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the above letter, and I was elated by the feeling that Baba had accepted
me and I was already in His contact.

My family and I spent three days with Baba at Poona, and these
days were an unending feast of love, sweetness and exaltation and an
unforgettable memory. We could not resist our tears when we received
His holy touch and loving embrace, and these were tears of joy and
happiness. Instinctively we felt that we were in the presence of Love
Personified and could appreciate why Baba has been preaching the
message of love as the religion of the age.

Baba has said that He has come not to teach but to awaken. I had
long pondered over this saying, but the truth and significance of it
dawned on me when I found myself in the presence of Baba and
looked at His face. He has come to awaken us to love, and He does it
by His very presence and by His being in our midst. His looks, His
benign smiles, His loving gestures, His holy embrace, and everything
about Him bespeaks love, and the holy sparks of love which He
scatters around Him go to awaken His visitors to a feeling which they
had never experienced before. In the presence of Baba, one cannot but
feel that He is an embodiment of divine love and that He loves us more
than we can ever hope to love Him.

Baba appeals to the heart, where the divine love is to be kindled, and
words are more effective in appealing to the intellect than to the heart.
Lovers commune in silence, and if the depths of the heart are to be
stirred to evoke divine love, this can only be done in silent communion.
Since Baba radiates divine love from everything about Him, He need
not speak. It is sufficient to be in His presence to feel His love and to
be stirred in the inmost heart and soul by Him.

DR. DESHMUKH'S APRIL FOOL'S DAY GIFT

Baba's sense of humour was very great. Before I describe an incident
that happened at Guruprasad between Baba and Dr. C.D. Deshmukh on
It April 1959 (April Fool's Day), let me give you a little introduction
to the doctor. Baba was in London in December 1932. At that time,
C.D. Deshmukh, aged twenty-four, was studying for his doctorate in
philosophy in London. Deshmukh came to know of Meher Baba's
presence in the city through the accounts in the Daily Herald. Baba had
actually contacted him inwardly four months earlier, as Deshmukh
dreamed he saw Baba standing before him. In the dream, Baba spoke
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to him: "You are closely connected with Me. You are a good man."
Seeing him hesitating to accept this, Baba asked, "Are you not?"
Deshmukh replied, "Good or bad, please take me up into You." Baba's
response was an immediate wave of love and light. "It was like bathing
in cool, clear moonlight," Deshmukh recalled.

When later he saw a photograph of Baba in the newspaper, he
recognised Him as the One who had already won his heart. Baba's
picture further attracted him to the Lord, and he was longing to have
Baba's darshan. Deshmukh later recollected: "As I looked at the
photograph, I found in His eyes an assurance of divine guidance which
I had been looking for. The expression in His eyes brought to me the
tidings of Truth from that far off land unseen, where there is the final
Realization of the Eternal and Infinite Source and Goal of life."

Deshmukh came to meet Baba at the Knightsbridge Hotel on 8
December. During their meeting, Baba asked young Deshmukh, "What
do you do?" Deshmukh explained that he was studying philosophy.
"And what is the meaning of philosophy?" Baba inquired teasingly.
Deshmukh answered, "It is a science which reveals the hidden reality."
Smilingly, Baba replied, "To Me, philosophy is that which makes a
simple thing difficult!"

Meeting Meher Baba face to face had a profound effect on Dr.
Deshmukh, for this darshan taught him the true meaning of philosophy.
From then on, he became an ardent disciple and proved to be helpful in
preparing Baba's writings for publication.

Dr. Deshmukh now describes his visit to Baba at Guruprasad on 1*
April 1959:

On the 1% of April 1959, at Guruprasad, Beloved Baba gave me the
special privilege of making me an April Fool, presenting to me a gift
wrapped up in seven coloured papers. As I unveiled the gift by
taking away the wrappings, one after the other, I discovered at the
core an ordinary stone, which I have preserved at our Vihar Meher,
in memory of the tickling sense of intimate companionship created
by the Avatar.

I will refrain from mystic aspects of Avataric gifts or prasads since
they are unfathomable. I will content myself with a bare reference to
a few other rypes of prasad gifts from Beloved Baba to me, e.g. (1)
His own wooden sandals or (2) His own kafni (used robe) sent to me
by Him
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soon after I returned from the 1958 Meherabad sahavas of
Beloved Baba, which I was privileged to attend, (3) Pappa-s cycle
cap, used by Beloved Baba Himself for a while before giving it to
me in 1960 (Pappa is Eruch's father), (4) Baba's bronze bust, a
smaller replica of a life-size Baba bust to which beloved Baba had,
on my entreaty, given some precious moments of sitting and
which was made in Guruprasad.

Baba, being the slave of His lovers' love, had agreed to these sittings in
one of the rooms behind Guruprasad's main bungalow. I remember Dr.
Deshmukh's pleading to Baba to give a few minutes' sittings when the
sculptor came to Guruprasad. With difficulty, Baba would walk to the
room behind the bungalow and sit there while the sculptor did his job.
Dr. Deshmukh would profusely thank Baba for the trouble given to
Him.

By nature, Dr. Deshmukh was a slightly tight-fisted man. Once
when Dr. Deshmukh took Baba's darshan, Baba seemed to be in a
pleased mood. He asked Dr. Deshmukh whether he wanted God-
Realisation. Dr. Deshrnukh readily agreed to the generous offer. Baba
then told him, "But you will have to pay the price for it!" Dr.
Deshmukh wondered what austerities he would have to undergo to get
God-Realisation. Finally, he accepted the challenge. Baba said, "Pay
me one thousand rupees, and I will give you God-Realisation right
now!"

Everyone fell silent and waited anxiously for the doctor's reply,
knowing how difficult it was for him to shell our even a few rupees.
Pondering the offer, he replied, "I would have to ask my wife about it!"
Peals of laughter rang out through the crowd upon hearing this reply.
Baba too laughed silently, but the doctor seemed unconcerned about
everyone's enjoying a laugh at his expense.

Dr. Deshmukh was a strict vegetarian. The mandali, mostly Parsis,
rarely got a chance to eat nonvegetarian food. Once, Baba asked Dr.
Deshmukh whether he wanted God-Realisation. "Yes, Baba," was his
prompt reply. Baba teasingly said, "If you eat fish, I will give you God-
Realisation!" "I will think about it, Baba," was the reply.

BABA OFFERS GOD-REALISATIDN

One day, while I was sitting near Baba and a singing programme was
in full swing, Baba suddenly turned to me and asked, "Do you want
God-Realisation?"



68

Overjoyed at this unexpected offer from the Highest of the High, I
quickly replied, "Yes Baba." Baba pondered for a minute and then said,
"Yes, you will get it." My joy and surprise knew no bounds. Baba
continued, "Yes, you will get it if you repeat My name for twelve years
without a moment's break!" Foolish as I was, probably God-
Realisation was not in my destiny. I replied, "It is impossible for me to
do that Baba." Later on, I repented for giving Baba this reply. If I had
only said, "I will try, Baba," my destiny would have changed. With
Baba, over the years, we learned that one should reply, "I will try,"
even if the order given was an impossible one.

BABA VISITS A SCHOOL FOR THE BLIND

On 11" April 1959, Baba was invited by the superintendent, Kale, to
visit The Institution for the Blind, Koregaon Park, Poona. He went to
the school at 9:00 AM. Baba embraced all the blind students (about
one hundred and fifty) and a dozen teachers. Boys sang songs in Baba's
presence, and one of the boys welcomed Baba, the Avatar of the Age,
to their institution. The welcome song was composed by Madhusudan
and taught to the blind boy by Subhadra. Baba gave the following
message to the assembly:

"People generally think that the blind are unfortunate. You may
also sometimes think so. But it is people with the sight of eyes
who are really unfortunate. They think that all the things they see
are real. But they never see God, who alone is real.

"All those who do not see God are blind. The only thing worth
seeing 1s God. So even those who have physical sight may be
blinder than those who are physically blind and love God within.

"Today I embrace you with My love so that someday you may
have real sight and see Me everywhere."

During this programme, one of the students, a very young boy, sat
on Baba's lap and clung to Him in such a way that he had to be forcibly
removed by others when Baba left. On return to Guruprasad, Baba said
that He liked that boy very much and remarked, "I know why he is
blind." He added that His visit to the institute that day was intended
particularly for that boy. Baba
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asked Ramakrishnan to go and find the boy and bring him to Baba. On
the next Sunday, he was brought to Guruprasad. Baba caressed the
child again and kept him in Guruprasad till 12:00 noon.

SOAKED IN LOVE

As I have already mentioned, from 1% April 1959, Baba's darshan was
available on Sundays only. On 12" April there was a gathering of the
Baba family from 3:00 to 5:00 P.M. Baba lovers of Poona swarmed
Guruprasad and one felt it would burst at its seams. The joy of seeing
and meeting Baba is indescribable. It seemed as if a river of love were
losing itself in a boundless Ocean of Love. Each one who approached
Baba felt His love pouring into him or her, and one did not want to
take away one's arms from His loving embrace. The world and its
worries did not exist in this joy of being with Baba. No one cared to
even ask mundane things, for their minds were soaked in His love. His
beautiful face, His embrace, His love for one and all, old or young, was
so unselfish.

One lover said to Baba, "If I keep my heart, I lose You; but I have
kept You and lose all else with joy." In the joy and ecstasy of the
embrace, another lover told Baba, "We are bad, but we are Yours -
every bit of us; we sin on the strength of Your love and compassion."
Baba gave and gave His love unstintingly. Sitting in front of Him, one
felt how foolish must those seem who ask Him merely for material
benefits when He could give such an untold treasure of His love. With
Baba among us, we felt that for once the heavens had really touched
the earth and become one with it.

MEHER BABA'S DISCOURSES ON KNOWLEDGE

During the summer months of 1959, Baba would at times give
discourses, such as the following, during the darshan programmes —

There are two ways of imparting Indirect Knowledge and Direct
Knowledge. I shall explain this with the help of a simile.

You live in Poona. Let Poona life represent ordinary human
consciousness and New York life, God-consciousness. In between,
there are six stages - states of consciousness. If you reach New York
and remain merged in that atmosphere, you will not be of help to those
in Poona. If you make a return journey, you have God-consciousness
plus human consciousness. Now you can be of help to all
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Poonaites. You give a very lucid and vivid picture of New York life to
those who approach you. Some feel keenly interested and are drawn to
you. You continue describing New York, and the interest is sustained.
Receiving information in a mere verbal manner is one way of impart-
ing Indirect Knowledge.

As time passes by, mere verbal information is not enough to
maintain enthusiasm. So what do you do? You promise some glimpses
of New York life; to stretch the simile, you bring a magic lantern or a
film projector and show a few slides on the screen, pertaining to what
is said verbally. This creates interest among those who attend the show.
This is another way of giving Indirect Knowledge. This too, in the end,
does not suffice and has to be replaced by Direct Knowledge.

The experience of Direct Knowledge can be had in two ways. In the
first method, you make a Poonaite experience New York life by
actually sending him to New York. In his journey, he experiences the
six stages and in the end, New York life, with all the glory and beauty
infinitely magnified as compared to the glimpses on the screen. This is
journeying with open eyes. This takes a longer time to pass through the
"wonderlands" and is equally risky.

In the second method, you do not give a verbal description of New
York life or take recourse to the film show. Love and faith guide the
way. You only ask a Poonaite to put full trust in you and not to leave
you under any circumstances. By this method, you can take anyone to
New York much more quickly, but in a sense blindfolded. This is the
shortest and safest route to reaching New York.

Direct Knowledge needs no verbal expression. It can be had only
through the grace of a Perfect Master. To know Reality is to become it.
In fact, it is nearest to you. It is you. But Maya, the principle of
ignorance, makes it appear at an infinite distance. When one sees a fan
revolving at full speed, it appears to be stationary. Is it not sheer
ignorance to call it so? Ignorance distorts the Truth. Owing to ignor-
ance, God, who is infinite and nearest, appears to be the farthest. Only
when My grace removes the curtain of Ignorance, you become You,
the innermost Reality that you ever are, were and will be.

MEHER BABA DISCOURSES ON LOVE AND SACRIFICE

On another day, Baba gave the following discourse:

When lust goes, love appears, and out of love, longing appears.



71

In love, there can never be any satisfaction. There is continual
longing and agony, till Union with the Beloved is attained.

Love is a continual sacrifice. Nothing save Union with God can
and will ever satisfy the lover.

Gradually there comes a time when the lover says, "O Beloved,
May I be united with You or not, but let Thy will be done." In this
phase of love, the will of the Beloved has supreme importance,
and there is very little thought of "self" This is love enlivened by
obedience.

Love goes on witnessing the glory of the Beloved's will, and it
further carries the lover to the extent where he does not even
think of union. There is no thought about the "self" He willingly
surrenders his entire being, without reservation, to the Beloved.
This is the phase of love illumined by surrenderance.

Out of millions, one can love God as He should be loved. Out of
such millions of lovers of God (Mardan-e-Khuda), one succeeds
in obeying and subsequently surrendering his entire being to God
the Beloved.

I am God Personified. All of you who get a chance to be in My
presence are fortunate and are blessed. Being in My living
presence, you share the fortune of the real lovers of God
(Mardan-e-Khuda). So love Me more and more and make the
most of the opportunity you have.

"WHAT A FOOL YOU ARE!"

After long hours of darshan one day, Baba said:

Now I feel so tired that I feel like going to sleep for seven
hundred years. What do you understand when I say that I am tired?
It is beyond human understanding.

How tiresome would it be for the wisest of all to be the most
foolish of all (this may give you some idea of how tired I feel)?
There is no wiser being in the whole world and in all the worlds
than Myself, and the act I personally perform, no fool would ever
do.
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What's that foolish act? The creation.

When I see you gems and pearls (My lovers and devotees), I
simultaneously see the world and the planes. I tell Myself, "What
a fool You are!'

BABA WALKS WITHOUT CRUTCHES

On 1% May 1959, to the surprise of all, Baba walked on the porch
freely and without crutches. Specialists in Bombay, after the most
careful examination and study of Baba's X-rays, had formed the
opinion that Baba would not walk without the aid of crutches. The
chief specialist advised Baba's personal doctor to request Baba not to
walk around in the bungalow even with the help of crutches. He was of
the opinion that Baba should use His joints most sparingly.

Dr. Goher told us that according to her knowledge of medical
science she definitely felt that Baba would never walk without crutches
again in His lifetime.

Baba said:

I alone know how I manage to walk. The severe pain in the hip
joint is still there. The socket is loose, and the joint is not well
fitted. I hear the click-clock as I walk. It is not possible for any
human being to walk in such a condition.

Believe Me, it i1s pure Divine Power that makes Me walk.
Formerly, I too did not expect Myself to walk without crutches,
but now I am bent upon walking before I drop the body. In the
coming three months you will see Me walking freely - of course,
not in the way I used to walk, but I will be moving about without
crutches.

Undoubtedly, I am the Ancient One, and the Avatar who sustains
the whole universe must not walk with the support of crutches
before He drops His body..

HE NEVER PUNISHES BY S.L. LOKHANDE

In 1959, I got a letter from Guruprasad asking me to come down with
my family to Poona for a stay of ten to twelve days. My salary in those
days was a meagre sum of Rs. 120 per month. To make ends meet, I
ate only once a day, while my wife
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gave our children two small meals every day. When our neighbours
heard that we were planning to go to Poona for Baba's darshan, they
ridiculed us, knowing our financial status. They argued, "Why do you
go to Meher Baba when He is not helping you to get even two square
meals every day?" We were determined to go, and with the little
money that I had, I left for Poona with my family, unmindful of the
criticism of our neighbours.

A very close friend of mine, Gupta, wanted to go with us to Poona.
When I told him that Baba had called only my family, he replied that
his family and mine were so close that we could call it just one family.
Though I felt guilty for breaking Baba's order, the Gupta family came
with us to Poona.

At Poona, we were received by Bhavsar, a very sincere Baba worker,
and were taken to the free Gadge Maharaj Dharamshala in Somwar
Peth. In the evening he came with a message from Baba that my family
alone should go to see Him at Guruprasad the next morning. When I
asked him whether I could take the Gupta family with me, he replied
that it would be better if I phoned Guruprasad and took the necessary
permission. It now dawned on me that I had broken Baba's order by
bringing the Gupta family with me. At night I could not sleep, as 1
repented for disobeying Baba's order.

The next morning, all of us went to Guruprasad. We were waiting
on the verandah to be called inside to meet Baba. When my turn came,
I asked the Gupta family to come inside also. On seeing them, Baba
asked me about the Gupta family and why they had come uninvited. I
tried to explain to Baba that the Guptas and our family were very close
and as such could be called one family. Baba smiled, and all took His
darshan. The next day the Guptas did not feel like coming for Baba's
darshan and delayed us so that we could not go to Guruprasad. I was
told the next day that our name had been announced, but we had not
gone to Guruprasad because of the delay by the Gupta family.

On the third day, we did not wait for the Guptas but came to
Guruprasad on time. Baba lovingly asked us why we had not come the
day before. I pleaded that the Guptas delayed us and finally they
decided not to come to Guruprasad, and thus we could not come also.
Baba very lovingly told me that this sahavas was for selected persons
only. When I went to Him for darshan, He held my ear to drive home
to me that I had disobeyed His order. Baba, like a very loving father,
was not angry with me for breaking His order but had forgiven me for
my mistake in
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His compassion and had touched my heart so much with His love that I
resolved never to displease Him. We very happily came every day for
His darshan. After seven days, when our hearts were saturated with His
love, He asked us to return home. Baba, who is the embodiment of
love and compassion, would never punish His lovers for disobeying
His order but awakens one's heart so subtly that one would never ever
want to displease Him.

HE IS RAMA, KRISHNA, CHRIST, AND BUDDHA BY A.V.
RAGHAVULU OF VIJAYAWADA

In the summer of 1959, Avatar Meher Baba gave darshan to His lovers
in Guruprasad, Poona. One day, after having His darshan, Dr. G.S.N.
Moorty and I came out of Guruprasad and went to a nearby restaurant
to have a cup of tea before returning to Guruprasad for the second
session.

On the way, we both were talking, of course, only about Beloved
Baba's glory and divinity. During our talk, I happened to say that
Beloved Meher Baba is not only the Avatar of this Age but, being the
Ancient One, He was also Rama, Krishna, Christ, and Buddha. Dr.
Moorty agreed that Baba is the Avatar but insisted that Baba had never
claimed to be Rama, Krishna or Christ. He added that in all of his
extensive reading of Baba literature, he had never come across such a
claim. I repeated my position and he repeated his, and we were still
caught up in this discussion when we arrived back at Guruprasad. But
to our surprise, the darshan had ended early, and everyone was walking
towards the gate. The day's darshan programme was over.

At this point, brother Eruch came out from Meher Baba's room and
announced that Meher Baba wanted everyone to come back and
assemble near the porch of Guruprasad. When we heard this, we, along
with the others, rushed forward and stood anxiously waiting. Beloved
Meher Baba came out and gave a message to the effect that He was
Rama, He was Krishna, He was Christ, and now He was Meher Baba,
Avatar of the Age. As soon as this message was given, Baba told us all
to disperse.

Dr. Moorty and I were amazed. Although the message had been for
one and all, it was especially significant to the two of us. It brought
home to us that Meher Baba is not only the Ancient One, but He is
indeed the All-knowing and All-pervading One.
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"| WAS THIS AND | WAS THAT"

A similar declaration is found in a letter that Baba asked Eruch to write
to Jashan, personal secretary of Sadhu T.L. Vaswani on 28" August.
Sadhu Vaswani was a great scholar who, in his love for God, had
renounced his position as principal of a college to serve the Lord. In
1933, he founded the Mira Movement, which was based on the premise
that education is a thing of the spirit and that the end of all knowledge
is service of the poor, the lowly, the sick and the afflicted. He
established a school in Poona named after the legendary Indian saint
Mira. The message sent to Sadhu Vaswani, dearly called Dada, is as
follows:

Give my love to my dear Dada and to ... All dear ones of the saint
Mira, who remember Me and love Me. I was Rama, I was
Krishna, I was this, and I was that, now I am Meher Baba - the
very same Ancient One, in flesh and blood - I am the very same
One, eternally worshipped and neglected, always remembered
and forgotten. I am the Eternal One, whose past is worshipped
and remembered; whose present is neglected and forgotten;
whose future is always much desired and longed for.

Raghavulu comments, "This message suggests that more important
than knowing that Baba was Krishna is to understand that He, even
when not in a physical form, is the eternally All-knowing, All-
pervading Ancient One. We have only to open our hearts to Him to
receive His love."

LOVE OVERFLOWING: DARSHAN OF 10'™" MAY 1959

On the 10" of May was the last big darshan day at Guruprasad during
Baba's stay this year. Long before the darshan time, crowds of
enthusiastic Baba lovers, mainly from Poona, gathered on the road
outside the huge gates of Guruprasad. Everyone was well dressed and
in the best of spirits, talking about their Beloved, whom they would
shortly be seeing. Unmindful of the traffic on the road, not caring
about their difficulties in life, they stood there eagerly awaiting the
opening of the gates. Every moment of waiting seemed like hours in
eternity. Finally, the gates were flung open, and Baba lovers ran to find
a place near Baba. The portly ones hobbled along to the bungalow
while the youngsters raced by them.
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Baba was sitting in the main hall of Guruprasad at the far end,
looking as beautiful as a thousand roses that had just bloomed. The joy
of seeing Baba was so great that the mind was silenced, and no
thoughts of mundane worries had a chance to even enter the mind.
Each one tried to sit as near Baba as possible, the ladies to Baba's right
and the men to His left. A passage was kept in between for lovers to go
up to Baba and take darshan. The chandeliers in the room were all lit,
but who bothered to see and appreciate their beauty when the
embodiment of beauty sat in front of them with His bewitching smile!
Baba's eyes would rove over those sitting around Him, and He would
very lovingly point to this one or that one as if in recognition of his or
her connection with Him.

The Poona bhajan group sat on the floor to the left of Baba and
began their heart-touching songs. Many tears were shed in that
atmosphere of love where only the lover and the Beloved existed, and
all else had vanished like mist before the rising sun. All eyes were
glued to Baba, watching His eloquent expressions, His lovely fingers
pointing to this one or then to another. No words were necessary, as
our hearts were united with His universal heart.

The truth of Baba's words, "I have come not to teach but to awaken,"
could be felt by one and all. No words were spoken, and yet every
heart echoed thunderously with His love. There was no place for any
asking, as the world did not exist for us who were drowned in His love
sitting near Him. Each one felt there was no need for words; just His
presence was enough to drown us in His love. Eruch would stand to the
left of Baba and interpret Baba's gestures.

The priceless love of Baba had been the Kohinoor!'! that each of us
wore in our hearts. The lotus of Baba's love bloomed, and the human
bees hovered over it from all castes and creeds. We were all one with
Baba, with no differentiation between man or woman, high or low, rich
or poor, intelligent or illiterate; our egos were consumed in the fire of
His love. Oh, we could have sat there for the rest of our lives just
drinking the deluge of His love.

One after another, each one went up to Baba, embraced Him, and
then put his or her head on Baba's feet. This world did not exist at that
moment, for one was lost in His ocean of love. As one walked away
after His darshan, tears rolled down the cheeks, and when one sat down,
everything appeared to be drab, sapless and dull. The world had lost its
flavour and purpose. Baba was the sun that sheds joy, the alchemy that
assuages suffering, the power that instils a
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cheerful and robust self-confidence and courage. Intense happiness
oozed out of the atmosphere and touched the chords of our hearts and
minds. Baba gave, gave and gave His bountiful love.

During every darshan in Guruprasad, I would stand a little in front
and to the left of Baba near the wall under a clock. I never sat in front
of Him, out of respect for Him, the Highest of the High. What right did
I, a sinful creature, have to sit in front of Him who was the ocean of
purity? All my love for Him seemed to be so base, so calculating, so
temporal, and so crude in comparison to His pure, unselfish love. He
was always at the giving end, and all He wanted to receive was our
love and obedience - and that too, not to gratify Himself, but to help us
become nobler, better, and greater in our love for Him. I always kept a
diary and a pen to jot down any and everything that Baba said.

In this joyous atmosphere where the world had vanished, and
everything seemed to have come to a standstill, the clock on the wall
over my head would chime the hour, and Baba would look up to me
and point at the clock to remind me that the time to depart was coming
close. Each hour seemed to have rolled by within the span of a few
minutes. For me, there was no enemy in this world but that clock,
which did not stop its incessant ticking, though our hearts had ceased
beating, drowned in His love.

Alas, it was time to depart. Everyone had had Baba's darshan and
was brimfull with His love. For everyone, this love overflowed its
limits and down came showers of tears as Baba asked us to leave the
hall. For a true lover, there can never be anything as painful as to leave
Baba and go away into the world. Yet we walked out of the big hall of
Guruprasad onto the verandah while Baba walked slowly to His room
supported by two persons. He had given His love bountifully and
unstintingly. It rested with us to accept it and retain it in our hearts.

"WANT WHAT | WANT"

On 14% May 1959, during the darshan programme, Baba said:

Instead of wanting what I want, you want Me to want what you want.
And when you succeed in getting Me to agree with what you want, you
even tell others that it is what I want. For example, someone has a
daughter, and comes to Me and asks Me, do I think such and such
young man would make a good husband
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for the girl? I reply, "No, he is not suitable." He answers, "Bur, Baba,
he is very suitable.” So I say, "Yes, let the march be made."

What does he do then? He has not only made Me agree with what he
has already made up his mind about, but goes and tells others, "Baba
wants so-and-so and my daughter to marry."

Ir is impossible for you to want what I want as it is impossible for
you to love as I ought to be loved. But at least do not always want to
make Me want what you want. Hold on to Me and try to obey Me
implicitly and fully is all I ask.

BABA'S VISIT TO SARDAR RASTE'S HOUSE

Baba paid a visit to the house of Sardar Raste on 16" May 1959 and
was given a grand welcome by him and his wife, Maisaheb. Both of
them wept with joy when Baba sat down on a decorated chair they had
prepared. Sardar Raste had been instrumental in contacting Maharani
Shantadevi to grant permission for Baba to use her bungalow, Guru-
prasad.

MANI'S LETTER TO THE WEST (18th MAY 1959)
Ever dear Elikit,

Yesterday was another darshan Sunday, and Baba seemed so tired to
begin with that we marvelled at how He went through the full
programme looking radiant as He did. Usually many come from
faraway places, also a number from Bombay. And yesterday was an
added surprise - our dear Meherabad Hill group (Mansari, Jerbai, and
daughters) were allowed and came down just for the morning. They
never get down the hill except too rarely, for some such occasion.
Katie comes down every Saturday evening and stays with us, leaving
Sunday evening for the office the next day. Arnavaz is with us for over
a month's stay, and Khorshed stays too while we're in Poona. And there
seems to be some programme or outing or something or the other often
- quite a "social" time in contrast to Pimpalgaon (Meherazad) and so
very little time to get any correspondence or sewing done!

STORY OF A TRAIN DERAILMENT BY PREM NARAYAN
SHRIVASTAVA OF JHANSI

I went to Poona with my children and relatives. At Guruprasad, feeling
that my little daughter would disturb the darshan programme, I left her
on the verandah
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to play. We entered the hall for Baba's darshan. Being overwhelmed
with Baba's love, I did not even think of my daughter, whom I had left
on the verandah. Suddenly, Baba, pointing to me, asked where my
daughter was. I told him that she was on the verandah, playing about.
Baba asked me to bring her. He very lovingly made her sit on His lap
and played with her for a few moments. Putting His hand on her head,
He blessed her and then gave her back to me. We left after the darshan
programme was over, but Baba's omniscience and love touched my
heart very deeply.

At another time, [ wanted to go to Poona for Baba's darshan, but as I
was not on good terms with my boss, my leave was not sanctioned.
Other Baba lovers, headed by Keshav Narayan Nigam, received their
reservations for the train. On the day of departure, giving some excuses,
I boarded the same train but in an unreserved carriage. At night I was
suddenly awakened by a loud screeching sound. Our train had derailed!
I felt death was imminent and so began to remember Baba.
Miraculously, though three carriages had got off the tracks and I was in
one of them, none of the passengers were injured. I managed to leave
the train and went to Poona via Kalyan station on another train.

The rest of the Baba lovers were delayed because their carriage was
to reach Poona via Daund station. When I reached Guruprasad, Adi,
Baba's secretary, asked me about the rest of the group. I explained
about the train accident, and he, in turn, informed Baba. When I met
Baba, I told Him that by His grace we had been saved from the
clutches of death. Baba very lovingly smiled and embraced me and
then said, "You will remember Me in your dying moments."

"GIVE MY LOVE TO YOU ALL"'2 BY MARVIN CAMPEN

"Give My Love to all." These were Baba's words as we parted at Poona
on May 24, 1959.

But how to convey the love of Baba? Words are paltry bearers of
such love. As Adi put it, "We don't need to read about Baba. We have
Him." Nevertheless, I'll try to share with you my being with Baba.

My particular plane was behind schedule; consequently, I only
talked with Nariman [Dadachanji] by telephone upon arrival at the
hotel in Bombay Thursday night, May 21. Friday morning, we met and
made our plans for going to Poona that afternoon. Nariman's brother-
in-law, Jim [Mistry], met us in the coach about
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5:00 P.M. Our train to Poona was. an express. Talk of Baba,
sandwiches and cold drinks and views of the countryside made it seem
soon that Meherjee met us at the Poona station. Meherjee whisked me
to the Napier Hotel and departed with, "Be ready to go to Baba in the
morning at 8:15 [on Saturday, May 23] ."

From the time Meherjee picked me up on Friday, memories of
events bounce like ping-pong balls, defying logical description. First,
we went to Guruprasad, the lovely "bungalow" loaned Baba by Her
Highness the Maharani Shantadevi of Baroda.

About 8:30 A.M. Meherjee ushered me to Baba. He was seated in a
large chair against the wall of a pleasant room opening off the side
porch. In His pink coat and white sadra, He was as radiant as at Myrtle
Beach last year. But His face looked more tired. After welcoming me
warmly, Baba called attention to the others in the room. Adi was at
Baba's right. Several ladies were on the floor at His left. Seated all
around were about fifteen other mandali and devotees known to many
in the West - Eruch, Nariman, Vishnu, Pendu, Ramjoo. Baba
introduced Dr. Deshmukh. Francis Brabazon was beside me. He read
some fine concluding sections from his newest book, Stay with God.

Several exceptional visitors were allowed to see Baba that glorious
morning. The Maharani came in and sat near Baba's feet with glowing
adoration. A woman from Madras (Chennai), who was in charge of a
large girls' school there brought her niece in to meet Baba. There was a
man from Bengal and his friends. All brought garlands, or similar
tokens of love for Baba, as did several other admirers who joined the
group as the morning quickly passed.

Baba greeted all with dynamic and vibrant love. He particularly
noted the visitors and gave them a feeling of belonging. He emphasised
that He was not accepting gifts other than small tokens or remem-
brances. "You must stop wanting," Baba reminded us. When He
remarked that Westerners did not ask Him for as many things as
Easterners, one could not help but think that a reason might be the
greater abundance of material possessions in the West. And even
Westerners realise that Baba's love is present without asking.

About 11 A.M. Baba dismissed the group and Meherjee took me to
the hotel. A few minutes before 8 A.M. on Sunday [May 24], Meherjee,
his daughters, and Eruch's brother came from the hotel. We drove
straight to Guruprasad, where throngs had already gathered. Going into
the side room, we found Baba as the
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day before. He asked what I had seen and how I had slept; then
arranged my return to the airport that afternoon. With all the activity
and so many things to be done, I regretted taking Baba's time for such
affairs. Baba talked briefly about the Westerners who loved Him and
asked if I remembered the play at Myrtle Beach at which He had
laughed so much. (I think Baba had just received Mike's "Remember
Alligator Day" card.) Then Baba told a story about a winking man, the
moral of which was don't wink at people. The sweetest words to me
were when Baba told the group, "Marvin loves Me."

By now it was nearly 9:00 o'clock and time for the darshan to start.
Baba dismissed the group and walked through a door into the central
room where the main event of the day was to take place.

Except for an aisle down the Centre, the room was packed with
people sitting on the floor. Outside and on the front porch, hundreds
were standing awaiting their turn to greet the Master. Baba was seated
in the Centre of a large couch facing the crowd. Behind Baba was
Eruch; also Meherjee, Adi, and other mandali stood there to help. I was
permitted to sit on the floor at the left end of Baba's couch. A hushed
and expectant air prevailed as the musicians started their first Arti.
Darshan was about to begin.

Baba stopped the music and signaled the women and children to
come to Him. In bright saris, single file, they took their happy turns.
Each knelt, prostrated, or bowed to Baba, offered their tokens, and
embraced Him. All had a garland, fruit, nut, message, or some other
token. The children clamoured gleefully around Baba's legs and lap.
About every fifteen minutes, Baba would stop the line, have the
devotees sit down, and direct the musicians to play for ten to fifteen
minutes. Baba seemed enraptured in the music, which He directed like
a symphony with His lightning, hummingbird-like finger motions. The
voices of the singers rose in ecstatic songs. But the happiest person in
the room was the person first in the stopped line. She or he had an
extra dividend of a period to sit at the feet of the Master!

After the Arti, Baba usually translated the message. Obedience to
Baba, love, service, honesty were the main themes. The line of
devotees would arise and proceed past Baba. At frequent intervals,
Eruch had to remove the pile of garlands from around Baba's neck to
save Him from being smothered in flowers. Also, he wiped the
perspiration from Baba's brow. (The flowers and other gifts were
passed through a curtain to other mandali.)
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At nearly 11:00 o'clock the approximately five hundred devotees
had paid their respects to Baba. They left the room with fond last looks
at the Avatar. Some small groups had the privilege of one more
moment with Baba.

My last moment was also special. With Adi and Meherjee beside
Him, Baba looked full into my eyes and told me to take His love to all.
I said farewell to as many as possible and returned to the hotel.

ENTERTAINMENT FOR BABA

Balagopala Bhaskara Raju of Tadepallegudem, Andhra Pradesh, had
come to Poona with his troupe. They spread Baba's name through a
narrative song called Burra Katha.'3 Four men would come on the stage
to the accompaniment of a tabla and harmonium; one would narrate
Baba's life story, and the other three, representing a Muslim, a
Christian, and a Hindu, interrogated him regarding Baba's being called
the Avatar of the Age. They would go to different villages and perform
this Burra Katha. The performance was excellent, and the audience
would sit spellbound. The whole drama, which took about two hours,
was very entertaining and cleared the doubts of people from the three
main religions of India - Hindus, Muslims, and Christians.

The singer would answer questions normally asked about Baba and
why He claimed to be the Avatar of this Age. They performed in
Poona at the Gokhale Hall for the public on Sunday, 17" May 1959.
They asked Baba if they could perform at Guruprasad and were given
permission. They did perform for a short while, but very few there
could understand their language, Telugu. Beloved Baba was delighted
with the performance and embraced the members of the troupe as a
reward for their labour of love for Him.

Shri Ambula Vishwanadhan and his party of twenty persons gave a
performance of the life of Krishna, called Hari Katha Ka Lakshapam,
during April at Guruprasad. Shri Ambula had won many medals for his
performances all over India. Baba appreciated the play and gave them
all big embraces at the end of it.

BABA CRUSHES MY EGO

On 27" May 1959, a Baba film was to be screened at Guruprasad. The
film was about Baba's visit to the United States in 1958 and His
sahavas at Myrtle Beach. Baba's mandali and a selected few Baba
lovers of Poona were invited to see the
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film after sunset in the main hall of Guruprasad. Luckily, I was also
asked to come and see the film. After sunset, all those invited and the
mandali sat on the floor while Baba's chair was put near the entrance
door of the Guruprasad hall. I sat near Baba's feet while the rest of the
men were in front of me.

Baba said that Mehera and the women mandali were also going to
see the film, and they would come and stand behind His chair once the
lights were switched off As Mehera had orders not to see the face of
any man, Baba had instructed that none of the men should turn their
heads to look at the back once the film started, because Mehera would
be standing behind His chair. When the projector was ready and
switched on, the hall lights were switched off, I guess Mehera and the
women mandali must have come and stood behind Baba. A few
minutes later, Baba caught my ear and pulled it; subsequently, He put
His hand on my head. Since I did not turn around, according to His
order, He began to tickle me by poking His finger in my side and later
in my tummy. In short, during the film, He tried his best to make me
look towards the back, but I did not.

After the film was over, the women mandali walked away and then
the room lights were switched on. Before everyone could get up and
leave the hall, Baba said, "A small order has the same significance as a
big order." Everyone wondered what this statement had to do with the
film. Baba continued, "I gave Hoshang a small order not to turn and
look behind. I tried to make him look behind by tickling him and
pulling his ear, but he did not look back." I felt mighty pleased but was
sure Baba was up to some ego-crushing tactics.

A few days later, while I was sitting near Baba in the afternoon, a
Baba lover phoned from the Hotel Mobos that his son had severe
abdominal pain and needed medical care. Baba asked me to go
immediately and see the boy. Although I was not happy to leave Baba,
I took a scooter and went full speed to the hotel. After examining the
boy, I prescribed some anti-colic and vermifuge medicine. I rushed
back to Guruprasad and reported to Baba what I had done. He seemed
pleased with my quick action.

The next day, the boy and his father came to Guruprasad, and Baba
very lovingly asked the father about the boy's pain. He replied, "After
Dr. Bharucha prescribed the medicine and I gave it to my son, within a
short time his pain disappeared, and he is now fine." Baba looked at
me and, raising His hand and making His favourite sign of touching
thumb to index finger, said that I was a
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very clever doctor. I felt happy with the praise but did not dream of
what was in store for me.

A few minutes later, Baba went to the main hall of Guruprasad,
which was packed like sardines with His lovers. Baba sat down in His
chair, and the darshan began. As usual, I was standing under the clock
near the wall on Baba's left. An hour or so passed by, and all were
enjoying Baba's company and darshan. Suddenly, looking at me, Baba
gestured while Eruch interpreted: "Who made you a doctor?" Then,
running His index finger on His cheek and chin, He said, "You are a
barber."

I am sure everyone in the hall must have wondered at this sudden
remark made for no apparent rhyme or reason. Baba's finger moved
along His cheek, making the sign of a barber who shaves with a
cutthroat razor. When Baba repeated, "You are a barber," I told Him, "I
would be thrilled to be Your barber, Baba." Staying with Baba, it was
my experience that in one breath He would send your ego soaring to
the skies and in the next bring it crashing down.

PAPPA JESSAWALA GOES TO BABA

During this period, Rano Gayley, one of the women mandali, was
staying at Bindra House in Poona with Eruch's family, as she had been
taken very ill after eating a mango. Dr. Goher and another doctor were
treating her for diarrhoea and vomiting. Baba visited Bindra House on
29" May 1959, apparently to see Rano. Eruch's father, affectionately
called Pappa, was at Bindra House and, though he had suffered a heart
attack sometime back, was now up and moving about. Baba told Rano
that she would be all right and there was no cause for worry. Pappa and
all the members of the household met Baba before He left Bindra
House.

He asked them to call Guruprasad at 10:00 P.M. the same day and
give news about Rano's health. A few minutes before 10:00 P.M.,
Pappa felt uncomfortable and went to the toilet. From there he called
out, and all rushed to see what was wrong. Pappa had had another heart
attack, and while saying Baba's name, he died at 10:00 P.M. As per
Baba's order, they phoned Guruprasad and gave the news about Pappa
passing away. Baba said, "Pappa has come to Me forever."

Pappa's funeral was the next morning. Baba asked Eruch whether he
would like to attend the funeral. Eruch left it to Baba's choice and so
did not go. On some pretext, Baba asked Eruch to drive Him out of
Guruprasad, and Eruch was
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surprised when he saw his father's funeral going along the road to the
Parsi Tower of Silence. Baba told Eruch, "The body is the excreta of
the soul. When one passes a stool, one feels very relieved. Similarly,
when the body is dropped, the soul feels very relieved."

Rano was not informed about Pappa's death, but she was aware of a
certain amount of activity in the house. When Naja came into Rano's
room the next morning after Pappa's death, Rano asked her, "Naja, who
are all these people milling around outside?" Naja replied, "Oh, it's
nothing." When Baba came to Bindra House on the 30" after Pappa's
funeral ceremony was over, he told Rano, "You know, last night was a
toss-up between you and Pappa.” Not realising what Baba meant, Rano
just laughed. Baba said, "Didn't you know that Pappa died last night?"
"No, no one told me," she replied.

Naja had been afraid she'd upset Rano, and so no one had told her
about Pappa. Besides, Pappa had not been seriously ill. Pappa had told
his friends how worried he was about the Western lady (Rano) who
was 11l in his house. When his friends heard there was a death at Bindra
House, they thought it was Rano who had died, and very few people
came for Pappa's funeral.

HAMIRPUR LOVERS DRINK FROM THE FOUNTAIN OF HIS LOVE

On 31% May 1959, a large group of Baba lovers headed by Keshav
Narayan Nigam came from Hamirpur district to Guruprasad for Baba's
darshan. These lovers, though very poor materially, were very rich in
their love for Baba. Baba had visited the Hamirpur district in 1952 and
1954, and that had ignited a fire of love in the hearts of these poor
villagers. The sacrifices they made to come for Baba's darshan are hair-
raising. Some even sold their bulls, their only source of income, to
come to Baba. They could not afford hotels or restaurants. They were
given shelter in free boardinghouses called dharamshalas, where they
would cook their own food in the early hours of the morning before
they went to Guruprasad for Baba's darshan. They brought wheat flour
and onions with them. The women would make thick chapattis to be
eaten with cut pieces of onion. They enjoyed these simple meals, for
their minds were on Baba and not engrossed in the luxuries of life.

Baba would always pour His love on these lovers till they could not
contain it, while they expressed their love for Baba with tears rolling
down their cheeks. Baba would send me to their halting places twice a
day to check the sick. I saw that
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many were suffering from tuberculosis because of their poverty, but
they endured the strain of their long journey to Poona only because of
their love for Baba. Tears would come to my eyes at the sight of these
emaciated, malnourished, sick lovers.

Their only wish was to take Baba's darshan and drink from the
fountain of His love. Baba gave His love in abundance to them, for He
knew that only His love sustained them through the vicissitudes of life.
Baba would ask Keshav Narayan Nigam to recite his Meher Chalisa.
He would recite these verses with such love and feel that not only he
but also all present would shed tears. Baba's heart was deeply touched
by the verses and the love of His Hamirpur lovers.

THE BURDEN OF HIS UNIVERSAL WORK
On 1% June 1959, Baba said:

"I appear to you as cheerful, radiant, and in fine health - but My
health is far from good. My personal doctor asks Me to take
complete rest, not to walk fast, and to discontinue the darshan
programmes, as they are a great strain on My health - and the
doctor is right. When I retire, I feel as though My body had been
wrung out. Yet you see Me busy from morning till late in the
evening, attending to the minutest derails regarding work of
varied nature. Now look at the contradictions. On the one hand
My general health is getting worse; on the other hand, I am
becoming much more active. But let it be clear to you that it is not
for reasons of health that I stop giving darshan. It is for My
Universal Work, which weighs on Me tremendously, and of
which you can have no idea. The time I have been hinting at has
come. The universe has come out of Me and has to come unto Me.
This is no idle talk. I say it with the authority of My experience of
being the Ancient One."

A FAMILY TRAGEDY

Meher Baba is the embodiment of love and compassion. His
compassion at times may seem, on the surface, to be cruel, a crude
punishment for our sins, but ultimately it is good for the person
concerned. The human mind can never fathom the Infinite Mercy
behind His actions. The following incident in my family goes to prove
the above.
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Meher Baba had infused so much love in the hearts of Baba lovers
in my town, Navsari that we thought of sharing this love with others
who knew little or nothing about Baba. Each Sunday, armed with a
harmonium, a 16-mm film projector, a loudspeaker, and Baba literature
in the form of short pamphlets, we would visit a village near Navsari.
Advance notice would be given to the village folk about our
programme, which would consist of songs sung by Bachoobhai Soni, a
Baba lover from Navsari, followed by my talk in the local language
about Meher Baba's life and messages and the experiences of Baba
lovers. Every Sunday evening, we would arrange these programmes.

On the 9" of June 1959, when I was with Baba at Guruprasad, He
gave me a straightforward order - at least on its face value it seemed to
be very simple - that I should not leave the town of Navsari for the next
three months.

My sister Tehmie, fondly called Bubli, was a brilliant, beautiful, and
loving girl. She had acquired part of her education abroad and had a
string of academic qualifications. She married a man who would never
allow her to indulge in spiritual matters for fear that she would
renounce the world - and her husband along with it. Bubli nevertheless
showed interest in saints and also in Meher Baba. After a few years of
married life, there started to be misunderstandings with her husband,
Jal. Petty quarrels resulted in her leaving her husband's home, and she
went to stay in a hotel in Bombay. Her husband sent me a telegram on
the 6™ of July 1959 that Bubli had left his home. Just before the
telegram arrived, my sister Mehru and I were reading the section on
suicide in Baba's book Listen, Humanity. On receipt of the telegram,
my mother asked me to go to Bombay and bring Bubli to my home in
Navsari. But Baba had given me the order that I should not leave
Navsari for three months so I could not go to Bombay to bring Bubli.

My mother and my sister Mehru left immediately for Bombay. I
waited on the 7" and the 8™ for news from them, in vain. On the 9" of
July, exactly a month after Baba had given me that simple order, a
phone call message from Mehru announced, "Bubli is dead. She
committed suicide. Her funeral is tomorrow morning." The news was
like a bolt from the blue. Baba's simple order that I should not leave
Navsari for three months now seemed to have turned into a dilemma. I
resigned myself to Baba's will and decided not to go to the funeral.
Late in the evening, the same day, I got a telegram from Guruprasad,
where Baba was staying, that I should go to Bombay to attend the
funeral of my sister and
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then come to meet with Baba for two minutes in Poona. My sister

Mehru had informed Baba about Bubli's death.

I went to Bombay to find my mother and sister in a state that is
unforgettable. There was my dead sister, white as snow, looking
peaceful but leaving behind a very sorrowful husband and a heart-
broken mother and sister. Jal asked me what would happen to her after
her death. It suddenly came to my mind what I had read in Listen,
Humanity a couple of days back. I told him that Bubli would not get
another human body for a very long time and that she would have to
suffer in the hell state. He was very upset and asked me what he should
do. I told him that Baba was the only one who could tell him where
and how Bubli was. He asked me whether he could see Baba. Jal had
never desired to talk or hear about Baba until then. Whenever his wife
had wanted to go for Baba's darshan, he had flatly refused. Now Jal
himself was prepared to go to Baba.

After the funeral, Jal and I left for Poona. He was driving at
breakneck speed. All along the journey, I talked to Jal about Baba. He
listened carefully. I warned him that Baba might not see him, as he had
not been called. When we reached Guruprasad, I went in alone and told
Baba that Jal had also come. Baba lovingly asked me to call him. Jal
was born and bred in a very affluent family and found it difficult to sit
on the floor. Baba very lovingly told him that if he could not sit cross-
legged, he could stretch out his legs. He did so with his feet pointing
towards Baba.!4

Baba then inquired about everything that had happened between
Bubli and him. He confessed that it was his fault that Bubli had left his
home. Jal finally asked Baba what would happen to Bubli now that she
had committed suicide. Baba replied, "Because Hoshang loves me and
because I was informed within three days of her death, I have saved
her. She will not suffer in the hell state but will be born into a family of
Baba lovers and will come to Me." Baba then told Jal that he should
keep his little son with him and not give him to our family. Baba
continued, "Do you go to the movies?"

"Yes, Baba," Jal replied.

"All that you see on the screen of the theater is contained in the film
in the projection room," Baba said. "Only that which is already on the
film 1s projected on the screen." Baba paused while Jal shook his head
in agreement. Baba continued, "All that I have set in the film of this
universe you see on the
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world screen. It is not possible for any other thing to get into this film.
In short, all that you see happening in the world is preordained by Me."
Baba then told Jal that he had already preordained Bubli's death in the
Original Whim that brought about this creation. As such, Jal should not
take the blame for Bubli's death, as it was ordained by Baba.

When we returned to Bombay, I told my sobbing mother and sister
about what had transpired in Poona. My mother had very little faith in
Baba, and when she heard what Baba had said, apparently in favour of
Jal's family and against our family, she was very angry and showered
Baba with abuse! I left her and returned to Navsari. For a year after this,
my mother did not write to me.

A year later, I was in Guruprasad. My mother and sister came to
meet Baba because He had asked me to send them a telegram. In the
course of discourse, Baba said, "Perfect Masters have the power to
bring back to life a person who may have died three hundred years
ago." When my sister and mother went up to Baba, they wept bitterly.
My sister said, "If Perfect Masters can bring back to life a person who
is dead three hundred years back, you are the Avatar - bring back my
sister." Baba told them, "I shall tell you in a dream what has happened
to Bubli."

The next year, when my sister and mother met Baba in Poona, they
asked Baba the same question. Baba smilingly replied, "Bubli has been
reborn into the family of a Baba lover. She has been brought to Me
here in Guruprasad and has played on My lap."

The Compassionate Father, Baba, had apparently caused a painful
happening in our family, yet, in reality, what He did was for our best.
Jal would never have come to Baba nor allowed Bubli to meet Baba.
Now, not only had Jal come to Baba, but Bubli's cherished desire to
meet Baba had been fulfilled by her being brought to Baba and playing
on His lap.

THIS IS MEHER BABA'S CRUCIFIXION
On 14™ June 1959 Baba said:

These days Maya, the principle of ignorance is in full play and
tries to oppose My work. So, particularly those who live near Me
must remain very watchful. Knowing My love for you, Maya
awaits the opportunity to use your weaknesses. The moment you
neglect My instructions Maya's
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purpose is served. I have to put up a fight with Maya - not to
destroy it, but to make you aware of its nothingness. The moment
you fail to obey Me implicitly, it tightens its grip on you, and you
fail to carry out the duties as assigned to you. This adds to My
suffering.

In God there is no such thing as confusion - God is Infinite Bliss and

Honesty. In illusion, there is misery, confusion, chaos. As the eternal

redeemer of humanity, I am at the junction of Reality and illusion,

simultaneously experiencing the infinite Bliss of Reality and the

suffering of illusion. With Reality on the one hand and illusion on the

other, I constantly experience, as it were, a pull on either side. This is

My crucifixion. I do not ever let go My hold on Reality. Imagine for

instance that the pull of illusion becomes too great, what would happen?
My "arm" would be pulled out of its socket, but I remain what I am.

BABA DISCOURSES

These are a few short discourses that Baba occasionally gave during
the darshan programmes that were noted by me.

"I am happy to see you all. Your love and faith in me have drawn
you here from hundreds of miles to be in My company for a few
hours. You knew that no one is to ask questions; however, I know
that a few questions are just waiting for an opportunity to be
asked. It is the nature of the intellect to go on questioning. Love
asks no questions. Love seeks nothing, save the will of the
Beloved.

It 1s [the intellect of] the mind which wants to know that which is
beyond the mind. To know that which is beyond the mind, the
mind has to go. It has to disappear without leaving any vestige.
The fun is that the finite mind wants to retain itself and yet
understand the Truth, which is infinite. This is the problem as
regards to the intellectual approach towards Truth. Few under-
stand this and the rest grope and grapple in vain.

Every one of you wants to be happy. You seek it in your own way,
but mostly to your dissatisfaction. In reality, you are Bliss itself,
but what a joke, what a game this illusion presents before you to
make you aware of this!
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One of My lovers complained, "Baba, I led a pure life yet I had to
suffer much." Perhaps you, too, have a similar complaint. You
say so because you have no idea of the purpose behind it. I do not
mean "invite suffering." I mean, "Do not fear to suffer nor blame
anyone for the same."

According to the law that governs the universe, all suffering is
your labour of love to unveil your Real Self. In comparison to the
Infinite Bliss you experience in the "I am God" state, all the
suffering you undergo means practically nothing.

I am the source of Infinite Bliss. To draw you to Me and to make
you Bliss itself, I come amidst you and suffer infinite agony. I am
the Ancient One. When I say, "Il am God," I have not to think of
this. I know. It will be blasphemous on My part if I say, "I am not
God."

When you say, "I am man," have you to think over this? No. It is
not a matter of doubt, belief, or guesswork. No corroborations are
needed. Contradictions do not affect. It 1s a matter of supreme
certainty for you. Suppose you can descend to the level of animal-
consciousness, simultaneously retaining human consciousness;
what will you convey to the animals? "I am man, I am man and
one day you too shall become man."

Similarly, I have come down to your level, simultaneously
retaining infinite consciousness, and hence repeatedly tell you, "I
am God. I am God, and everyone and everything is nothing but
God."

How will you realise this? Only love holds the key. In this world
the greatest sin is hypocrisy. He is the greatest hypocrite who,
being himself a hypocrite, asks others not to be hypocritical. I
want you all to be honest. You should not put up a show of being
what you are not.

Someone just now said, "Baba, I am doing my duty honestly, but
still I am not happy. Who is to be blamed for this? Do You — God
- take advantage of my weakness?"

I am happy with your frankness. It is good that you opened your
heart to Me. But you have no idea of My love and compassion
that sustains your
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very being. With all sincerity, you will have to be more and more
honest, and you will find that you cannot put the blame on anyone.
What you want to be, you become. And if at all you want to
blame anyone, I am the only One in the whole universe to be
blamed, for everything has come out of Me.

God is Infinite Mercy, and whatever happens, is tempered by His
law of compassion. You don't understand this unless you go
beyond the mind.

Why should you be unhappy? Why this binding? All binding is
mostly self-created. It can be overcome only if you really want to
become free. You are your own curtain. So the easiest thing is
made most difficult. Mere wishful thinking about freedom is not
enough. Is it so very easy to leave all that you claim as yours?
The mind is very elusive. It has innumerable excuses, and you get
caught up. Then you say, "I cannot live for God alone. I have my
duty towards the family, society, nation, or the world," and you
are pulled more towards illusion than Truth. Truth is simple, but
illusion has made it infinitely intricate. A rare one possesses an
insatiable longing for Truth, and the rest allow the illusory
bindings to bind them on, more and more.

What is a weakness but a degree of strength? In My inalienable
aspect of Infinite Life, I experience Myself as everyone and
everything. Hence there does not arise the question of taking
advantage of anyone's weakness, for I am you. I enjoy and suffer
through you to make you aware that you are Infinite Power.

It is easy to ask questions, but it needs previous preparedness for
unveiling of the intuition - to understand what I explain. Those
who have authority to ask and capacity to understand do not ask
any questions. Why? Because they understand that God is all-
knowing.

When your life presents an honest and sincere picture of your mind and
heart, just an embrace from a Perfect Master (Sadguru) is enough to
quicken the Spirit. The embrace works in two ways:
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1. The entire structure of impressions shatters. The noble emo-
tions are stirred. A soothing feeling accompanied by tears
awakening joy is experienced, and calmness prevails.

2. The mind works fast. All the accumulated impressions crowd
to get spent up.

When I, the Ancient One, embrace you, I awaken something which
gradually grows within you. It is the seed of love I sow. It will take its
own time to flower and fructify. There is much distance to cross and a
long period to pass, though, in fact, it is neither far nor near, for there is
no distance to cross or time to count. In eternity it is all here and now.

I am Infinite Knowledge, Power, and Bliss. I can make anyone
realise God. You may ask, "Why not make me realize God now?" I
will reply, "Why only you and not a man on the street, a bird, tree, or
stone, who are Me in different forms? I am in all and love all equally.
The more you love Me, the sooner you will realize you are God."

God alone is real, and all the rest that you think or feel is really
nothing but a theme of zeros (ciphers). Your original state is the sound
sleep state. In sound sleep, you unconsciously merge in God, the Truth.
But the moment you awake, all the paraphernalia of impressions
gathers on you. So what has to happen? You must be wide awake in
your sound sleep. This is possible if you want to experience it. It is not
what you say that matters, but what you sincerely feel within. If you
want God, you must want God alone. And at what cost? At the cost of
your own separate existence. When you surrender entire falseness, you
inherit the Truth that you are.

Truth is beyond the reach of the mind. It is a matter of experience.
Not by asking questions but by merging in silence are you convinced
of this Divine Game - the universe - of concealed nothing."

THE DIVINE RESPONSE

On another occasion, Baba said:

The moment you try to understand God rather than try to feel Him,
you begin to nourish the ego and misunderstand God. God is Infinite,
and the Divine Will that brought forrh this Infinite Illusion manifests
its purity through Me.
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Do not try to understand the significance of My actions in the
limited context. You see and understand things on your level and
differentiate them in terms of "values." I, being unlimited, know all the
levels of consciousness, and as such in responding, I differentiate in
terms of the states of consciousness - whether most rudimentary or
most involved. These states appear like the passing ripples on Infinite
Consciousness.

Every moment I respond to the whole creation. Every action of
Mine gets spontaneously reflected in infinite ways as per necessity on
all planes of consciousness. So by its very nature and magnanimity,
sometimes My responses appear enigmatic. To understand them is to
understand the limitations of your understanding. But if on the other
hand, they create confusion instead, it is because of your lukewarm
faith, which is not as it should be.

When I see you confused, out of My love and compassion, I give
certain explanations. Thus sometimes you see Me "defending" My
actions through explanations, giving certain reasons. This depicts My
unlimited strength and your weakness. But remember, even though I
go on explaining, which forms part and parcel of My Divine Game, the
significance will ever remain beyond your limited understanding. The
utter simplicity of My Game appears to be most intricate as you try to
understand it only through intellect.

The more you get My sahavas (intimacy) and receive My love with
an open heart you begin to understand Me more and more. It is also
true that as you see Baba more and more, you may feel that you
understand Me less and less. For with the height of understanding, vast
horizons are revealed and you feel helpless in understanding My Game.

So leave all doubts and remember well that whatever I do 1s for the
best. It is the Divine Response filled with Love Divine.

THE DIVINE GAME OF INFINITE CONSCIOUSNESS
On 23" June 1959, Baba gave this discourse:

"The Infinite alone exists and is Real; the finite is passing and is
false. The Original Whim in the Beyond caused the apparent
descent of the Infinite in the realm of the seeming finite. This is
the Divine Mystery and Divine Game, in which Infinite
Consciousness forever plays with and on all levels of finite
consciousness.
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I am Infinite Consciousness, interpenetrating and transcending all
states of limited consciousness. The most primal or the most final
category of consciousness - say, stone or saint - is equidistant
from Me. So I am equally approachable to all. I am the Way.
Unflinching loyalty to the Way is the real remedy for
impressioned consciousness to become free. Some of My lovers,
owing to fluctuating faith, fail to understand this and run hither
and thither for freedom. So at times, I seem to take a special
interest in them. It becomes a retrieving game, born of life-giving
Love.

Seeing this, a thought may arise in the minds of some: "Why is
Baba so keen on them?" A simple simile of a child playing with
its so many inanimate toys will help you understand this. A child
plays with its toys. Out of the many toys, it has some favourite
toys, too; and yet, among the favourite ones, one is so dear to it
that it won't part with it, even during sleeping hours. In the case of
a child, all this seems natural.

In the Divine Game, I am the only Live Child. I play with the
universe. The so-called beings and things are to Me as toys. Like
a child - for it is all a reflection of My Game - at times, I appear
to show more interest in some; of course, not without reason or
rhyme, though all is Me and I equally reside in all eternally.

CRUCIAL MONTHS OF HIS WORK

On 10" July 1959, Baba went to the old Poona Baba Centre where a
hundred poor people had gathered. Baba bowed and gave ten rupees as
prasad to each one. Among those present, in addition to the local Baba
lovers who helped in bringing these poor to Baba were Maharani
Shantadevi, Manohar Sakhre and his wife, Sardar Raste and Maisaheb
Patwardhan,

On the 26™ of July, by special permission, Professor Rajerkar
performed kirtan at Guruprasad. Baba appreciated his efforts very
much. The professor had gone all over India performing these kirtans.

Baba's stay in Guruprasad came to an end on the 8" of August. Mani,
in her Family Letter 29 of 24" August, describes the last darshan at
Bund Garden:
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"We left Poona on 8" [August] morning - but as our cars wended
out of Guruprasad, it was not yet goodbye for the group of heavy-
hearted Baba lovers, who had gratefully drunk of their Beloved's
presence at every given opportunity during the long stay in Poona and
now would not see Him again till that inevitably remote 'next time.'
They were gathered for the farewell in the grounds of the Bund
Gardens (a slingshot distance, as it were, from Guruprasad) [it is by the
embankment of the river where Baba used to boat as a college boy],
where Baba had promised them He would stop on the way. The
Beloved kept His date, under the huge mango tree by the river - the
same tree beneath which Babajan often used to sit with devotees and
followers."

On the 7" of August, one day before leaving Guruprasad, Baba
informed the mandali present at Guruprasad that August, September,
and October are the most crucial months of His work when He will be
infinitely burdened with His universal work. He will be most tired
physically and mentally due to the pressure of the work. He says this
period will be the period of helplessness, hopelessness, and humiliation.
If His physical body remains intact, there will be His glorification.
Baba then said, "I want My lovers to help Me in this cause." Baba then
asked how they could help Him in this cause. He Himself then told the
following for the mandali who stay outside Pimpalgaon (Meherazad).

1. They should not go to Pimpalgaon during these three months un-

less they are called by Baba.

2. They should not disturb Him in the least on any account.

3. They should not write to Baba during this period of three months.

4. Whatever great difficulties they may undergo, they should not try

to send any news to Baba or should not come to see Baba
personally at Pimpalgaon.

5. It is better to die than to disturb Baba, for even the slightest

disturbance from anyone will disturb Him utmost.

Furthermore, Baba asked the mandali who will be near Baba at
Pimpalgaon to note the following points carefully:
1. No one should go out of Pimpalgaon during these three months.
2. No one should bring any bad news to Baba.
3. To keep Baba happy and try utmost to please Baba.
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4. No one should argue or involve Baba in any discussion.

5. Baba will not be coming to the Mandali Hall very often during
this period.

6. Try to obey Baba implicitly.

Instructions given to Adi:

He can come to Pimpalgaon if he has work with Goher or Eruch, but
he should not try to see Baba unless Baba wishes so. If Baba wants him
to see Him, he should keep in mind the following:

1. To keep Baba's mood.

2. No arguments.

3. Not to give disturbing news.

Lastly, Baba added, "I will give special instructions to Kaikobad,
Francis, and Eruch in Pimpalgaon to help Me in this work."

WARNING AGAINST DELUSION: A LETTER FROM ERUCH

In reply to a family whose son was suffering from the delusion of
having reached the fifth plane of consciousness, Baba's message was
conveyed through a letter by Eruch ....

Guruprasad, 29" March 1959

Your long letter of the 25" and your telegram were received and
read out to Baba. By now you must have received a telegram sent to
you from Poona asking you not to worry about not coming to Baba
with your son on March 25, Baba knows all about your difficulties.

Baba heard all the details mentioned in your letter, and in reply Baba
wants me to communicate to you that He is delighted to hear how your
son and his mother were overwhelmed by love for their Beloved Baba.

Baba is the Ocean of Love, and His love radiates equally on all.
Nevertheless, it is found that some are overwhelmed by love, and some
remain entirely unaffected by it. All depends upon how one receives
Baba's love and, upon receiving it, whether one retains it as Baba's gift
or reflects it as one's own. One often forgets that the Love is from Baba
and that Baba is the source and terminus of all love.

Complications and distractions invariably arise when one reflects
love as one's own. It is necessary to make a mention here that your
wife and son were genuinely
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overwhelmed by Baba's Love, and your small son was obviously found
to lose body-consciousness for a short while. This is a case when your
dear ones proved worthy receptacles to receive Baba's Love and were
affected by it.

Soon after this, your son regained consciousness, and his reactions
were obviously in tune with Baba's Love. Thus everything he saw,
animate and inanimate, reflected Baba's face. It was Baba's Love that
made him see Baba in all. This is a case when your dear son reflected
Baba's Love - not as his own, but as Baba's. Thus far he proved a
worthy recipient and reflector of Baba's Love. The subsequent details
as you narrated in your letter are a sad tale of a deceptive mind that
played its game through your son, tempting him to reflect love as his
own rather than of Baba.

Your son distributing "prasad,” producing "pedas" [sweetmeats]
from nowhere, rebuking others, demanding obedience, feeling his
sandals were defiled by others touching them, taking for granted that
he is stationed on the fifth plane, is all humbug and childishness. Not
that the boy is a liar, but such are the tricks of the galloping mind that
gets out of control when one begins to reflect Baba's love as one's own.
At this stage the person concerned creates complications for himself
and for his nearest ones; while for others he becomes a source of
distraction, in the sense that a genuine devotee of Baba may be
distracted in his unhampered flow of devotion for Baba, as you were
and several others might have been when coming in contact with the
atmosphere prevailing in the house while witnessing the heights of a
child's hallucination.

There is a world of difference between actual experience and mental
delusion. The one leads towards the Goal, whereas the other leads one
astray. When love is reflected as Baba's, it leads one to Baba; but when
reflected as one's own, it leads one away from Baba and drags others
into dangerous pits. Baba wants me to draw your attention to the fact
that Baba is already within one and all; and as such, Baba never enters
into anyone at any time. It is utterly misleading to think that Baba
entered the body of your son.

Baba is touched by your deep love and devotion for Him and sends
His Love-Blessings to you all. Devote more time to loving Baba more
and more without any strings attached to love for and faith in Baba.

[Signed] Eruch.
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A MESSAGE TO KRIPAL SINGH ABOUT MAJZOOBS

Lovers and devotees suffering from hallucinations and delusions are
quite common. But even so-called saints, who abound in India, sail in
the same boat. As per Baba's instructions, Eruch wrote a letter from
Guruprasad on 2™ April 1959 to Kishan Singh, a very sincere Baba
lover from Dehra Dun to convey Baba's message to Kripal Singh on
the subject of Majzoobs:

....It was very amusing to note in your letter that Sant Kripal Singh'
referred to Baba as the head of the majzoobs. When I read out the said
portion of your letter to Baba, He directed me to write to you that you
should see Kripal Singh immediately if he is in Dehra Dun or
immediately on his arrival there, and tell him from Baba word-for-
word as follows:

Baba says, "A majzoob on the lower plane is a mast - intoxicated
with Divine Love to the extent of being oblivious to the surroundings.

"A majzoob of the 7rh plane, merged in his own Ocean of Divinity,
is completely dead to the world.

"Meher Baba sees people, meets people, holds sahavas and darshan
programs, goes on world tours so many times, gives discourses,
dictates God Speaks (the only spiritual book of its kind, according to
many scholars). To call this Baba - who in fact is the king of Saliks -
the head of majzoobs (which He also is) shows complete bankruptcy of
Spiritual Knowledge."

MY VISITS TO GURUPRASAD BY S. SURYANARAYANA

On 17" January, 1959 my wife, a friend of mine named Moorty, his
four-year-old son, and I went to Guruprasad. We did not know that it
was a public darshan. When we reached the palatial building,
thousands were standing in serpentine queues for Baba's darshan. We
bypassed the long queue, went into the hall, and squeezed ourselves in
the queue very close to Baba. When I prostrated at Baba's feet, Baba
stopped the queue and asked Adi K. Irani and Eruch whether they
knew me. Both replied in the negative. Baba then said, "I know him."
Baba raised me up, embraced me, and asked me to sit near His right
foot. After taking darshan, my friend was asked by Baba to sit near His
left foot. Baba very lovingly caressed the four-year-old son of my
friend on His lap.

Surprisingly, Baba lovers in the long queue finished taking darshan
by 12:30 P.M. Baba told us that families were permitted to come for
His darshan in the
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afternoon from 2:00 to 5:00 P.M. and so asked us to come again in the
afternoon. We were overjoyed by this unexpected darshan. When we
came in the afternoon, volunteers at the gate did not permit us to enter,
as all those who had been invited had been given tokens. Without the
tokens, no one was permitted to enter. I argued that Baba had called us,
but our entreaties fell on deaf ears. Suddenly, to our joy, Ramakrishnan,
secretary of the Poona Baba Centre, came to the gate and shouted for
the Calcutta Baba lovers who were being called by Baba immediately.
We rushed past the volunteers and walked towards the bungalow.
Ramakrishnan said, "Hurry up, Baba is waiting for you." Our fast walk
now turned into a sprint, and we were very soon with Baba, who was
sitting on the verandah.

Baba lovingly asked us to sit down, but within two minutes He got
up, gave us a packet of sweets as prasad, and said, "Give this prasad to
My children in Calcutta." He entered the big hall, where bhajans were
being sung. After the programme, Baba asked us when we planned to
leave Poona. "Tomorrow morning, Baba," I said. Baba gestured, "Take
Baba with you." Baba did not remonstrate our breaking the queue and
getting into it in the morning but silently awakened us to the fact that
what we had done was not right. Hasn't Baba often said, "I have come
not to teach but to awaken"

In May 1959, with one hundred Baba lovers from Calcutta, I went
for Baba's darshan at Guruprasad. Baba used to go for visits to Baba
lovers' houses in the mornings. Tea was served to all, including Baba.
Baba sipped a little and then passed it on to us as prasad. After one
week of daily darshans, we were to leave on Monday morning for
Calcutta. Since the Poona Baba lovers have their Centre meeting on
Mondays, 6:00 to 8:00 P.M., we decided to attend it and then leave. On
Monday morning Dr. G.S.N. Mootry informed me that the Vijayawada
Baba lovers were arriving at 11:00 A.M. and that they had been
permitted to take darshan after their arrival. Dr. Moorty suggested that
we could take advantage of this special darshan programme.

I phoned Eruch at Guruprasad and told him to ask Baba whether our
Calcutta group could also attend the darshan programme with the
Vijayawada lovers, as we were leaving Poona at night. Since I did not
get a reply after half an hour, I again phoned Eruch. After several
phone calls, I heard from him that Baba had agreed to give us darshan.
I informed my group to quickly have lunch, as it was nearly
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11:00 A.M. While a few who got seats were eating, Meherdas came
with a message from Baba that we should immediately leave for
Guruprasad.

Without having lunch, we rushed to Guruprasad in whatever
conveyance we found. The Vijayawada group had already arrived. We
were called in by Baba and asked to sit. Soon after, Baba asked me,
"Why did you ask for darshan today when the darshan programme
ended yesterday?" I replied, "What is the use of staying in Poona for
the whole day and not having Your darshan, Baba?" Baba replied,
"What is the earthly use of disobeying Me?" Now it dawned on me that
I had disobeyed Baba, and I began to shed tears of repentance. I asked
Baba to forgive me. Baba, the Compassionate Father, said, "I under-
stand that out of your love for Me you asked for My darshan. Come,
take My darshan without touching Me." We took Baba's darshan, and
Baba gave me chocolate as prasad. We departed, but we had learned a
lesson in discipline and obedience, which went deep into our hearts.

BABA'S HOUSE VISITS

Though the general darshan programs were only once a week, yet a
few selected lovers (me included) used to come to Guruprasad at 7:00
A.M. daily. Baba would come to the side room of Guruprasad, where
he met the men mandali. He would sit on His chair, whilst all of us
would sit on the carpeted floor. Baba would ask about our health and
whether we had slept well. He would attend to some important matters
like correspondence or meet some people who had been called by him.
The atmosphere would be very homely.

At 9:00 A.M., six to eight cars would line up. Baba, wearing his
usual pink coat, would sit in his DeSoto car next to Eruch, who was
driving. To some of the lucky ones, Baba would gesture to sit in the
rear seat of His car. As soon as the car moved, the rest of us ran and
climbed into the other cars which followed Baba's car. A list would
have been prepared previously of the houses of Baba lovers that Baba
was to visit on that day. As soon as the car reached a house, the
residents would all come out with big smiles and joy in their hearts to
welcome Baba. He would walk into the house and sit on a chair kept
ready for Him. The hosts took Baba's darshan, bowing down to Him.
This was followed by arti, and prasad was then served on plates to all.
Usually, a cup of tea or sherbet followed.
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Baba's twin nephews, Rustom and Sohrab and I anxiously awaited
the last part of the programme - the prasad. Baba had told us, "Eat
well!" and we were never going to disobey this order! After the first
helping was over, we waited for seconds, but they rarely came. Baba
would sip a little tea and then give His cup to some lucky person as
prasad.

Since I am on the subject of tea, let me tell the story of how I gave
up drinking tea. One day, I was sitting near Baba with the mandali
when Aloba rang the bell for tea at 3:00 P.M. The mandali, to my
surprise, without a sign from Baba, just walked out for tea. I kept
sitting. Baba asked me, "Don't you drink tea?" I said that I was never
very fond of it and that I would prefer to sit near Him than go for a cup
of tea. Just then, Dr. Goher came in with a cup of tea for Baba. Baba
sipped a little and then gave it to me saying, "Drink it because I am
giving it to you. But don't drink tea again in this lifetime!"

I was very happy to drink Baba's tea as prasad. Again, a year later,
when Baba's tea arrived at tea time, Baba drank a little and gave the
rest to me as prasad. He said, "Drink it because I am giving it to you,
but do not drink it again." Again, a year later, when Baba's tea arrived,
He gave me His tea for the third time and repeated the above order.
That was my last cup of tea in this lifetime.

Coming back to our house visits, after all had eaten their prasad, the
household Baba lovers would embrace and bow down to Baba, and
then Baba would depart to the next house according to schedule,
leaving the hosts in tears. The joy of having Baba in their home, of
singing His arti and offering Him tea and food was so great to the hosts
that, for the time being at least, the world did not exist for them.

As soon as Baba's car took the lead, we would run and get into the
other vehicles, and a cavalcade would move to the next Baba lover's
house. The whole procedure of welcoming Baba, bowing down to Him,
embracing Him, singing His arti, and finally giving tea and receiving
prasad would be followed in its correct sequence at each home.
Rustom, Sohrab, and I would tuck in as much prasad as was given -
and sometimes we also ate our friends' prasad if it was too much for
their mini-stomachs! By the time we had finished six to eight house
visits, we felt we had had a good breakfast.
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LOST AND FOUND

One day when we went with Baba for visits to the homes of Baba
lovers, Baba's car stopped in the main street of Poona, and Baba got off,
walked through a very tiny lane, and reached the house of a Baba lover
consisting of only one room. Though his house was minuscule, the
love in his heart was overflowing. Baba alone entered the tiny room
while the rest of us stood on the footpath. During the singing of arti, I
suddenly realised that my wallet had been pilfered. I wondered how I
would return home to Navsari without any money.

Soon prasad was served, and then we began walking back to the cars
through the narrow lane. When I reached the car in which I had come,
to my surprise, I saw my wallet lying on the public footpath. I grabbed
it and found that no money was missing. The cars soon moved on to
the house of the next Baba lover. I could not reconcile the fact that I
had found my wallet with its contents intact, despite numerous people
who must have walked over that path during the time we visited the
house of the Baba lover in the lane.

AGONY OF THE BELOVED

Once, Baba was in agony due to the pain in His hip joint. Baba had
previously informed the organisers that during His house visits to Baba
lovers, on that day He would go only to those houses that were on the
ground floor, as He would not be able to climb steps. We visited
several houses, and Baba walked to each one, giving His love in
abundance and not caring about His hip joint pain. We reached the last
house on that day's schedule. I got out of my car and rushed to Baba's
car, which was parked just in front of mine, and opened the door for
Him to step out. I could see Baba's expression of pain, but being the
slave of His lovers' love, He was determined to go on these house visits.
The host Baba lover came running to receive Baba with a big smile on
His face.

Baba asked him, "Where is your house?" He pointed to a room on
the first floor of a building. Baba questioningly asked him, "On the
first floor?" With folded hands, he pleaded with Baba to come up. As
soon as | saw the steep staircase in that old building, I knew it would
mean disaster for Baba if He climbed up. Being the slave of His lovers'
love, He agreed to climb the steps. I think that each step in that old
building must have been a foot in height.
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Baba, with help, slowly ascended the staircase and entered the room
of the Baba lover. Baba was all smiles, with not a vestige of pain
showing on His face. The programme over, Baba slowly climbed down
the steps and got into His car. With His thumb and index finger, He
made the typical sign of severe pain in His hip joint. The Baba lover
did not understand, but I knew the agony Baba was undergoing.

When we reached Guruprasad, and I jumped out of my car and ran
to open the door for Baba to step out of His car, I saw agony writ on
His face; His thumb and index finger were continuously making the
sign of intense pain. We got a chair from Guruprasad and placed it just
outside Baba's car door. With help, He got down and sat on the chair.
Rustom, Sohrab, another Baba lover, and I lifted Baba's chair and
placed it near His sofa chair in the side room.

With help, He shifted to His comfortable chair, but His index finger
kept making the typical sign of severe pain. As a doctor I was helpless.
My heart cried to see my Beloved in such agony. We watched Baba
suffer and yet could do nothing to alleviate His pain. After some time,
Dr. Goher came with a wheelchair and Baba was taken in it to the
women mandali's side.

After lunch, Baba came back in His wheelchair and we helped Him
into His sofa chair. As soon as He sat down, He turned to me and said,
"When I was suffering here before lunch, Mehera was in her room, and
she felt that I was suffering and so shot up a temperature." This
sentence broke my heart. Always I had wondered how my love for
Baba differed from Mehera's love for Him. Today I realised that
although Mehera had not been informed about Baba's suffering, yet her
oneness with Baba was so great that she took over a part of His
suffering and started running a fever. How true are Baba's words,
"Mehera loves Me as I should be loved." On two other occasions, Baba
revealed to me how Mehera's love for Him was so different from my
love for Him.

PLAYING CARDS WITH THE PERFECT ONE

Lunch would be served by Pendu as soon as we got back to Guru-
prasad. For lunch, Baba would go to the women mandali's side, while
we, armed with aluminium plates and spoons, stood in a queue at the
pantry room to get our lunch from Pendu and we never displeased him.
We definitely made Pendu happy with our pathological appetites. We
ate till we could not tuck in anymore.
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After lunch, the three of us would sleep for a while under a fan in
the side room. Having finished His lunch, Baba would come to the
men rnandali's side. As soon as the door that connected the side room
to the hall made the slightest sound, the three of us would sit up
immediately. Baba would come and sit on His chair, while we sat on
the floor in front of Him. Only the privileged few would be permitted
to stay on in the afternoon.

Baba would then gesture to bring a deck of cards or at times two
decks, depending on the number of players. The game was called La
Risque. All the players would sit in a circle, and after the cards were
shuffled, usually two cards were given to Baba and to each of the
players. Every other person in the circle was Baba's party man. The
rest formed the second party. As soon as the cards were dealt, before
anyone could realise what was happening, Baba's party had won! Each
of the players on Baba's side would throw down his cards and catch the
neck of the person sitting next to him, belonging to the losers' side, and
would push his head down and make him rub his nose on the floor.
Loud shouts and cheers from the winning party, invariably Baba's
party, would echo through the room.

The first time 1 played the game, I did not even know what game
was being played. I was never good at cards, and no one bothered to
even explain how this game with twenty to forty players was to be
played. When the winning party rubbed the noses of the losing party on
the floor, everyone laughed and cheered, while Baba became red in the
face with silent laughter.

The cards were again collected, reshuffled, and dealt out to Baba
and all the players. If Baba did not have an ace or king, He would look
into the cards of His neighbours, then very swiftly pick up a good card
and replace it with His card. Putting it with the other card that He had
in His hand, He would declare He had won! Since Baba is the Perfect
Being, He was more than perfect in this card game. With electric speed
He would look at the cards of those sitting near Him, and before
anyone realised what was happening, his king or queen or jack got
replaced by a lower card from Baba. Baba would then raise His hand
and show His cards, and the game was over. With loud shouts from the
winning party, the noses of the losing party were rubbed on the floor.

These games were the greatest fun. Seeing Baba so happy and
smiling at those who had lost was itself the joy in the game. I wish
someone had filmed those games, with Baba laughing silently and the
bewildered looks of the losing
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party as their noses were rubbed on the floor. The clamour, the joy,
Baba's happy expressions, can never be described adequately in words.

One day, just a few of us were playing La Risque with Baba - only
six or eight players, if I recall correctly. I was in Baba's party. When
the cards were shuffled and dealt out to the players, my neighbour
peeped into my cards. Baba immediately turned serious and asked him
why he had cheated by looking into my cards. At first, he denied it,
saying he had casually turned his head and had seen my cards but had
never meant to cheat, Baba became red in the face and said, "I saw you
cheating. Don't tell lies." Baba flung down His cards and was very
angry. The man apologised, and Baba cooled off as instantly as He had
become angry.

Baba then explained, "I am God, and so I am above all sin, including
cheating in cards! But you, who are still in this world and cannot see
the unity of life, should be honest and not cheat." To see Baba so
happy and silently laughing and in an instant to see Him red and
fuming made me feel that He is beyond both joy and anger.

THE GAME OF LA RISQUE BY MANI S. IRANI

Once Baba explained to a lover, a judge, who was participating in the
game for the first time, "My reason for playing this game of cards is
threefold: (1) the burden of My Universal Work gets lightened; (2) the
minds of the players are focused on Me in a most natural manner; (3)
those who los,e have to rub their nose on the carpet before Me, the
Highest of the High. This is a privilege filled with significance, and
thus the loser becomes the winner." Baba then quoted the Urdu lines
which mean, "It is a game in which the winner feels ashamed, and the
loser rejoices."

Meher Baba is the Divine Sportsman, playing His role to perfection
in the universal game of creation. His playing is the play of love on the
playing field of the earth where He allows us to participate actively in
His love with all our shortcomings, attachments, and inability to follow
Him completely.

Just as with sports and its required repetition and practice leading
towards excellence, Baba gives us this life discipline, to think of Him
constantly and love Him wholeheartedly, which helps to break old
habits and desires that get in the way of our loving Him and pleasing
Him. We then make a change to grow in love, and life begins to
change for the better. He allows us to make an effort to
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go against our nature and desires, and as He manifests, we feel His
love, which transforms our life through His grace.

The achievements of excellence in sports are an expression of one's
discipline and dedication. When the basis of this dedication is centred
in Baba, then all we do in life, whether work or play, is given hundred
percent to Him, and we find the real goal of all our achievements, to
think of Him more and more and to make Him our constant companion.

PLAYING CARDS WITH BABA!® BY ERUCH JESSAWALA

When we were with Baba, sometimes Baba would get the whim to play
cards. Baba always liked a lively atmosphere around Him, and it was
certainly lively when we used to play cards. In addition to the usual
sort of banter that goes on when playing, we would accuse each other
of cheating, and there would be protests and accusations, and a lot of
argument and debate - in short, we acted completely natural with Baba.
So much so, that sometimes Baba would suddenly stop and remind us,
"Don't forget, I am God." And we would nod our heads, yes, and the
game would continue.

We used to play at Meherazad, in Mandali Hall, and we would play
in Guruprasad. And when we travelled on mast trips with Baba,
sometimes we would play cards on the train with Him. Of course, then
there was no question of the loser rubbing his nose on the ground
because that would attract attention to Baba, and that was the one thing
He didn't want when He was out on a mast expedition. Sometimes
when we were travelling by train, Baba and I used to travel second
class, and the rest of the mandali with us would travel servant class.
But they would come into our compartment, and we would play cards.
If the conductor ever came in, I would just tell him that these others
were our servants and so they would be allowed to stay with us.
Especially around meal time, it was no problem having them join us
because servants would naturally be needed then to serve the food.

There were many who would not have understood Baba playing
cards. Their concept of God was quite different. So when such lovers
came, Baba would always act very serious and solemn, in short, He
would act up to their concept of how God was expected to behave.
Once we were playing cards, I remember when suddenly a car drove
up and some of these lovers arrived to see Baba. "Quick,"
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Baba gestured, "sit on the cards." So we all slipped the cards
underneath us and sat very straight looking at Baba most attentively.

The lovers came in, and Baba greeted them and then engaged them
in some sort of spiritual discourse for a while. I don't remember what
Baba said, but it was on some lofty spiritual theme which conformed to
their preconceptions about what sort of subjects were suitable to
discuss with the God-Man, and after a few minutes they paid their
respects and left. "Are they gone?" Baba asked. I checked and made
sure the car had driven away. "Yes, Baba," I said, "they have gone."
Baba smiled and gestured like this with His hand, "Get out the cards."
And we resumed our game.

A WEDDING AT GURUPRASAD

Every Baba lover in India knows the name of Madhusudan Pund. He is
a very good singer from Poona who has composed hundreds of Baba
bhajans. Baba always enjoyed his singing. I would like to tell the story
of Madhusudan's marriage performed by Baba in Guruprasad.

Madhusudan had a fiery temperament and communist leanings. His
neighbour once took him to a bhajan programme where a singer named
Subhadra was performing. He was greatly impressed by her charm,
beauty, and singing. He wondered why this young girl of eighteen who
was beautiful and educated should spend her time singing bhajans, as
to his thinking, spirituality was meant for only older people.
Madhusudan started attending Subhadra's programmes, which were, in
fact, Meher Baba meetings. He was not interested in the talks given
about Meher Baba.

On Baba's fifty-fourth birthday, 25" February 1948, a Baba pro-
gramme had been arranged at the residence of R. Gadekar, who was
instrumental in finding Guruprasad. Madhusudan was asked to sing.
He sang a bhajan of Saint Kabir, which was greatly appreciated by
everyone. Madhusudan thus got inducted into the Poona bhajan group.
On 20" August 1948, Madhusudan attended a Baba bhajan programme.
The next day, Baba lovers were going to Ahmednagar to meet Meher
Baba. Madhusudan agreed to go with them for a Sunday outing, though
not with the intention of meeting Meher Baba.

The night before leaving for Ahmadnagar, Madhusudan had a very
vivid dream. He saw an enormous white temple where bhajans were
being sung. In
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one section of the temple, there were only ladies. An elderly lady
approached and asked Madhusudan, "Have you seen God?" "No," he
replied. "Do you want to see God in flesh and blood?" the lady asked.
He said, 'Yes'. The lady warned him that if he went, he would not be
able to return, and so he should go home and ask permission of his
elders.

In his dream, he ran back and asked his mother whether he could go.
She lamented, "O fool, why did you come to ask? Does everyone get
such an opportunity?" He returned to the elderly lady and told her that
he was ready to see God. He ran in the direction to which she pointed
and came upon Meher Baba standing before him. Baba looked
immensely tall and stood in the posture of Lord Vishnu with four
hands. This pose was the one Lord Krishna had shown Arjuna, except
that what Arjuna had seen was scary, whereas this one was pleasant
and beautiful.

Baba smiled and asked, "Where are you going?"

"I was coming to meet You," he replied.

Baba said, "Does one find God so easily?"

Madhusudan reached out to touch Baba, but the image disappeared,
and only the aura remained, which said, "Follow me." He followed,
and they came to a river. Madhusudan jumped in after the aura, and the
waters parted as they had for Moses. The aura then came back and
circled a statue of Lord Krishna in the white temple. Madhusudan was
then asked to sing. Just as he started singing the bhairavi!’ tune, his
brother woke him up from the dream.

On 21%" August 1948, with the other boys, they went to Ahmednagar
and met Adi, Baba's secretary. Madhusudan was amused, for he could
not reconcile that even sadhus have secretaries. Adi asked them who
they were and who had sent them as Baba was in seclusion and not
meeting anyone. Adi's mother, Gulmai, a very sweet and kind lady,
took pity on the youngsters and pleaded with Adi to allow them to see
Baba. Adi informed them that Baba had gone to Meherabad and would
return to Meherazad. The boys could have a fleeting glimpse of Baba
when He passed by in His car, but Adi could not say for certain what
time this would occur.

The boys agreed and waited from 1:00 to 7:00 P.M. The last bus for
Poona was at 7:30 P.M. Madhusudan thought that he must return by

the last bus, as he had to go to work the next day. At 7:15 he stood up
disappointed, walked to
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the middle of the road, and folded his hands to bow. Just then the
headlights of Baba's car appeared. As the car passed by, Baba's eyes
met his and Baba smiled. Madhusudan fainted and fell on the road. The
other boys did not notice this but ran along Baba's car to have a
glimpse of Him. Baba stopped the car, pointed at Madhusudan lying on
the road, and asked the others to fetch him. The group carried him to
Baba, who put His hand on Madhusudan's head and said, "I know you.
I love you." Love had flowed from Baba to Madhusudan like a
waterfall. The latent love for Baba in Madhusudan's heart had been
kindled. He now felt he should devote his life to Baba and die for Baba.

Many years passed by and Baba the divine fisherman had spread His
net and had drawn Madhusudan close to His divine heart. It was now
May 1959. Baba had ordered that whenever Baba was in Guruprasad,
Madhusudan should visit Him, eat and drink with Baba, go to his job
and then come back to Guruprasad, and at nights return to his home to
rest and sleep. If he did not come to Guruprasad for a day, explanations
for his absence had to be submitted to Baba.

One day, either at the end of April or early May 1959, Baba called
Madhusudan into the side room of Guruprasad where the men mandali
sat with Baba. Baba asked Madhusudan whether he would marry
Subhadra. He replied in the negative. He was thirty-two years old, and
other marriage proposals had come for him, but he had declined them.
Madhusudan told Baba that there were many differences berween
Subhadra and himself. She was rich, educated and had a very serene
temperament, while he was poor, barely educated, and worst of all had
a fiery temperament. But, he added, the major difference was that of
caste. He belonged to the upper Brahmin caste, while she belonged to
the scheduled caste. Baba then said, "If I tell you to marry her, will you
do 1t?" Madhusudan agreed to it.

On another day, Baba called Subhadra and asked if she would marry
Madhusudan. At first, she too declined, but later she agreed. Baba
asked Madhusudan and Subhadra to bring their parents. Madhusudan
brought his elder brother, while she brought her father. Baba called
Bhuasaheb, Madhusudan's brother, and said, "I have decided that
Madhusudan and Subhadra should marry. Do you agree?" Bhuasaheb
replied, "Madhusudan is Your son, You may do whatever You wish
with him." When both parties agreed, the date and time for the
wedding were fixed by Baba. Baba gave Sadashiv Patel (a lover from
the early
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days with Baba) the responsibility of looking after all the arrangements.
The date for the wedding was fixed for 14" May 1959 at 9:00 AM. at
Guruprasad.

On the eve of the marriage day, Madhusudan was slightly depressed
thinking about the consequences of this intercaste marriage, which was
vehemently opposed by his sisters. Besides, Madhusudan had received
a letter from the renowned Shankaracharya'® of Nasik that Madhu-
sudan had defiled the Hindu religion and what he had decided to do
was disastrous to the Brahmins of India. His wedding received
immense publicity and was in the headlines of many of the nation's
newspapers. Madhusudan shared that he had to face a lot of hardships
after the marriage as no landlord would rent him a house and as a result,
he had to change houses ten to rwelve times.

Madhusudan spent the night before the wedding at Yeravada at a
friend's house. At midnight, he composed a bhajan: Prabhu me
charanan chod na jaoo, "Lord, may I never leave Your sacred feet."
Mata pita Guru sakha tumhi ho, "You are my mother, father, Guru,
and friend. Madhusudan felt that there was no one in the world except
Baba whom he could call his own.

On the wedding day, 14" May, Madhusudan's brother, his relative
from Yeravada, and his prospective brother-in-law were the only
family members present. He came to Guruprasad on a motorcycle with
his relative. He was stopped at the gate, and Baba sent Nariman
Dadachanji's car to bring him to Guruprasad.

At his marriage ceremony, Baba lovers from all over the world were
represented: Francis Brabazon from Australia, others from England,
USA, and India. The wedding was a straightforward affair. Madhu-
sudan garlanded Subhadra and she garlanded him in front of Baba. It is
customary to have witnesses from both parties to the marriage.
Sadashiv Patel represented Madhusudan's father, while Shinde
represented Subhadra's father. Baba acted as the priest. He put
Madhusudan's and Subhadra's hands together and then placed His own
hand on top of their clasped hands. Baba asked Madhusudan, "Do you
accept Subhadra as your wife?" "Yes I do," he replied. He then asked
Subhadra, "Do you accept Madhusudan as your husband?" "Yes, I do,"
she replied. Baba then solemnly said to Madhusudan, "I am handing
over Subhadra to you and I will be with both of you always."

Instead of the usual Hindu custom of going around a sacred fire
seven times before the marriage is complete, Madhusudan and
Subhadra took seven rounds



112

around Baba. They then bowed to Baba and embraced Him. The
marriage was thus performed without any rituals and ceremonies.

After the wedding, Madhusudan was asked to sing a bhajan. That a
bridegroom should sing on his wedding day was an unprecedented
event. He sang the song he had composed at midnight. It brought tears
to many eyes. Soon after followed lunch, catered by the Edward Hotel
and all enjoyed the meal. Baba permitted the couple to leave Guru-
prasad in His car in the evening, and Madhusudan was asked to
compose another song for the next day.

On the next day, when they came to Guruprasad, Baba asked Adi to
drive them to Mahabaleshwar for their honeymoon. This honeymoon
was also unprecedented, as Baba sent twenty other Baba lovers, mainly
singers in different cars to Mahabaleshwar with them. During the
journey Madhusudan's mind was running at breakneck speed. He
complained that he was neither prepared for the marriage nor for the
changes in his life that would follow. Adi, who had been silently
listening as the bridegroom gave vent to his feelings, observed:
"Following Baba is like putting a wooden ladoo [sweet ball] in your
mouth - you can neither swallow it nor spit it out."

At Mahabaleshwar, they stayed at the Rippon Hotel, which belonged
to a Baba lover, Kohiyar Satarawala. A bhajan programme was held at
the Kashmiri store, whose proprietor, Habibullah, had met Baba in
Kashmir and had taken Him around. After the programme, the couple
returned to Poona. Baba had said a long time back that when He was
Krishna, He had performed the marriage of His sister. He had predicted
that in this Avataric advent He would perform one marriage. These
words came true when he married Madhusudan to Subhadra.

"By this marriage, it is established that all are one; all are equal, and
everybody has the same and equal right to go to God," Baba observed.
Madhusudan and Subhadra are the minstrels of the Avatar of the
modern age.

THE CANDY GARLAND BY MADHUSUDAN PUND

Soon after my marriage, it was Gudipadva Day, the Maharashtrian
New Year, when garlands of sugar candy are offered to the Gudi,
literally meaning a doll; the Gudi representing God. The candy is of
variegated colours, and children enjoy eating them. My mother told me
that when Baba, God in human form, is present, one should not garland
a Gudi, but instead, the garland should be given to Baba.
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With much love and ingenuity, she made one garland of sugar candy
and asked me to give it to Baba when I went to Guruprasad. I, however,
was not keen on this idea and felt embarrassed at garlanding Baba with
this garland of sugar candy. I felt that I would be laughed at by the
other Baba lovers if 1 gave the garland to Baba. However, out of
respect for my mother and her love for Baba, I brought the garland to
Guruprasad.

I did not dare to give it to Baba but hung it with the other garlands
that Baba had worn which were hanging on a peg on the verandah. I
felt that hanging the sugar candy garland with the other garlands would
be tantamount to Baba's having worn it. When I went into the side
room of Guruprasad, Baba was playing cards - His favourite game of
La Risque - with other Baba lovers.

After some time, Baba complained of an odour in the room.
Everyone looked around for its source, but none could be traced. Baba
then asked His brother Jal to investigate the source of the odour on the
verandah. Jal came in with my mother's garland of sugar candy and
told Baba that it was the source of the odour. Baba asked us who had
brought it. I sat with my head bowed down and felt ashamed to ac-
knowledge that I had brought it. Baba then asked me if I had brought it.

When I explained that my mother had given it for Him, He
admonished me as to why I had not garlanded Him with it, and why
had I left it on a peg on the verandah. I told Baba that I feared all
would ridicule and laugh at my childish behaviour, and thus I did not
garland Baba with it.

He called me near Him and twisted both my ears for not garlanding
Him with it when my mother had sent it with so much love. Baba
asked me to garland Him with it. He wore the candy garland and then
looked around. Baba then playfully said that no one should look at Him
to see how much He ate of the candy. Otherwise, He may get a
stomach ache for not sharing it with the others. He then ate a piece and
distributed the rest to each one sitting there. Children, when they eat
this candy, enjoy it - and here, too, all were children of Baba, who had
given it so lovingly.

After the distribution was over, only the thread remained with which
the candy had been threaded into a garland. Baba gave this to me and
asked me to give it to my mother, thanking her for the lovely candy
and telling her that her love for God had been rewarded by God, as
Baba had eaten a piece. When I took back the thread and gave it to my
mother, she shed tears of joy, for Baba
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had accepted her small gift. The words of the American arti rang in my
ears at that time: "What in the world can I offer as mine? Even my gift
of love would be naught in Your Sight, but veiled reflections of Your
love divine."

In my younger days, I was communist-minded. I was unemployed
and not at all devotional. When I came to Baba and began to love Him,
it was because of His beauty and loving nature. I was struck by Baba's
equal approach to all people - rich or poor, young or old. This attracted
me to Baba and not any miracles, which I never saw until a day before
my marriage.

Baba took us to see an English movie - Harry and the Black Tiger -
at the West End Theatre. During the movie, Baba was seated in the row
exactly behind me. The film was about a forest ranger's family whose
son walked into the forest where there was a man-eater tiger. One
evening, when the boy did not return home, his mother rushed into the
woods, unarmed despite the danger of the tiger.

The mother eventually found her son safe, and their meeting and
embracing was so loving and touching that I wondered whether such
attachment and love could really be possible berween two human
beings. Just then Baba, who was sitting behind me, tweaked my ear
and said, "It is possible." Till then I had accepted Baba as my master,
but now I was convinced that He was God in human form.

In 1959, when Mrs. Ivy O. Duce came for Baba's darshan, she was
to visit the Poona Baba Centre. Ramakrishnan, the secretary, requested
me to organise a children's programme when she came to the Centre.
Where I stayed, there were lots of children in the neighbourhood, the
majority being girls. After their studies were over, they would sing
popular film songs and disturb me. I thought I could utilise their
energies, and so I composed Baba songs to the tunes of the film songs.
I taught them Baba bhajans with tunes of films, and they were happy to
learn them.

When Mrs. Duce visited the Poona Baba Centre, these children sang
and the programme was a grand hit. Baba heard about this programme
and remarked that He was not called for the programme. After that, I
arranged many such programmes at Guruprasad with the children
singing and performing small skits. Parsi Baba families would provide
costumes, while Baba's sister, Mani, did the makeup for them. When
the children sang for Baba the song "Hamto Karte Hai Meher se Pyaar"
(We Are Loving Meher Baba) and other songs, Baba was
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extremely pleased, and as a reward, each child received an embrace
and a kiss from Baba. These children have now grown up and not only
they but their families have all become Baba lovers.

AVATAR MEHER BABA TRUST IS FORMED

In 1959 at Guruprasad, Meher Baba summoned some of his disciples
and expressed His wish to form a trust with the sole property which
remained in His name at that time. This property consists of an area of
land on Meherabad Hill in Ahmednagar district, with all its buildings,
including Baba's Tomb. Incorporating Baba's specific instructions, the
deed of Avatar Meher Baba Trust was drawn up. As the "Settlor" of
the Trust, Baba named ten of His disciples as trustees, and He signed
the Trust Deed on Meherabad Hill on 6 April 1959 in the presence of
the Sub-Registrar from Ahmednagar.

Baba said, "Although the universe is Mine, I own nothing in the
worldly sense. I am the King of kings, and also the Faqir of faqirs.
Even the Tomb, where I have directed My body to be placed when I
drop it, does not belong to Me." He entrusted the Tomb and other
Meherabad properties to the care and administration of the ten trustees,
enjoining them to carry out His wishes as specified by Him in the Trust
Deed.

The primary purpose of the Trust, though of a temporary nature, was
to provide for those of Baba's disciples who were dependent on Baba,
named in the deed as "beneficiaries." Its long-range purpose was to
maintain the existing Trust properties, particularly Baba's Tomb, and to
develop and expand them for the time when Meherabad becomes a
centre of world pilgrimage.

Although Baba was particular that the trustees should hold meetings
to consider matters relating to the functioning of the Trust, it remained
practically dormant from 1959 to 1969. Trust meetings were held
intermittently at Guruprasad and at Meherazad from 1959 until Baba
dropped His body in January 1969.

Eruch narrated a very touching story about the selection of the forty-
one beneficiaries. While Baba was naming the beneficiaries, He named
a person whom no one seemed to know. The mandali looked up at
Baba questioningly and then at each other. When Baba was asked
about the identity of this person, He reminded Eruch of an incident that
had happened during one of His darshan tours.
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At one village, Baba's stay at night had been arranged at a rest house
on the outskirts of the village. At 4:00 AM., Baba asked Eruch to fetch
a bucket of hot water for His bath. Eruch was at his wit's end, as he did
not have a vessel in which to heat water, nor did he have a stove. He
said, "Yes, Baba," and left the house. The only container he had was a
mug (lota). He took a match, lit a newspaper, and held the mug full of
water over it! He knew fully well that Baba could not possibly have a
bath with that little quantity of water. But, over the years with Baba,
we have learned that one must try to obey Baba even though it may
seem impossible.

While Eruch was doing this impossible task of heating water for
Baba's bath in a mug, he sighted a man coming towards the rest house.
Since it was Baba's order that no one should come to the rest house at
night, Eruch called out to the man, "Who is there? Why have you
come?" As the man neared, Eruch saw that he was carrying a pot on
his head. Replying to Eruch, he said, "I have brought this pot of hot
water for Baba's bath!" Eruch wondered what had prompted this man
to bring hot water for Baba at that early hour. Eruch told the man to
leave the pot and go back. When the man left, he took the hot water to
Baba, who, without a question, had His bath.

Years passed by, and this incident had been completely wiped out of
Eruch's memory. When the mandali asked about the identity of the
beneficiary He had named, Baba said that the person He was referring
to was the person who had brought hot water for His bath many years
ago. This illiterate villager, whose heart was in unison with his
Beloved, must have had a divine link forged through many lives with
Baba, a deeper connection with Baba than the darshan he had had at
his village on the previous day. The mandali realised the love Baba had
for this villager. His small sacrifice had not been forgotten by Baba
after so many years.

FIRST DARSHAN ALMOST MISSED, BY L.D. BAJPAI

Say "Guruprasad," and you remember dear Baba in a flash. To me,
Guruprasad is like Mecca. Dear Baba's presence could be felt almost in
every corner of that big palatial building. I felt this very deeply on my
first visit, which I recall with great awe and reverence. That visit was a
great event for my family, which consisted of my wife and two young
children. My wife did not want to go to Poona to visit
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some Baba! She told me firmly that she had no faith in any Baba and it
would be better if they went to Puri, a place close to our town where
the great temple of Lord Jagannath stands. But I was desperate to meet
Baba. I had been waiting to have His darshan for more than a year.
Though I could have participated in the big sahavas of 1958, I was not
prepared, as my urge to meet Baba then was very lukewarm.

During the summer of 1957, I was reading the book Listen,
Humanity. When I read Baba's discourse on death, I was shaken up. I
felt, here is a man who seems to know more about death than Death
itself! Death was my favourite subject, and I had been reading a lot
about it. Never before had I come across such an excellent exposition
on this topic. I put the book down and immediately wrote a letter to
Baba, begging for His darshan. 1 got His reply quickly, but to my
dismay, I was asked to wait until the next darshan programme. Now I
had waited till 1959 when Baba was to give darshan at Guruprasad
during the summer, and I could not wait any longer. I persuaded my
wife to come with me to Poona. We reached Poona and stayed in a
dharamshala just opposite the station.

I decided to go and find out where Guruprasad was. I entered the
premises very eager, very hopeful, and, I think, feeling very pious also.
Eruch saw me from the verandah. I told him my name and that my
family had come from Kharsia for Baba's darshan. Eruch told me that
the darshan programme was closed and I had arrived very late. This
was like an earth shattering blow for me and I felt as if the earth had
sunk beneath me. He also told me that a telegram had been sent to me
conveying this information. I had not received the telegram. 1 was
dumbfounded. Never before had I gone to any saint except to my own
master, whom I could meet at any time without any restrictions and
even with my shoes on! This reply from Eruch was most unexpected,
and my ego was hurt deeply.

I entreated Eruch to somehow arrange the darshan, as I had come
from a faraway place for the sole purpose of taking Baba's darshan
with no strings attached. He again told me very politely that as a Baba
lover, I should obey Baba's orders. I asked him whether I could just get
a glimpse of Him while He was crossing from one room to another.
That was quite an idiotic suggestion, as I recalled much later. Perhaps
this annoyed Eruch, who finally and curtly told me that I was wasting
my time and his too.
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Crestfallen, I was returning from Guruprasad when I met brother
Adi and Francis. On hearing my request for Baba's darshan, Adi
replied that with Baba, obedience was the first word in spirituality. I
thought, forget spirituality and forget obedience, I wanted to see the
man who knew more about death than anyone else. In response to my
further pleadings, Adi said that he was helpless in the matter, and it
would be better to wait until the next darshan programme. As we were
walking out of the compound, Francis said something to Adi. Perhaps
it was some suggestion that might be helpful to me. Adi then told me to
go to Dr. C.D. Deshmukh, the renowned philosopher of Nagpur
University, who was now staying in the same dharamshala where 1 had
taken a room. He said that Dr. Deshmukh could plead before Baba on
my behalf and that he was my last refuge.

I was filled with some hope, and so I hastened back to the
dharamshala. By then, another fear had gripped me - what was I going
to tell my wife about Baba not giving darshan? Reaching the
dharamshala, I asked the manager and was relieved to be told that Dr.
Deshmukh was staying there too. He gave me his room number, and I
ran to it, only to be told that he had gone out and nobody knew when
he would return.

That was the last straw on the camel's back. I realised that now
darshan was not possible and needed to go and tell my wife about it
and then face the music. However, she took the news very calmly. To
console her, I suggested a change in our itinerary. We would go to
Bombay the next day by an early morning train and stay there for two
days, and then we would proceed to Shirdi for my elder son's mundan
sanskar (first haircut). Fortunately, this pleased her, and she
immediately began to pack.

I came out and stood on the balcony. In my heart of hearts, I really
wanted to have Baba's darshan, but there was no way to get it now. 1
felt very despondent. Suddenly, I saw brother Adi entering the
dharamshala and going into the manager's office. I felt this was my last
chance and so rushed down the stairs. Saint Peter was showing the way
to Heaven, I felt. On seeing me, Adi was delighted. He told me that he
had been searching for me and that Baba had allowed me to have His
darshan on the morrow. Great God, what was I hearing? But it was true!
The manna had fallen from the heavens. Overjoyed, I rushed back to
my wife with the happy tidings. The wine shop had opened and the
Saqi-ul-Irshad had Himself invited me! I now knew that love was to
strike my heart and my ego to be effaced. That night I slept like a log.
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Next morning, we got ready to be in time for Baba's darshan. We
purchased two garlands for Baba. On the way, I wondered how this
sudden change of heart on His part had occurred. On reaching
Guruprasad, we were given a very warm welcome by sister Mani, who
came out to greet us. She even took my younger son on her lap, and
finally, we were ushered inside to where Baba was sitting with several
persons.

Baba was on a chair, while the rest were on the floor. A glance at
Baba and my heart almost stopped beating. So dazzling, so radiant a
personality, I had never seen in my lifetime. Everyone else in the room
disappeared for me - no wife, no children, no mandali. I wondered
whether anybody could be so handsome, so majestic, and yet so near to
us. To me, Baba seemed all sweetness. I felt Lord Shiva Himself was
sitting before me. I sat there like a dumb and deaf person, just drinking
the nectar of His presence. Saqi Himself was the wine, and I felt
intoxicated. I had never felt so humble and small as I felt sitting before
Him.

My reverie was broken when I heard Eruch saying something to me.
He was relating what had happened after I left Guruprasad the day
before. It seems Baba called Eruch and asked him about the day-to-day
affairs. Eruch told Baba about the letters received and other things, but
he forgot to mention my visit. Baba, the all-knowing, infinitely know-
ing, pointedly asked Eruch whether anybody had come for His darshan.
Only then did Eruch remember me and told Baba that a family had
come for darshan from Kharsia. Baba told him to find my whereabouts
and ask me to come for darshan the next morning. Eruch must have
told Adi to pass on this message to me, as Adi knew my address. While
this talk was going on, my attention was focused on Baba - the infinite
in His finite form. It was all ethereal to me - His personality, His
beauty, and most of all His compassion had overpowered me.

Soon I saw Him beckoning me to go to Him. I did not know how to
approach Him. Like an automaton, I went to Him. He clasped me in an
embrace, and I don't know for how long, but I kissed Him on His
cheeks. My wife also went up to Baba and embraced Him hesitatingly,
as Hindu women do not embrace anyone but their husbands. She did
not know that Baba was not a "Par Purush" (not her husband), but
"Param-Purush" - the Ancient One, the only Purusha that pervades the
universe. We then remembered the two garlands we had brought for
Baba. We fumbled, as the two garlands had got intertwined and we
could not
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separate them. Somebody asked us to put the garlands round Baba's
neck without trying to separate them.

That was the end of our first darshan. In the late forties, I was
working as a sub-editor on the Hindi monthly magazine Sarita. 1 had
begun writing a story, "Insan Ki Khoj mein" (In Search of Man).
Though the book was never completed, yet now I felt, while returning
from Guruprasad, that the search was over. I had found my Man, the
complete Man - the God-Man, the Avatar. We walked out in a dazed
state. I remembered my first visit to the Taj Mahal at Agra. The first
sight of it had just stunned me. Could the beauty of any monument
startle you? Ah! Could a Taj in human flesh make your heart stop
beating? That Taj in human form was my Baba - my father, my mother,
my all in all.

I am told that Guruprasad, my Jerusalem, was torn down and does
not exist anymore. But I do know that Guruprasad shall always exist in
the heart of every Baba lover forever and ever.

JUDGE NOT OTHERS LEST YE BE JUDGED,”® BY BAL NATU

Beginning in 1959, Avatar Meher
Baba, along with His close disciples,
would visit Pune during the summer
months and stay at Guruprasad. In
1959, He also permitted His Indian
lovers scattered across the country
to visit Him on certain specified
weekends. That year, I was per-
mitted to stay with Baba under the
same roof throughout my summer
vacation of six weeks.

Guruprasad was a large, palatial
building. Each morning, Baba
would walk down the spacious hall
to the men mandali's room. Here,
He would sit in His armchair and
attend to the day's mail. First, Eruch read out the correspondence in
English, and my job was to read to myself that which was written in
Hindi or Marathi and convey the gist of each letter to Beloved Baba.
Only if Baba wished it, I would read out the entire letter. Once Eruch
had read out a certain number of letters, Baba would turn to me,
meaning that it was my time to read. I rarely reached the bottom of my
pile of mail before Baba would gesture that I should stop.
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I was given the freedom to use my discretion in deciding what
letters were of importance and should be read out first. One day, I
found a letter in my pile written to Meher Baba by a photographer, Shri
Rege from Pune. My reaction to its contents was not favourable. In it,
the man expressed his wish to photograph Baba, saying that Baba
should pose for him and that the photographer himself should be
allowed to have his picture taken with Baba. The man also mentioned a
list of dignitaries whom he had previously photographed. To me, it did
not appear to be a letter of request, but more of a demand on Baba. I
judged for myself that the attitude of the photographer was not right
because I felt it was not fitting to place expectations on the Highest of
the High in this way. So I put this letter in the bottom of my mail pile,
thinking that I would not have to read it to Baba for days since He
generally listened to only four or five letters before asking me to stop.

To my surprise, on that particular day, Baba allotted Eruch less time
than usual. He then pointed to me, indicating it was my turn. I was sure
that He would tell me to stop reading after a few letters, but, to my
further surprise, He did not. After each letter, I thought, "Now He will
surely tell me to stop." He continued to listen, and as I continued
reading, I wondered if T would have to read out the photographer's
letter. Baba still did not stop me, and, in time, I reached the bottom of
the pile, and the only letter left was the one I had so carefully avoided.

I told Baba the gist of the letter, and even expressed my resentment
and my opinion that its writer did not make his request to Baba in the
way he should have. I felt confident that Baba would agree with my
views. Instead, He beamed a smile and gestured that from the
credentials, it seemed that the photographer must be a good one. He
then asked me to read out the letter in its entirety, which I did with
some reluctance. After I finished, Baba instructed me to write to the
man and ask him to visit the following Sunday. As if this was not irony
enough, I was told I would be the one to receive him and attend to his
needs. Of course, I obeyed Baba and replied to the letter, telling the
photographer that his request to Baba would be granted in full, and
giving him the specific time and date when he could come.

The man replied to me directly confirming the date and requesting
Baba's permission to arrive a day early to set up the shot. Baba agreed.

The following Saturday I was on the verandah, ready to receive the
man, inwardly feeling how nice it would be if he didn't come. However,
he arrived on time, had a look around and left.
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The next day, he came armed with a large camera and other
accessories necessary in those years - cables, plugs, and special lights
intended for the photography session. After greeting him, I showed
him the location of the electrical outlets, and as soon as the wires and
spotlights were arranged, Baba entered the room. The photographer
offered his salutations; Baba smiled in return and inquired about the
arrangements, then sat down in His cushioned armchair.

Before the photos were taken, Baba asked the photographer what
direction He should face, .and if His hands were in the right position or
not. To my amazement, the photographer did suggest some changes
and continued to do so before every new pose. He even touched Baba's
hands once to demonstrate the way in which he thought they should be
placed. As Baba agreed to each suggestion, He would give me a look
which seemed to be a silent lesson that I should not judge others. In all,
the photographer took photos of Baba in four different poses, then
stood alongside him for a fifth one. Once the session was complete, I
felt relieved.

A week later, the photographer revisited Guruprasad, bringing
copies of the photos, all of which were very good. He gave Baba a
large colour photograph of the pose in which Baba had allowed him to
reposition His hands. This picture is now kept at Meherazad in the
Blue Bus on Baba's hospital bed.

Over the years, one of the full length photographs of Baba taken by
this Pune photographer came to be appreciated so much by Baba lovers
that many display it in their respective Centres. In it, Baba truly looks
like an emperor, blessing His dear ones with a benevolent, yer
authoritative smile. Because of this, it has come to be known as the
"darbar pose," for in it, Baba is the emperor appearing before His
darbar, or royal court.

In the 1970s, when I began staying at Meherazad, I noticed the
coloured photograph of Baba in the Blue Bus, and the entire story
behind it returned to me. It was then, in a very natural way that the
words from the Holy Bible came to me: "Judge not others lest ye be
judged." Now I visit the bus every day, reminding myself that Beloved
Baba is the only real Judge and that I should not argue with or
comment on what others express in their love for the Avatar, the
Emperor of all hearts.

Baba's methods of bringing a profound message home to His dear
ones are unique. Are His ways not matchless?



1960

Meher Baba came to Guruprasad on 21% March 1960 and left for
Meherazad on 22" June. Thousands availed of the darshan pro-
grammes, which continued until 10" June. Baba, the divine fisherman,
once again spread His net and vigorously pulled in His catch. Every
kind of fish that found itself in the net was willing and had no reason to
struggle, for unlike the rest of its kind, it had found its home. The lover
of God felt the tremendous impact of Baba's love, while the
philosopher, the professor, and the scientist were filled with admiration
for Baba's wisdom and the scientist, the psychologist, the doctor, could
not help loving Baba once they found themselves in His august
presence. All realised their limitations when faced with the Unlimited
One, and all felt the force of love that radiated from the Infinite Ocean
of Love.

GLIMPSES OF AVATAR MEHER BABA, BY DR. C.D. DESHMUKH
Baba and party arrived at Guruprasad at 11:15 A.M. on 20" March
1960. At 1:30 P.M. He admitted in His presence Barrister Das from
Calcutta and Harry Dodolcha, both of whom had been waiting for Him
at Poona. To Harry, Baba said: "Do not fear Me, the Ocean. Purities, as
well as impurities, should equally be surrendered into this Ocean,
without any hesitation. All creation is imagination, like the mental
image of a ten-headed elephant, which you may sustain for a while and
then wipe out at will."

On the 17" morning, He explained to Ranisaheb Shantadevi of
Baroda how the Universal Mind works.

The Avatar has a universal mind, universal energy, and universal
body, just as each individual soul has an individual mind, individual
energy, and individual body. The universal mind of the Avatar is in
tune with the mind of each and every
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one, and so, like a radio tuned to a particular wavelength, the universal
mind at once effortlessly receives the thoughts of all.

Attending the mahadarshan [great darshan] that followed was Dastur
Bodh of New York Agyari.

On the 18™ of April, Baba developed a new topic, since Shantadevi
had been regularly coming and sitting at His feet to receive from Him
light on many subjects. Baba said, "God pervades and envelops
everything and is indivisible, and yet we experience separateness due
to ignorance. Whether we look up or down, actually that which exists
is without divisions; it is one complete whole; and God is the shoreless
Ocean of existence, though the mind cannot conceive of any such thing.
We cannot have an idea of that which is beyond time, but one flash of
experience is enough to give you the realization of that indivisible
being. However, such experience comes to one out of millions."

On 19% April, Beloved Baba explained to one seeker who had been
experiencing flights in dreams that no one should attach too much
importance to such experiences. "Many people who love Me exper-
ience miracles, like My being on the bed of sick persons. But real
anubhava, or experience of reality, is different from all such things.
Even saints can get stuck in the minor experiences on the path. You
must scrupulously avoid all hypocrisy and get lost in God if you want
to have that experience by which you become what you really are. This
experience, being beyond the mind, cannot be explained. Still, I often
try to describe it for you using charts and similes, so that you may have
some idea about it.

In the North, there are quite a good number of persons who, without
being genuine saints and without having realised God, allow others to
bow down to them. And they naturally develop around them an
obnoxious atmosphere, and those who see through it naturally lose
faith in God and Masters and begin to talk against both. The fake saints
get addicted to many things, which are harmful, and their followers
invent all sorts of explanations and theories to justify their objec-
tionable actions. Love and honesty, self-denial and surrenderance to
God, are absolutely necessary to solve the knotty problems of life; and
the outer show does not take anyone an inch further on the path.

Hafiz says, 'O Hafiz! Go and worship the Perfect Master. Leave all
and catch hold of his daaman.' I draw the blessed ones through My
love. Many yogas take the soul towards the goal; but of them all, the
Sahaj Yoga, or the path of
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effortless adjustments to everything that comes, is in many ways the
best. It means cheerfully accepting what life brings to us. Such a
person will resign himself to his lot, even if he loses his wife or catches
leprosy. The Sahaj Yoga is not easy; it is almost impossible." Baba
then explained how He knows everything. "It is the mind which sees
Me, you, or, say Homi. Actually, they do not exist, being parts of a
dream."

On 20" April, Vibhuti brought a contingent of lovers from
Aurangabad, simple men and women singing the glory of the Lord in a
simple, attractive manner that went to the very heart. Beloved Baba
explained, "Like diverse fish in the ocean, there are diverse types of
souls; but all these differences are in imagination only." Dr. Mohbe
from Nagpur sought a private interview, but Beloved Baba said He
knew everything and an interview was not necessary. Baba asked him
not to worry about anything. Then He explained: "The physical body
has no importance; what matters is the mind and the heart."

On the 22", a newly married couple from Hamirpur sought Baba's
blessings. On 23 April He saw the Bengal group, with Suryanarayana
of Santragachi Meher Mandir. An orphan child, Gopal, had been
brought by this group to have the privilege of being near Baba. His
love was deep, and when he sang in Bengali to Beloved Baba, streams
of tears flowed from his eyes. He also took the initiative of the "Jai"
ovations, showing at such a young age so deep an appreciation of what
Beloved Baba means to the forlorn ones.

On 24™ the Jabalpur group came with Rajnikant, the composer of
exquisite Hindi poems on Beloved Baba, and Amiya Kumar Hazra and
his mother, bringing with them a variety of sweets which excelled all
others, even in the infinite variety which is daily given to the mandali
as prasad by Beloved Baba.

If anyone had caught a cold or influenza, Beloved Baba in a vein of
humour asked him to hold a handkerchief over his mouth so that he
should not spread that infection to others. On 25" one Urvadatta J.P.
Joshi, who is in charge of Shankarji's avataric mandir at Badrinath, was
among those who came for the darshan of Bhagwan Meher.

On the 26" April, Agarwal from Nagpur pressed Beloved to give
him His real darshan. I was by his side and commented that even
Arjuna after he had the darshan of Virat Swarupa, got frightened and
requested Krishna to resume His
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lovely familiar form. Beloved Baba said: "What Arjuna saw is the
universal body. In the real truth of Baba, there is no room for any fear."

Among others who were admitted into Baba's presence was
Bhunjkar, a statesman, who reminded Beloved Baba that He had said
that Maharashtra would become a separate and independent province
and that the bilingual province would break up. To him, Beloved Baba
explained: "All creation and its sustenance are based upon ignorance,
which is ever at war with knowledge. Really great people are simple,
like Tilak?® and Gandhiji .... Gandhiji wanted Me to break My silence; I
assured him I would soon do so, but it still continues."

Beloved Baba was in a mood to explain many things. He narrated a
story of a sweetmeat seller in Persia. This sweets seller used to exhibit
his niceties in a showcase with a net, and at night he would just cover
them with a cloth and lock up the showcase. Among the niceties, there
was a milk-syrup, which attracted the desire of two or three ruffians,
who invented a novel method of relieving the shopkeeper of this nicety.

They made a small hole in the net and inserted a long pipe through it,
into the container, and sucked up the contents every night, relishing it
with gusto and causing much surprise and dismay to the owner the next
morning. The owner then thought over this, and sensing the manner in
which the milk-syrup used to disappear every night, he tried a device to
prevent the recurrence of this burglary. He filled the same container
this time, not with the exquisitely delicious milk-syrup, but with filth,
covering it as usual with the cloth at night.

The three gangsters came as usual; and when the first of them
sucked up the contents and discovered the odious taste of the filth, he
not only refrained from disclosing the change, for fear that his
companions would laugh at him but actually praised the contents as
usual. The same thing was done by his successor, all the three being
duped and also disillusioned by the trick of the shopkeeper - who,
however, had the satisfaction of finding that his milk-syrup after that
remained safe from the gang.

Beloved Baba concluded: "If you often feel delighted by a particular
set of things, and if sometimes the same set leads to an unpalatable
experience, you should be able to meet it with equanimity - even as,
when the last member of the gang began to complain of the bitter taste,
the other two asked him to recall how he enjoyed the syrup
previously."
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Beloved Baba further explained the illusion of creation: since it does
not exist, the question of its preservation and destruction automatically
lapses into insignificance. Baba says: "I have the Highest Knowledge,
and at the same time, I appear not to know what exists at My feet.
Knowledge includes ignorance, though ignorance cannot include
knowledge. The moment of the junction between waking and deep
sleep is of great instructive value. If there is a vacuum in mind, it
immediately gets it filled with the consciousness of the Self. In sleep
also there is a vacuum, but there is no consciousness, so there is no
realisation of the Self. To have consciousness and yet to have a
vacuum is the problem of problems; it occurs while piercing the inner
layers of reality.

On the Path, there are different types of souls: those who have only
one layer, others who have two, and still others who have three. In
advanced persons these layers of gross, subtle, and mental bodies are
all there; but some or all of them sit very loosely upon their
consciousness, like loose coats; and hence their consciousness does not
get restricted by the layers."

The I of May was a Sunday reserved for Baba lovers of
Maharashtra, in which not only the out-station lovers but also the local
lovers from Poona and Bombay were permitted in the presence of
Beloved Meher; though they had to stand patiently for hours in long
queues. Eruch saved Baba from the uncontrolled gestures of a worked-
up lover. Beloved Baba unfailingly gave His personal touch of divine
blessings to each one who approached Him, giving chocolates as
prasad while diverse types of music were played in the background as
a full-hearted expression of the depths of love from the inspired ones.

Among the darshan seekers was Premnath, a famous screen actor
along with his eldest son Premkishen. This also happened to be the day
when the new state of Maharashtra was ushered into existence after the
breakup of the previous bilingual state of Bombay Presidency.

On 3" May, Pukar received a wire that his child, who had just a
fortnight ago enjoyed the privilege of being in the vicinity of Beloved
Baba in Guruprasad, had passed away at Hamirpur. Beloved Baba gave
Pukar sufficient fortitude to face the calamity and did not allow him to
lapse into depression over the illusory loss. This day's out-station
lovers were mainly from Cochin, Kurudwadi, Kolhapur, Amraoti, and
Lucknow.
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On the morning of 5% May, Beloved Baba gave a brief discourse,
mainly addressed to Neurgaonkar, city engineer of Pune Municipal
Corporation: "The body is based upon energy and energy upon the
mind. In the same way, power is based upon bliss and bliss upon
knowledge. The limited ego, which veils the Bliss-Truth, may take the
form of egotism, as when one proudly affirms, 'T have done this or that';
or it may be more subtle and innocent-seeming, as when one just is
conscious that 'T have slept today ... "'

On 7% May, Ranisaheb Shantadevi was deeply and perceptibly
moved when she had to take leave of Beloved Baba, to go to Europe.
Shortly afterward, she left Baba with tears in her eyes. The editor of
Mauli presented to Baba the issue containing a photo of Beloved Baba.

On the 9, the visit of Shri Kajrolkar, Member of Parliament and
Bombay corporator, became the occasion for Beloved Baba to
emphasise that simplicity and greatness always go together. -,

On the 10" a worker from the Aurobindo Society of Bombay sought
Beloved Baba's blessing. Baba said: "Blessings are easy to get because
all want them; love is tough, because most are encased in their own
walls of ignorance; and grace is extremely rare because few have
prepared themselves for receiving it."

On the 11" Baba paid a visit to the home of Maisaheb of
Kurundwad where He was received by a specially composed poem of
Maisaheb for the orphanage and magazine. On the 12%, Father
Anthony sought directives for his orphanage, and Baba told him: "The
work of looking after the abandoned orphans which you have
undertaken is God's work. The cross of Christ is an emblem of
abandonment, and Christ was abandoned even by His own disciples.
To serve the abandoned ones is to serve Christ. I am the Christ. This
little girl, Gouri, though an abandoned orphan, looks like a princess
because she is so decently clothed and looked after by Mrs. Raste.
Service of such forlorn ones is service of God."

On the 13%, Baba asked Sanjeevani Deshmukh to read Stay with
God and understand the deep explanations of the Original Sound, so
that she might explain these things to others. At 3:00 P.M. Baba
Himself went to Saraswati Vidyalaya, where two hundred lovers from
Hamirpur had arrived for the pleasure of meeting the Beloved.

On May 14" in the morning, P.N. Limkar, the headmaster from
Sholapur, read out an English poem that he had composed, "Jai Meher":
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Oh! The Highest of the High!

Why did You leave the sky?

You came from the Beyond-Beyond stage

To purify the mortals of this age!

Loving Love, You living Love!

Love You impart that makes us love!

Love God and be a god! Love for God and die for God!
Baba Meher, You travel from spaceless Space!
Magnanimous Magnet!

None but Baba is great!

Gate of Godhood! Godhood incarnate!

Discourses You gave that surpassed all courses!

All philosophers, poets, playwriters stop their forces!
Your Force of course none can imagine.

Such a Poet-Philosopher who can imagine?

Baba made me mad. Such gladness lies in this Madness.

So glad in being mad. The mighty madness alone can impart
supreme, sublime gladness.

The dust of the feet of Meher forgets all and holds Thy daaman;
Let it not slip, and pray your grip, and let me have a sip,

And no slip between the cup and the lip.

The Hamirpur group accompanying Keshav Nigam was interspersed
with Andhra lovers. Sunday the 15" was a mahadarshan day when
local lovers and those from Bombay were permitted to come. At 7:00
P.M., Dr. V.M. Nawale (Shri Ananda Swami) of many sensational
types of research got Captain Rajgopal to inaugurate
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the Avatar Meher Baba Vachanalaya (Reading Room) in his hall at
Deena Bandhu Press, Rasta Peth, Poona, and the present narrator
addressed the audience about Baba's mission.

The son of Babu Ramprasad was recently married; and on the 16%,
this became the occasion for sumptuous donations to Nauranga Meher
Mandir and Hamirpur Meher Centre from parties directly interested in
the couple's well-being. Beloved Baba does not accept anything for
Himself; however, He commented, "After I drop My body, My lovers
will become immortal because of their love for Me." He also added, "I
will be in seclusion from 1% July to the end of December 1960. I will
entertain no correspondence during this period. Circumstances will
arise that will make it difficult for you to hold on to My daaman, but
you should stick firmly all the same."

On 17" May, some Andhra lovers took Beloved Baba's leave by
embracing Him, after receiving sumptuous prasad that would make a
full meal. On this occasion Shri Pandurang Shastri Goswami, the great
research director of Deccan College, wrote a letter in Sanskrit to be
delivered to a Sanskrit scholar in Andhra.

"Self-offering to Shri Hari; I have had the darshan of Shri Baba of
great glory; before that, only His name had come to my ears. I had not
known anything of His life story or His literature. Even then, there
arose in my mind an undefined and inexpressible joy when I came face
to face with the most worshipful Baba of great ascendancy. The kind of
peace which, according to scriptures like Shri Shrimad Bhagavata, is
known to have enlivened the forms of Nara and Narayana,?! etc—
exactly that peace is experienced here.

The Lord is not separate from all, nor all separate from the Lord;
even so, Shri Baba of great ascendance is one with all things and is, in
essence, abiding joy. This i1s my firm faith. Baba is particularly
gracious to the Hamirpur group of lovers and gives on the occasion of
their departure to each one sumptuous prasad of shira and puri, enough
to make a meal on the long and strenuous journey ahead of them.

On the 18" May, beloved Baba gives a discourse mainly addressed
to Shri Pandurang Shastri Goswami: "It is the ego which separates us
from the Truth. This ego is utterly different from the Real Ego, to
which they refer when exclaiming, 'Aham Brahmaasmi.?? For lives, the
ego gets attached to false things and becomes very strong. It is tickled
very easily. If I say that someone is very intelligent, he feels very
happy and says, 'Baba, it is all your Grace."
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On the 23 May, the sculptor N.M. Dhondphale brought to
Guruprasad a statue of Beloved Baba ready for its finishing touches.
On the 24" Lud Dimpfl, who had been transferred from the United
States to Abadan, Iran, came to Guruprasad, and Beloved Baba showed
him the statue. In the afternoon, Beloved Baba paid a visit to
Siganporia, who had a severe toothache. Baba's morning discourse was:
"Through hypocrisy, man deceives himself, others, and God, at one
and the same time. Tukaram has even authorized the punishment of
those fake saints who are hypocritical. Hafiz, in one verse, even goes
further and wants them to be whipped. Love is much higher than the
intellect."

On the 26%, 27" and 28" May, Lud and Principal Niranjan Singh
accompanied Beloved Baba on His house visits to Thade, Rama-
krishnan, Bhavasar, Subramanyam, Soman, and Joshi families. The
local lovers received Him with warm affection, giving a treat to all
accompanying Baba, singing bhajans and artis, and having their
photographs taken with Baba. On the 28", Indumati Deshmukh sang
her newly composed Marathi arti.

On Sunday, the 29", darshan was given to families assembled in
Guruprasad after Baba paid house visits to Kamble and Sardar Raste.
Early in the morning a couple desiring to get engaged received
Beloved Baba's blessings; and in the afternoon, Chhagan gave Baba
lovers a feast in commemoration of the marriage of his daughter.

The 26™, 281, 30™ and 315 May were days of discourses by Beloved
Baba:

"In Persia, one aspirant lived without food and water for forty
days, in search of God-Realisation, but in vain. His Murshid gave
him grape wine which was two years old; he drank it and got
God-Realised instantaneously. The wine given by the Master is
Divine Love. You can never get ready-made Realisation. You
also have to do something for it: you have to become dust. If you
become dust, without any wants or claims, you get initiated into
the highest bliss, of which the greatest worldly joy is only the
seventh shadow.

The world is the imagination of the infinite. The imagination of
the infinite is itself boundless and therefore unending. Just as you
may for a while create the image of a ten-headed elephant, sustain
it for a while, and then dissolve it, so the Infinite in its
imagination goes on



132

creating, sustaining, and dissolving universes endlessly. Though
in itself space does not exist, once the mind gets ridden by the
imagination of space, it experiences space as endless, having
room for numberless suns and moons, known and unknown, in
the ever-expanding space; and yet the culmination of everything
is on our earth. There is in one sense no end to universes, and in a
sense, there is an end also, as when in sleep the entire panorama
dissolves itself, reappearing again as creation when consciousness
returns to waking.

Like space, time also is infinite. If we go back in the past or in the
future in imagination we get billions and trillions of years of past
and future, both becoming endless. Yet eternity lies in this
present moment, containing the past, the present, and the future
and revealing itself in a flash. Whenever anything was or will be
experienced as the pulsating real, it is experienced as in the Now.
Life has always been pulsating in the Now, and this present
moment is experienced in unbroken continuity; and is Eternity
itself. The present is not to be regarded as a broken fragment; it is
a part of Eternity, which can be experienced directly in the
immediate Now because it is there, just as it has been in every
moment of the past, and will be in every moment of the future.

If you get enticed with circles, lights, colours, tunes experienced
on the Path, much time is wasted; for, howsoever alluring they
might be, they are after all a passing show and not Reality. You
always have to analyse and find out the Truth. Therefore, the
safest path is that of love.

A man first gets into knee-deep waters of the ocean and then
advances further into the interior to get at the depths of the ocean.
But he can get the precious pearl on the floor of the ocean only if
he takes a courageous dive. Some keep enjoying the possession of
the pearl on the floor of the ocean, without caring to come to the
surface, while a few bring it to the surface for the benefit of
others. These become Qutubs, whose power is as boundless as the
Avatar's; but whereas the Qutub has limited function, the function
of the Avatar is limitless.

The ego is difficult to eradicate. Even on the path, it persists,
getting transferred to acts like loving the Master. The old habit
persists.
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The entrancing sounds and sights on the path are themselves a
superdream, disappearing into deep sleep. When, in Realisation,
you are conscious of infinity, then hell, heaven and all planes are
seen to be within yourself. That which is to be seen is not to be
seen but felt like your own being; you are yourself the Way. It is
all so effortless and yet so very difficult to be just your own Self."

At Guruprasad, some darshan seekers were from the very highest ranks
of society, like Union Minister Jagjeewan Ram; Chaturbhuj Sharma,
President of the Provincial Congress of U.P; Thirumalrao; Yogi
Shudhananda; Members of Parliament like Amarsingh Saighal;
scholars like Principal Niranjan Singh; Professors like Jogendra Singh,
Gangasahai, and P. Wanchinathan; and editors like Abdul Kadir of
Paisa Akhabar, Hyderabad.

The 5™ June - mahadarshan day - started vigorously at 7:00 A.M.,
with the result that by 8:00 A.M. it was impossible for anyone to be
admitted into the presence of the Master excepting by standing
patiently for hours, in a long-drawn slowly moving queue. Rajas' and
Ranis', eminent lawyers, judges, statesmen, and sardars [leaders] took
their station in the queues along with the humblest and the lowliest in
order to get into the hall of Guruprasad, to catch Beloved Baba's
radiant smile or deeply significant glance, or get closer to Him and
touch His holy feet and receive His pat, embrace, or prasad.

Master Krishna rendered an exquisite bhajan as background to the
dynamic silence of the Lord of the Universe, holding the cosmopolitan
audience spellbound by his melody. Avatar Meher's gesture-words and
messages stirred the very depths of the soul, being signals releasing the
profound wisdom stored in His fathomless silence, the breaking of
which will no doubt be as unique as His silence!

On 9" and 10™ June, feasts were given to Beloved Baba by the
author of this narration and Shri Palival of Hamirpur. One air force
officer sought an interview with God. On the 9" June, in the morning,
Beloved Baba was received with enthusiasm and love at the Hindu
Women's Rescue Home Society of Poona, and after arti was performed,
Baba's message was read out to the many inmates and the management.

From the 10™ all darshans were stopped, though on the 12" Baba
graciously granted a sitting for His bust, prepared by N.M. Dhondphale,
the sculptor of Rastapeth, Poona, at the instance of the author of this
narration. Leaving Poona
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on the 20", Baba remained in seclusion at Meherazad from 1% July
1960 to 1% January 1961, allowing no correspondence or darshan to
anyone.

Family Letter 34 (April-May 1960) by Mani S. Irani
29 April 1960

Greetings to you from Guruprasad, which has reawakened to throbbing
life after its winter sleep of Baba's absence. Above the motley of
household sounds familiar in the pantry where I'm typing ... the strains
of a song in Hindi can be heard. Tracing it to the hall in the east wing
of the house where Baba sits with the mandali each day, I discover it is
one of the Baba lovers from the North who has come from over a
thousand miles to sit once again at Baba's feet, expressing his love in a
song he has composed for the Beloved.

The hours from 9 to 11 each morning are devoted to the devoted
ones coming from "outstations," i.e., from places other than Poona and
Bombay. And so, it is a daily familiar sight to see groups of men,
women, and children sitting by the gate, having arrived impatiently
early but happy to patiently wait for the signal to come in to Baba.
These Baba pilgrims wend their way from all parts and distances, their
focus being their beloved Guru at Guruprasad.

Now it is a batch from Calcutta (Bengal), about fifty strong
including toddlers and babes in arms; and a group from Jubbulpore
(Central India) and from Hamirpur in the North where Baba's name is a
perennial prayer in many a heart and home. It includes a bride and
groom to whom the reality of His darshan had been a cherished dream,
and who have used their hard-earned savings to come to Baba for the
honeymoon stay. Baba told us He was touched by the simplicity of
their hearts filled with His Love. He asked them how long they
intended to stay in Poona, and they replied simply, "As long as our last
penny lasts."

At times one can make a long journey without knowing the actual
goal one is destined for. This is what happened in the case of a pundit
of Badrinarayan Temple in the Himalayas, who came with his wife and
son to Bombay to obtain the best medical treatment for his boy who
has polio. Stopping at the dharamshala (inn) by the Poona station, he
met some Baba lovers from Hamirpur who were putting up at the inn
during their stay in Poona. Hearing Baba's Name, he felt drawn and
asked them who He was. "The Avatar of the Age," they told him.
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He wanted to hear more and more about Him and begged to
accompany them during "Guruprasad time" next morning.

When he took Baba's darshan, Baba said, "I am in everyone and in
everything. I am everywhere and everything. For years you have
worshipped Me in the Badrinarayan Temple - worshipping the image
of stone. Today you are blessed to have the opportunity of My darshan
in this physical form." The pundit seemed deeply touched and left with
Baba in his heart and a number of Baba books and photos in his trunk.
Incidentally, later while out in the crowded area of the city, his wad of
currency notes (his entire travelling store of money) was stolen by a
pickpocket, leaving him desperately stranded. Baba lovers helped him
through his embarrassing predicament, financially and otherwise.

The "locals" (i.e., those from Poona and Bombay) have their day too.
Every other Sunday, the majestic capacity of Guruprasad is tested and
found wanting in accommodating the thousands that file in to place
their heads on Baba's feet and receive His blessings of Love and prasad.
As usual the children were seldom deprived of this opportunity, and it
never failed to fascinate us to see a babe-in-arms placed at (or even on)
His feet for its share of the darshan - sometimes a mother placing the
baby on Baba's lap so she could untangle the skein in her garland of
fresh flowers to be placed around His neck and receive His embrace
unencumbered by her fair burden.

Baba, the universal Father, and Mother, seemed to enjoy thus
finding Himself baby-sitter of the moment, and His smile would pour
great tenderness on these tiny darshaners. Sunday the 17" was indeed a
full morning's program that went off surprisingly well despite the surge
of darshan seekers. As our dear Maharani (of Baroda), who sat
throughout the program with unflickering attention, summed it up, "It
was lovely and love-full." One of the happy newcomers of the morning
was Dr. Bodh, Zoroastrian high priest, whose interest in Baba
developed during his stay in the USA and who took this opportunity of
meeting Him. He left expressing his genuine desire to revisit Baba, and
Baba too seemed very happy to see him.

As usual at these strenuous occasions, Baba was looking beautifully
radiant. I don't think we will ever get used to the wonder of seeing Him
give so abundantly of Himself, whatever the state of His health,
whatever the consequent strain. But then of course He has come to
"give," and perhaps someday we will learn to take
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what He has come to give, instead of eternally asking of Him that
which we think we need and want - and which, sadly, He often gives
us until at long last we may be ready to receive the only thing that
matters, from the only One who can give.

The next D-day [Darshan Day] is on the 1% of May - it is also an
exceptional day for millions of Indians celebrating the birth of
Mabharashtra, a unilingual state the Maharashtrians have aspired and
struggled for through the years. The symbol and inspiration of this
achievement is Shivaji, the great Maratha warrior and leader of over
three centuries ago, whose birthday this year heralds the birth of the
state.

During our Poona stay this summer, there were also two other
important anniversaries, of special significance to us at Guruprasad:
The First Birthday of two baby Baba lovers at Bindra House, the home
of Eruch's deeply devoted family. The part best enjoyed by each
birthday-child was the sweet drink and savoury that they sucked from
the end of Baba's proffered finger, and Baba was hugely delighted at
their puckered-up faces when they felt the prick of His moustache on
their cheeks where He had implanted a firm Kkiss.

24 May 1960

The darshan yesterday was as great as the last such D-day, except that
despite its being a "working Sunday" (when offices, banks, etc., were
declared open half-day to "actively" inaugurate the birth of
Mabharashtra), the darshan attendance was bigger than ever. Baba sat
through till long after the announced closing hour so that all who
attended could have their turn.

Among today's visiting group was a fair number from Andhra,
including the Baba lover who has had a life-size statue of Baba made
in bronze, having inaugurated on 25" February the foundation of the
"temple" that will hold it. One of the party was a happy bearded little
fellow who always wears a pink coat and has his boys do the same
because it is Baba's favourite colour. Wedged firmly on his head is a
solar topee which he never seems to remove (was never seen without it
during his week's stay at Meherabad sahavas), the topee having once
been worn by Baba during a visit to Andhra.

One of his small sons, accompanying him to Poona, looks a
delightful replica of Daddy, with his pink bush-shirt and little solar
topee which his father had Baba bless with His touch during an earlier
visit. He (I mean the father), full of
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simple-hearted devotion and unconscious wit, contributed more than
once to the lighter moments of the morning and surpassed himself at a
conversation piece that had Baba and the entire assembly just about
doubled up with laughter. At the end of it, Baba remarked, "In five
minutes he has lessened the weight of My universal burden."

At times during these morning conclaves, when Baba is in the mood
for it, a trivial remark or incident will lead to a beautiful discourse
from Him. At other times, as at all times, His presence alone is all-
sufficing. To one of the groups around Him, hoping for a special word
from Baba regarding a personal matter concerning her peace of mind,
Baba said, "Shut the trap of your mind and end all your worries. Open
the trap of your heart and release Love."

This morning's schedule also included Baba's visit to the homes of
some of His Poona group, having to climb a flight of steep steps at one
of the places; and also to a hospital to visit the wife of one of them,
who was unable to be at her home to welcome Him.

Tomorrow afternoon there will be gawwali singing, which is the
type of singing Baba truly and most enjoys, being couplets of great
Sufi poets and lovers of God rendered in song. There have been other
musical afternoons too, when well-known artists have offered their
time and talents in loving homage to Baba, either in singing recital or
playing Indian instruments. Their reward? Apart from the privilege of
Baba enjoying their music, it is usually one of His used handkerchiefs
given with His own hands.

There is now also another newly-wed couple come to spend their
honeymoon in Poona after having Baba's darshan. They are from
Nagpur, and the boy's mother, on meeting us, said, "We can never
know how fortunate we are, for we can never know the extent of
Baba's love and compassion, which are truly infinite!"

Baba has said that he who takes His Name when breathing his last
comes to Him regardless of everything. And therefore one should keep
taking His Name at all times so that it comes naturally also at the last
moment. It is obviously natural to one young Baba lover of Poona who
recently emerged unscathed from what might have been a nasty
accident.

Riding home on his Lambretta from the aerodrome where he works,
he went over a pothole, which caused the sudden jamming of brakes,
and he found himself flung to the far side of the road with his machine
flung in the opposite direction.
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He cried out Baba's Name at the time; and when next afternoon he
recounted to Baba the incident of his miraculous escape, saying it was
He who had saved him, Baba said, "Do not attribute the miracle to Me;
the miracle was of My name."

Family Letter 35 (10" July 1960) by Mani S. Irani
Though Baba left Poona on the 20" of June for Meherazad, Mani, in
her family letter of 10" July describes Baba's stay in Poona:

"Drown all sound in My SILENCE to hearken MY WORD of
words." Baba gave this message in response to Baba lovers in Calcutta
asking for some words from Him for a little booklet they were printing
for the occasion of His Birthday. And what more appropriate than that
I should begin this day's letter with this same timeless message from
Baba, to mark the 35™ anniversary of His Silence.

I remember Baba once saying, years ago when someone asked Him
why He did not speak, that the question should have rather been, why
He did not remain silent, for in reality, He spoke continually - it was
just that we had not yet tuned our heart's ears to be able to hear Him.
Only when we still the ceaseless babbling of our mind can we hear
Him in the silence of our heart.

Just as one fully realises the extent of noise only after it has
suddenly stopped, the return to secluded Meherazad in the sudden
wake of the intensively active months in Poona made us more fully
realise the extent to which Baba had unsparingly given of Himself
during the stay in Guruprasad this summer. 5* June was the "meridian"
for the feasters of His darshan, when altogether (as the local newspaper
reported) over 10,000 people availed themselves of the opportunity -
including of course the usual sprinkling of those who had come out of
plain curiosity.

On that concluding Darshan Day, there were gathered at the feet of
the Beloved not less than 800 lovers of Baba from "outstations' alone
(i.e., apart from those in Poona and Bombay), having started from
different points on the Indian map, as well as some places outside of
India, to converge at the common goal of their journey of love. That
day, Guruprasad seemed just ready to burst at the seams.

Baba gave them His beloved company without stint, day after the
following day, throughout the morning and afternoons. He saw them
entrance, in groups, at
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times individually. He sat through the tiring programs, showering the
radiance of His Love on these His children whose prayer was that they
should have His grace to love Him as He should be loved. Among the
group of women from Hamirpur were many who sold their silver and
gold bracelets and other ornaments in order to make this journey
possible.

The lovers from Hamirpur, coming as they did in large numbers,
made accommodation for their stay in school buildings that were
vacant during the summer holidays; while many coming in equally
large numbers from Andhra travelled in special railway carriages they
had reserved for some days, and in which they camped during their
stay in Poona. As Eruch wrote in one of his letters, it was a sight to see
these carriages stabled at the Poona railway station, with boards of "Jai
Avatar Meher Baba" and pictures of Baba outside and inside the
carriages.

There were also more visits to the homes of His group in Poona, and
during some of these one of the Guruprasadians accompanying Baba
was a near and dear Baba lover from California, Lud Dimpfl, who was
permitted a four days' stay with Him en route (or rather off-route, to be
more correct) to Iran where he was transferred by his company. He was
immediately merged in Baba's sahavas - seeing Baba at work and in
relaxation, Baba with the multitude and with the intimate few, sharing
the different endearing facets reflected by Baba's mood of the moment.
In short, being just one of the mandali, except that he carried around an
"I must surely be dreaming" look on his happy face. Baba seemed just
as happy to have Lud with Him.

An equally lucky one was dear Irwin Luck - an American boy who
had never met Baba before, but who was compelled by the urge of his
love and longing to make the trip after obtaining permission. He did
not wish to return home, but in obedience to Baba's wish did so after a
few days with Him. The cable Irwin sent home to his dad after meeting
Baba said "Baba is all and more than what I said He was. Love to you
and Mom."

We had not ceased wondering how Baba's body kept up under the
infinite strain of those long busy days; though we know Baba could do
it, being BABA. This last remark makes me want to tell you about a
delightful incident that occurred one afternoon.

A devotee (who is also a tailor) came to one of the darshans and
very much wanted to make for Him a pink coat - which he did, and
sent to Baba. Baba tried
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it on and found it was much too big, to say the least - the sleeves were
down to His fingertips, shoulders halfway to the elbows, and the back
draping like a cape. Baba came out to show it to the Mandali with a
delighted smile and an "I can't believe it" look in His twinkling God-
eyes. Later I told Francis that perhaps it was as the tailor really saw
Baba - for I had heard of a number of people who at first sight had the
impression that Baba is much bigger than He is. I meant of course in
physique. However, Francis quipped, "But that's exactly it, Baba IS
much bigger than He is!"

I mustn't fail to mention Baba's two "Poor Programs" in June - on
the 19" in Poona while we were at Guruprasad, and on the 26" in
Ahmednagar after our return; and as we had witnessed the former, I
will try to describe it. At this Poona program, 160 poor people, both
men, and women, each received Rs. 5 from Baba's hand, after He had
placed His head on the feet of each one.

They had been selected in advance (from among the poor working
class) by Baba's men and given an admittance card that he or she had
to present before being allowed to approach Baba for a tangible
blessing of money and the intangible blessing of Love. Baba sat in a
chair at an old table, with improvised steps that served as a "platform."
Each one climbed onto this and stood before Baba for Him to bow
down, while the recipient was strictly instructed not to express thanks
or reverence by word or gesture. To have seen Baba place His forehead
on these unshod, dusty (and often gnarled and horny) pairs of feet is
not only a profoundly moving emotion of the moment but a never-to-
be-forgotten experience.

And in conclusion, I must not fail to include some of Baba's
messages given during this stay at Guruprasad.

When a Zoroastrian child is still under twelve or so, he is confirmed
(as 1s similarly done in the Christian religion). This ceremony is called
navjote and is performed by the priest, who puts on the child the
traditional white garment called sadra and affixes the sacred thread
called kasti round its waist.

As the ardent wish of the parents, the three adorable and adoring
young sons of Jimmy and Roda Mistry, devoted Baba lovers of
Bombay, were "confirmed" in Baba's love, simply by Baba giving
them with His own hands the sadra and kasti for them to wear. This
was done on the morning of 16" May, in the hall of Guruprasad
thronged with Baba groups from Poona and Bombay, after which
Eruch read out the message of the day given by Baba for the occasion:
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"May Ahuramazd, Zoroaster, Meher Baba, free you from the
superficial binding of Shariyat (rites and rituals) and help you to
lead a life of Good Thoughts, Good Words, and Good Deeds, and
bestow on you the grace of loving Baba. I have given you this
emblem of superficial binding to make you free from this binding,
and give you the real binding of Love."

The following was Baba's message given on His visit to the Hindu
Women's Rescue Home, at the invitation of the head of the Society, in
Poona:

"Love and understanding never condemn, but seek to help and
encourage. Men and women have departed from the custom and
laws of Truth and goodness, but God never condemns us or turns
us from His door; so we should not condemn even those who
condemn us. I bless you to try to understand and love those who
are trying to help you to take your place in God's Work through
serving His humanity."

To Father Anthony, principal of St. Catherine of Siena School in
Bombay, who has dedicated his service to the cause of destitute and
abandoned children, Baba said:

"By serving the abandoned, you are serving Jesus the Christ
because He too was abandoned by all, even by His own apostles.
The emblem of abandonment is the Cross. Hence, to serve the
abandoned is to serve the Christ-and I am He, undoubtedly."

As the Father beamingly expressed his intention of printing in his
magazine this spontaneously given message from Baba, Baba made
him repeat the message. This the Father did except for the last line-at
which Baba reminded him that he had left out the most significant part,
and Baba repeated, "I am He, undoubtedly."

Another message of the day, given by Baba on 6™ June, said:

"It 1s better to deny God than to defy God."

"Sometimes our weakness is considered as a strength and we take
delight in this borrowed greatness."

"To profess to be a lover of God, and then to be dishonest to God, to
the world and to himself, is unparalleled hypocrisy."
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"Difficulties give us the opportunity to prove our greatness by
overcoming them."

"A child's trust in its mother is complete, because it leaves all its
worries to her. She has to take care of it. So if we trust God and let
Him worry for us, we live contented and happy."

"When the leader of a nation puts complete trust in God, God makes
him the instrument to guide the nation rightly."

"We should think well of those who think ill of us."

*A copy of this entire message was given to Sanjeeva Reddy
(President of the All-India Congress Committee), who had come to see
Baba on that day and received His embrace of love.

Family Letter 36 (15" September 1960) by Mani S. Irani

Although, Baba left Poona on the 20" of June 1960 for Meherazad,
Mani, in her letter of 15" September, continued to describe His stay in
Poona:

... The silence of Seclusion will afford space for those tidbits that
couldn't manage to elbow their way into previous letters, and which
were tucked away in memory's attic for future use.

I'd like to begin with a discourse that Baba gave to a renowned
Indian film director who came for Baba's darshan at Guruprasad this
year, along with an equally well-known playwright. The man
expressed his love for spirituality and how it had always inspired him
in his work and aspirations. Baba said:

"You are convinced of God's existence. God exists; therefore, God is
to be sought, seen, realised. Do not search for God outside of you. God
can only be found within you, for His only abode is the heart. But you
have filled the abode with millions of strangers, and He cannot enter,
for God is shy of strangers. So unless you strip your abode of the
millions of strangers you have filled it with, you cannot find God.

"What are these strangers? They are your age-old desires - your
millions of wants. These are strangers to God, for incompleteness in
the form of wanting is fundamentally foreign to God who is All-
Sufficient and wanting in nothing - His omniscience and omnipotence
will not brook it. Honesty in your dealings will clean your heart of
strangers. So push the tenants out of your abode that is His, and you
will see Him, find Him and realize Him."
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The next item to be dusted and unwrapped from the treasure chest in
the attic is a couple of telegraphic messages from the Beloved. One
was sent to a Baba lover in Andhra who, undergoing an operation,
wired "condition serious." Baba replied:

"Nothing can ever be serious except lack of love for Me, and that
you have in abundance."

In reply to a telegram from the wife of a Baba lover in Calcutta
whose husband had septicaemia, saying that in the agony of his
physical pain he was abusing Baba for not relieving him of it, Baba
said:

"Abuse from My lovers is sweeter than praise from My hypocritical
admirers." Someone who wanted Baba's blessing for a job reminded
Him, "Baba, You say You are the Slave of Your lovers. Well, then,
You must give me Your blessings that I get this job." Baba smilingly
retorted, "I am not your Slave. I am the Slave of your LOVE.
Remember that."

We have an instance of this in a report received from Hamirpur .... It
speaks of the horrible experience of a Baba lover in that district, and
the call of her heart that the Beloved answered. "Baburam Vyas, a
schoolmaster and resident of the small village of Muskara (in North
India) is a Baba lover and worker. His 55-year-old mother, Jagranidevi,
also loves Baba devotedly. Early in the morning of 4® May (1960),
Jagranidevi went out to cut and fetch grass for her goats and cattle.
While returning with a massive bundle of it on her head, she
encountered a man of about 30, with a stout stick in his hand, who
approached her and asked her if she knew him. She replied, 'No, son, I
don't know you." Where upon he bent down and catching hold of her
ankles, yanked her off her feet.

The woman fell on her face and broke two of her teeth. She sat up
and berated him for his cowardly attack. He commanded her to remove
and give him the gold and silver ornaments from her person. She said
she would not give him one grain of her gold or silver from her person.
At which he caught her by the legs and dragged her towards a nullah
(dry river bed) a short distance away. Realising her life to be in danger,
she cried out, 'Baba! Beloved Baba! Meher Baba, save me! If my love
is sincere, and you are verily God Incarnate, save me!" The man
laughed, '"You cry in vain. There is no 'Baba' here, or anyone else to
help you. I shall kill you and remove your ornaments and leave you in
the nullah, and no one will know.'
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When they reached the nullah - she still shouting 'BABA' at the top
of her lungs and from the bottom of her heart - he raised his stick for
the onslaught when, at that exact moment, three cows, seemingly from
nowhere, appeared on the scene at a quick trot; and the russet-coloured
one, bellowing fiercely, rushed at the man and attacked him with her
horns, throwing him to the ground. He got up and defending himself,
lashed cruelly at the animal. Jagrani took this opportunity to rise and
run, but her assailant caught up with her and dragged her back to the
nullah. Again the cow charged at the man, and however much he
lashed out at it, the animal kept dodging and attacking with great
energy and fury, bellowing loudly all the while.

In the meantime, the two white cows stood on either side of the
nullah as guards, protecting the woman and helping their 'red'
companion by butting in at the right moment. The woman was by this
time too exhausted and frightened to do anything except keep repeating
Baba's name. The fight was at its height when a bullock cart was heard
rumbling towards them, on the path to the village. At this, the thug
gave up and fled for his life. Help was given promptly, and the people
of the village took Jagrani home, the three cows accompanying the
group for about two furlongs. Next day the villagers went in search of
the thug, helped in the right direction by the marks of his footprints; he
was finally caught and given into custody.

Baba has said that we should not attribute such miracles to Him; that
it is one's own love and faith that performs the miracle. Baba's
comment on hearing the above was, "God is omnipresent, and the one
who calls out sincerely to Him never fails to be heard and to receive
His help."

A STATUE OF BABA, BY MANI S. IRANI

Mani, in one of her letters, further writes:

During Meher Baba's stay at Guruprasad in Poona in 1960, a
number of His lovers from the district of Hamirpur, U.P.,
expressed a long-felt desire to have a life-size statue made of Him
during His lifetime and house it in a mandir built for it in the
village of Nauranga, so that His appearance should be preserved
in a permanent material for succeeding generations.
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Being the slave He is of the love of His lovers, Baba acceded to His
lovers' wish, but at the same time warned them against making His
statue a focus of empty ceremonial worship, and not to call the
building which housed it a mandir (temple) but a dham (house or
abode); reminding them of what He had often said regarding temples
and ceremonies, that the real House of God is the heart, and the real
worship is that service done in love to one's fellow-beings.

The dham was built, but the installation of the statue was deferred
until the Annual Mela [of 1961), Nov. 25-27, when Baba sent word to
them that over the entrance of the Meher Dham should be written in
large letters:

"I belong to no religion. My religion is love. Every heart is My
temple. Although it is in love that you have built this house of
stone, I am only in it when your heart brings Me here."

And inside the building should be written:

"Always remember that ceremonies cover Me, but pure worship
reveals Me."

He also sent two messages to be read out to all who gathered for the
occasion:

"On this particular Occasion, I will be among you as one of My
own lovers.

"All those who surrender themselves in love to Me will see and
adore and realize the Reality of My Form."

GURUPRASAD TIDBITS

Two postgraduate students from an ashram came to see Baba. In the
course of conversation with them, Baba observed:

"The only obstacle on the Path is the ego. Volumes have been
written on the nature of the ego. But book knowledge helps very
little, and by one's own efforts the ego remains insurmountable.

Whether you fast or feast, whether you become aggressive or
humble, the ego goes on nourishing itself. Even the natural
tendency of the ego, such
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as, "I see," "I sleep," create bindings. So night and day, in the
very act of expending old sanskaras, you create new sanskara and
get bound.

When you wear long hair or put on sadhu clothes, indirectly you
court respect. A false sense of advancement in spirituality is liable
to be created when you try to lead a life in some other ways than
that of the ordinary people. Others begin to look upon you with
respect, and you begin to accept homage submissively, outwardly
in the name of God; but deep within there is nothing but self-
gratification. As time passes by, the superiority complex is
nourished, and the ego craves for greater honours. This is a
dangerous pitfall!

In a God-Realised Master, the Real ego is established. He "sees"
himself in everyone and everything. The Master in his divinity is
so complete that he becomes the object of meditation and worship
for all. So he has the authority to accept homage. All his actions
are non-actions and hence are non-binding."

To become completely free from the sanskaric bindings, the
intercession of the Master is necessary. The awakening of love is
the remedy. Then one rare being gets released from all the
sanskaric bindings, through the grace of the Perfect Master."

Baba had asked a lecturer in a college to come on a certain date, which
he missed. He came to see Baba after a few weeks. Baba asked him if
he had read His books. The visitor replied, "Yes, Baba, they are really
a blessing to the whole world."

Baba said, "What about you? Had you read the books as they should
have been read, you would have left the work on hand to keep up the
appointment. It was for your good. My love is impersonal and
unconditional too. In spite of your failure to come, I love you."

The visitor asked, "Baba, are you coming to Poona next May?"

Baba said, "For Me, there is no tomorrow, and you talk about next
May!

Even so, I know what is to happen at any time in the seemingly
endless future, including next May! I live in the Present Moment,
which has Eternity within it. Time is not there. Past and future exist for

n

you.
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"Retaining the timelessness of the Present Moment, I am
simultaneously conscious of all planes, including annabhumika (gross
plane). From the gross plane today I say this much that I will leave
Poona on 20™ June for Meherazad and will stay there in seclusion for
six months beginning from 1 July 1960."

A small group of lovers permitted to visit Him was sitting in front of
Him. Baba asked one of His lovers, "Have you read Stay with God?"
The lover had an excuse of "no time." Baba said, "Is it really so? Are
you honest with your answer? Hypocrisy is the worst thing; in every
walk of life it consciously or unconsciously persists."

The lover put forth another excuse for "pending work." Baba
continued: "It is good to be frank and honest in all matters, whether
most ordinary or important. Let not hypocrisy persist, and try this with
every breath."

And there was one more excuse: "I have no interest in philosophy."
Baba said, "There is no philosophy in the book. A simple thing made
difficult is philosophy. The book contains food for the brain and a feast
for the heart."

Someone interrupted, saying: "Expounding of a certain principle is
philosophy." Baba said, "Statement of facts and philosophy are not the
same. Can you call the Gifta a philosophy?" The reply was, "It can be
called so!"

Baba continued, "Then there is My philosophy: I am in everything. I
am everything. To know Me as I am, you must lose your all in Me. |
am the Ancient One. Also remember well that this is not mere
philosophy but a statement of fact based on experience."

MEHER BABA GIVES ME A WHITE ROSE BY SHRI A. K. DAS,

BARRISTER AT LAW FROM CALCUTTA

When I had Avatar Meher Baba's darshan on 31 March 1960, Baba
gazed in silence upon a rose, a glistening white rose. He smiled and
gave me the rose. That rose is before my eyes even now. That smile is
before my eyes even now. That silence is before my eyes even now. I
ever think of the Silence of Peace. The rose is the symbol of the
Silence of Peace and Perfection. It is perfection which brings peace.
And peace brings mastery of one's self.

The rose is the expounder of the Law that all real growth is in
silence, and Meher Baba constantly reminds us that the awakening of
the soul is in silence. Its unfoldment is in silence. Its growth is in
silence. And silence unto silence is
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the destiny of things mortal. Can we avoid silence? And if we have to
be our own selves, then there is only one road for it; a second road
does not exist. It is to be silent, and any school we come across teaches
us to be silent. But it must begin with our own selves and be passed on
to others. All of us have to be schooled in that school of Silence.

But the problem is: Have we found that School?

A PERFECT KNOWER OF THE ESOTERIC PATHS

Mahamahopadhyaya Dr. Gopinath Kaviraj was in Poona in June 1960
and availed himself of the opportunity to meet Baba. He sent a friend
to Meher Baba to ascertain whether Baba would give him darshan.
That was a Sunday, and Kaviraj used to observe silence on Monday
and Thursday of each week. Meher Baba told the messenger that
Kaviraj could call on Him on Monday at 8:00 A.M. The messenger
explained that because Monday was Kaviraj's silence day, it would be
better if he could be allowed to see Meher Baba on Tuesday, but Baba
replied that He was continuously silent. So Kaviraj met Baba on
Monday, but no special talk could be held. Baba wanted Kaviraj to
meet Him again on the next day, Tuesday, to have a heart-to-heart talk.

When Kaviraj came the next day, Baba embraced him and kissed
him on his forehead. Baba took him to a separate room and bolted the
room from within. No one except Baba's interpreter was present. The
conversation went on for some time on topics like the future of the
world, His life's purpose (mission), and the duties of a man, on which
Baba gave His ideas and it became evident to Kaviraj that Meher Baba
was omniscient. Kaviraj wanted to know from Baba about himself and
Baba replied that He had nothing to say about Kaviraj except that
Kaviraj should continue to do whatever "sadhana [spiritual practice]
he was doing at midnight daily."

On hearing this from Baba, Kaviraj was wonderstruck as to how
Baba came to know of the sadhana that Kaviraj was observing every
midnight, as Kaviraj alone knew about it and no one else. Not only this,
but Baba gave Kaviraj some details about his esoteric venture which
confirmed his belief in Baba's knowing of one's inner self

When Kaviraj took his leave, Baba gave him a copy of God Speaks
with the two charts relating to the evolution of Creation and told him,
"I have an inner connection and association with you, which will dawn
upon you by and by."
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HOW | MET BABA BY IRWIN LUCK

The following spontaneous talk was tape-recorded on Irwin's return
from his trip to meet Baba, before the "deadline" of His seclusion, June
10, 1960.%

I left Miami with my brother Edward. We went to New York, and
from there we were to go on to Bombay to see Baba. We didn't tell our
father we were leaving because he would have been all excited. You
see, he doesn't quite understand the nature of Baba, so he would have
tried to put all sorts of obstacles in our way, and we wanted to leave
with as few problems as possible. My father began to wonder where
his two sons were, and finally called up the police in New York to help
him solve the problem he had created in his mind - "Where are my two
boys?" The police solved the problem by spotting us at Idlewild
Airport ready to leave for Paris. From Paris, we were to go on to
Bombay to see Baba.

Well, this was the only bad part of the entire trip, because my
brother wanted to see Baba very badly but wasn't able to. Being still a
minor, he needed his parents' consent (he had only two months to go
before turning twenty-one). You can't really blame my father, he
doesn't quite understand this thing, and what a person doesn't under-
stand, they try to fight. He made my brother stay back but gave his
consent for me to go.

Well, 1 wanted to go back to Miami and follow Baba's instructions
that we two come to Him together. But my brother very nobly said,
"Let's one of us get over there, and I'll follow you later." I told this to
Baba when I was in India, and Baba said that he, Edward, shouldn't
worry, and it was just as if Edward were right there, as far as any
spiritual benefit he could derive was concerned. So I cabled this to my
brother.

When I arrived in Bombay at 10:00 A.M., I was two hours early.

Finally, we had arrived in Poona. My hotel had already been taken
care of, and they told me Baba had given orders that I get a good
night's sleep and that I was to see Baba the next morning at 7:30. With
all the excitement, I didn't think I could sleep, but I did. The following
day I went up to see Him.

Ordinarily, I'm not the nervous kind, but as I went up to the door to
see Him, I started to get a little shaky. I peeked in and He spotted me,
called me in and embraced me. He's very affectionate with all His
people. The way He received me left an impression I won't forget. He
reminds me of someone with a puppy dog. He makes you feel very
good. It's that way with all the people there ... you don't realise it at the
time, but it's like one big family. Everyone is very close to one
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another, and that struck me because this is the way I always felt people
should be. Over there I saw it for the first time.

Baba told me that He wanted me to be there every morning at 7:30
and stay there all day with Him until 5:00 (except for lunch). This
continued for about eleven days, right up till the time I left. In fact, I
saw Baba only yesterday morning. He wants me to tell everyone that
He is sending His love to them. This is to Adele [Wolkin] and Filis
[Frederick] and the entire group.

There are so many things that happened that it's hard to pick them
out and express them. One of the unusual things about Baba is that
whenever I had an important question to ask Him, I never had to ask it
because before I did, He started to answer it. This is something He did
very often with me. It's not so much that I wanted to ask Him
theological questions, but Baba says He wants to give His love to
people and they have to be ready to receive it. Well, I felt this is the
important thing and I wanted to know how I could make myself able to
receive it. This is through His grace, as He so often says, and well, 1
just wanted Him to start giving a little grace, you know!

He explained everything to me, not so much in the way of words,
but in the way of feelings, because that is the real explanation. Nobody
has to tell you when you're feeling; just like when you're hearing, you
know that you're hearing. Well, it's the same thing with feelings - and
Baba is constantly giving. He has the kind of smile that's very
contagious. He smiles, and everybody in the place beams. If He stops
smiling, everybody is sort of let down. He gives His Love very much.

While I was there, He gave quite a few darshans. One Sunday He
gave darshan to ten thousand people, maybe more. They were waiting
in line all the way up to the gate. All the time He was giving darshan,
there was music being played; it was very melodic. I used to think that
Indian music didn't have any melody, but this was very beautiful and
had a sad quality. The music helped the people express their feelings
towards Baba when they came to Him and received His blessing. He
embraced each one at times, but at the end of the day there wasn't
enough time, and the people would just file past Him. He usually broke
His own rule with children and would embrace them or give them a
kiss. One time I was in tears watching the people pour out their
feelings to Him. It made me realise how fortunate I was to be sitting
next to His couch, especially when some of these
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people had to wait hours in the hot sun to see Him just for a few
seconds. I felt kind of guilty at times.

Another thing that impressed me was the children there with Him.
You never saw such obedience. Americans would be amazed if their
children obeyed them the way these children obey Baba. They obey
out of pure love, not because they are made to do anything; they'd do
anything for Baba. There are twins there whom I liked very much
[Baba's nephews Rustom and Sohrab], and I asked them if Baba gave
them any special instructions. They said, "Oh, yes. Baba gives us a
complete schedule from the time we get up in the morning until we go
to sleep." They also said that little boys like themselves (they are about
fourteen years old) shouldn't be running around late and getting into
trouble, that they should be home studying, and when Baba tells them
to do something, well, they just have to do it! I've never heard anything
like it from any other children. That's the way children obey Him. The
love and respect they have for Him is something you'd just have to see.

Not only the children but the grown-ups too! After all, grown-ups
are children too, only they're grown up! They too have great obedience.
They do whatever He says. If He says go jump off a cliff, they will do
it because they're not worried; they feel everything's still going to be all
right. You can understand by the way Baba treats them why they'll do
all this for Him. In fact, I can't say I'd be any different, now. You have
to get a personal contact with Him. I mean, He is the Avatar, there's no
question about it. I felt pretty sure before I met Him that He was. But I
felt I had to get my own contact with Him before I could really make
up my mind 100 percent.

No one manipulates people the way He does, like a child does his
dolls. He is absolutely the greatest psychologist you could ever find.
When you're with Him, you not only can see how He manipulates the
people but also how He manipulates the circumstances around them.
Situations will evolve around a person to bring to pass what He has
previously said He wants to happen. I've seen it evolve about myself
the same way. It's something with which I have direct experience.

This is something I think everyone would like to know. Baba says

that in December He is going to break His Silence. So, let's see. In fact,
He said He is definitely going to break His Silence.
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Afterwards, I spoke to Eruch and asked him what he thought, since
Baba has said before that He would break His Silence, and Eruch said,
"Let's just wait and see, time will tell." Personally, I think one reason
He doesn't break His Silence when He promises is because there is a
certain anticipation which He brings up in people which He uses for
His work. That's one thing I've noticed, He uses people's feelings. He
would create very happy moments, very sad moments, and you could
see in the meantime that He was half in another world. He would
manipulate His fingers as if reacting to things He was doing - just as a
person speaks and uses his hands, and isn't even aware of using his
hands. I have the same impression with Baba - that the way He uses
His fingers, and the facial expressions He gets sometimes, are reactions
to things that He is doing in dealing with the mind.

He'll bring about emotional times with people and use them. Even
with the twins. He has a little ball that He throws at them. It's unusual
to see a person work in such a manner, but when you begin to
understand Baba, you can grasp what's going on, even though you
don't know quite what it is. He would kid around with the twins and
say, "Who's the strongest?" And both would say, "I am!" Sometimes
He would have them help lift Him out of the chair, and He would pull
them down instead. Don't kid yourself, He's very strong! Then He'd
take the twins (they're both chubby and have kind of big stomachs),
turn them towards each other, and then while they were staring each
other in the eye, He would push them together, and they would bounce!
The twins got a big kick out of it.

Eruch was the most obedient person to Baba I ever met. He even
doesn't eat all day long until he gets home at night. He takes care of
much of Baba's correspondence as well as interpreting for Baba. All
the disciples say that no one interprets like Eruch.

This is an incident related to me by a devotee that happened about
two or three years ago. Another close follower of Baba's was promised
something by Baba which would occur on a certain date. About three
months before the date, the follower felt that something should be
happening to him. He began to get angry with Baba (mind you, he
loved Baba; it didn't have anything to do with his love). But he got
angry because he felt Baba wasn't keeping His promise. He started
blurting out to the other disciples and to whomever he came near, that
Baba was acting like a stinking father. It didn't take long before Baba
got wind of this. So Baba called him in and said, "Is something on your
mind, is something troubling
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you that you want to tell me?" The follower blurted out to Baba that He
was acting like a stinking father and that Baba was not keeping His
promise. He was really asking for it!

So Baba said, "Who's acting like the stinking one, the father or the
son? After all, the time had not come yet when what I promised you is
to take place, and you can't wait. After that time, if I don't fulfill the
promise, then you can complain." Of course, these are not the exact
words ... but Baba knocked him down a few pegs and made him realise
how wrong he was.

There are always interesting things going on around Baba, and
people are constantly coming for His darshan. Some stop by just out of
curiosity. Some don't even know who Baba is. Many who know who
He is come from all over India, travelling hundreds of miles. It just so
happened that at the time I was there some government officials were
having a big convention and quite a few came to Baba for His blessing
before they started the meeting. Then, too, there was a very famous
singer who came to Baba to sing for God. He was really terrific, and
Baba said afterwards that he really sang for Baba's love. The man
himself said that he felt that he'd never sung as well as he did that day.

You know, I consider myself a pretty good card player because I can
pick up card games quickly. But Baba plays a game which He must
have invented and which I just could not grasp. It looked like the
simplest game in the world ... because everyone just sat around in a
circle; Baba would give each player two or three cards, and everyone
would call out a certain name together. I was trying to figure out when
I should call it out ... everyone would tell me that I had to go in turn
after each game, but they never did it that way, and they'd call it out
together.

Sometimes [ would be sitting next to Baba, and I'd look up at Him
and say, "I just can't figure this game out!" He'd pat me on the head
and say with His expression, "It's O.K. whether you figure it out or
not." Sometimes Francis Brabazon would try to explain it to me, but
the way he explained it, I only got more confused! The game lasts only
a minute. The cards are given out, they call out the name, everyone
throws their cards on the floor, and somebody wins. Whoever loses
must rub his nose on the carpet! Every other person loses, so the
alternate people who've won watch all the others rub their noses on the
carpet! A very confusing game ... I'm still trying to figure it out!
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While 1 was there, we went to visit an orphanage because Baba
wanted to give His darshan to the orphans. They were all little girls.
First, the teachers and the principal bowed down to Baba, then the
orphans came by. Some embraced Baba, and some just walked past
Him. Maybe they had been told who He was, but since they were kind
of young, maybe they didn't understand. In the end, Baba said it was a
short visit and a sweet visit. I said to Him as we were driving away, "A
lot of ! good must come to these orphans when You're there."

He said, "A tremendous amount of good is being done to them." Of
course, there are all things that cannot be seen outwardly ... because
you can't see how He manipulates these little children's patterns. For
everyone follows a certain pattern. He just pulls strings in the right
places so that things turn out a little better for them.

He said one time, when the government officials were there for His
darshan, that it is better to deny God than to defy God. Sometimes
when people are told something like this, they are a little offended. But
not over there, because everything is said just at the right time. It
always has its element of truth that people recognise because of the
time that He'd say it. As somebody told me, there is a personal
message for everyone in every message He gives. The same thing may
be said seemingly to everyone, but it affects everybody differently.
And T know because I thought these little sayings were directed
personally at me ... and I say again, personally!

They told me afterwards that everyone gets that feeling. It's part of
the kind of person Baba is. When they say that He is the ultimate, these
are the little ways in which it comes out. He does things in a very
subtle manner. You think it's part of your everyday life. At the time, it's
so subtle that you don't even realise that something is being done and
that He's manipulating a person just through ordinary events. But put
them together, and you can see the pattern that emerges.

Sometimes, Baba makes special trips to the followers' homes, and I
went on two of these trips while I was there. All the people in the
neighbourhood would be crowded outside. Sometimes a photographer
would be there because the family wanted to have a picture taken with
Baba. He was always so gracious about everything and tried to make
everyone happy. As a matter of fact, that's what He says: "Be happy -
that will make Me happy." And He encouraged it. It isn't like.
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someone who says, be happy, and then does things to make you
unhappy. He does just the things that make people happy, and as a
result, they are so glad when in His presence. For example, the people
would crowd around and serve fruit. Baba would eat very little. He'd
eat just enough to be gracious.

While I was in Poona with Baba, someone told me that Baba takes
care of a person's material, spiritual, and psychological needs. I had a
firsthand experience of it because this is just the way He was taking
care of me. Everything material was taken care of from the first
moment I arrived at the airport. Someone met me at the airport. Hotel
reservations, transportation, everything was taken care of before I got
there (naturally I paid my own bill at the hotel); and I had instructions
from Baba as to what I was to do the whole day, every day. Every day
when I was through seeing Baba, Meherjee was instructed to take me
round to see Poona. I visited Eruch's home and Meherjee's home and
went on my first elephant ride with the twins. Meherjee even had a
photographer there to take pictures. I wanted to pay for them, but he
wouldn't let me because I was a guest. Actually, the word "guest"
never arose because I was made to feel like a member of the family.

My spiritual needs were taken care of by the fact that I saw Baba
and He gave me personal instructions. Of course, I wasn't the only one
He did this for; He does it for everyone that comes to Him and
everyone who lives there. It's just a wonder how He can do it for each
individual - how He can find the time. Not only does He do it for each
one that comes to Him, but He takes care of all the masses of people
who come, too. So when it's said that Baba is the ultimate, don't kid
yourself into not believing it, because there are so many things, so
many things; you just have to watch Him.

Many of the people that I was there with, I felt as if I'd known
before even from the very first day. I liked them very much, and I
didn't know why. Baba too. As I mentioned, at my very first meeting
with Baba, I was very nervous. But Baba has His ways of making a
person calm once more. So how did He do it with me? He appeared
more nervous than I! He was looking at me as if He were all nervous! 1
was thinking to myself, "I'm the one that's supposed to feel nervous,
not He! What's He got to be nervous about?" After a while, I began to
calm down, and He began to calm down, and everything was O.K.
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WHEN YOUR HEART TRULY YEARNS, BY FRENY R. DADACHANJI

In the early 1960s, Beloved Meher Baba used to spend the summers
(mid-March to June) at Guruprasad in Poona. It was at Guruprasad that,
in my case, Beloved Meher Baba's compassion allowed "the improb-
able to become possible."

Two blocks away from Guruprasad is Mobos hotel. During the early
'60s, when Baba used to give darshan, the Dadachanji and Mistry
families used to rent rooms at Mobos for the time Baba would be in
Poona. On some mornings Baba would go for a drive, or would visit
one of His lovers, and we used to stand at the gates of the hotel (which
were on the road itself) just in case Beloved Baba drove by. When He
did, in His love, He would stop the car and give us a smile or a hand to
kiss. After some days, Baba asked that we remain on the terrace of the
hotel and simply wave to Him as His car slowed down and then drove
on.

After this extra and special glimpse of the Beloved, we would
quickly get ready to go to Guruprasad to await Beloved Baba's return.
We would all stand to line the sides of the grand curved portico,
waiting for Baba's car to slowly roll in and stop at the wide flight of
stairs. Baba's door would open and one of the mandali or sometimes, a
strong Baba lover who was visiting, would put out his arm for Baba.
Baba would take the support and climb the few steps and then enter the
hall of Guruprasad, where He would seat Himself on the sofa. We
would gather around, enjoying Beloved Baba's sahavas. Sometimes
there would be a singing programme, but it made little difference to us;
we just used to gaze in adoration at Beloved Baba until He lovingly
dismissed us.

As the days went by, my heart started yearning, thinking, "How
wonderful it would be if I could, once, help Beloved Baba up the steps.
What joy it would be to touch Him!" My heart knew how improbable,
in fact impossible, this dream, this longing was! With so many
physically strong lovers around, and with Baba needing a really strong
support, how could I even be noticed?

One fine morning, as we lined up, Beloved Baba's car rolled in,
stopped, the door opened, and Baba looked straight at me and
beckoned. But I did not respond, thinking Baba wanted someone
standing behind me. In my wildest imagination, the thought did not
come that Baba was fulfilling my heart's desire. He beckoned again,
and this time I turned around to see whom Baba wanted. But I saw no
one and with a question on my face, I looked at Baba. The third time
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Baba beckoned, and I dared to mouth, "Baba, I?" He nodded, and I ran
down the steps thinking, "Baba wants to tell me something."

When Baba gestured, "Take Me up the steps," glorious joy filled my
heart. I extended my arm and tensed, knowing I must not falter in
taking His weight. Baba placed His lovely hand on my arm, and I
braced myself as Baba stepped out of the car. I took a step and to my
surprise, we seemed to glide up the steps light as a feather.

Throughout those precious moments, my experience and feeling
were, "How soft like a baby, a cotton puff, and the clouds, all rolled
into one is Beloved Baba!" Baba sat down on the sofa and gave my
arm a distinct "Thank you" squeeze. Baba's love - His caring and
giving - is beyond words. His silence is so eloquent: one hears Him
distinctly in one's heart. His so loving, tender, and knowing eyes
smiled at me, and I returned to sit with the other Baba lovers - in my
heart a glorious, treasured glow which even today burns brightly.

A YOUNG MAST BY S.L. LOKHANDE

Baba's letter came inviting us to Poona from 3™ to 13 June 1960. My
family and I arrived on 2" June. We went to Guruprasad on the 3™
morning. Each of us had a garland for Baba. When called inside, we
went and bowed on Baba's feet, garlanded Him, and then embraced
Him. My son, Chandra Shekar, was three feet away from Baba when
he suddenly threw away his garland, mumbled something, and, without
bowing to Baba, went and sat down at a distance. I felt very sorry
because he had come three or four times before and had garlanded
Baba. My family sat in front of Baba while I stood.

Baba asked me why he had behaved in this fashion. I replied, "I
don't know, Baba." Baba asked, "Does he do this at home?" I told Baba
that he does behave like a mad person at times, tears clothes, throws
utensils out of the house, hits people, and at times does not eat for three
to four days. If asked why he does not eat, he would reply, "Food is
expensive." At times he would eat all the food cooked in the house.
Sometimes he would become violent and would not let the family enter
the house. But on seeing me, he would quiet down.

Baba asked me, "For how many years have you had contact with
Me?" I replied, "Since 1953, Baba." Baba asked me why I had not told
Him before about the behaviour of my son. I replied, "I know You are
God and You know
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everything, so there is no need to tell You about him." That day was a
Thursday, and Baba asked me to remind Him about the boy on Sunday.

The next day we were going to Guruprasad in the morning. On the
way, when we passed by a florist my son on his own asked for a
garland. He kept it. When we reached Guruprasad, we stood in the
queue, but my son ran first and garlanded Baba. We were surprised at
his attitude. We bowed down and sat near Baba. Baba smiled at the
boy. On Sunday we came to Guruprasad, and after we had bowed
down to Baba, I reminded Baba about my son. Baba replied, "I have
already done on Friday what I had to do today." Baba then asked me to
do the following for my son: do not make him study; allow him to live
as he wants to; do not worry about him, as he is a mast; do not let him
mix with people, and do not let him go near gatherings.

In the afternoons, only I was called to Guruprasad. Baba took me
one day to see Bund Garden and then to Deccan College. We would
play Baba's famous game of cards in the afternoons. One day, in the
afternoon, Baba changed my position in the hall at Guruprasad, and we
began to play the game. There were two parties, one, Baba's party, and
I was in the other. I had an ace of trumps with me, but my party lost
because Baba took my trump card and replaced it with another. As
soon as we lost the game, Baba would clap and His party would hold
our ears; at the second clap they would make us rub our noses on the
floor; and on the third clap, our heads would be raised. I asked Baba
why He had taken my ace. Baba said, "I am the Lord of the Universe,
and so I must always win. This is a part of My universal work, of
which I make you a partner." Baba told those who rub their noses in
front of Him, "You are very fortunate."

A CHANCE TO SING FOR BABA BY T.R. SHAMBHULINGAM,
SECRETARY, AVATAR MEHER BABA BHOPAL CENTRE

A large crowd of Baba lovers had collected outside the gates of
Guruprasad and were shouting "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai." All were
anxious to see Baba. Just then, Baba came out from the side passage of
the porch of Guruprasad, wearing a white sadra and a pink coat. With
one arm on Eruch's shoulder and the other arm on Francis's, He walked
towards the gate of Guruprasad. Baba was repeatedly accepting the
greetings of "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai" from His lovers by raising His
hand. He walked up to the gate and then returned to the bungalow into
the darshan hall.
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Every particle of dust that had touched His feet was very fortunate.
After a short while, the gates were flung open. I ran and sat as close to
Baba as possible in the main hall. The hall was packed with His lovers.
Lovers from different Baba Centres began to regale Baba with their
melodious songs, bhajans, and ghazals.

I requested brother Eruch to permit the Bhopal Centre to sing a song.
Baba asked, "Who wants to sing?" I knelt before Baba and said that we
would like to sing. Eruch asked me, "Baba wants to know if your voice
i1s melodious." I replied, "Not so sweet, Baba." Baba turned down my
request to sing. Instead, another lover, from A.P, was called to sing. He
sang a Telugu song, but his voice was coarse and unappealing to the
ear. Yet Baba was very much pleased to hear the Telugu song and kept
beating his thigh in rhythm to the song. While the song was being sung,
Baba kept looking at me a number of times. I felt that I could sing far
better than the A.P. lover, as I knew some basic principles of singing
and had taken part in musical programmes of the All-India Radio.

I prayed to Baba silently to give me a chance to sing. As soon as the
A.P. lover finished his song, Baba asked Eruch for the Bhopal Centre
to sing a song. I sat in front of Baba with other Baba lovers from
Bhopal to sing a song. Baba was very much pleased and praised the
presentation repeatedly. Baba called us, embraced us, and touched our
cheeks with His hands very lovingly. In my life, I have realised that
there is no good or bad voice for Baba. Baba only hears the voice of
the heart.

On another occasion, Baba lovers were taking photographs of
Beloved Baba. We requested Baba to pose for a photo. Baba said,
"Instead of taking photographs, keep Me in your hearts." In spite of
saying this, He consented to pose for a photo.

MY STORY BY MERWAN DUBASH

I am the son of Adi and Roda Dubash of Karachi, Pakistan. When
Baba was informed about my birth in 1947, He sent a cable by return,
naming me Merwan.

In May and June 1960, I spent the first of my three long stays with
Baba. We were in Poona about five to six weeks and went to Baba
every day at Guruprasad. First, my mother and I went only in the
mornings and my father alone went back after lunch in the afternoons.

I was only thirteen and started to get bored after a week or so of this
and was agitating to go to Panchgani. At the right opportunity, my
parents asked Baba if it
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was OK for me to go to Panchgani. In His usual fashion, Baba asked,
"Why does he want to go? Doesn't he like it here?" And because Baba
asked, my parents, said that I was getting restless and a little bored.
Baba said, in that case, they should let me come with Adi (my father)
in the afternoons to Guruprasad. You notice He didn't say no to my
going to Panchgani. So I started going to Guruprasad with my dad in
the afternoons as well, thinking that I was now going to be doubly
bored. Of course, what I didn't know was that the afternoons were
more fun.

This was also the first time I met the twins, Rustom and Sohrab, and
Merwan Mistry. In the afternoons the four of us would amuse our-
selves before Baba came back from the women mandali. We must have
been making quite a racket doing this because Baba got word that we
were disturbing Pendu, who would take a nap every afternoon before
Baba returned to the men's side. Others told us to keep the noise down,
and I guess we didn't because one day Baba told us that we were
making too much noise and disturbing Pendu's sleep. Therefore,
between 12:00 and 2:00 all four of us were told to keep silence in
Guruprasad, which I did for the rest of my stay. Of course in the
afternoons Baba also played His famous card game of La Risque.
Initially, I did not play but picked up the cards and dealt them after
each game, and after a while Baba let me graduate to the player level.

In the afternoons we also had Aloba's famous tea. Also, very often
Baba would receive baskets of mangoes from His lovers as a gift, and
there were so many that he would regularly distribute them to us to eat.
Baba would sit on a stool on the side verandah or kitchen and give the
mangoes individually to each one. Then there were also the house
visits when Baba would visit lovers' houses in Poona at their invitation.
Obviously, He got quite a few invitations, and when Baba went on
these visits, He not only took the men mandali but took two or three
carloads of people with Him.

In typical fashion, Baba would make sure everyone got a chance to
go. He would take an interest in making the selections as to who was
going on which visit and in which car. House visits were great fun to
go on, and we tucked in heartily in the goodies that were laid out for
Baba. Baba Himself would only have a cup of tea and very little to eat,
but His entourage did justice to the rest! Of course, all this was great
fun for a boy of thirteen, and now that I was spending all day with
Baba, the desire to go to Panchgani was no longer there.



161

However, there were still, let's say, a few moments that were less
fun. For example, every Sunday Baba would allow the local people
from Poona and Bombay to have His darshan. Inevitably these lovers
would sing songs for Baba. Quite a few of them sang classical Indian
songs and played classical music, and not being a fan of Indian music, I
was not particularly enthralled. I would survive the morning session,
but halfway through the afternoon session, it would be a struggle to
stay awake! With hindsight, it is fascinating to note how Baba kept me
there. There was no coercion at all; He merely came down to my level
and kept me interested in activities around Him - truly a demonstration
of His humanness.

There is also a message in this story for youngsters, which is that if
you feel bored when you are at Meherazad or Meherabad, don't worry,
don't feel guilty or think that something is wrong; it happens to most
kids, but Baba eventually takes care of that.

In 1960 during this stay at Guruprasad, I experienced one of my
major incidents with Baba. We had started using rented bicycles for
transportation to Guruprasad every day. Each day we would cycle there
in the morning, back home for lunch, and then back to Guruprasad.
One morning as we entered Guruprasad I was told by someone that the
mandali ladies had noticed that I cycled very fast and I should slow
down, as Baba would not like it. I was warned but soon forgot about it.

One day in the afternoon on the way to Guruprasad after lunch, as
my father and I were bicycling through one of the crowded side streets
of Poona, a car appeared from nowhere at some speed with horn
blaring. In a hurry to move over to one side, I lost my presence of mind,
and instead of pulling over to the left (which is the side to drive on in
India) I pulled over to the right, across the path of the oncoming car.
Apparently, the car missed me by a whisker. After I had composed
myself, we cycled over to Guruprasad, parked our bikes, and noticed
that Baba was already in the side Mandali Hall.

As soon as we put our foot into the room, Baba looked over at my
father and asked, "How well does Merwan ride a bicycle?" Of course,
my dad just needed an excuse, and he quickly blurted out what had
happened that afternoon. Baba became quite serious (not angry), and
after my father's complaints had finished, He looked at me and said,
"Don't I have anything better to do than to keep My nazar on you?
From now on your bicycle riding stops." I was instructed by Baba
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that I should return the rented bike that evening and from then on was
not to ride a bicycle. Being only thirteen, 1 asked if this meant no
cycling when I went back to Karachi, and Baba said, "No cycling when
you are in India. You can cycle in Karachi." That was the end of this
incident with Baba.

However, we found out afterwards that for some days before the
incident Baba had regularly been asking Aloba, "How does Merwan
ride his bicycle?" Of course, Aloba was the one on gate duty, so he
used to see me riding into Guruprasad and told Baba that like most kids
of my age, I rode a little fast and showed off a bit. Apparently, Baba
asked this same question regularly for some days before the incident.

There is a sequel to this story. In 1962 I finished school and went to
university. The only convenient transportation to get me to university
and back was a bicycle. When I asked my parents to buy me one, they
hesitated. Even though Baba had said I could bicycle in Karachi, they
were reluctant to buy one for me without Baba's permission. So in
1963, when we were with Baba again in Guruprasad, at the opportune
time Baba was asked whether I could use a bicycle in Karachi to go
back and forth to university. Baba, after some discussion, said it was
OK for me to have a bicycle of my own in Karachi, but I was still not
to ride a bike in India. So even today, although I can ride a bicycle
anywhere in the world, and have one in Toronto, I do not ride one in
India.

GOLDEN OPPORTUNITY LOST BY MRS. PADMA DEEWAN

In 1960 my husband [Kanwar Sen Deewan] and I were in Bombay,
where my brother was producing a movie and had promised to show us
how shooting is done, but only after two days. Since we had two days,
on my mother's advice, we went to Poona for Meher Baba's darshan for
the first time. When we reached Guruprasad, Baba asked us, "Where
are you coming from?" I replied, "Dehra Dun, Baba." Baba replied,
"No, you are not coming directly from Dehra Dun but are touring
many cities before coming to Poona."

We were surprised that Baba knew this about us, but still, we did not
have faith in Baba. Baba then asked us to come the next day, but an
hour earlier so that we could have some talk with Him. We said yes to
Baba, but as soon as we came out of the bungalow, we said to each
other that we would return to Bombay the next day so that we could
see how a film is made.
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As we were talking about our return to Bombay, Baba sent a man
running towards us with this message: "Both of you go wherever you
want to go and don't come to see me tomorrow." The messenger also
told us that before going back to Bombay, we should meet a lady
named Mrs. Bahri, who had come from Dehra Dun and was now
staying in Poona. We knew Mrs. Bahri and so went to meet her. When
we talked to her, she started crying. She pitied us for planning to go to
Bombay when Baba Himself wanted to meet us the next morning. She
told us that we were unlucky and had missed a golden opportunity. She
told us that she had been waiting many days to meet Baba but had not
got the chance.

Before leaving Guruprasad, we had asked Baba if we could have our
photographs taken with Him. He had agreed and had said that He
would come out in the open and then we could take the photographs.
We had no i1dea what obedience to Baba means, and so we told Baba
that we would take photographs in the house and that He need not
come out in the garden. We took Baba's photos in Guruprasad against
His will, with the result that when the photos were developed, none of
the prints were clear.

"| AM THAT THIEF!" BY SHRI S. SURYANARAYANA

In May 1960, with forty to fifty Baba lovers from Calcutta, I left for
Poona for Baba's darshan. It was a Friday, and I used to observe
silence on Fridays. In our coach a Brahmin from Benares with his wife
and son, aged ten years, were also travelling. The boy's leg had been
operated on six months back, and he was going to Bombay for a
checkup. Since I talked to the others by gestures, the Brahmin thought
that I was dumb, but it was clarified to him that I was observing silence
on that day. I told him that we were going to Poona for Meher Baba's
darshan. The Brahmin may have felt that his son might be cured by
Meher Baba and so decided to come with us to Poona. From Kalyan,
we changed trains and went to Poona, where we put up in a choultry
[resthouse] opposite the railway station.

The next day we were at Guruprasad, where Baba was giving
darshan. It was not known to us that Baba had asked the Brahmin to
leave for Bombay in the afternoon. Instead, the Brahmin stayed in
Poona and went sightseeing there. At about 4:00 P.M. the Brahmin
went to a shoe shop and after trying on many shoes, he went to pay for
the pair he had chosen. To his horror, he found that he had
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been pickpocketed and had lost seven hundred rupees. He had no
money left and so walked back to the choultry. crying for help.

On inquiry, I learned that he had been pickpocketed and so gave him
ten rupees to enable him to send a telegram to his home for financial
help. The telegram was sent the next morning by him while his wife
and child accompanied us to Guruprasad. When he arrived at
Guruprasad, Baba asked him why he had not left Poona for Bombay
the day before in the afternoon as instructed. I told Baba what had
happened.

Thereupon, Baba said, "I am that thief." Baba asked Pendu to give
one hundred rupees to the Brahmin. Baba asked him whether he had
any change, to which the Brahmin replied in the negative. Baba asked
Pendu to give the Brahmin another ten rupees. I told the Brahmin,
"Baba has given this amount to you as a gift." Baba replied, "I am a
naked fakir. Tell him that Baba told one of His lovers to give this
money to him." The Brahmin asked Baba how he should return this
money, to which Baba said, "Tell him this is Baba's prasad."

Just then, the Maharani of Baroda came for darshan and gave Baba
a bottle of honey. Baba gave it to the Brahmin with the instructions
that he should give a spoonful of it to his son daily in the morning and
evening, repeating Baba's name. Baba also presented to the Brahmin a
framed photo of Himself and asked him to pray before it twice daily.
Baba then asked the Brahmin to return home.

CARAVAN OF LOVE FROM HAMIRPUR

On 13" May 1960, a caravan of about two hundred men, women, and
children from Hamirpur district reached Poona for Beloved Baba's
darshan. These two hundred had travelled in a 96-seat conveyance, and
when they reached the high school where they were to stay, Baba
arrived there with His mandali to greet them! During darshan, Baba
told the Hamirpur group that He was delighted with their love for Him
and with the way in which they did His work. He expressed great
happiness at the three nonstop japas and expressed even greater
happiness at the programme held at the home of Bhagwandas. Baba
assured them of His nazar and warned them to hold fast to His daaman.
On the afternoon of 17" May, the caravan of Hamirpur lovers left for
home.
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Keshav arranged for another caravan of one hundred and forty-eight
people and arrived with them at Poona on 3™ June, shouting, "Avatar
Meher Baba ki Jai!" This group took darshan at Guruprasad for four
days. During these darshan programmes, Baba had asked Keshav to
again recite for Him his Meher Chalisa, with which He closed the
programme.

A POEM FOR BABA BY CH. SUBBA RAO

The following verse was composed by Changanti Subba Rao and read
in Guruprasad on 4™ June 1960 by Beloved Baba's order.

Life presents a new aspect:
Renunciation - a new prospect
Baba keeps me always buoyant
Both in body and mind.

Reality in illusion

And illusion in Reality

Are envisaged by every Meher-lover
But despondency NEVER.

When I go out in the hot Sun

Baba's face 1s wet with sweat

When I enjoy a good dinner

Baba feels very happy.

When I lie down, Baba lies

From one cup we drink chaa

He never forsakes me;

His face Is not different from mine.

I bear only half my weight
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The other half Baba bears;
In His realms, I fly my kite
Half the burden He shares.

MEETING A SIXTH-PLANE MAST

During Baba's stay at Guruprasad in 1960, one day I arrived early in
the morning. Since I had gone before time, I stood at the gate talking to
the gatekeeper, Meherdas, also one of the mandali. He told me, "You
should have come yesterday, as Baba had taken us to see Nilkanth
Mast." I knew that he was on the sixth-plane, and for some time I did
feel sorry for not coming a day earlier. I had given lectures on God
Speaks and explained about the planes of consciousness but had never
seen a sixth-plane mast. When Meherdas told me about the mandali's
visit to see Nilkanthwala Mast a day prior to my arrival, I really felt
sorry that Baba had not called me a day earlier; otherwise, I would
have seen a man on the sixth-plane.

Soon I was called inside Guruprasad to be with Baba. The joy of
being with Baba can never be expressed. As usual, Baba would be with
us till 11:00 A.M., after which He would go to the women's side for
lunch. He would return at about 1:00 P.M. In the meantime, I would
have lunch with the mandali and then have a short snooze in the side
room of Guruprasad till Baba returned.

That afternoon, Baba did not come to the mandali room as usual.
Instead, one of the mandali came running and woke me up, saying,
"Baba wants you in His car immediately." I ran to the portico to find
Eruch in the driver's seat, and Baba seated next to him. Baba gestured
to me to sit behind Him in the rear seat. Eruch started the car, and we
were soon on the road speeding away. I was so happy to be in the same
car as Baba, a privilege I got only sometimes.

Suddenly, Baba gestured to Eruch, who said to me, "Baba wants to
know where we are going." I replied, "I do not know." Baba then
gestured to Eruch to tell me where we were going. Eruch said, "We are
going to see Nilkanth Mast!" These words struck me like a thunderbolt.
I felt so sorry and repented very much for having wished to see a sixth-
plane mast when I had met Baba, God in human form, the Avatar.
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1 did not cry, but sitting behind Baba, 1 repented very much. As the
car drove towards its destination, my remorse grew. Why did I wish to
see a sixth-plane man when I had met God in human form? By the time
the car reached its destination, my repentance had reached such a peak
that I did not have the slightest wish to see Nilkanrh Mast.

We got down from the car, and Baidul immediately came near Baba.
Baba asked him to take me to see the mast on the sixth-plane. Baidul
took me to a room, and I entered alone. Lying on a low couch was a
stark-naked man with a beard. His eyes were open and staring towards
the ceiling of the room. There was not the slightest movement of his
eyeballs. He had no expression on his face. As a medical doctor, I
could tell only from his slow and shallow respiration that he was alive.
I kept gazing at him in wonderment. If Baba had not told me that
Nilkanth Mast was on the sixth-plane, I would have put him down as
one who had drunk a lot of alcohol.

I do not, know how much time I was with the mast, but when I heard
Baba clap, I knew it was a signal for me to come out of the room. I did
so, and Baba asked me, "Now, have you seen a sixth-plane mast?" 1
replied, "Yes, Baba." From that day, there has never been the slightest
wish in. my heart to see or meet a man on the planes or even a Sadguru,
for I know that Meher Baba is the Avatar; He is mine, and so I do not
have to run after masts, saints, or people on the planes.

LIFE CIRCULAR* NO. 47 (30" JUNE 1960)

This is to all of you who love Me and obey Me, and as well as to all
those who would do so. Most particularly, it is to all of you who have
replied in the affirmative (YES), stating your resolution to obey Me
and hold fast to My daaman under all circumstances, and irrespective
of whatever may or may not happen, to stick to Me to the very end.

I want all My lovers to take this period of My seclusion as most
important from all angles.

I want you to help Me by helping one another through practising
greater tolerance towards all, even towards those who cause you
provocation. I want you to do this through love and not through
compulsion.

* Meher Baba issued Life Circulars as information and instructions to His lovers from
time to time. This Circular is one of them.
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I want you to live in accord and to maintain cordial relations with all
especially during these six months of My Seclusion, which will test to
the utmost your forbearance, thus making you aware of the extent of
your love for Me.

I want you to know that I will definitely break My Silence; and I
want you to cling to My daaman till the very end, irrespective of
whether I speak or not. I am the Highest of the High and want you to
love Me, not for any spiritual or material gain, nor for the impending
breaking of My silence and my manifestation, but I want you to love
Me for myself as being God in human form.

I want you to remain undisturbed and unshaken by the force of life's
currents, for whatever the circumstances they too will be of My own
creation.

I want you to remain absorbed as much as possible in thinking of
Me during My Seclusion of six months when circumstances will be so
created during this period that they will try to drift you away from Me.
This is the reason why I have repeatedly stressed, while at Guruprasad,
that the time has come when I want you all to cling to My daaman with
both hands - in case the grip of one hand is lost, your other hand will
serve in good stead.

And lastly, I want you all to remember NOT to disturb Me in any
way during My seclusion, not even by writing to me to acknowledge
this or to reaffirm your love for Me.

My Love to you each.
Meher Baba
[Signed] Adi K. Irani
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THE BELOVED IN SECLUSION

Baba lovers the world over were planning to visit Baba at Guruprasad
during the summer months of 1961 - But, like a bolt from the blue, Adi
K. Irani's circular letter, dated 15" February 1961, brought their hopes
crashing down. The circular said:

Avatar Meher Baba will be in Poona for some months from about
the 15™ of March 1961.

Baba wants all His lovers to know and to bear in mind that none
should come to see Him for any purpose, much less for His
darshan or for private visits to Guruprasad, at any time during His
stay in Poona.

For reasons of His very strict seclusion and very bad health, Baba
expressly wants all His lovers to help keep Him absolutely
undisturbed throughout His stay in Poona, until Baba, on His own,
asks anyone to see Him for His work at Meherazad or Poona.

In short, please note that the Beloved will continue to remain in
strict seclusion irrespective of where He may be residing at
Meherazad-Ahrnednagar or at Poona or at any other place.

FAMILY LETTER 39 (9" MARCH 1961) BY MANI S. IRANI

... However, our happiness will be solely for Baba, as it cannot include
that of the hundreds eagerly waiting to be able to see Baba again at
Guruprasad, the thousands hoping or expecting to have His darshan
this summer. But the Beloved
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is genuinely compassionate, and gives His lovers an opportunity to
express their love which is not in seeking to have His darshan but in
seeking to do His Will. To give us His darshan is the expression of His
Love, to be happily resigned to His Will is the expression of our love;
and blessed are we that He helps us by showing us how we may give
shape to our love through unquestioning obedience.

And so it seems that the "complete" seclusion that Baba has been
wanting for His work is at last in view. But the restrictions He has
imposed on His lovers is infinitesimal compared to the suffering
imposed on Himself. Despite the best care and medical treatment, the
pace of improvement in His health is that of the proverbial snail, and it
is only on looking back that we realise progress has been made. To see
that He takes sufficient nourishment to help Him rapidly regain
strength is one of the stiffest jobs of those around Him, for He has
always been a lamentably light eater.

FAMILY LETTER 40 (APRIL-MAY 1961) BY MANI S. IRANI
30™ April 1961

This April hello is sent to you softly from the silence of His seclusion
that has been carried over from Meherazad to Poona with the care of a
fragile fragrance, and bottled in Guruprasad palace - a worthy
container, offered with so much love by our dear Rani. A few days
before our coming, the place was swarming with people - but these
were workers putting a rejuvenating coat of make up onto the stately
mansion, overhauling the lighting system, adding a practical item here
and an item there for the greater comfort of the Beloved's stay - and
above all we marvel at the intuition that prompted the Maharani to
make so timely an addition to its privacy by having a dainty trellis
girdle the entire verandah.

Happily, the drive from Meherazad to Poona on 21 morning was
considerably less trying and tiring than we had cause to expect; and as
we glided through the familiar gates, Guruprasad looked as if it were
all dressed up to go out but had planned a quiet evening at home. And
the month of April has indeed been a "quiet evening" at home, with no
ringing or knocking at the portals of Baba's Seclusion. In fact, all
concerned have helped most earnestly to preserve it, difficult though
this has been, particularly for those in Poona for whom Baba is so
tantalizingly near and yet so far out of reach. To give a little instance,
those Baba lovers whose
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work takes them along the road that runs past Guruprasad have either
abandoned the route altogether or risk a stiff neck as they cycle past
looking dead ahead in case a glance at Guruprasad tantamounts to
disturbing His Seclusion!

Nearly forty dates have been plucked from the calendar since our
arrival here, but in the absence of Poona's usual summer diet of
Darshan-feasts, it somehow has seemed a shorter time. However, this
April silence of activities is not like a fasting but is as though
Guruprasad is "chewing the cud" of past fills while ruminating on the
possibility of more to come, with the confidence of one who has had
experience of His Compassion.

Apart from His inner working that we are not afforded a peep into,
physically it has been for Baba a phase of "convalescence," each day
punctuated by a schedule of various "do's" and "musts" - like someone
that must sit down to his daily monotonous practising on the piano
scales. One note introduced in this routine has been some outings in the
car, sometimes with the mandali and sometimes with us - outings to
nowhere in particular. Another prominent item has been indoor games
as a contribution to His physical exercise, including an old favourite of
His: table tennis or ping-pong, as we call it. The tic-toc of the balls is a
familiar sound, and it is delightful to see Baba get His mandali partner
in a sweat trying to cope with His expert shots - this despite His below-
par health and restricted scope of movement! (Playing while perched
on a high stool, as standing any length of time is tiring due to old hip
injury).

Evenings we look forward to when we sit with Baba on the front
portion of the verandah from where one can see the road that is at just
the right distance and angle to the house so that it is entertaining
without being a nuisance.

And so the Seclusion continues in Guruprasad, and in the hearts of
His lovers wherein He is securely closeted while remaining physically
hidden from their gaze. But as Baba once said, He is eternally in
Seclusion, for His True Divine Self remains hidden from us. At
someone asking why He did not reveal Himself, Baba said: "It is so
easy for Me to do that. It is the concealing that is difficult." He then
gave a delightful simile of wind in the stomach, saying, "How easy it is
to release it! It is holding it in until the right time that is not only
difficult and uncomfortable but can be painful.”
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14" May 1961

Having bound His lovers with the invisible cord of His wish that He
might be left completely undisturbed, the first week of May found
Baba in the mood to decide to open the door of His Seclusion just the
merest slit to allow a glimpse of Himself again. The one to be chosen
for the privilege of paving the way by being the first to enter was none
other than our lovely "hostess," the Rani. Next in line to enter this
kingdom of heaven were the children of God. Wishing to begin in a
"little" way, Baba had us arrange to have only the "little ones" come
visiting — i.e., the children of Baba lovers in Poona. Once this idea
began to be put into shape, it became increasingly obvious that the
children would amount to more than the trickle of a few dozens that we
had at first imagined, and indeed the final number swelled to a wave of
over 300 that threatened to rush open the door and submerge the
Seclusion!

It was a lovely program, and above all, it was a unique one when
Baba was surrounded by His little ones ranging in age from 1 month to
12 years. And to them went the thanks of a hundred mothers or aunts
that were allowed to accompany their charges. The Twins (Baba's
nephews), who are about 15 years old, made themselves indisputably
eligible for the visit by one of them dressing up as a babe-in-arms and
the other as a mother dressed up in sari carrying the hefty hollering
infant into Baba's presence amidst a burst of delight from the assembly!
It was good to see Baba shaking with His warm, silent laughter as of
yore.

To each child, Baba gave a prasad of sweets, and there was the kind
that was not only shaped like a whistle but sounded like one - and Baba
blew it for many a tot to show how it was done. No garlanding or
bowing down was allowed, but at the end of the program when some
300 young throats lustily shouted "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai!" it was
music to our hearts that sent up a prayer of thanks for the change in His
health and mood that brought about this Children's Day.

The sober silence of His Seclusion was drowned by the incessant
young chatter and noise. There was the boy who recited a Sanskrit
verse composed in praise of Baba's Silence; there was two-year-old
Mehera, who adores Him and insisted that Baba should give her the
sweet that one of the mandali had in his hand; and there was Baba's
first grand niece, of a few months old, who played on His lap for the
first time. Behind the scenes, there was the toddler who cried for a
biscuit, and
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when given a little cake hollered all the more because it wasn't a
biscuit. But when one of us told him that the biscuit had turned into a
cake because he was in Baba's home, his crying stopped like magic,
and he couldn't take his awed gaze off the cake for a long time. And
then there was the little girl that kept pulling at her mother's skirt and
pointing at Baba with an ecstatic look, saying "Ba-ba! Ba-ba!"

After each had approached Baba for the individual caress and a
sweet, they trooped down the steps with Him and up again from the
front side of the verandah. Surrounded by this crowd of youngsters,
little of Baba could be seen - so that our Highest of the High looked the
Smallest of the small! The 7" of May was indeed the children's day,
with Him who is their Father in the truest sense of the word.

The children's day heralded the adults' visit, and all concerned were
notified of Baba's wish through a circular issued on 5" May that said:

"Avatar Meher Baba is happy with the way His lovers are doing
their best to help Him remain absolutely undisturbed in His strict
seclusion. He says that His seclusion will continue to remain as such
and He will want His loved ones also to continue to help Him remain
undisturbed whether He is in Seclusion in Poona or Ahmednagar or
elsewhere.

"Baba will be in Poona at Guruprasad bungalow, until the end of
July 1961. "In response to the silent yearning in His lovers' hearts to
see Him, Baba has lovingly agreed to allow them to visit Him once in
His Seclusion during TWO WEEKS ONLY from the 15" through 31°
May 1961, between 4:30 P.M. and 5:30 P.M. only, on any one day at
Guruprasad, providing each lover strictly abides by His following
wishes:

"Baba wishes the visitors to see Him only ONCE on any one day
during the specified fortnight, anytime between 4:30 and 5:30 in the
evening. Baba will NOT see anyone individually.

"Baba says He would not wish His lovers who live at very distant
places from Poona to undertake the long and strenuous journey
incurring the heavy expense to see Him only ONCE for such a
short time. Baba says that those unable to see Him this time
should not feel worried, for later on, He might give them a better
opportunity in His own way.

"Baba wants His lovers visiting Guruprasad to fully help keep His
seclusion undisturbed by:
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"NOT bringing any offering to Him; NOT seeking to garland Him;
NOT bowing down to Him; NOT seeking to have an interview
with Him; NOT seeking His advice on personal problems of
oneself or others; NOT putting questions to Him, spiritual or
otherwise, nor expecting any spiritual discourse; NOT seeking
permission to put up at Guruprasad, nor to repeat the visit.

"Baba says that by observing all these points His lovers will help
Him keep intact His Seclusion, and those deciding to visit must
come fully determined to please Baba by observing His wishes."

Lastly, it was made clear that this visit is only for those close in
Baba's love, and not for the general public.

Hence in significance and in fact, the seclusion will remain
unshaken and intact, with just the outer surface rippled by the
splash of a fortnight's program, beginning from tomorrow. And so
once again we have started moving the furniture around, just as
we did so often last year, to adjust the dining room and sitting
room which combined turns into a magnificent hall accom-
modating hundreds at His feet.

And we think of those hundreds who live for Baba but must do so
at great distances from Him physically. We know from letters
already received that a number of them, despite Baba's gentle
injunction, are planning to come for just that one hour. But many
cannot, either from lack of leave or money; and they will await
the next opportunity, with Baba keeping the vigil along with them
in their hearts. Once Baba had said to a devoted couple who were
dismayed that they could not see Him more frequently, that better
than their being with Him was His being with them; and that this
was always done by their remembering Him and taking His Name.
Baba said:

"I am in everybody's heart, but I am sleeping there. It is my old,
old habit. In order to awaken me, you should always call out to
me and say, "Baba-Baba-Baba ... " continuously. Then I, who
might be asleep in your heart, will not find any pleasure in
remaining asleep. Let alone sleep, I
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shall not find time even to doze! I shall slowly be awakened in
your heart by hearing your constant call - your taking My name
constantly. "Once I am awake in your heart, you too would awake
and remain awake for all time.

"Therefore repeat My name constantly and awaken Me in your
hearts so that you become awake for all time."

Very lovingly, [signed] Mani

PS. Although today is the 14™ it looks as though it is the 15" according
to Baba-time, as those who have already come to Poona for that ONE
glimpse are being sent for by Baba to come to Guruprasad this evening.
Howsoever overjoyed, they will perhaps not be surprised at this
surprise visit granted by their Compassionate One.

Family Letter 41 (11" July 1961) by Mani S. Irani

Seclusion Door Creaks Open:

"Unless you become as dust you cannot realize God. But first,
you have to become stone, for you cannot become dust right away.
What is needed is to retain human consciousness and become like
stone and then wear yourself to dust at the feet of the Perfect
Master."

Baba was saying this or rather Eruch was saying it as he read out
Baba's gestures. It was the evening of 14" May, and over a hundred of
His lovers were squatting before Baba, for the sound of the Seclusion
door creaking open had reached those already in Poona in readiness for
their visit next day. Among them was lucky Diana Snow, a Baba
worker from Australia who had been touring Europe and whose two-
day halt in India was timed by fate to coincide with the beginning of
the Fortnight Feast. However, the very first visitor was from the
heavenly regions, in the shape of a thunderstorm - and more than once
some remark from Baba or someone's reply to Baba's query was aptly
emphasised by a terrific crash of celestial cymbals, followed by a
deluge of rain rushing down as though the sky also had decided to open
its door on that day.
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Baba was not giving a discourse - He had made it quite clear that
during these "visit hours" there would be no discourses. But when He,
whose first Whim brought forth the Creation, got the mood or whim in
response to some comment or moment, we would receive from His
Silence some added feast of words. For instance, when Professor
Deshmukh chimed out his favourite little marching song of "Beat the
drums, beat the drums, sing Meher, sing Meher," it prompted Baba to
explain how one must be "empty" as the drum for divine music to
emerge. Baba said:

"Only when the heart is cleaned out, and the mind completely
emptied can they become instruments, hollow as the flute or drum, to
give forth divine music."

Beginning with the 14" of May and ending with the 31%, the
"fortnight" turned out to be more than fifteen days at both ends.
Similarly, the "one hour" by Baba-time was happily stretched to two
hours and more according to the Swiss clock in the corner to which
Baba would point as witness and reminder that it was long past time
for all to leave. Only lovers of Baba were entitled to be the "visitors,"
and whereas on the first day they could be surmised as numbering a
hundred, the number kept rapidly expanding like a gay balloon, so that
the last day's assembly consisted of no less than 3000! As they walked
past in an unending file to receive from Baba's hand a sweet as prasad,
Harry Kenmore was heard remarking to a neighbour, "They seem to be
coming out of the woodwork!" And indeed, as they poured in over the
window-sills and through the doors, it did seem so. But to rewind to
the beginning ....

On 15" evening, the aid of portable gas lamps was sought to replace
the crystal chandelier and wall lights, as an explosion at the electric
power-house had plunged the whole of Poona in darkness, for a
number of days and nights as it turned out. It made little difference to
the hundreds of Baba lovers assembled at His feet in Guruprasad, and
their faces reflected the light of His Love that reached out to them.
Nevertheless, it also meant that the ceiling fans kept working all day to
give Baba some relief from the summer's heat, stopped working.

But it may be true that whatever occurs turns out to be an answer to
somebody's prayer - and certainly the fan episode answered the longing
of some of the young Baba lovers to "do" something for Baba. They
promptly ranged themselves about Him and, fitted with palm-leaf fans,
kept wielding them with perhaps more vigour than rhythm, throughout
evenings and even mornings. As
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the electricity of Poona behaved temperamentally even after days of
black-out, this Baba-Boys brigade had more hours of the Beloved's
sahavas than any of their elders.

The time selected by Baba in which to set the precious fortnight was
a holiday season with schools closed for the summer. Attached to this
advantage was the disadvantage of travelling at that time, as Indian
trains are much too overcrowded any day and at such times overflow
with holiday seekers packed like sardines with the difference that they
have not the tinned sardines' incapacity to care for anything! However,
the "lucky fish" bound for Guruprasad were too happy to mind such
inconveniences. And, when I asked one woman of a group from the
North who had travelled by train for two days and a night along with
children ranging from one year upwards, she said, "It did not bother us,
we were kept so busy singing Baba bhajans."

There were quite a number of "new" ones too from different parts of
India but particularly from the state of Andhra, who had not seen Baba
before but who were "not new in Baba's Love," as the beaming group
head explained when Baba appeared to show surprise and concern at
their coming, and moreover from all this distance for just one hour.
Baba ended by saying with a smile, "I am happy you came; it was I
who drew you to Me." However, two new ones (of the dear Dadachanji
family) from Bombay who made their debut before the Lord of Love
were not even aware they came; but their proud mothers will tell them
as soon as they are old enough to know, how Baba held them on His
lap when they were not yet two weeks old! And how He repeatedly
reminded the mothers to wrap them well on the journey and to send
Him a telegram on reaching Bombay! Another baby receiving Baba's
special love and care was the first-born of the famous cricketer Nari
Contractor - a bonny boy of two months old whom the young father
nervously carried and beamingly place on Baba's lap.

Lovely Ann Conlon, a journalist from the USA, was a new one too
in not having met Baba, but her longing to see her beloved "Awakener"
was "old" enough to make her grab the first opportunity and plane on
reading the Family Letter. Another was Edward Luck, a boy from
Florida whose brother Irwin visited Baba last year, and they just made
it on the last hour of the last evening. Baba said to them, "Your love
will reward you some day."
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Among the "old" ones was Baba's faithful Fred Winterfeldt from
New York, and touching on his devoted wife's longing to be with Baba,
Baba said to Fred, "You are here with Me, but I am there with Ella."
Then there were the dear Goldneys - Francis and Olla - who had the
privilege of staying with Baba at Meherazad some years ago, and
whose halt in India on the way back from an international conference
in Japan could not have coincided more happily. But the biggest
surprise was Dr. Harry Kenmore from New York, who dropped in to
see his "Pop" at Gurnprasad one evening and walked towards Him
through the packed hall. Although he could not perceive the infinitely
tender expression on Baba's face as Baba embraced him, I am sure he
felt it. And whereas Baba had put the prasad into the hand of each
lover, He now unwrapped one and placed it in Harry's mouth.

I would like to add here that although the coming of so many from
distant parts of India was unexpected, the USA sequel to my report in
the Family Letter was quite unimagined - and I am sorry now that I did
not time it to reach all concerned more promptly. However, there are
still very many even in the East who were not able to be present
physically, and it seems apt to quote here what the Beloved once said
to the gathering:

"Your being with me is immaterial. It is My being with you that
matters. So keep Me with you always."

Because of the queue of NQO's attached to the visits, including NO
darshan, NO garlanding, NO discourse, part of the time Baba began to
allow those who wished, to express their love by singing to Him or by
performing a skit or anything that might be touching enough or
amusing enough. It all began with some of the Centre's little tots who
"with rings on their fingers and bells on their toes" sang and danced to
Baba on the first day, and their performance was so delightful He made
them repeat it on two more evenings.

Then came the opportunity for the grown-ups, so that apart from an
occasional gawwali singer regaling Baba and His assembly of lovers
with mystical songs, there were the amateurish efforts from some
among the Baba lovers who could sing, and some who seemed firmly
convinced that they could! As the evening mounted, more individuals
and groups mustered up ideas - a playlette, a verse in Baba's praise, a
piece of Indian classical dance by some of the girls who were eager to
perform before Baba, "just as Mira danced for Lord Krishna."
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Often the items were indeed good, but sometimes it was obvious
that sincerity and enthusiasm far exceeded talent. However, we gained
more from such moments, for they afforded us a further glimpse of
Baba's compassion and patience and spoke volumes of His silent Love
that sees through all matter into the heart.

The Hamirpur party, led by dear old Pukar, planned to make this
opportunity serve two purposes, and wrapped up in each form of their
entertainment was their petition to Baba to revisit their land. As Eruch
explained to the non-Hindi-speaking lovers at the end of the drama,
"They have made a life-size marble statue of Baba, and they want to
house it in Nauranga. It is to be the shrine of their united love, and they
want Baba's presence there. Therefore, through this drama, they are
praying, pleading, cajoling, arguing so that Baba visits Hamirpur
district." This lighted up many faces, and there were hopeful murmurs:
would Baba visit Nagpur en route? - and of course Calcutta? - and
what about the state of Andhra, where a life-size statue of Baba in
bronze is all ready to be installed in a house being built for it?

Bab~ seemed to look most concerned and puzzled, and then said
with a smile, "It is such a big problem for Me to visit all these places
where I already am! If I were not present there, I would surely pay the
visit!" Then Eruch turned to Pukar and quipped: "So it would seem that
first you must oust Him from your district for Him to pay that visit to
Nauranga!" Before the laughter could die down, someone remarked,
"Then why shouldn't BABA go everywhere to see BABA?" And the
Beloved said, "That is a wonderful idea, but how can I pay a visit to
myself when I am never absent?"

The performance that stole our hearts was a drama the bhajan party
of Poona Centre got together, a drama depicting seven Avatars -
Zoroaster, Ram, Krishna, Buddha, Christ, Mohammed, Meher Baba -
and the predominant expression of their message to humanity. The
actors were young Baba lovers, boys, and girls from five to fifteen
years old, and if the insufficient rehearsing time caused some faux pas
in their appearance or acting, it added all the more colour. Undoubtedly
it was the first show of its kind performed anywhere at any time, for its
unique audience and spectator was the self same.

One depicted in all seven Avatars. Baba's twin nephews walked in
on the final scene as Baba and Eruch, Baba leaning on Eruch's arm -
and seeing the Twins go through the familiar scene of "Baba" giving
darshan and prasad, while
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BABA was right before them, brought forth an uproar of delighted
clapping and laughter from the onlookers. As for Baba, seeing Himself
thus before Him, [He] laughed so deeply He had to wipe the tears from
His eyes! And at the end when "Baba" gestured (and "Eruch" relayed
over the mike in five languages), " Am The Ancient One," there rang
out a chain of "Avatar Meher Baba ki Jai" from the spectators that
shook Guruprasad to its gilded ceiling.

After one qawwali programme, Baba explained the meaning of a
song: "My glory is from here. to there, which has no end, and each one
can perceive My glory to one's own capacity. So let Me see to what
extent you can see My glory!"

Baba then added: "Ocean contains everything - water, dirt, nectar;
and everything dissolves in the ocean. Nobody is debarred from
coming to me and helping himself to the endless expanse of Love, but
how much of the Ocean you can take with you depends on the
receptacle you bring. If it is a cup, you can only take a cupful; if a pail,
only a pailful. But once in a long while comes the true hero, the giant
in Love that can gulp the Ocean Itself!"

The 1% of June found Guruprasad like the Arab that has folded up
his tent - and with the veil of Seclusion pulled once more over His
Face, the infinite Beloved seemed, what He had at times declared,
infinitely tired. Consequently, we found setbacks showing more often
in the pace of improvement of His health. However, the threads of
routine were gradually picked up and woven into the pre-fortnight
pattern, and Baba's short car-outings with the mandali resumed, while
half an hour of gawwali music on the gramophone has become a happy
addition. Although no more stiff-necks were risked by Baba lovers
going past Guruprasad, all lovers joined willing hands to continue to
preserve the Seclusion wholeheartedly respecting His wish of "no
visits," and other instructions,

But nobody had told the elephant of Peshwa Park about it! To the
musical clang of a big bell around her neck, Mrs. Jumbo gives rides to
children (and grown-ups) around the park - which is a combination of
garden, zoo, and picnic grounds. Her mahout knows Baba and makes
her salute Him whenever He has been there. One recent morning, when
Baba drove to Peshwa Park with the mandali, the elephant ambled
forward to deliver her salute, and (quite contrary to the Seclusion rules)
received from Baba the prasad of a whole loaf and a bunch of bananas,
and moreover she took His darshan by touching His toe with her trunk!
But I guess elephants can get away with anything, and at least this one
can be classed among the cats that are supposed to have all the luck.
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Ever lovingly, [signed] Mani

P.S. The above news, dated 11" July, could not be posted sooner,
because of the disaster that befell Poona on the next day, in
unprecedented floods that hit the business and residential heart of the
city! On the 12" nearly half of Poona was under six feet and more of
water (often covering the second stories of houses) as the swollen
Mutha River thoroughly washed away a dam 25 miles from here, and
made a 100-foot breach in the Khadakvasla Dam, which is the source
of Poona's water supply ....

None might have achieved a thing with such hairbreadth timing as
Jal inadvertently did when he took some film shots of the Beloved at
the Bund Gardens (which is nearby Guruprasad). On the 12" morning,
as some unexpected sun streamed through the heavy clouds, Baba was
persuaded to drive to the gardens, and Jal used up his remaining rolls
on scenes of Baba under the mango tree beneath which Babajan used
to often sit, and of the river, etc. A couple of hours later the railing
against which Baba had stood, watching the river flowing below, was
utterly submerged; and there were boats on the spot where Baba had
stood under Babajan's tree in the garden many feet above the river! ...

FAMILY LETTER 42 (14" SEPTEMBER 1961) BY MANI S. IRANI

... When we left Guruprasad on 7 [August] morning, Baba once again
halted at the Bund Gardens to allow a farewell glimpse to the hundreds
thronged by the river since dawn awaiting His coming. Seated once
again underneath the shady tree (beneath which Babajan used to sit
when she visited the garden), the beloved Saki dispensed to each His
love-filled smile and presence that they drank with their tears. He
permitted them to sing the Arri; and when He got into the car, each
went by and kissed His hand. A cool, soft morning for a tryst with God
underneath a mango tree, and one can hear Hafiz saying: "Love knows
no difference between monastery and drinking-booth, for the light of
the Friend's face irradiates all!"

A RUSE TO REMEMBER HIM BY M. R. DHAKEPHALKAR

Once I met with Baba when I was on my way to Mahabaleshwar. He
cautioned me about the cold climate there. "Take with you woolen
clothing and a blanket," I assured Baba that I would take care of my
health and pass a happy time there.
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"Can you do one thing for Me? I like Mahabaleshwar jambul (fruit)
very much. Send Me one kilo of jambul every day," said Baba. "With
pleasure, Baba; I shall do it quite willingly," I promised.

I went to Mahabaleshwar, and the next morning immediately after I
woke up, I rushed to the market in search of the fruit. I purchased a
kilo and packed it to send to Baba at Guruprasad. I returned to the bus
stop to find out someone who would take the parcel to Guruprasad. I
could somehow spot out a conductor who knew Baba, and he willingly
undertook that job. I gave him some money to meet the incidental
expenses. It took me four hours to go through all this, and every day I
had to spend so much time at Mahabaleshwar for Baba's jambul.

I think Baba never liked jambul; They were actually distributed
among His disciples the moment the parcel reached Guruprasad. It was
quite obvious that He employed the jambul as a ruse that I might
remember Him during my stay at Mahableshwar, and in truth, this had
occurred to me even then.

Letter to the West2* Mehera J. Irani
Guruprasad, 8" June 1961

Dear Ella Winterfeldt and all dear Baba gopies,

I am writing this letter while the news is still fresh. You must have
all received firsthand news of the darshan from dear Ann [Conlon] and
Fred [Winterfeldt], Harry [Kenmore] and the Luck brothers [Irwin and
Edward]. We were pleased to meet Ann, who was seeing Beloved for
the first time.

On the last day of darshan, the hall was cram-packed with Baba
lovers with others pressing from all the doorways and verandah
straining their necks to gaze at Beloved. He looked beautiful in His
white sadra as He radiated His Love to all around. The programme
ended befittingly by Harry saying the Parvardigar Prayer in a fine
resounding voice and then the Prayer of Repentance in a softer,
expressive tone. Baba then embraced and gave prasad to all present.

Though the circular emphasised that people should not come from
distant places, many came from Andhra, Hamirpur, Calcutta and Dehra
Dun, and of course, you who came from the USA.

One lover from Andhra, who had brought a new group with him,
was asked whether or not he had read the circular in which was
specified that only close lovers should come here. He had come this
distance not alone with just his wife
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but with all these new people. The lover replied that though they had
not seen Baba before, their love for Him was not new. He had brought
not them; they had insisted on coming. Beloved smiled at this answer.

One poor peasant woman told us how she was able to come from
Hamirpur. She lives near the temple Meher Mandir at Nauranga and
has taken upon herself to look after the place. She had been longing to
see Beloved but wondered how she could manage it, having to look
after a small son and not being able to leave her cattle unattended. Her
son, knowing of her desire, told her she should not worry at all but go
to Baba. He said he would look after the cattle, and Baba would look
after him. We were touched to hear of this, knowing how she must
have scraped and saved to have enough money for the train fare.

I would like to tell the story of the pretty daughter of the Rani of
Saharanpur who dearly loved Baba. She is married to the Sardar of
Patiala and has often come to see Baba in company with her mother
and aunt. This time she felt she should come to Baba in her own right
by her husband's side. Her in-laws were against this happening, as they
have a Guru of their own and wish their son to follow him. When Baba
came to hear of the girl's difficulty, He had a telegram sent to her,
telling her not to be unhappy if she was unable to come, as He (Baba)
would not be giving any private talks or interviews. This telegram
made her husband immediately decide on setting out for Poona to be in
time for the last two days of darshan. She told us that though her
husband had known of her desire to bring him to Baba, she had never
tried to persuade him into doing anything against his parents' wishes. It
was the telegram that had done the trick. She is so happy now that her
husband loves Baba.

The Baba lovers of Hamirpur petitioned Baba through poetry and
song and dance to come to Nauranga for the opening of the statue of
Himself in the Meher Mandir. In reply to their oft-repeated pleas, Baba
said this was doubtful His being Omnipresent. "If I were not there
already present, surely I would go there now." They said they believed
Him to be God, yet wished His physical presence there. "It has now
become a problem," Baba said, "that though I am there already, I am
still being told to go there! And as you know I am still in seclusion."”
They replied, Baba in seclusion gives darshan, surely He could as Baba
be in seclusion and at the same time come to Nauranga. Baba said, "As
Baba is Baba, Baba sees Baba from here in Nauranga."
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On further persuasion, Baba said if He agreed to come to Nauranga,
others would insist on His coming to their respective towns. "Yes,"
said Dr. Deshmukh. "You must come to Nagpur," others called out
"Calcutta,” "Delhi," "Andhra," etc. "There you are," Baba pointed out
to the voices, "I will agree to come to Nauranga and every other place
if Deshmukh alone bears all the expenses of Myself and a group of a
hundred coming with me." Many said they would help. "No,
Deshmukh alone must do it," knowing well Deshmukh would not be
able to do so. Everyone laughed and left it at that.

The children of the Poona Baba Centre did a very good tableau of
the Avatars of the ages under the direction of Madhusudan, its
producer.

Well, dear Gopies, the darshan is over, Baba gave so much of
Himself to anyone to take with them. He once explained that He is the
ocean and can only give that which you have the capacity of holding.
Some can only hold a handful, others perhaps a pailful - only very,
very rarely is there one who can receive the whole Ocean.

Beloved has felt much the strain of the darshan. He has often said in
the past, "I feel infinitely tired of being infinitely tired." We hope that
now during the remaining months He will relax in the pleasant
atmosphere of Guruprasad before we start our journey homeward
bound to Meherazad.

Beloved's Love to all His dear ones. My love to you each dear
gopies. Lovingly, Mehera

SAHAVAS IN SECLUSION: 15™-315 MAY 19617 BY BAL NATU

Beloved Baba was delighted with the way His lovers were doing their
very best to help Him remain entirely undisturbed in His strict
seclusion. Later, in summer 1961, Baba went to Poona from
Meherazad to stay in Guruprasad, and in response to the silent
yearning in His lovers' hearts to see Him, Baba lovingly agreed of His
own to allow His lovers to visit Him only once during the period of His
seclusion from 15 through 31 May 1961, between 4:30 P.M. and 5:30
P.M. This happy news was conveyed through a special circular letter.
Of course, there were some injunctions and instructions to be strictly
observed during that one hour. That was an unexpected gift from the
heavens to Baba lovers. They wished to have just a glimpse of Baba,
but they were offered one full hour! They happily decided to take long
overnight journeys by railways and buses.
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Last year I had stayed at Guruprasad with Beloved Baba for all the
six weeks of summer vacation, witnessing the incredible darshan days;
but even then I could not wish to forgo this chance of "one hour," and
that too in the first day. So I was at Guruprasad ten minutes prior to
4:30 P.M. on 15" May 1961. I found that a big group of Baba lovers
from Hamirpur and U.P. had already arrived on 14" May. Their love
for Baba is indeed unique.

Baba was sitting on a sofa in Guruprasad with that loving smile and
radiant face, so dear to Baba lovers. Eruch was by His side to interpret
His gestures. After the familiar inquiries about travel and health, Baba
said, "You have come here to see Me; I am here to see who dares to
'see’ Me." Baba here quoted one of His favourite couplets in Urdu
wherein a Perfect Master is addressing his devotees. The couplet is:

"The Master says, 'My glory is from here to there, which has no end.
Let Me see how far can My lovers perceive it [My glory]."

Baba quoted this couplet also on other days and further explained,
"Each one can perceive My glory according to his own capacity - little
or more. My glory is boundless. I am the shoreless ocean of Love,
unmindful of filth or nectar. Anybody can come to Me, but how much
love one can receive depends on the receptacle he brings." And the
receptacle that Baba hinted at was of the pure heart and emptied mind;
because on some other day He remarked: "Only when the heart is clean
and the mind completely empty can one be as hollow as the flute to
give forth Divine music."

Except the resident mandali, only the volunteers were permitted to
visit Guruprasad the next day. I wished to ask Ramakrishnan, the
secretary of the Avatar Meher Baba Poona Centre if I could be one; but
somehow I did not. On the next day at 4:30 P.M., I came and sat by the
gate of Guruprasad. I dared not go inside. Pukar and Dr. Deshmukh
were also there. All the visitors went inside the hall. We didn't. If 1
remember well, Dr. Deshmukh said to me, "It is good we are sitting
here outside the gate. Baba wants us to learn a lesson - to feel His
presence in His physical absence." Yes, I did learn a lesson, but it was
of a different kind. All three of us had an opportunity to stay with Baba
for months, but even then the possibility of one hour's sahavas served
as temptation. Baba's physical presence holds such an irresistible
appeal.
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When we were talking like this, someone brought a message that we
were wanted inside by Baba. Dr. Deshmukh was the first to pick up his
bag and umbrella, and we followed him. As the three "musketeers"
stood in the hall facing Baba's disarming smile, Baba enquired whether
our squatting outside was in conformity with the circular issued by Adi
Sr. I forgot what replies Dr. Deshmukh gave on our behalf, but the
result was, we were allowed to visit Guntprasad every day in the
afternoon. But somehow I felt a prick of consciousness somewhere in
my heart.

A day or two later there was some reference to the recent circular.
Baba looked at us and gestured, "It is better that three are pleased
instead of one." Those in the hall did not understand definitely what
Baba was referring to, but we did. However, I could not make out
whether Baba was joking or reprimanding me. It was because of the
self-created confusion, the result of not observing His instructions
literally. I noticed that Baba could be seen pleased and displeased by
His different lovers at one and the same time. I went near Him and said,
"Permit me not to come from tomorrow." Baba gestured why, and
continued, "If you commit a theft even once, you are a thief; if you
commit it ten times you are just the same 'thief.' So continue to come."
I wished to say something, but Baba turned His face aside and closed
the subject.

This opened a new phase of contrite spirit in me. To be frank, since
this incident, as far as I remember, I never tried to "play a trick” with
Baba's instructions. Baba has His own way of bringing home the lesson.
Dr. Ghani in one of his couplets has said, "This [Master's company] is
an unparalleled school. The lesson you learn here once is never
forgotten."

When the heart was cleansed with an honest confession within, a
day later, Baba looked at me very lovingly and said, "Don't worry.
Keep coming every day - not as a volunteer or under any other pretext
but because I want you to come here." I felt greatly relieved, as the
mischief of being a "thief" was pardoned. It was from this moment that
I could really enjoy and participate in the programmes in Guruprasad.
And here are a few more reminiscences based on notes scribbled on the
spot.

In one of the groups, there were some highly educated people. To
one of them, Beloved Baba advised, "Read God Speaks. 1t will test
your intelligence and also open the heart. It will provide food for the
mind and be a feeder to the



187

heart too." I gathered Baba meant that by reading God Speaks, the
mind becomes "strong" enough to cease of itself by perceiving the
falseness of the world, and the heart becomes immaculate to reflect the
Reality of God. Baba also made it clear that no amount of mere reading
or verbal understanding could be of help in experiencing the state of
"God Alone Is Real."

During one of the darshan days, Beloved Baba allowed the Mayor of
Poona to visit him in Guruprasad. He came with his two predecessors.
Though they did not belong to the same political party, they were
three-in-one in coming to Baba's darshan. The three sat on the carpet
along with Baba lovers, and during the informal chat, Baba conveyed
the following: "God alone exists as Existence Eternal and all else is
illusion - a creation of Maya. And what is Maya? Maya is the principle
of ignorance. Maya makes you feel what in fact does not exist.

"In reality, neither man nor woman, neither the so-called animate
beings nor the inanimate things, do exist. It is Maya which causes the
unreal to appear as real and existing.

"Mind, the issue of Maya, imagines infinite divisions, and so creates
innumerable worlds of worries. As long as mind exists, ignorance
persists. And what a joke, that mind tries to gain Bliss through furious
thinking and worrying, which is an empty dreaming! For Bliss to come
into being, the mind has to be quiet. You cannot invite Bliss. It is ever
present, everywhere."

As I looked at Beloved Baba, He appeared to me as Bliss and
Quietness personified.

For Baba lovers, the second fortnight of May 1961 was a festive yet
solemn occasion of renewing their love for the One Beloved, Avatar
Meher Baba.

In the circular about darshan issued by Adi K. Irani, Baba's secretary,
mentioned that Baba would not wish His lovers from distant places to
visit only once and for such a short time. But for Baba lovers the
journey to see Him is neither tiresome nor strenuous. And money is not
of much consequence. No wonder that people from distant parts of
India came to Poona for Baba's darshan, including some new faces too.
When one such group from India was in Guruprasad, Baba made a
reference to the point of"'long distance" mentioned in the circular. And
addressing the gathering, He said, "Did you not read the circular
properly? Haven't you noted about the better opportunity mentioned
therein for you?"
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Someone from the group replied, "Baba, we have implicit faith in
you as God, but not so much in your words (promises)! So we could
not even dream of missing such a chance, and here we are." At this
Baba smiled and said, "I too have complete faith not only in myself as
God but also in my words, though not as you understand them."

On another day, Niranjan Singh, the former principal of Khalsa
College, Delhi, was one of the visitors at Guruprasad. Baba asked the
principal to sit near His seat. Baba looked pleased with him, for his
soft-spoken words of convincing love. In the course of the programme,
Baba made a reference to the bold and frank talk given by Mrs.
Niranjan Singh before the college students at Delhi, about Baba's
Divinity and Godhood.

Then He turned to the Principal and teased him by saying, "Your
wife loves me more than she does you." Niranjan Singh shook his head
in approval and said, "Baba, that was during Your visit to Delhi. Now I
am at Bombay. Will You pay a visit to Bombay?" Baba replied, "Yes,
next year. Maybe in February. But you also know My way of making
promises!

One Baba lover, a retired District and Sessions Judge, had been on a
pilgrimage to Badri Narayan, a famous shrine in the Himalayas. As he
told about this visit to Baba, Baba said, "Did you see Me there?" The
lover kept silent. And this silence turned into an opportunity for all of
us to have a discourse from Baba.

Baba said, "The fun is, though I am with you and within you all, you
travel far and wide to find Me. I am the Infinite One, infinitely near to
everyone; but because of this infinite nearness, it becomes infinitely
difficult for you to find Me. Till you see the world as the world, you
cannot see Me. Once you catch a glimpse of My Divinity, you have an
infinite longing to see Me as I am. Owing to this intensity you get
painted unawares, spiritually (Rang lag jata hai)."

Baba here quoted the following lines of Kabir in Hindi: "Rang lagat
lagat lage, Mana bhagat bhagat bhage; Bahut dinoka manua soya,
jagat jagat jage." The meaning of this doha [poem] of Kabir can be
stated as follows: "One very, very slowly gets painted spiritually; Mind
takes a very, very long time to vanish completely; and the man who
has slept [the sleep of ignorance] for ages gets awakened very, very
gradually."

Baba continued, "On the spiritual path, in the subtle world, at
different stages, the aspirant gets unusual and splendid experiences of
sweet music, perfumes, and
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the sights of the lovely lights. In the mental world, the 'seeing' of God
has its beginning and culmination. A rare one, who with enough
patience, keeps his heart open, 'sees' Me as I should be seen; but even
this 'seeing' is not the goal. You have to become Me.

"Time steeped in infinite eagerness and patience rolls on and at the
opportune moment the aspirant begins to lose the awareness of himself
as a separate 'self' Though awake, he becomes literally blank to all that
can be seen in the six planes of consciousness and thus experiences
infinite Vacuum or the complete 'Blackout of the Nothing.' Then in an
instant, he becomes fully conscious of God as Everything.

"Consciousness of nothing in the Vacuum state. Consciousness of
Everything in the God-state. This needs My Grace."

One of the lovers interjected, "So, Baba, we seek Your Grace." To
this Baba replied, "No one has it [Grace] for his seeking or asking. You
may be ready even to give up your very life for it, but with all this, you
cannot claim Grace. How can you demand Grace? The very desire to
possess Grace is a barrier to receiving it. It is an act of unbounded
spontaneity."

Baba continued, "However, in a sense, you cannot love Me without
My Grace, and as such, all the experiences that you have is nothing but
a game of My Grace.

"But Grace as Grace is quite different. It is not received in parts. It is
infinitely indivisible and so indescribable. It is the Whim of the fully
conscious 'Infinite’ to make the apparently 'finite' realize its Infinity.
On the part of the 'finite', it can be likened to a 'drop' gulping the
'‘Ocean."

We felt it was good that the lover visited Badri Narayan, for his visit
gave us a chance of hearing the words of wisdom from Narayan?®
Himself At the end, Baba gestured, "Enough of this subject now. Only
love counts. Is it not mentioned in the circular that you are not to
expect any discourses from Me? So let us have some songs now." Then
the programme of music commenced.

The next day, as the devotees took their seats in the hall, Baba asked
them, "What is your programme?" Someone replied on behalf of the
fresh group that had arrived, "As You wish, Baba." Baba said, "It is not
the question of My wish. I am asking you about your wish."

"If You permit us to visit Guruprasad for some more days, we can
very well stay in Poona for that period." The cat came out of the bag.
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"Have you read the circular?"

"Yes Baba."

"Accordingly you are not to seek advice from Me on any personal or
spiritual problem; you are not to expect any discourse from Me; not to
seek permission to repeat the visit to Guruprasad."

"We are not claiming permission. Can we not request you, Baba?"
"But then, what will you do over here?"

"We shall just be sitting in the hall, Baba."

"Alright. Stay on in Poona but without jeopardizing the jobs or the
family responsibilities. And if there is nothing to be attended to in
Guruprasad, we shall just sit or doze!"

In spite of this remark from Baba, every day's programme had its
surprising splendour, and those who participated in those small
gatherings won't forget the rich quality of that glorious atmosphere.

On one of these days, as the devotees started entering the hall, Baba
began to inquire of some in His own familiar way and joke with some.
To a veteran old and chief worker and an ardent lover from Andhra,
Baba said, "I like old men and children." And as the lover lowered his
head with closed eyes, Baba continued, "But you are neither an old
man nor a child. With a clean shave, you look fresh and young too!"
This was in recognition of the energy he put into furthering Baba's
cause in Andhra despite his old age.

The visitors were not to expect any spiritual discourse or
explanation from Baba, and they were not to tell Him about their
personal problems. So the group heads used to tell Baba how they
celebrated His birthday in their area. Baba's expression, as He heard
these reports, showed that throughout these celebrations He had given
them an opportunity to spread His Name, which in fact was for their
spiritual benefit.

After hearing the report of the Birthday celebrations at Vijayawada,
which included a grand procession of Baba's picture, Prabhat Pheri
(morning walk through the streets singing Baba's name), feeding the
poor, etc., Baba looked very pleased. The programmes were spread all
over Vijayawada to give many of His lovers a chance to express their
devotion. On most of the days, they had to keep awake until midnight.
Looking at the "trio" and others from Vijayawada, Baba remarked,
"Have you gone crazy in My love? Haven't you to attend to
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your business or service?" The lovers felt exceedingly rewarded with
this intimate remark from Baba.

During the fortnight, on some occasions, Madhusudan sang some
songs on Beloved Baba's Godhood. He has composed a number of
songs on Baba in Hindi and Marathi. In his melodious voice, he has
also entertained Baba by singing selected ghazals. The other Baba
lover from Poona to sing ghazals is Sholapure. One afternoon as he
sang a ghazal beginning with the following lines: "Haseel-e-zindagee
ho tum, tumse hai zindagi meri ... " The hall was filled with resonance.
Baba was pleased to hear this and had a mood to give a gist of this
ghazal to those who did not understand Urdu.

Summarising the meaning of the first two lines, Baba said, "The
lover says: 'O Beloved, my moods, and whims depend on Your moods
and whims. If You are pleased, I am pleased. If You are happy, I am
happy."

Then, looking at the lovers gathered in Guruprasad, Baba said, "You
take Me to be Your Beloved God. Now, if I ask you to vacate the hall
immediately and return to your respective places, will you feel happy?
Be honest in replying what you feel and not what you should feel."

The question set some minds thinking which could not arrive at a
definite conclusion. Some were honest enough to answer, "No, Baba,
to be frank, we will not feel happy to leave the hall."

Baba continued, "It is said, it is very difficult to love. Why? Love is
a gift rarely received, and only the recipient of such love can obey the
Beloved quite willingly and naturally." With reference to those who
were not prepared to leave Guruprasad, Baba in a light vein remarked,
"Alright. Remain sitting and your Beloved God, Baba, will be sitting
here to please you!"

Baba proceeded to give the general idea of the next part of the
ghazal. He -gestured, "Here the lover in a fit of distress says,
"Although you, O Beloved, are so very unfaithful to my love, the fact
remains as clear as the crystal that my breath, nay my very life,
depends on You. There can be no other 'go' for me!" Baba asked
Sholapure to recite the last part of the ghazal and asked one of His
learned lovers to tell the gathering its meaning in English. Finding him
confused in his interpretation, Baba said, "It is really very difficult to
bring out the depth of words in poetry from one language into another.
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"In these lines," Baba continued, "the lover says, 'O Beloved, do not
ask me anything as to how I pass my life. It is steeped in restlessness. I
burn in Your love, and every moment sets ablaze the fire of
separation."’

At the end of this explanation Baba remarked, "Only the one in
whose heart the 'flame of love' has been kindled as a gift of Grace can
experience what that state of 'burning within' is."

On some days, Baba met His lovers in the living room adjacent to
the hall. One day as Savak Kotwal entered the room Baba noticed that
he had lost one of his teeth. So He said, "Savak, now you look old!" So
keen was Baba's observation! I have noticed Him joking about a
change in the cut of a moustache or a variation in the haircut at the
very first sight. Later, as the turn of every lover to Baba was over, He
said, "What is to be done next? No discourse, no personal talk." On
that particular day, no bhajan-singer was among the visitors, so to pass
time Baba said, "Today is the time for anyone who wants to sing." We
started looking at one another. But soon someone had the courage to
break the ice with his high-pitched voice,

As Pukar finished singing a song of Surdas -"O Lord, pray pay no
heed to my weaknesses" - Baba remarked, "Pukar, you have a huge
body but a very low voice!" Dr. Deshmukh recited a Sanskrit hymn of
Shri Shankaracharya. I also sang - if that word could be used - an
abhang [song] of Tukuram.

Now, one old Parsi Baba lover (Madan) wished to entertain Baba. In
Baba's presence, he looked so absorbed in thoughts about Baba that he
was not conscious enough of his environment. As he tried to read some
lines from a poem on Baba, he could not read them properly. Baba had
to suggest that he had forgotten to use his glasses. After this reading he
wished to sing a song in Hindi composed by Madhusudan: "Prabhu
mai charanan chod na jaun" (O Lord, I will not leave Thy holy feet).

As he continued to sing, he closed his eyes. His body began to shake
sideways. Owing to emotional outburst, the twinges on his face and
twitches about his limbs were clearly visible to the listeners. His voice
had no rhythm or pitch. Some could not help smiling. At the end, we
all clapped, and Baba remarked, "See, what courage he has shown! Of
all these days during My present stay in Guruprasad, never before have
I enjoyed such fun!"
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Then there were some Telugu and Gujarati songs. We tried to make
the best of this opportunity. Some had an ardent desire for years to sing
some Baba songs in His presence and this wish was coincidentally
fulfilled to their hearts' content. Baba knows best. At the end, Mani
[Manu] Jessawala entertained Baba with one abhang of Tukaram,
much liked by Baba. It is in Marathi, and it begins thus: "Sadguru
Vachoni sapadena soya ... " Baba appeared a bit solemn as He heard
this abhang and gestured, "Tukaram wants one to surrender completely
to the Perfect Master. But I rarely find anyone who surrenders to Me as
he ought to."

On some other day, a song in Hindi which stressed the need of
surrender to the Master was sung. Baba remarked, "In this song, the
lover expresses his earnest desire to surrender to the Beloved Master.
And what do you understand by real surrender?" Later He clarified,
"Unless you become as 'dust,’ you cannot realize God. But first, you
have to become stone, for you cannot become dust right away. What is
needed is to retain human consciousness and become as 'stone,’ and
then wear yourself to 'dust' at the feet of the Perfect Master."

To tease His lovers from Andhra, Baba said, "Have you such a
daring to surrender to Me?"

The reply was, "Yes, Baba, if You so wish."

Baba said, "But what about your wife? Will she not catch hold of
your neck?" The lover replied, "No, not at all, Baba."

With a smile, Baba concluded, "Then perhaps she may catch hold of
My neck and then that will be My surrender to you!"

The hall resounded with loud laughter, and Baba too appeared
pleased. Baba's arti was performed and the day's programme was over.

In spite of the intense heat, thundering clouds, or showers of rain,
people from various parts of India gathered at the gates of Guruprasad,
Poona, by 4:00 P.M. in that second fortnight of May, waiting for a call
to go inside for Baba's sahavas. Baba lovers continued to visit this
place in small and big batches till 315 May 1961. For them, there in the
hall, Heaven was close to Earth. The joy making and love-evoking
"phenomenon" was on. Baba radiated brilliance, silently sitting on a
sofa. Baba lovers felt that Baba's health was perfectly well. However,
on the very first day, He remarked, "You have no idea how much I
suffered during the last few months, and I am still suffering."
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On one of the days, a lady approached Baba for darshan with her
child. She requested Baba to bless her baby. Baba gestured, "As you
wish. But do you remember that last year, on your request, I had
permitted you to visit Guruprasad to have My darshan for the second
time. You did not come." From the hundreds and hundreds who visited
Guruprasad last year for Baba's darshan, it seemed incredible that Baba
remembered such a small detail. For Him there is no past, only the
Eternal NOW.

The lady felt ashamed and apologised. She said, "Baba, treat me like
one of Your daughters. I had to attend the marriage of my brother, and
being engrossed in that work, I could not come. Please pardon me."
Baba, as usual, pardoned her, but also said, "I forgive you, but
remember, you had asked for an opportunity which you did not avail of
Any appointment with Me has a special significance which cannot be
repeated. Making up that loss is difficult. However, now be happy and
forget about it."

The first visitor from the West for this sanctifying session to see
Beloved Baba was Diana Snow, from Australia. The second one was
Ann Conlon, a journalist from the USA. She was meeting Baba for the
first time. She came with an intention to be in Baba's presence, just for
an hour, and then fly back to New York. No wonder that Baba
remarked, "She is a wonderful soul. She is blessed."

The day's programme commenced with the pieces of dancing
skillfully performed by Miss Nene, a teenage daughter of an ardent
Baba lover from Bombay. There were ease and grace in her
movements. The peacock-dance and the Gopi-dance were performed.
The Gopi-dance exhibited the daily routine of a Gopi, ever absorbed in
the love of Lord Krishna. These dances were accompanied by soft
music. The performance was praised by all.

In the course of "conversation," there was a reference to the songs of
Mirabai. Baba asked Eruch to tell some incidents from the life of Mira
to the audience. Mirabai (a saint from Rajasthan in the fifteenth
century) had great devotion for Lord Krishna from her childhood.
Though she was married to a Rana (ruler), worldly things held no
charm for her. Fair of form and fairer of heart, Mira passed her days in
singing and dancing before the idol of Lord Krishna. Krishna was her
very life. She used to sing with the sadhus and joined in bhajans with
the common people. All this enraged the royal family, and she was
driven out of the palace.
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This pleased her all the more. Now she freely devoted all her time in
"sadhana of singing the Divine Name." Her ecstatic communication
with Lord Krishna endlessly continued. Like the Gopis of Brindaban,
she loved Lord Krishna (Giridhar Gopal)?’ as the Divine Mate. (This
form of devotion is known as Madhura Bhakti). Finding her adamant
in her devotion, the Rana sent her a glass of poison with an order to
drink it. Without the least hesitation, she gulped the liquid happily. It is
said that the effect of the poison was seen on the idol of Krishna, and it
turned blue. Whatever be it, she continued to be a singing apostle of
Lord Krishna to her last breath.

After this Baba remarked, "Mira was not born during the time of
Lord Krishna as the Avatar in human form. Even then her love
surpassed that of the Gopis. In this sense, her love is unique,
unparalleled. The same can be said about Saint Francis of Assisi's love
for Christ. He had not seen Jesus (the God-Man) physically, but his
love for Christ excelled that of Peter - the Rock." After some more
songs in praise of Baba's Divinity, the newcomers were introduced
individually to Beloved Baba by the group heads.

There were a few more visitors from the West other than Diana
Snow and Ann Conlon, Lt Col Francis and Olla Goldney from the
Faroe Islands timed their visit on the way home from Japan. Fred
Winterfeldt, one of Baba's very dear ones from New York, had also
managed to visit India to see Baba. He did not come with Ella, his wife,
so Baba gestured, "Fred, you are here with me, but I am 'there’ with
Ella." The Luck Brothers, Irwin, and Edward, from Florida (USA.)
came on the last day. It was indeed commendable for these two quite
young men to cross the oceans just to be in Baba's company for an
hour. Aren't these the living miracles of Baba's Love? Beloved Baba
was touched with their love for Him and gestured, "Your love will
reward you someday."

On the 29" of May, Dr. Harry Kenmore gave a pleasant surprise.
Without any previous intimation, Dr. Kenmore came to Guruprasad.
Eruch brought him near Baba, who embraced Dr. Kenmore and made
him sit near His seat. Baba said, "Harry, you could have at least
phoned your arrival from the hotel in Poona. Perhaps you wished to
give a pleasant surprise. How long do you wish to wait here?" Dr.
Kenmore promptly replied, "Till 5:30 P.M. only." This pleased Baba
very much, and on His own, He permitted Dr. Kenmore to visit
Guruprasad till 31* May, every afternoon.
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Baba asked again, "Harry, what made you come here?" Dr.
Kenmore answered, "God tempted me with the bait of one hour's
sahavas." Baba said, "Had you cabled Me for permission, you
anticipated no' from Me. So to avoid that reply, you decided to come
directly to Poona! Anyway, I am pleased to have you here. And do you
know, Harry, how proud is your Dad because of your coming here, just
for one hour's sahavas? Great lad!"

Baba as a boy was fond of games. He was also a good singer, actor,
and even a playwright. As a student, He had written a short drama in
Urdu. The same tastes continued in the latter period of His life as the
God-Man. During the seclusion periods or on festive days,
occasionally there would be a skit, dialogue, mimicry, or some such
entertainment. The present seclusion did not prove an exception.

These were two one-act-plays played before Baba during this
fortnight. The first one was performed by Beloved Baba's two nephews,
Sohrab and Rustom. The theme expressed the agonies of a person
about getting a suitable match for his daughter. It ended as a comedy.
Baba remarked, "The world is a drama. You weep, you laugh, to weep
and laugh again. It is all a famasha. When the inner eye is opened, you
will see this more clearly."

Casually Baba had remarked, "Mind is always caught by some sort
of attachment. You free yourself from one and get tethered to another.
The grip of Maya gets tightened in your attempt to loosen it. It can be
unfastened in a flash of a second, or it may not be loosened at all in
billions of years. The trickery of Maya continues till you discern the
Divine beneath this Mayavic mischief."

The second one-act play was a part of a plan to invite Baba, the
Eternal Presence, to Nauranga to inaugurate the installation of His own
life-size statue in marble. Pukar, a few others from Hamirpur, and I
participated in the play. In a nutshell, the topic presented was as
follows:

In the district of Hamirpur, all of a sudden people suffer from a
strange fever. It is an epidemic. Various treatments are given but to no
avail. One of the doctors, a leading practitioner, has a brain-wave. He
diagnoses it as "Baba-fever." So he tells people to write letters to Baba
imploring Him to visit this area. "That seems to be the only remedy,"
he says. People start writing letters to Baba. By the time these
communications go on, one patient becomes very seriously ill. He is
about to breathe his last; just then a postman comes with a telegram
which reads, "Baba definitely visiting the district of Hamirpur. Love"
These words act like magic on
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the patient, and at that very moment he becomes perfectly well, stands
erect, and hails "Jai Baba."

There was loud applause in the hall from the audience when the
patient walked straight to Baba, who was sitting on a sofa, for
confirming the contents of the telegram. A day before this there was
the reading of a fairly long poem suggesting the necessity and
importance of Beloved Baba's visiting Nauranga and other places in
Hamirpur district.

In short, during the last few days, there was a tug-of-war between
the lovers and the Beloved, in which the Beloved won. Perhaps
Beloved Baba wished to bring home the lesson of utter resignation to
His Divine Will. Devotion consists in being voluntarily helpless,
powerless. The more the power, the greater the defeat; for power in
any form is the stronghold of "me" and "mine." The life of a mast
clarifies this point. Mast presents an example of total resignation to the
Will of the Beloved, and so it is the Beloved who seeks union with the
lover (mast).

Beloved Baba has explained this state as follows:

"Masts, because of the terrible fire of love, present a challenge to the
Beloved, and this challenge - that the Beloved should manifest Him-
self - is always accompanied by heroic efforts to achieve total self-
elimination or egolessness, efforts that may take many forms.

"It is not given to everybody to be a lover of God. Such lovers are so
consumed in the fire of love that they are not conscious of their
spiritual progress, and they do not have any thought about their
separation from the Beloved or any thoughts of union with him. They
are resigned to the state in which they find themselves, and when their
resignation reaches its climax, it is the Beloved who seeks Union with
them."

The 31% of May turned out to be a big Darshan Day. Baba permitted
His lovers to repeat their visit to Guruprasad on this last day. And with
this programme of darshan, the fortnight was over. Every one of us
was eagerly and anxiously waiting for this period, this moment of
sahavas, and how quickly it passed away! But in its occurrence, it had
awakened many a heart. How can those personal feelings and profound
experiences be caught in the net of words? So my salutations to
Beloved Baba and Jai Baba to those who participated in this "Sahavas
in Seclusion."
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FAMILY ENCAMPS IN A GARAGE BY S.L. LOKHANDE

I went to Poona with my family for twelve days, from the end of May
to the first week of June. Normally, I would book my return ticket on
arrival at Poona, but this time I did not because I was running a fever.
The next day we went to Guruprasad and bowed to Baba. Baba
suddenly asked me, "Do you fight with your wife?" The question
astonished me, as I had never fought with my wife. Suddenly, Eruch
told Baba, "They must be fighting daily!" I felt Eruch was joking. Baba,
by passing such remarks, would amuse the mandali.

Since Baba would go to the side room of Guruprasad at about 9:00
A.M., I thought we should cook our food and then come to Guruprasad.
We did so but got there a little late. To top it, we could not get a bus
for Guruprasad. We could not afford an auto or a taxi. When we
reached there at about ten o'clock, Baba was about to leave the
Mandali Hall. It seems that before our arrival, Baba had enquired why
we had not come. He even remarked that although I run the Nagpur
Centre, and I do Baba work, yet I cannot come on time to Guruprasad.
Baba jokingly remarked, "He may have gone to meet Sadhu Vaswani."
It seems that Baba waited for us on the verandah. When we did arrive,
my family went for Baba's darshan, but I did not go, as Baba would
rebuke me for coming late.

The result of this was that I decided to live near Guruprasad. On
inquiry at several bungalows for accommodation, I got negative replies.
Desperate as I was, I spied a motor garage in Mobos Hotel next to
Guruprasad. On inquiry, the manager refused to give the garage on rent
for our stay. It had a tin roof and a lot of refuse in it. I again pleaded
with the manager that I was a poor man and could stay in the garage if
he gave the permission. Finally, he sent a servant with me to show the
garage. I told the manager that I liked it, but he said that it was not a fit
place to stay in. I pleaded that we spend most of our time in
Guruprasad and so would not mind the little inconvenience. He finally
gave me permission to stay in it and to pay him any rent that I liked.

We went home to pack our belongings. Baba sent Bhavsar with a
message for me. "When you are in Nagpur, you do Baba work, but
when you come to Poona, like a donkey, you go from one rubbish
dump to another. Are you going to other saints?" I told him that I knew
no other saint than Meher Baba. We shifted our luggage to the garage
and the next day went to Guruprasad.
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The mandali on seeing me began to laugh because of what Baba had
said on the previous day. They asked me why I had come so early to
Guruprasad. I told them that I did not come yesterday because I was
shifting my luggage to Mobos. I asked whether Baba was angry with
me for not coming yesterday. They replied in the negative. Soon Baba
arrived. Baba looked at us and called us for His darshan. He asked,
"Did you get any message from Me yesterday?" I told Baba that we
came to Poona for Baba only and had no other desire. Baba then asked
me what message Bhavsar conveyed to us. I told Baba what Bhavsar
had said.

Baba called for Bhavsar and said, "I asked you three times whether
you had understood My message to be conveyed to Lokhande. You
replied in the affirmative. Yet you conveyed a wrong message." Baba
continued to tell Bhavsar, "I told you to say that a donkey, not being
satisfied with one dump of rubbish, goes to another. I never asked you
to say anything else." Referring to us, Baba continued, "These people
come with so much love, and by saying such things you hurt their
feelings very much." Baba then asked Bhavsar to hold both his ears
and bend down near Baba as a punishment for conveying His message
wrongly.

The wife of the manager of Mobos Hotel heard about our staying in
the motor garage, bearing such hardships. She came to meet my wife
one day and asked her why she was bearing such hardships by staying
in a motor garage. When my wife told her that we come for Baba and
do not mind bearing hardships, she asked, "What does Baba give you?"
My wife replied, "Nothing but joy. We forget the world, and this joy
cannot be compared with the joys of this world." The wife of the
manager was quite surprised to hear this and wanted to take Baba's
darshan. My wife received permission from Baba, and then brought her
one day to Baba. She came to Baba, and her joy knew no bounds. She
now realised why we come every year bearing such hardships. 1 felt
that our stay in the motor garage was meant only to bring the
manager's wife to Baba.

When the sahavas was over, Baba asked us when we were leaving
for home. When I told Baba that we would leave after two days, He
enquired why we were going to stay two more days. I explained that
we had got our reservation after two days because I was not well on
arrival and had a fever. Baba asked me, "When you had a fever, why
did you not ask one of the mandali to go and buy your ticket?" I replied,
"The mandali has so much work to do, how could I ask them to go and
buy my ticket!"
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Baba said, "Are you not one of the mandali? In future, ask them for
help." I was very surprised to hear that I was one of the mandali. Baba
then told me, "Tomorrow is the last day of the darshan. Since you are
staying for two more days, neither you nor your wife should come to
Guruprasad.” We went to the motor garage and did not go out at all. A
day before departure, Baba very lovingly sent word, "Tomorrow before
departure, come to Guruprasad for darshan and sing the arti." We were
overjoyed.

SINGING FOR BABA BY M. APPALA NAIDU, ANAKAPALLI

On 6™ April 1961, T had Meher Baba's darshan for the first time at
Guruprasad. During the darshan programme, Baba said that He had
wiped off all the sanskaras of His lovers who had His darshan that day.
My happiness knew no bounds, and I began to shed tears of joy. I was
in the queue and wrote a song in praise of Baba. I showed it to Brother
Kutumba Shastri, who was making announcements into the micro-
phone in Telugu. I requested him to take permission from Baba for me
to sing it on the mike. When he said that it was not possible for me to
sing it, I was very depressed. I do not know whether Baba was
informed about my request, but suddenly Baba asked the shehnai
player to stop playing and asked me to sing my song. I was overjoyed
at this favour to serve Baba.

The same day, Burra Katha was being performed by three persons.
At the end of it, Baba called the three and gave each of them His
handkerchief as a gift. The Baba lover who accompanied this
programme on the harmonium also went up to Baba, but Baba did not
give him any gift. During the pr9gramme, I had played on the flute.
Someone asked me to go up to Baba, but I did not, as Baba had not
called me.

From Poona, I went to Masulipatnam with Brother Lokanatham Rao.
This was my first visit to his house. Just then a post parcel arrived from
Baba. He told me that I was very lucky that a parcel should come from
Baba when I was there. The parcel was opened, and it contained a
handkerchief from Baba. Rao told me that I was very fortunate that the
parcel should arrive when I was present. He asked me to pick it up and
press it to my forehead. I felt this was Baba's prasad to me for my
small service offered to Him during the Burra Katha.
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DIANA SNOW MEETS BABA

It was April 1961, and Diana Snow had been in England for a couple
of months and was ready to sail home to Australia. With Baba's per-
mission, she had regularly been corresponding with Francis Brabazon,
who had been with Baba in India since 1959. Just prior to embarking
for Australia, she had sent a letter to Francis, telling him that she had
chosen a ship which would sail via Suez down to Bombay and on to
Colombo, and asking whether, if possible, she could get off in Bombay,
visit Baba in Poona at Guruprasad for a couple of days, and then fly
from Bombay and join her ship in Colombo. She mentioned to Francis
that she was aware that Baba was in strict seclusion and was not seeing
anyone unless He called them, so she had no expectations of seeing
Him. In fact, at the time Baba was not attending to any correspondence
from His lovers, and the mandali had instructions not to bring any to
His attention, so Diana had little or no hope of seeing Baba. She told
Francis that Aden, Yemen, was her first port of call where she could
receive a reply.
On 2" May Francis wrote this reply from Guruprasad:

Greetings at Aden

With news that will gladden;

Baba is pleased that you will see His place
Although (as said) you will not see His Face.
Enuf this time to see the sights

And in His city spend two nights

(But in your sleep

You must not weep

nor loudly snore

nor laugh "haw haw."

for this might constitute an intrusion

upon His very strict seclusion;



202

but a smile may enwreathe

your face as you breathe -

for He will be very near to you)

"Which all means, dear Diana, that 'the cat's out of the bag' regarding
your visit to Poona. No, beloved Baba was not told - He just "found
out" in His usual casual manner. And He immediately said that I
should meet you at the railway station and take you around and show
you the places. Until 14", Diana—Francis."

Some years later, one of the mand